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LET M E BEG I N W ITH a brief note about terminology and about my approach 
to writing about living people involved in the movement I describe. I use 
“white power” to refer to the social movement that brought together mem-
bers of the Klan, militias, radical tax resisters, white separatists, neo-Nazis, 
and proponents of white theologies such as Christian Identity, Odinism, 
and Dualism between 1975 and 1995. Some have described this group of 
people with the terms “white nationalist,” “white separatist,” the “racist 
right,” or “white supremacist.” None of these terms is appropriate for de-
scribing the larger movement. Not all proponents of white power advocated 
white nationalism or white separatism, and white nationalism presumes a 
different outcome—one inherently less violent—than that envisioned by a 
vocal segment of the white power movement. The term “racist right” presumes 
a political continuum that does not properly describe this activism, which 
at times shared more with the revolutionary left than with the conservative 
mainstream. Therefore, the encompassing term “white power,” which was 
also a slogan commonly used by those in the movement, is the most precise 
and historically accurate term.

Note to Readers



x� Note to Readers

Some people within the movement considered “Nazi” or “neo-Nazi” pe-
jorative terms but nevertheless identified as National Socialist or adopted 
uniforms or symbols of the Third Reich. For purposes of simplicity, I refer 
to them as “neo-Nazi” because they shared a political ideology commonly 
understood as such. Similarly, although nonracist members of a music-
driven counterculture have also adopted the term “skinhead,” this book 
discusses only racist skinheads and does not make assertions about the 
broader skinhead scene.

I use the words “revolutionary” and “activist” to convey a specific type of 
political action and the people involved in that cause. A white power ac-
tivist in these pages was not only a proponent of white power ideology but 
also used that ideology to attempt to bring about change. “Revolutionary 
violence” here refers to violence directed at the overthrow of the state (or 
components of the state); I use the phrase to distinguish white power vio
lence from earlier vigilante violence, which usually worked to reinforce state 
power. My use of the terms “activist” and “revolutionary” is not meant to cast 
a positive light upon white power actors or the actions they undertook.

Because many people involved in this story are still living, I preserve 
privacy for people whose names are not already part of the public record 
and for children. For this reason, some notes based on documentation such 
as marriage and birth certificates omit names. In one well-documented 
case, Ruby Ridge, children’s names are included for clarity and only because 
they have already been widely reported.

The white power movement generated rich archives of images and illus-
trations. Because the copyright to most of this work is still held by white 
power groups and activists, and because purchasing permissions to these 
images might constitute a financial contribution to their cause, this book 
does not reprint any material from these archives.
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“WE N EED EVERY O N E O F YO U,” proclaimed an anonymous 1985 article in a 
major white power newspaper. “We need every branch of fighting, militant 
whites. We are too few right now to excommunicate each other. . . . ​What
ever will save our race is what we will do!”1 The article spoke of emergency 
and government treachery. It foretold imminent apocalyptic race war. It 
called to believers in white supremacist congregations, to Klansmen and 
southern separatists, and to neo-Nazis. The white power movement united 
a wide array of groups and activists previously at odds, thrown together by 
tectonic shifts in the cultural and political landscape. Narratives of betrayal 
and crisis cemented their alliances.

Introduction

A federal agent arrests a white power activist attempting to deliver weapons to the 
Weaver family at Ruby Ridge, Idaho, 1992. The arresting officer and the activist both 
wear camouflage uniforms. (Mason Marsh, Associated Press Photo)
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Though often described by others as “white nationalist” and by its 
members as patriotic, this movement did not seek to defend the American 
nation, even when it celebrated some elements of U.S. history and identity. 
Instead white power activists increasingly saw the state as their enemy. 
Many pursued the idea of an all-white, racial nation, one that transcended 
national borders to unite white people from the United States, Canada, Eu
rope, Australia, South Africa, and beyond. The militant rallying cry “white 
power,” which echoed in all corners of the movement, was its most accu-
rate self-descriptor.

At the end of the tumultuous 1970s, in the wake of the Vietnam War 
and in the midst of economic turmoil and widespread distrust of public in-
stitutions, the white power movement consolidated and expanded. In these 
turbulent years, many Americans lost faith in the state that they had trusted 
to take care of them.2 Loss in Vietnam and the Watergate scandal under-
mined their confidence in elected officials and besmirched the presidency 
itself.3 As legislation dramatically increased immigration, many worried that 
the arrival of immigrants would change the very meaning of American iden-
tity.4 They saw the rights movements of the 1960s redefine race and gender 
relations at home and at work. They noted with alarm the government’s 
failure to help those who lost their farms to the banks or their factories to 
faraway places.5 As the mainstream right and left took up these concerns in 
a variety of ways, so did this troubled social and political context incubate 
white power activism.

People from all regions of the country answered the white power move-
ment’s call to action, bridging the divide between rural and urban. They were 
men, women, and children. They were high school dropouts and holders 
of advanced degrees; rich and poor; farmers and industrial workers. They 
were felons and religious leaders. They were civilians, veterans, and active-
duty military personnel. From its formal unification in 1979 through its 
1983 turn to revolutionary war on the government and its militia phase in 
the early 1990s, the white power movement mobilized adherents using a 
cohesive social network based on commonly held beliefs. These activists 
operated with discipline and clarity, training in paramilitary camps and 
undertaking assassinations, mercenary soldiering, armed robbery, coun-
terfeiting, and weapons trafficking. White power violence reached a 
climax in the 1995 bombing of the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building in 
Oklahoma City.
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A holistic study of the white power movement reveals a startling and un-
expected origin: the aftermath of the Vietnam War. The story activists told 
about Vietnam and the response to the war on the right were major forces 
in uniting disparate strands of American white supremacism and in sus-
taining that unity. As narrated by white power proponents, the Vietnam 
War was a story of constant danger, gore, and horror. It was also a story of 
soldiers’ betrayal by military and political leaders and of the trivialization of 
their sacrifice. This narrative facilitated intergroup alliances and increased 
paramilitarism within the movement, escalating violence. In his speeches, 
newsletters, and influential 1983 collection Essays of a Klansman, movement 
leader Louis Beam urged activists to continue fighting the Vietnam War on 
American soil. When he exhorted readers to “bring it on home,” he meant 
a literal extension of military-style combat into civilian space. He referred 
to two wars: the one he had fought in Vietnam and the white revolution he 
hoped to wage in the United States.6

White power activists would also engage in other wars. Some would be-
come mercenaries in military interventions ranging from Latin America to 
southern Africa. Others would fight in the Gulf War. Although they comprised 
only a small number of the combatants in these conflicts, their mercenary 
and active-duty soldiering assimilated them into the broader militarization 
and paramilitary culture that was more prominent in American society. 
Their ventures set the stage for later encounters, such as the sieges of separatist 
compounds at Ruby Ridge and Waco by militarized police forces, which 
would, in turn, spur the movement to its largest mass casualty.

The white power movement that emerged from the Vietnam era shared 
some common attributes with earlier racist movements in the United States, 
but it was no mere echo. Unlike previous iterations of the Ku Klux Klan 
and white supremacist vigilantism, the white power movement did not claim 
to serve the state. Instead, white power made the state its target, declaring 
war against the federal government in 1983.7 This call for revolution arrived 
during Ronald Reagan’s presidency, which many historians have considered 
the triumph of the mainstream New Right.8 Antistatism in general, and hos-
tility toward the federal government in particular, had motivated and 
shaped earlier conservative and reactionary mobilizations as well as the New 
Right itself, but white power capitalized on a larger current of discontent 
among conservatives.9 By 1984, Time magazine had noticed a “thunder on 
the right”: a growing dissatisfaction, especially among evangelicals, with 
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the distance between Reagan’s campaign promises and his policies, par-
ticularly concerning social issues that galvanized voters, such as abortion.10 
White power activists responded to Reagan’s first term with calls for a more 
extreme course of action. Reagan’s moderation, as activists saw it, revealed 
conventional politics as unsalvageable and signaled a state of emergency 
that could not be resolved through political action alone.11 Their paramili-
tary infrastructure stood ready; the war could not wait.

After declaring war, activists plotted to overthrow the government through 
attacks on infrastructure, assassinations, and counterfeiting to undermine 
public confidence in currency. They armed themselves with weapons and ma-
tériel stolen from military installations. They matched this revolutionary 
work with the publication and circulation of printed material, recruitment 
drives aimed at mainstream conservatives, political campaigns, talk show 
appearances, and radio programs. These activities both disseminated a 
common set of beliefs, goals, and messages to the movement faithful and 
worked to recruit new members. In the late 1980s, many activists reorga
nized into militias. Although some militias disclaimed white supremacy in 
public, many shared funds, weapons, and personnel with white power 
organizations.12

While white power was certainly a fringe movement, it surpassed earlier 
mobilizations such as the anticommunist John Birch Society. Membership 
alone is a poor measure of white power activity, with records often hidden, 
distorted, or destroyed, but nevertheless illuminates the movement’s relative 
size. Scholars and watchdog groups who have attempted to calculate the 
numbers of people in the movement’s varied branches—including, for in-
stance, Klansmen and neo-Nazis, who are often counted separately—estimate 
that there were about 25,000 “hard-core members” in the 1980s. An additional 
150,000–175,000 people bought white power literature, sent contributions to 
groups, or attended rallies or other events, signifying a larger, although less 
formal, level of membership. Another 450,000 did not themselves par-
ticipate or purchase materials but read the literature.13 The John Birch 
Society, in contrast, reached only 100,000 members at its 1965 peak.14

With the 1983 turn to revolution, the movement adopted a new strategy, 
“leaderless resistance.” Following this strategy, independent cells and activ-
ists would act without direct contact with movement leadership. The aim 
was to prevent the infiltration of groups, and the prosecution of organizations 
and individuals, by formally dissociating activists from each other and by 
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eliminating official orders. Popularized throughout the underground, 
leaderless resistance changed recruitment goals, emphasizing the impor-
tance of enlisting a small number of fully committed activists rather than 
large groups of the less committed.15 This is another reason membership 
counts alone could not accurately convey the movement’s impact, activity, 
or capacity for violence.

Yet to the degree that there is power in numbers, the movement reached 
a new peak during its militia phase. At the height of its mainstream appeal 
in the mid-1990s, the militia movement counted some five million mem-
bers and sympathizers, according to one watchdog analyst. That number cer-
tainly represents the upper bound of possibility, and it is likely that the 
white-power-identified cohort of militia members and sympathizers was sig-
nificantly smaller. However, five million places the militia movement in 
line with the largest surge of the Ku Klux Klan, whose membership peaked 
in 1924 at four million.16

While white power activists held worldviews that aligned or overlapped 
with those of mainstream conservatism—including opposition to immigra-
tion, welfare, abortion, feminism, and gay and lesbian rights—the movement 
was not dedicated to political conservatism aimed at preserving an existing 
way of life, or even to the reestablishment of bygone racial or gender hierar-
chies. Instead, it emphasized a radical future that could be achieved only 
through revolution. While some white power activists might have longed 
for the reinstatement of Jim Crow laws, white-minority rule as in Rho-
desia and South Africa, or slavery, most agreed that such systems could not 
be resurrected through electoral politics alone but would have to be 
achieved by more drastic measures. This abandonment of the political pro
cess reflects a profound shift in the American electorate wrought by the 
Voting Rights Act of 1965, which barred disenfranchisement on the basis 
of race. Reactionary politics, conservatism, and American nationalism had 
characterized the Klan in the early part of the twentieth century. The white 
power movement sought revolution and separation—the founding of a ra-
cial utopian nation.

Many activists connected ideas of a radical political future with belief in 
imminent apocalypse. The theologies espoused by white power activists in 
this period differed significantly from the Protestantism of the reactionary 
second-era Klan that peaked in the 1920s.17 White power religious radicalism 
emerged in part from Cold War understandings of communism as a threat 
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to Christianity. At the same time, a large contingent of white power activ-
ists in the post-Vietnam moment believed in white supremacy as a compo-
nent of religious faith. Christian Identity congregations heard their pastors 
explain that whites were the true lost tribe of Israel and that nonwhites and 
Jews were descended from Satan or from animals. Other racist churches 
adopted similar theologies that lauded whiteness as holy and sought to pre-
serve the white race. Activists also adopted Odinism and other forms of neo-
Pagan white supremacy that posited a shared, pan-European white cultural 
heritage.18

The movement’s religious extremism was integral to its broader revolu-
tionary character.19 While increasingly politicized evangelical congregations 
espoused belief in the rapture—a foretold moment when the faithful would 
be peacefully transported from the world as the apocalyptic end times 
began—Christian Identity and other white theologies offered believers 
no such guarantees of safety.20 Instead, they held that the faithful would 
be tasked with ridding the world of the unfaithful, the world’s nonwhite 
and Jewish population, before the return of Christ.21 At the very least, the 
faithful would have to outlast the great tribulation, a period of bloodshed 
and strife. Many movement followers prepared by becoming survivalists: 
stocking food and learning to administer medical care. Other proponents 
of white cosmologies saw it as their personal responsibility to amass arms 
and train themselves to take part in a coming end-times battle that would 
take the shape of race war.22

A war of this scale and urgency demanded that partisans set aside their 
differences. The movement therefore was flexible in its adoption of racist sym-
bols and beliefs. A Klansman in the South might participate in burning 
crosses, wear the white robe and hood, and embrace the Confederate battle 
flag alongside a Lost Cause narrative of the Civil War. A neo-Nazi in the 
North might march under the banner of the swastika and don an SS uni-
form. But the once-disparate approaches to white supremacy represented by 
these symbols and ideas were drawn together in the white power movement. 
A suburban California skinhead might bear Klan tattoos, read Nazi tracts, 
and attend meetings of a local Klan chapter, a National Socialist political 
party, the militant White Aryan Resistance—or all three. At the Aryan Na-
tions compound in northern Idaho, Klansmen and neo-Nazis ignited both 
crosses and swastikas as they heard Christian Identity sermons and speakers 
from an array of white power groups. Activists circulated among groups and 
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belief systems, each of which might include theological, political, and pseu-
doscientific varieties of racism, antisemitism, and antifeminism.23

Amid this multiplicity of symbolic presentations and beliefs, most white 
power activists found common ground. They believed in white supremacy 
and the need for a white homeland. They feared that the government would 
eradicate the white population through interference with the birth of white 
children—through interracial marriage, rape, birth control, abortion, and 
immigration. The antisemitism long espoused by the Klan was reinforced by 
neo-Nazis. And the movement adopted a strict set of gender and familial 
roles, particularly regarding the sexual and supportive behavior of white 
women and their protection by white men.

Another unifying feature of the movement was its strident anticommu-
nism, which at first aligned with mainstream Cold War conservatism and 
then transformed into an apocalyptic, anti-internationalist, antisemitic set 
of beliefs and conspiracy theories about what activists called the Zionist Oc-
cupational Government (ZOG) and, later, the New World Order. Increas-
ingly, white power activists believed that the Jewish-led ZOG controlled the 
United Nations, the U.S. federal government, and the banks, and that ZOG 
used people of color, communists, liberals, journalists, academics, and other 
enemies of the movement as puppets in a conspiracy to eradicate the white 
race and its economic, social, and cultural accomplishments.24

To confront this grave threat, activists organized as a paramilitary army 
and adopted masculine cultural forms. The article that levied the plea 
“We Need Every One of You” was titled “White Soldier Boy” for a reason. 
It targeted young white men, not women, for recruitment into the pre-
sumptively male world of camouflage fatigues, military-style camps and 
drills, and military-grade weapons. It also spoke directly to combat veterans 
and active-duty military personnel.

In this respect, white power can be understood as an especially extreme 
and violent manifestation of larger social forces that wed masculinity with 
militancy, in the form of paintball, war movies, gun shows, and magazines 
such as Soldier of Fortune that were aimed at armchair and weekend war-
riors. This is not to suggest that such cultural forms were coequal with white 
power, or with conservatism more broadly. But it is not by coincidence that 
white power gathered steam amid the wider post-Vietnam “remasculiniza-
tion of America.” In the wake of military failure in Southeast Asia, mascu-
linity provided an ideological frame for the New Right, challenged antiwar 
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sentiment, and idealized bygone and invented familial and gender orders 
throughout American society.25 The white power movement capitalized on 
this wave of broader cultural paramilitarism for its own, violent ends.

However, the white power movement departed from mainstream paramili-
tary culture in carving out an important place for women, relied on as symbols 
of the cause and as activists in their own right. As bearers of white children, 
women were essential to the realization of white power’s mission: to save the 
race from annihilation. More concretely, their supporting roles, auxiliary 
organizations, and recruiting skills sustained white power as a social move-
ment.26 They brokered social relationships that cemented intergroup alliances 
and shaped the movement from within.27

In all these ways—its unity, revolutionary commitments, organ
izing  strategy, anticommunist focus, and Vietnam War inheritance—
white power was something new. Yet it has often been misunderstood as a 
simple resurgence of earlier Klan activity. Historians divide the Klan into 
“eras,” with the first following the Civil War, the second in the 1920s, and 
the third dedicated to opposing the civil rights movement. To understand 
white power as a Klan resurgence rests upon an artificial distinction be-
tween nonviolent and violent activism, in which the so-called fourth era 
refers to nonviolent, public-sphere activities, such as rallies and political 
campaigns, and the fifth era to the criminal activity of a secret, violent un-
derground. This terminology arose from the white power movement itself 
and evokes previous surges in Klan membership that occurred one after an-
other with lulls between.28 But the supposed fourth and fifth eras occurred 
simultaneously. This terminology therefore hinders an understanding of the 
activism it attempts to describe. White power should be recognized as some-
thing broader than the Klan, encompassing a wider range of ideologies and 
operating simultaneously in public and underground. Such an understanding 
is vital lest we erroneously equate white power with covert violence and 
thereby ignore its significant inroads into mainstream society, which hardly 
came under cover of night. Activists such as David Duke mounted political 
campaigns that influenced local and national elections.29 They produced a 
vibrant print culture with crossover appeal that reached more mainstream 
readers. They traveled from church to church, linking religious belief with 
white power ideology. They created a series of computer message boards to 
further their cause. They pursued social ties between groups, cementing 
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their political affinities with one another through marriages and other inti-
mate bonds.

These political activists were often the same people who trained in para-
military camps, plotted race war, and carried out criminal and terrorist 
acts. The death toll included journalists, state and federal employees, po
litical opponents, and white power activists themselves. The Oklahoma 
City bombing, undertaken by movement activists, killed 168 people, 
making it the largest deliberate mass casualty on American soil between 
the bombing of Pearl Harbor and the terrorist attacks of September 11, 
2001.

But the body count alone cannot fully account for the effects of white 
power violence. That number ignores the lives disrupted by the movement’s 
rage. The dead left behind grieving, struggling families. And while many 
were physically attacked, many others were threatened. It would be impos-
sible to tally those who were harassed and wounded emotionally, left too 
afraid to speak or work. But these wounds, too, bear out the long and broad 
ramifications of the movement’s violence.30

Although the movement’s militancy, and therefore its violence, owes much 
to the right-wing framing of the Vietnam War, other elements of the 1970s 
also infused the movement. White power also responded to the changing 
meaning of the state, sovereignty, and liberal institutions in and after that 
decade. The dramatic, hard-won gains of feminism, civil rights, secularism, 
and gay liberation left the 1970s ripe for conservative backlash.31

Another factor was emerging economic threat. The post–World War II 
welfare state had promised jobs, education, and health, but, beginning in 
1973, a series of economic shocks displaced the expectation of continued 
growth and prosperity.32 An oil crisis brought about the realization that 
natural resources would not always be cheap and plentiful.33 Wealth in
equality grew and unemployment rose. For the first time since the late 
1940s, the promise of prosperity stalled.34

Dwindling economic prospects became bound up with cultural backlash. 
Volition and need alike drove more women into the workforce, threatening 
both men’s exclusive access to certain jobs and the Cold War–era vision of 
the suburban, white nuclear family with a wife who stayed at home.35 The 
successful civil rights mobilizations of the 1960s gave way to white resistance 
as news coverage turned to black radicalism, urban riots, and integration.36 
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Forced busing of children to integrated public schools became a heated 
issue, and whites fought back both through school privatization and in 
heated public protest.

In this context, defense of the family intertwined with defense of free-
market ideology. As the stark limitations of New Deal liberalism became 
clearer—and as civil rights laws made it more difficult to deny opportuni-
ties and benefits to nonwhites just as an economic downturn set in—the 
state could be recast as a menace to morality and prosperity.37 For many 
Americans, the state became the enemy. White power activists, driven by 
their narrative of the Vietnam War, took this sentiment to the extreme in 
calling for revolution.

Some have argued that white power did not properly constitute a social move-
ment. This claim typically turns on a supposed disconnect between white 
power and the militia wave, or on a narrow definition of social movements 
that rests on centralized leadership and harmony among members.38 But 
social-movement theorists attuned to the grassroots mobilizations of the mid- 
to late twentieth century make the case for a more encompassing definition.39 
While white power featured a diversity of views and an array of competing 
leaders, all corners of the movement were inspired by feelings of defeat, emas-
culation, and betrayal after the Vietnam War and by social and economic 
changes that seemed to threaten and victimize white men. White power also 
qualifies as a social movement through its central features: the contiguous 
activity of an inner circle of key figures over two decades, frequent public 
displays, and development of a wide-reaching social network.40

White power activists used a shared repertoire of actions to assert collec-
tivity.41 They rallied openly, formed associations and coalitions, and gave 
statements to the press.42 Public displays of uniformed activists chanting slo-
gans and marching in formation aimed to demonstrate worthiness, unity, 
numbers, and commitment to both members and observers.43 Activists en-
couraged dress codes and rules about comportment and featured the pres-
ence of mothers with children, Vietnam veterans, and active-duty military 
personnel. Members showed unity by donning uniforms and by marching 
and chanting in formation. They made claims about their numbers. They 
underscored their commitment with pledges to die rather than abandon the 
fight; preparing to risk their lives for white power; and undertaking acts that 
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put them at legal and physical risk. A regular circulation of people, weapons, 
funds, images, and rhetoric—as well as intermarriages and other social 
relationships—bound activists together. These actions produced common 
“ideas and culture,” what social movement theorists have called “frames,” 
that served to “legitimate and motivate collective action.” 44

The primacy of the Vietnam War among these frames is clear in the cul-
tural artifacts that inspired and coordinated the movement. These included 
uniforms, language, strategies, and matériel derived from the war itself. Ac-
tivists adopted terminology, such as “gooks,” associated with U.S. soldiers in 
Vietnam; camouflage fatigues; civilian versions of the era’s military weapons, 
as well as the genuine articles, sometimes illegally obtained; and training 
and combat methods modeled on soldiers’ experience and U.S. Army man-
uals. Also essential in binding the movement together was the 1974 white 
utopian novel The Turner Diaries, which channeled and responded to the 
nascent white power narrative of the Vietnam War.45 The novel provided a 
blueprint for action, tracing the structure of leaderless resistance and mod-
eling, in fiction, the guerrilla tactics of assassination and bombing that 
activists would embrace for the next two decades. Activists distributed and 
quoted from the book frequently. It was more than a guide, though. The 
popularity of The Turner Diaries made it a touchstone, a point of connec-
tion among movement members and sympathizers that brought them to-
gether in common cause.

Writing the history of a subversive movement presents archival challenges. 
White power activists routinely attempted to hide their activity, even 
when it was legal. Documentary resources are scattered and fragmentary. 
This is especially true of the period after 1983, when white power activists 
worked particularly hard to avoid being depicted as a coherent move-
ment. They used old Klan strategies such as maintaining secret member-
ship rolls, as well as new ideas such as cell-style organizing. Such strategies 
foiled government informants and forestalled public awareness of vio
lence, obscuring the scale and intentions of the movement and limiting 
opposition. Activists understated or denied their involvement to protect 
themselves and their allies. But when they felt it useful, they also over-
stated their influence and membership in order to boost their apparent 
strength.
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This deliberate obfuscation has clouded many journalistic and scholarly 
accounts. Press coverage too often portrayed organized white power violence 
as the work of lone gunmen driven by grievance and mental illness. Sensa-
tional true-crime and undercover reporting in pulp magazines and one-
source interviews in small-town newspapers kept activists safely ensconced 
within their cells and depicted every case of violence as uniquely senseless. 
Thus groups went undetected, and the motivations underlying violence were 
rarely taken seriously. Accounts after the Oklahoma City bombing concluded 
that if white power had ever constituted a social movement, it had become 
so riddled by inter- and intragroup conflicts and personal vendettas that it 
no longer deserved the designation.46 Yet infighting had been a constant fea-
ture of white power formation and activity. White power organizing did 
change in the late 1990s, but this resulted from large-scale historical shifts such 
as increased pressure and expanding online activity, not internecine feuds.

Not all journalistic accounts of white power were so flawed. Veteran re-
porters from the Christian Science Monitor, the Oregonian, and the Houston 
Chronicle, among others, spent years covering white power on their beats 
and began to connect local episodes to activity elsewhere. And even the one-
off accounts can be useful to the historian because white power activists 
sometimes spoke to undercover reporters directly and contemporaneously 
about their motivations.47

The Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, 
and Firearms (ATF), U.S. Marshal Service, and Department of Justice mon-
itored the white power movement during this period, generating another 
source of archival materials. Authors of these records range from undercover 
agents who had deep familiarity with white power groups to clerical staff 
at the tail end of a long game of telephone, who sometimes misunderstood 
crucial details. The motivations of federal agents—some prevented crimes 
and mounted major prosecutions; others declined to report, prevent, or 
prosecute such groups; yet others unleashed their own violence upon sepa-
ratist compounds—shaped these records as well, affecting their reliability. 
Government documents also vary widely in their level of redaction. Many 
such sources are accessible only through Freedom of Information Act re-
quests, which means that not everything the government collected is 
available to researchers. Even full access would provide but a partial glimpse 
of white power activity, filtered through state interests and the perspectives 
of individual state actors.
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When it comes to the flourishing of white power activism in prisons, 
sources are especially limited. Groups such as the prison gang the Aryan 
Brotherhood are largely absent from the archive. We can detect some effects 
of their mobilizations, such as monetary contributions sent beyond prison 
walls. Members who joined the movement while incarcerated and continued 
their activism after release also have greater presence in available sources. 
But much less is known about white power mobilizations within prison walls.

Legal documents, too, provide less information than we might hope, par-
ticularly because the white power movement flourished between the end of 
excellent paper recordkeeping and the beginning of effective digitization of 
documents. While several acts of white power violence and harassment have 
resulted in civil and criminal prosecutions, many resources from those trials 
have been lost or destroyed, in whole or in part. Some of what remains can be 
obtained only at prohibitive expense. And what is available comes with the 
same complications as any trial record. Some people who testified about 
their roles in the movement, especially women, may have done so under the 
threat of separation from their families. Several activists made plea deals in 
return for testifying against the movement. Legal documents, especially 
testimonies, must be read with such motivations in mind.

An important source of information about the movement is the oppo-
sition. Watchdog groups such as the Southern Poverty Law Center, the 
Anti-Defamation League, and the Center for Democratic Renewal col-
lected material on white power activists as part of their mission to combat 
intolerance. Some compiled extensive databases including biographical 
information, photographs, news clippings, and legal records. They also ob-
tained photographs, transcriptions of conversations from undercover in
formants, journalists’ notes, and other items outside the published record. 
Although these files are rich with information, they, too, must be treated 
cautiously. Watchdog groups can have motives that reach beyond simple 
documentation: they exist through fundraising, and donations may increase 
when there is a sense of urgency. Watchdog groups may have sometimes 
overestimated the movement’s influence and level of organization.

A final, essential resource is the archive created by the white power move-
ment itself. This includes correspondence, ephemera, illustrations, autobio
graphies, books, printed periodicals, and “zines.” Some printed material 
circulated widely and had a transnational readership. Activists self-published 
their writings on presses, mimeograph and Xerox machines, and the Internet. 
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Large collections of these published materials are housed at three university 
libraries in the United States.48 Although these collections are fundamen-
tally different—one assembled by a journalist writing on an episode of move-
ment violence, one by an archivist who asked political extremists from 
across the spectrum for contributions, and one by collectors who obtained 
literature at meetings of extremist groups—the materials in these three ar-
chives are remarkably similar. They offer, therefore, a fairly complete pic-
ture of the movement’s printed output.

At the same time, one must be mindful of what an archival study of white 
power cannot reveal. Military service records, for instance, are not publicly 
available, nor are the membership rolls of each white power group. In 
their absence, one cannot make a quantitative study of the levels of vet-
eran and active-duty-military participation in the movement. The archive 
offers very little information on the childhood and early life of most ac-
tivists. Information on marriages and divorces—particularly involving those 
who, as part of their antistatist activism, refused to register unions—cannot 
always be corroborated by official documents. Nor can an archival study 
stray from the stated beliefs and concrete actions of white power actors in 
an effort to attempt a psychological assessment. In most cases, the historian 
has neither the training nor the access to enter this discussion. However, one 
can grapple with the record of speech and action to offer an approximation 
of a historical actor’s motives and actions.

Given these limitations, I have assumed that each document might re-
flect a particular agenda and have taken certain precautions as a result. When 
possible, I use multiple sources to corroborate information. If, say, a fact 
appears in a redacted FBI file, an undercover reporter’s interview with a white 
power activist, and a mainstream press report, it probably can be relied upon. 
I present unverifiable statements as such and identify those that are demon-
strably false. When relevant, I include information about sources, their biases, 
and possible alternative interpretations of the material in question.

That the archive is imperfect should disturb neither historians nor readers. 
Indeed, it is precisely the work of the historian to assemble an account based 
upon the information available, even if it is scattered, incomplete, and some-
times contradictory. In many ways, this approach enables a better under-
standing of how historical actors experienced their own moment, without the 
veneer of hindsight that clouds other kinds of accounts, such as interviews 
and memoirs produced years after the fact.
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A sizable literature, both academic and journalistic, has engaged with por-
tions of the white power archive, but this book is the first work to attempt a 
comprehensive approach. Unlike studies focused on one segment of white 
power—particular activists, events, locations, symbols, ideological discourses, 
or disputes—this one captures the entire movement as it formed and 
changed over time. I find in the archival sources the story of the emergence, 
rise, and fall of a unique, cohesive effort to build a new nation on the ashes 
of a state accused of having abandoned its own. To understand the impact of 
this effort on American society, politics, and culture, and to take stock of 
its relationship with mainstream conservatism, requires engaging it syn-
thetically, not piece by piece.

Bring the War Home follows the formation of the white power movement, 
its war on the state, and its apocalyptic confrontation with militarized state 
power. Part I documents the role of violence in motivating and constituting 
the movement.49 Chapter 1 traces the creation of a Vietnam War narrative 
that united the movement and inspired its paramilitary culture and infra-
structure. Chapter 2 shows how paramilitary training camps worked to form 
white power groups and augmented their capacity for violence. In Chapter 3, 
I discuss the formal unification of the movement through a common expe-
rience of violence: the 1979 mass shooting of communist protestors in 
Greensboro, North Carolina. Chapter 4 documents the intersections be-
tween white power and other forms of paramilitarism by focusing on trans-
national antidemocratic paramilitary combat by mercenary soldiers, some 
with movement ties.

Part II turns to the white power revolution declared in 1983. At this 
point, the movement definitively distinguished itself from previous vigilante 
mobilizations, such as the earlier Ku Klux Klan, whose perpetrators claimed 
to act for the good of the state or to uphold its laws. In Chapters 5 through 7, 
I examine the movement’s declaration of war, use of early computer net-
works, and deployment of cell-style organizing. Critical to these efforts were 
attempts, some successful, to obtain stolen military-grade weapons and 
matériel from the state. I also recount the acquittal of thirteen movement 
activists on federal charges including seditious conspiracy. Their defense, 
based on a purported need to protect white women, demonstrates that even 
though white power broke away from earlier white supremacist movements, 
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it maintained a degree of ideological and rhetorical continuity with them—
even as it turned to newly violent antistatism in its revolutionary actions.

Part III describes the crescendo and climax of white power revolution in 
which groups both confronted and participated in events characterized by 
apocalyptic, world-destroying violence. Although many were killed and 
others were harmed, the effort never achieved the biblical scale activists had 
anticipated. The movement was inflamed by encounters with state power, 
such as the standoff between federal agents and a white separatist family 
at Ruby Ridge, Idaho, and the siege of the Branch Davidians in Waco, 
Texas. Cataclysmic, militarized state violence helped to inspire the growth 
of militias, leading to the Oklahoma City bombing. That act stands as the 
culmination of two decades of white power organizing and is the most 
significant single event in the movement’s history.

The bombing destroyed an edifice, lives, and families, but not only those. 
It also shattered meaning, wiping out a public understanding of the white 
power movement by cementing its violence, in public memory, as the act of a 
few men. Despite its many attempts to disappear, and despite its obscurity 
even at the height of its strength during the militia phase, the movement 
left lasting marks on mainstream American politics and popular culture. 
It has continued to instigate and shape violence years after the Oklahoma 
City bombing.

The story of white power as a social movement exposes something broader 
about the enduring impact of state violence in America. It reveals one cata-
strophic ricochet of the Vietnam War, in the form of its paramilitary after-
math. It also reveals something important about war itself. War is not neatly 
contained in the space and time legitimated by the state. It reverberates in 
other terrains and lasts long past armistice. It comes home in ways bloody 
and unexpected.



PART I    FORMATION





LO U IS BEAM SPENT eighteen months in Vietnam. He served an extended 
tour as a gunner on a UH-1 Huey helicopter in the U.S. Army’s 25th Avia-
tion Battalion. He logged more than a thousand hours shooting at the 
enemy and transporting his fellow soldiers, including the injured and 
fallen, to and from the front. By his own account, he killed between twelve 
and fifty-one “communists” before returning home to Texas, decorated, in 
1968.1 But he never stopped fighting. Beam would use his Vietnam War 
story to militarize a resurgent Ku Klux Klan and to wage a white power 
revolution.

1� The Vietnam War Story

Forever trapped in the rice paddies . . . ​of Vietnam.
—Louis Beam, 1989

Louis Beam ignites a boat painted “U.S.S. Viet Cong” at a Klan rally in Santa Fe, Texas, 
1981. (Ed Kolenovsky, Associated Press Photo)



20� BRING THE WAR HOME

He brought many things home with him: his uniforms, virulent anticom-
munism, and hatred of the Viet Cong. He brought home the memory of 
death and mutilation sealed in heavy-duty body bags. He brought home 
racism, military training, weapons proficiency, and a readiness to continue 
fighting. His was a story about government betrayal, soldiers left behind, 
and a nation that spat upon his service and would never appreciate his sac-
rifice. Indeed, he brought home the war as he fought it, and dedicated his 
life to urging others to “bring it on home.”2

On both the right and left of the political spectrum, the war worked to 
radicalize and arm paramilitary groups in the post–Vietnam War period. 
On the left, veterans played instrumental roles in groups organized around 
politics and labor, and in militant groups that fought racial inequality, such 
as the Black Panther Party.3 Occasionally these left- and right-wing mobili-
zations would overlap and feed off one another, with white power activists 
robbing the same Brinks armored car company hit by the left-wing Weather 
Underground a few years earlier, and with the paramilitary Latino Brown 
Berets and the Klan Border Watch focused on the same stretch of terrain in 
South Texas.4

Throughout the twentieth century, many veterans of color understood 
their postwar activism as an extension of their wartime combat.5 Veterans 
played key roles in fostering the civil rights and armed self-defense move-
ments.6 The influence of key veterans upon the white power movement, 
therefore, is part of a longer story about veterans’ claims on society, and about 
the expansive aftermath of modern war.

Just as some veterans fought for racial equality, others fought to oppose 
it. Indeed, Ku Klux Klan membership surges have aligned more neatly with 
the aftermath of war than with poverty, anti-immigration sentiment, or 
populism, to name a few common explanations. After the Civil War, the 
Confederate veterans who formed the first Klan terrorized both black 
communities and the Reconstruction-era state. World War I veterans led 
second-era Klan efforts to violently ensure “all-American” racial, religious, 
and nationalist power. Third-era Klansmen who had served in World War II 
and Korea played key roles in the violent opposition to civil rights, including 
providing explosives expertise and other skills they had learned in the mil-
itary.7 After each war, veterans not only joined the Klan but also played 
instrumental roles in leadership, providing military training to other Klansmen 
and carrying out acts of violence.8 The effect of war was not simply about the 
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number or percentage of veterans involved, but about the particular expertise, 
training, and culture they brought to paramilitary groups. Significantly, in 
each surge of activity, veterans worked hand in hand with Klan members 
who had not served. Without the participation of civilians, these aftershocks 
of war would not have found purchase at home. The overspills of state 
violence from wars, therefore, spread through the whole of American society; 
they did not affect veterans alone.9

So, too, did the Vietnam War broadly affect American culture and poli-
tics. Narratives of the war as a government betrayal and as a source of griev-
ance laid the groundwork for white power activism. Once again, the war story 
drew in both veterans and civilians. But the Vietnam War was also histori-
cally distinct; it represented loss, frustration, and doubt. By intervening to 
support South Vietnam, the United States sought to halt the spread of 
communism—and to stop the Soviet Union, which supported North 
Vietnam and revolutionaries in the South, from amassing global power in 
the midst of the Cold War. In practice, the United States found itself inter-
vening in a local, civil conflict, one shaped by the legacy of French colonial 
rule. American soldiers entered a morally ambiguous proxy war and faced 
an enemy comprising highly motivated guerrillas, partisan soldiers, and 
supportive or ambivalent civilians. This, together with enormous differences 
in culture and climate, created high levels of despair among the troops.10

Combat in Vietnam often took a form unfamiliar to a generation of 
soldiers raised on World War II films that depicted war as righteous and 
tempered depictions of its violence.11 In Vietnam, American soldiers waged 
prolonged, bloody fights for terrain that was soon abandoned. They often 
described enemies and allies as indistinguishable. Infantry patrols embarked 
on long, aimless marches in the hope of drawing fire from hidden guerrillas. 
“Free-fire zones” and “strategic hamlets”—designations that labeled as en-
emies anyone who did not evacuate from certain areas—placed civilians in 
the path of war. And because success was often measured in the number of 
people killed, rather than in terrain held, a mix of circumstances in Vietnam 
created a situation in which violence against civilians, mutilation of bodies, 
souvenir collecting, sexual violence, and other war crimes were not just 
isolated incidents but ubiquitous features of war that permeated the chain 
of command.12

The United States and its people had understood the wars of the first half 
of the century as shared civil projects, but the Vietnam War undermined 
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this notion.13 When the commitment of soldiers, bombs, and money failed 
to produce decisive victories in Southeast Asia, civilians at home grew 
increasingly disenchanted with the war, helping to foster the narrative of 
abandonment that white power activists such as Beam would later exploit.14 
Mobilizations of protest in the United States, particularly the mass antiwar 
movement, openly questioned the war’s morality by critiquing American in-
volvement as an imperialist exercise.15 Television broadcasts of wartime vio
lence created what the writer Susan Sontag called a “new tele-intimacy with 
death and destruction.”16 Many returning veterans denounced the quag-
mire of war both in the streets and in the halls of government, and journal-
ists documented wartime atrocities.17 As the war dragged on, victory in the 
realm of public perception seemed less and less possible.

Defeat in Vietnam represented a cataclysmic break in several registers: it 
upended notions of the triumphant American warrior, presented a perceived 
threat to the balance of world power, and, for some, intensified a fear of com-
munism.18 The loss in Vietnam by a superpower threatened the reputation 
of the U.S. military. The Vietnam War was the first real test of an integrated 
army, and the racial violence that plagued soldiers of color in combat and at 
home signaled the incompleteness of this transformation. The move to the 
all-volunteer force in 1973—the army abolished the draft in part because of 
mass opposition to the Vietnam War—was followed by several years of crisis 
for that institution as measured by public perception, levels of enlistment, 
and the percentage of recruits that met the army’s racial, class, and educa-
tional preferences.19

The frustrations and failures of the Vietnam War also defined the home 
front. In 1967 the artist Martha Rosler began making collages transposing 
the violence of warfare from Life magazine photographs to the suburban 
domestic spaces of House Beautiful; she titled that series “House Beautiful: 
Bringing the War Home.” Leftist Vietnam veterans and other activists 
used the slogan “Bring the War Home” to illustrate the distance between 
the violence of warfare and those who waged or supported war from the 
comfort of the home front—and to call for left-wing political violence at 
home.20

Indeed, the gulf between the violence and hardship that soldiers wit-
nessed in Vietnam and the society to which they returned motivated radical 
responses aimed at divergent political goals. Veterans in the early 1970s—
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most prominently Vietnam Veterans Against the War—led antiwar dem-
onstrations, denounced the war, mobilized to provide assistance for those 
suffering physical effects from the chemical defoliant Agent Orange (widely 
used in Vietnam), and urged better Veterans Administration support.21 Some 
veterans groups—most notably the prisoners of war / missing in action 
(POW / MIA) movement—gained major political lobbying power in this pe-
riod, in part because of their attempted co-optation by the Nixon adminis-
tration, and in part because of their own success in framing their appeals.22

In the 1980s, the discourse generated in novels, memoirs, and medical 
and journalistic accounts alike shifted to emphasize the mistreatment of vet-
erans by the government and by civil society. The idea that the nation had 
wrongly rejected, failed to honor, and impugned veterans created an emphasis 
on healing and memorialization. This discourse papered over a critique of 
the war itself by foregrounding the wounded and wronged veteran.23 Mean-
while, a systematic accounting of wartime atrocities—including official 
apologies for events such as the massacre of hundreds of civilians at My Lai—
came to be seen as an open threat to an ascendant neoconservative world-
view. For the war to be remembered as a “noble cause,” as presidential 
candidate Ronald Reagan called it in 1980—or even to sustain the narra-
tive that its veterans had been honorable men “denied permission to win,” 
as he said after he became president—required the systematic exclusion of 
an antiwar critique and transformed what appeared to be an apolitical, in-
timate style of memoir and narrative into a conservative political project.24

Some veterans, though, insisted upon a direct connection between their 
grievances and political action. The small and influential group of veterans 
that unified, armed, and radicalized the white power movement invoked 
the Vietnam War specifically to decry the Reagan-era federal government 
even as they invoked some of its language. They told this story about the 
Vietnam War: the corrupt government sent American boys to Vietnam and 
then denied them permission to win by limiting their use of force against a 
beastly, subhuman enemy. Many met gruesome injury and death, and all 
faced hardship, insects, abandonment, rot, and disease. After American sol-
diers came home, people spat on them and called them baby-killers. No one 
appreciated the service they had given their country. Those left behind as 
prisoners of war were abandoned and forgotten, and those who returned 
were denied both homecoming parades and their proper place in public 
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memory. This series of betrayals, the narrative concludes, shows the irre-
deemable corruption of the American government but proves the valor of 
soldiers and most of the military.

Parts of this Vietnam War story are historically valid, appearing in mem-
oirs, oral histories, and scholarly accounts. Other elements remain widely 
regarded as factual even though they are contested by historical evidence. 
Popular accounts of the Vietnam War continue to take as fact that soldiers 
were spat upon by protesters as they returned home, that the war could have 
been won if not for the betrayal by corrupt or cowardly politicians, and that 
politicians abandoned large numbers of living prisoners of war in Southeast 
Asia. Yet all of these claims have been challenged in the historical literature.25

The Vietnam War story served a vital role in the white power movement. 
Its precise function changed over time, often following generational shifts. 
A first wave of activists, including Beam, sought to continue the war they 
had fought in Vietnam in the United States and beyond. To take a few other 
examples, Tom Posey served in the Marines in Vietnam, and then in the 
Alabama National Guard. He flirted with the John Birch Society and vio-
lent Klan action before founding a mercenary group, Civilian Military As-
sistance, which carried out acts of violence in Central America and on the 
U.S.-Mexico border.26 Glenn Miller claimed twenty years of army service, 
including two tours in Vietnam as a Green Beret, before he was discharged 
for distributing racist literature.27 He subsequently organized a major para-
military white power group that obtained stolen weapons and matériel from 
military installations, enlisted active-duty troops as members and trainers, 
and declared war on the government.28 Such activists often referred to their 
own experiences in the Vietnam War as justification for perpetrating racist 
violence at home. The war provided a narrative that supported the selection 
of communists as their scapegoats and supported revolution against the state 
that had failed them in wartime. They drew upon their wartime experiences 
for tactical guidance, weapons expertise, and rhetorical framing of their white 
power and mercenary activities.

Other activists came to the movement after nearly enlisting, or had an 
intense interest in the military but decided not to enlist because of frustra-
tion with the way the war was unfolding. Randy Weaver, who would join 
the movement and become part of its most iconic martyrdom story at Ruby 
Ridge, joined the Green Berets but resigned in frustration when he was never 
shipped out.29 Bob Mathews was in a car on the way to enlist at Fort Hua-
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chuca, Arizona, when he abruptly changed his mind. He had heard a radio 
story about the prosecution of Lieutenant William Calley for the massacre 
of hundreds of Vietnamese civilians at My Lai. Mathews believed such acts 
of violence were justified, and saw Calley’s prosecution as evidence of gov-
ernment betrayal of American soldiers. The episode dissuaded him from 
enlisting and shored up his belief in the irredeemable corruption of the 
state. Mathews would ultimately found the Order, a white power terrorist 
group, to wage war against the federal government.30 Gary Lee Yarbrough, 
who was a member of the Order, had been inducted into the Marines in 
lieu of incarceration, but went absent without leave and ended up serving 
his time in prison rather than in Vietnam. While incarcerated, Yarbrough 
encountered another pipeline into the movement through the Aryan Brother
hood, a white power prison gang.31

The Vietnam War was such a powerful symbol and reference point that 
some activists claimed to have served when they had not. For example, 
Michael Perdue, who attempted to invade the Caribbean island of Domi-
nica to create a puppet government that would funnel money back to the 
Klan, spoke of a military and mercenary combat record that was quickly 
proven false.32 Whether they had served or not, activists took from the war 
a tangle of testimony and potent narratives, as well as a set of uniforms, 
weapons, and political rhetoric. Primarily, the Vietnam War allowed men 
to take on the role of the soldier as an all-encompassing identity. Randall 
Rader, who did not serve and did not claim to be a veteran, nevertheless 
came to white power activism through his keen interest in the military in 
general and in Vietnam in particular. He later testified that he used a close 
study of U.S. Army manuals, particularly those on guerrilla and counterin-
surgent warfare in the Vietnam era, to become military trainer for the white 
separatist group the Covenant, the Sword, and the Arm of the Lord and, 
later, the terrorist group the Order.33 During his term as instructor, these 
groups dramatically increased their paramilitarism and took up the sym-
bols, weapons, uniforms, and matériel of the Vietnam War. And even for 
those who served in later wars, such as Oklahoma City bomber Timothy 
McVeigh, a combat veteran of the Gulf War, the Vietnam War narrative 
and the culture it engendered remained a major symbolic force that worked 
to organize ongoing acts of white power violence.34

For white power activists, a shared story about Vietnam outweighed the 
historical reality of the war itself. Nowhere in the movement was this narrative 
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more clearly distilled than in the writings and speeches of Louis Beam, one 
of the movement’s most well-recorded and persuasive voices. Beam’s narra-
tive, which turned on the violence of warfare, was based on his own service, 
but it reflected common elements of the Vietnam War experience popular
ized in memoirs and in movies such as The Deer Hunter, Platoon, Apocalypse 
Now, and Full Metal Jacket.35 In one sense, it matters less whether things 
happened exactly as Beam described them, and more that he was able to 
articulate a story that rang true for others who fought in Vietnam.36

Beam was a charismatic speaker and persuasive writer who emphasized 
fiery rhetoric and explicit racism. Compact, dark-haired, and serious, in 
photographs Beam appears focused and reserved. When he wasn’t in his Klan 
robes or fatigues, he usually looked like a working-class southern man ready 
for church in a pressed, button-down shirt. Beam was a natural public speaker, 
with a Texas accent and a metered style reminiscent of the evangelical 
preachers he had heard in his youth. He regularly invoked history, religion, 
and the founding fathers. He would start soft and measured, conversational, 
and then his voice would rise, and he would shout and gesticulate as though 
he was bringing his flock to Christ, which—as a proponent of Christian 
Identity—he believed he was doing.37

Beam’s life could stand in for that of many other American soldiers. Born 
in 1946 in Baytown, Texas, he enlisted in the army at nineteen, the average 
age of soldiers who served in Vietnam. Like most of his fellow servicemen, 
he came from a working-class family. He had economic reasons to enlist, 
with a young wife and a child on the way. His father had served as a combat 
soldier in World War II, and Beam, following in his footsteps, volunteered 
early in the war.38

The war did not make Beam racist; he reportedly expressed white suprem-
acist political views before he deployed, and he certainly supported fiery 
segregationist George Wallace while stationed in Vietnam.39 This, too, was 
common in a newly integrated U.S. Army, in which some white soldiers, in-
cluding Beam, hung Confederate flags in their barracks, often in opposi-
tion to the civil rights movement reshaping race relations back home.40 But 
his wartime experiences—which featured exposure to racist and anticom-
munist ideology, violence, and a feeling of betrayal by the government—
helped shape the form and magnitude of the mission Beam would advocate 
after homecoming.

While Beam brought his own beliefs to the war, he also enlisted in an 
army in which white personnel regularly used racist slurs against soldiers of 
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color in training and in combat. Though the U.S. Armed Forces began to 
integrate by executive order in 1948, full implementation was not quickly 
achieved. Institutional practice as well as individual prejudice continued to 
foster inequality. As historians have shown, the draft disproportionately tar-
geted poor black communities, and was also used as a punitive measure to 
send black race rioters to war in order to quell domestic dissent. Black sol-
diers received the fewest promotions and the most courts-martial.41 Racial 
tension permeated military installations at home and in Vietnam. While 
white and black soldiers faced combat together, the rear echelon was intensely 
segregated: one black soldier described Saigon as “just like Mississippi.” 42 In 
Beam’s camp at Cu Chi in Vietnam, black and white soldiers frequently ex-
changed insults, slights, and blows. Beam served in the 25th Aviation Bat-
talion at a moment of escalating racial tensions. As the language of black 
power circulated between home and battlefront, black soldiers created a cul-
ture of Afros and black berets, greeting each other with fist bumps. Some 
white soldiers in the 25th reported feeling alienated or threatened because 
of such actions. Klansmen serving as active-duty personnel in Vietnam an-
nounced plans for cross-burnings and spray-painted racial epithets on rear 
echelon buildings.43

By 1970, the Marine Corps recorded more than a thousand incidents of 
racial violence at installations both in Vietnam and back home. White su-
premacist groups targeted black military personnel around domestic bases 
and posts. In 1964, for instance, four members of the United Klans of 
America—the group Beam would join after homecoming—murdered a 
black army reserve lieutenant colonel on his way home from training at 
Fort Benning, Georgia. In 1968, black and white Marines met in a series of 
violent altercations at Camp Lejeune, North Carolina, until the death of a 
white Marine caused authorities to intervene.44

At Camp Pendleton, a Marine base in southern California, active-duty 
personnel organized on-base Klan activity beginning in 1973, according to 
a Naval Investigative Service study and a report by the New Times. The Camp 
Pendleton chapter of the Klan had garnered some two hundred members, 
according to a local news report, and had participated in the systematic “kid-
napping, shooting, firebombing, torturing, beating and otherwise harassing 
[of] black Marines” even as some officers promoted Klan members and is-
sued, the paper claimed, “secret” clearances for six of them. The report cata
logued almost two hundred racial incidents at Camp Pendleton from 1973 
to 1976.45 That November, black Marines stormed a meeting of white 
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Marines, stabbing six. David Duke claimed that the event was a Klan 
meeting and that the attacked white Marines were Klansmen.46 After-
ward, Klan Marines held “war councils,” according to the New Times, and 
called for retaliatory killings. The Klan, the reporter concluded, in a play 
on “The Marines’ Hymn,” “has been successfully organizing new dens 
from the halls of Montezuma to the shores of Tripoli.” 47

While military service could foster opportunities for soldiers to encounter 
people from different backgrounds, leading to friendships that would out-
last the war, it could also harden prejudices and set the stage for racial vio
lence.48 After Beam returned home, his invocation of the Vietnam War for 
the organization of white power activism built upon the racial tension of his 
military service, and upon the mounting resentment of some white Ameri-
cans who believed their opportunities were being curtailed by the advance 
of civil rights.49 His story would resonate not only with some veterans but 
also with many people both in and beyond the white power movement. 
Beam’s narrative turned on stymied grief, constant danger, fixation on 
weapons, and betrayal, all elements that he believed were shared by fellow 
white Americans.

In some instances, Beam wrote on behalf of “us,” meant to include all 
U.S. soldiers fighting in Vietnam. He wrote that he arrived at the front by 
helicopter and airplane transport and felt a rapid displacement intensely: 
“They called us up, placed a rifle in our hands, transported us 12,000 miles, 
planted us in the jungles, and told us to kill or be killed.”50 Even if this didn’t 
square with Beam’s record—he had served in Germany before arriving in 
“the jungles”—it did resonate with a prominent feature of Vietnam War 
deployment.51 During World War II, soldiers had trained and served with 
one group, communalizing the experience of combat with a long boat ride 
home; in contrast, most soldiers were deployed to Vietnam with disquieting 
speed and upon leaving their units, rapidly returned home. Psychologists 
have argued that individual deployments by airplane and helicopter changed 
the very character of the combat unit, sometimes breaking bonds that previ-
ously had sustained soldiers in and after battle.52 Invoking this displacement, 
Beam reached out to those who had experienced the same alienation from 
their fellow soldiers.

Beam wrote about his “Post Viet Nam Stress Syndrome,” and his writ-
ings reflect many of the earmarks of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).53 
After its addition to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disor-
ders in 1980—in part because of veterans’ activism—PTSD gave a name to 
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the combat trauma suffered by many Vietnam veterans and became part of 
the public discourse about the war.54 Whether Beam sustained this injury 
or not, his narrative appealed to those who had PTSD.

His grievances expressed the frustrations of soldiers with the state, po
litical leaders, and civilians who appeared to be corrupt and complicit in the 
failed war, and reflected feelings widely held by American soldiers in Vietnam 
about how retreat from combat zones frequently offered no real sense of 
safety, how racial tension split the rear echelon, and how the inability to dis-
tinguish allies from enemies among the Vietnamese hid the enemy. Preva-
lent night attacks meant that death could come for soldiers at any time. Beam 
wrote of the plight of the “poor grunt bastards,” the foot soldiers used as 
bait to locate enemy positions and then call in air attacks.55 Their most 
common form of engagement with the enemy was ambush, while land mines 
and booby traps created intense and constant fear.56

Dehumanizing descriptions of the enemy broadly applied to the Viet
namese during the war—and not just by a few soldiers—would reappear in 
white power rhetoric at home. The widespread use of body counts as a marker 
of success in the Vietnam War encouraged soldiers to think of the enemy as 
numbers or vermin, not people.57 On a reconnaissance flight in June 1968, 
in “a blazing exchange of gunfire,” Beam and his fellow helicopter gunner 
“killed five Viet Cong fleeing across a rice paddy” thirty kilometers north-
west of Saigon, according to the newsletter of the 25th Infantry. As gunners 
opened fire, the men on the ground fired back with rocket-propelled grenades, 
tracers, and small arms fire. The newsletter noted that the twenty-minute en-
gagement that day “netted 183 enemy bodies.” That this language appears in 
an official account of the event, and not by Beam himself, shows that such 
attitudes had purchase far beyond radical activists.58

Indeed, the 25th Infantry had a troubled relationship with civilians, both 
in and out of the major base camp at Cu Chi. At times the army kept sol-
diers from associating with civilians entirely, while disparaging the Viet
namese with dehumanizing rhetoric. Some soldiers made sport of throwing 
rocks at civilians, shooting at them with slingshots, and pelting them with 
debris from passing vehicles. As one 25th Infantry soldier remembered, 
“everybody was a zip, gook, or animal”; another said soldiers regarded the 
Vietnamese as subhuman and noted that “seeing a dead gook was no big 
deal.”59

To Beam, as to the broader conservative public, the Vietnam War signaled 
a divide between the America of the past and one transformed by antiwar 
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protest and the rights movements that would continue to dramatically alter 
American domestic life over the coming decades. Antiwar protests, further-
more, had altered perceptions of the war itself, leading to rising antimilita-
rism. For some, the war had become something spurious and dishonorable, 
a perception furthered by media coverage and wartime atrocities such as the 
My Lai massacre.60 “After I got home from the war . . . ​things didn’t seem 
like they were before I went to Vietnam,” Beam told an undercover reporter 
posing as a Klan recruit shortly after his return. “Everything seemed dif
ferent. The whole climate of the nation had changed. Before I went over to 
fight, most of the people seemed behind us soldiers—but when I returned, it 
seemed the majority of Americans were against us, against war as a whole.” 61

Beam understood the Vietnam War as the catalyst for American decline 
and yearned to reclaim a time before social and political changes had trans-
formed the nation.62 Embattled white power activists saw the Vietnam War 
as emblematic of all that had gone wrong. In the lack of welcome home and 
shortage of jobs when they returned, they found grist for a yearning for a 
time of easier economic opportunity for white men, and grounds for con-
demning economic threats such as the farm foreclosure crisis, stagflation, 
and job loss. The impact of the Vietnam War was inextricably linked to 
all the threatening changes of the 1970s that had turned their world up-
side down.

Beam’s writings departed from a mainstream sentimentalized veterans’ 
discourse in openly calling for violence. There is a tension in his writing be-
tween a person trying to cope with the violence of combat and the general 
of a white power revolution trying to incite further violence at home. As he 
flew in his Huey helicopter, transporting the bodies of dead American sol-
diers, he wondered:

I become engrossed in a door gunner’s trance of meditation (1500 feet in the 
air, 80 knots air speed, distant horizon) wondering who this guy is. Is the 
red gore there by my feet blood from a White man, or a Black man? Or just 
a dead man? . . . ​It occurs to me that I don’t really know much about this 
bleeding guy in the torn bag, and nothing at all about the guy next to him, 
in a green, heavy duty, non leaking plastic body bag.63

The horror of the war briefly pushed Beam to locate humanity beyond race 
in a world in which all men, black and white, could easily become indistin-
guishable dead men in body bags.
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However, he consistently used the horror of blood, death, and mutilation 
to argue that the government and civil society had betrayed and abandoned 
soldiers in Vietnam, and, therefore, that civilians should face the violence of 
war at the hands of white power activists on the home front.64 Beam repeat-
edly called for violence in his writings, both in works under his own name 
and in those written under pseudonyms. In 1982, he invoked the war to de-
mand reprisal: “America’s political leaders, bankers, church ministers, 
newsmen, sports stars and hippies called us ‘baby killers,’ and threw chicken 
blood on some of us when we returned home. You’re damn right I’m mad! 
I’ve had enough! I want these same traitors to face their enemy now, the 
American fighting man they betrayed, all three million of us.” 65 An article 
published under one of his pseudonyms called for resistance to a predicted 
seizure of guns from citizens and urged white power activists to hold on to 
their weapons so that newspaper headlines of the future might read,

“Millions of Formerly Peaceful, Law-Abiding Citizens Up in Arms”—
“Vigilantes of One and Two Persons Take Law into Own Hands”—
“Politician Cut in Two by Shotgun Blast as He Steps from Car”— . . . ​“Fed-
eral Judge Killed by Bomb Blast as He Starts Car”—“Judge Found Dead, 
Hands Tied behind Back, Throat Cut”— . . . ​“U.S. Senator Found Hanging 
from Limb of Tree on River.” 66

In 1989, Beam promised that “although the battlefield had changed and rules 
were different, the war continues.” 67 He decried the conservatives who 
had risen to power: “It is time now for the voice of the radical to be heard. . . . ​
Out with the conservatives and in with the radicals! Out with plans for com-
promise and in with plans for the sword!” 68 Lest his readers mistake his in-
tent, he clarified in another essay that “the sword need not be literal, though 
many of us would enjoy righteous satisfaction from actually lopping off heads 
of the enemy. A sword in the year of our Lord 1981 can be an M-16, three 
sticks of dynamite taped together, a twelve-gauge, a can of gas, or whatever 
is suitable to carry out any commission of the Lord that has been entrusted 
to you.” 69 Beam described wanting to machine-gun everyone who had sent 
American soldiers to Vietnam and everyone who had wronged them when 
they came home.70 A decade after the movement declared war on the state, 
he called for action to recover prisoners of war and help veterans suffering 
from Agent Orange exposure: “Get your gear together—lock and load—
move out! Let 1993 be the year we win the last battle of the war.”71
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Spanning decades, Beam’s narrative of unending combat appealed to 
Vietnam veterans, active-duty soldiers, and a wider audience of disaffected 
white men and women. In the 1970s, the movement would begin to milita-
rize and unify around this narrative. Klansmen would shed their white robes 
to don camouflage fatigues, neo-Nazis would brandish military rifles, and 
white separatists would manufacture their own Claymore-style land mines 
in their determination to bring the war home.

Years after the war in Vietnam ended, the narrative of that conflict con-
tinued to shape white power activism and serve as a principal signifier of 
the movement’s paramilitarism. In 1989, as militias gathered in the North-
west, Beam wrote:

Even after all this time there seems to be no way we can forget or let Vietnam 
descend into the past. . . . ​There is no relief, and can be none. We are forever 
trapped in the rice paddies and skies of Vietnam. We can neither go back or 
go forward, suspended for eternity in the place that they put us. . . . ​Forget? 
Not even if I could.72



I N 1977, Louis Beam used a Texas Veterans Land Board grant—a program 
designed to provide economic benefits to returning veterans—to purchase 
fifty acres of swampland.1 On a landscape that recalled the rice paddies of 
Vietnam, Beam built Camp Puller, a Vietnam War–style training facility 
designed to turn Klansmen into soldiers.2 Over the next few years, Beam 
would climb from participation in a small Klan group to leadership of a 
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Viet-Klan.
—Journalist Gordon Hunter, referring to Klan harassment  

of Vietnamese refugees

Paramilitary camp training, Carolina Knights of the Ku Klux Klan / White Patriot 
Party, 1985. (© Robin Rayne Nelson, ZUMA Images)
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national, unified white power movement that shared a paramilitary orienta-
tion and adopted violent methods. Beam would implement a Klan Border 
Watch to target undocumented immigrants at the U.S.-Mexico border, and 
he would recruit active-duty military personnel. He would create an elite 
Special-Forces-style unit within the Klan, and proceed to build a network 
of paramilitary training camps. He would call upon his soldiers to foster a 
harassment campaign against Vietnamese refugee fishermen on the Texas 
coast, whom he deemed enemies. Later, through the intervention of the 
Southern Poverty Law Center (SPLC) and a trial that banned paramilitary 
training in Texas, Beam would find himself temporarily halted—but the 
strategy of warfare honed from this frustration would inflame the white 
power movement and further shape the history of domestic terrorism.

At every step, Beam invoked the violence and loss of the Vietnam War to 
justify his worldview and to structure his actions. At every step, the exercise 
of violent action formed the community that would give rise to the white 
power movement.3 Violent rhetoric worked to indoctrinate activists through 
boot-camp-like experiences at paramilitary training facilities, and shared acts 
of violence such as the Klan Border Watch and the harassment of Vietnamese 
refugees bound them in common purpose.4 The movement arrived at this 
exercise in violent community formation through a long buildup that would 
connect the Texas coast to the 1979 shootings in Greensboro, North Caro-
lina, and to a transnational circuit of antidemocratic mercenary soldiering.

Paramilitary camps emerged directly from the combat experiences of key 
activists in Vietnam. Beam, who would participate in the building and op-
eration of at least four paramilitary camps, returned home, decorated, in 
1968 and joined the United Klans of America, pinning his military deco-
rations onto his crimson Klan robe.5 He quickly grew frustrated by “gov-
ernment subversion” of the Klan, however, and began looking for other 
opportunities. He tried the anticommunist John Birch Society, a local 
anti-integration Citizens Council, the anticommunist Minutemen, the Amer-
ican Nazi Party, and the National States Rights Party, but he bristled at 
the overemphasis on secrecy, “ridiculous” tactics, and extreme antisemitism 
that occluded what he saw as larger, common issues affecting all white 
people. Soon Beam set out to form his own group.6

He began with sporadic violent activity, all of it anticommunist or white 
supremacist. He was arrested for disrupting a communist protest, dynamiting 
a Houston radio station that broadcast what he called “Hanoi news,” and 
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blowing up the local Communist Party headquarters. In each case, charges 
against him were dropped or never filed.7 In another incident, Beam was 
charged with possession of an illegal or unregistered handgun; he later tes-
tified that this charge arose from his abduction of a white woman in an in-
terracial relationship, which he said he had done at the behest of her parents 
and which he called an act of “chivalry and honor.” In 1979, Beam threat-
ened a visiting vice premier from communist China by lunging at him in 
the underground parking lot of a Houston hotel, but once more he was not 
charged.8

Concurrent with these early actions, Beam sharpened a Vietnam War 
story that called for racist and anticommunist violence at home. “I knew the 
battle wasn’t over,” Beam told an undercover reporter disguised as a Klan 
recruit. “The mere fact that I had returned from Vietnam didn’t mean the 
war was over. It was going on right here in the States. I knew right then and 
there I had to get engaged again and fight the enemy.” This new, domestic 
front of Beam’s war collapsed wartime and peacetime, battlefield and home 
front. “Over here, if you kill the enemy, you go to jail. Over there in Vietnam, 
if you killed the enemy, they gave you a medal,” Beam said. “I couldn’t see 
the difference.”9

Using the Vietnam War as his framing narrative, Beam organized his 
own, independent Klan. By 1975 he had affiliated his group with the rap-
idly growing Knights of the Ku Klux Klan (KKKK), helmed by David Duke 
and rising as a national-level organization. The KKKK had membership 
strongholds in Louisiana, North Carolina, and Southern California, in ad-
dition to Beam’s followers in Texas.10

Duke advanced a new public image of the Klan, one that was better-
educated and genteel. He gave witty talk-show interviews wearing a suit 
and tie, claiming to be not racist but “racialist,” and advocating separatism 
rather than violence. His Klan advocated not for the denial of minority 
rights, he explained, but for the right of Klansmen to associate only with 
whites. Duke explained that people of color weren’t the enemy but merely 
childlike dupes of Jews and, especially, communists. Racism, although still a 
major motivating force of KKKK members, slipped behind the veil of 
Duke’s softened language. He and his associates attempted to appeal to 
the mainstream in the New Right, where libertarian ideas of choice and 
coercion had found traction. They also spoke to a centrist silent majority 
that mobilized around contemporary issues such as busing and housing 
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segregation. Although this group discussed such issues through ideas of 
consumerism and meritocracy—for instance, arguing that their hard work 
and success should allow them to maintain their property values through 
neighborhood segregation and opposing school integration through busing—
they accorded with white supremacist political goals.11

Public interviews, mainstream outreach, and political campaigns repre-
sented only one arena of Klan strategy. Even as they presented a softened 
public front, the same activists built an underground of violent, overtly racist 
activity utterly at odds with many of their public statements. They con-
structed a paramilitary infrastructure and expanded their membership 
through violent training and action. Beam’s Camp Puller in Double Bayou, 
one of at least four Klan camps in Texas and many more around the country, 
explicitly copied military training. Participants donned fatigues. In exercises 
at Camp Puller, Beam carried an AR-15, a civilian, semiautomatic version 
of the M16 soldiers carried in Vietnam. He talked about “kill zones” in the 
United States, modeled on those that had structured combat in Vietnam, 
and told his trainees about the excitement of ambushes, the Vietnam War’s 
most frequent type of engagement.12

Klan paramilitary camps attempted to duplicate both the indoctrination 
and the violence of the experience of army boot camp, which sought to 
remake recruits and inculcate a disposition toward violence.13 The violence 
Klansmen used as a hazing and community-building ritual sometimes 
referenced similar group acts carried out by American soldiers during the 
Vietnam War.14

Beam knew that wartime experiences had shaped Klan violence 
throughout history, and he regularly invoked these lessons of the past.15 
When Confederate veterans of the Civil War founded the first Ku Klux Klan 
in 1866, they sought to relive “the excitement of army scenes.”16 They did so 
through the increasingly systematic and violent harassment of black com-
munities in the South. Group participation in such acts of violence ensured 
loyalty to the cause.17

The Klan’s second rise followed the national consolidation of a Civil War 
narrative that valorized the violence of the first Klan, capitalized on the high-
profile lynching of Leo Frank, and then drew in returning veterans from 
World War I.18 It reached its largest membership in 1924, at some four mil-
lion nationwide. The second Klan, led by a Spanish-American War veteran, 
drew white Protestants, opportunistically capitalizing on local tensions in mul-
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tiple regions of the country. Anti-black in the South, the second Klan was 
also anti-Catholic in Protestant Indiana, anti-immigrant on the East Coast 
and on the U.S.-Mexico border, and anti-labor where unions had radical-
ized the Pacific Northwest. The Klan’s decline in the late 1920s followed the 
failure of key leaders to act within the group’s strict moral codes, most par-
ticularly in a widely publicized rape, mutilation, and death of a white school-
teacher at the hands of an Indiana Klan leader.19

The third Klan resurgence, which trailed the return of veterans from 
combat in World War II and Korea, mobilized in opposition to the civil 
rights movement of the 1950s and 1960s. As in the white power movement, 
the involvement of veterans was instrumental in acts of Klan violence, and 
showed the early stirrings of paramilitary formation. Paramilitarism was a 
feature of Klan activity and also appeared in neo-fascist groups such as the 
Columbians and the American Nazi Party, both of which featured veteran 
participation in this period.20

To be sure, so many men had fought in World War II that the involve-
ment of veterans is hardly surprising. However, not only did some veterans 
participate in the third-era Klan, but a number of those, according to an 
undercover reporter observing one group, wore their military insignias and 
made up a higher percentage of paramilitary Klan units, such as the elite 
“storm troopers,” than the general membership. This, too, would recur in 
the white power movement. Wearing their military uniforms, such units car-
ried out anti-black and anti-civil-rights violence.21

Air Force veteran Robert Shelton’s United Klans of America (UKA)—the 
group Beam would join when he came home from Vietnam—sometimes pa-
raded in military uniforms, and undertook an anti-civil-rights bombing 
campaign. In the most widely known act of UKA violence, Klansmen acting 
under the direct guidance of a navy veteran with explosives expertise bombed 
the Sixteenth Street Baptist Church in Birmingham, Alabama, in 1963, 
killing four black girls.22

Beam’s organizing activities reflected his dissatisfaction with the infil-
trated and ineffective vestiges of the third era, hobbled by the late 1960s by 
informants and agents provocateurs working under the FBI Counter-
Intelligence Program (COINTELPRO).23 He implemented the Texas Emer-
gency Reserve, a Special-Forces-style Klan unit with extensive weaponry and 
rigorous training. When Beam and Duke spoke at a 1979 rally near Dallas, 
they did so “guarded by Klansmen from Fort Hood who were dressed in 
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paramilitary garb and armed with pistols, rifles, and bayonets.”24 This re-
cruitment strategy linked military and paramilitary ideas, movements, and 
memberships.

The year Camp Puller opened, Beam also created a Special-Forces-style 
Klan Border Watch, with elite training, to intimidate undocumented im-
migrants. Its patrols formalized actions undertaken a few years earlier by 
Tom Metzger, Beam’s counterpart in the California KKKK. The patrols 
functioned both as a publicity stunt and as a way to inculcate real anti-
immigrant hostility and encourage acts of violence. Some patrols worked as 
photo opportunities for the press: in one such incident, Duke and California 
KKKK members hung “Klan Border Watch” signs on their cars and drove 
to the border near San Diego and Tijuana. When no undocumented im-
migrants appeared, Duke boasted to reporters, “I think some Mexicans are 
afraid to enter the country because of the Klan.”25

By participating in the Klan Border Watch, Klansmen claimed to be doing 
the work of the state by enforcing laws already in place and augmenting the 
U.S. Border Patrol. Beam described his patrols as vigilantism in the service 
of the state. “When our government officials refuse to enforce the laws of 
the country,” he told a reporter, “we will enforce them ourselves.”26 Strad-
dling the line between the public and private faces of the Klan, the Border 
Watch rehearsed more extreme forms of paramilitarism to come, such as the 
turn to revolution after 1983.

Beam told a Dallas Morning News reporter that the patrol had caught and 
illegally detained undocumented immigrants in South Texas.27 While the 
U.S. Border Patrol and several U.S. newspapers dismissed such efforts by 
the Klan as a publicity stunt, their intimidation tactics were described in 
newspapers in Mexico and as far away as Nicaragua, where one story re-
counted Beam’s claim that Klansmen surveilled the border with private air-
planes. An undercover American reporter who posed as an undocumented 
immigrant to make the crossing during this period reported, “On the bus, 
stories of violence by the Ku Klux Klan at the border—20 murders and the 
numerous rapes of women who dared to cross the border—circulated freely. 
Such stories, although untrue, aroused fears among the passengers that they 
would have to avoid not only the U.S. Border Patrol but the Klan as well.”28 
Whether or not the reporter was too quick to dismiss rumors of Klan vio
lence as patently “untrue,” the Klan Border Watch worked to intimidate 
crossing migrants—and to bind the patrol’s participants in common cause.29
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Beam’s paramilitary methods—as well as a major scandal involving the 
alleged sale of secret Klan membership information that led to Duke’s res-
ignation from the KKKK in 1980—paved the way for his rapid advance-
ment as a Klan leader. Camp Puller alone had trained some 500 men from 
the KKKK and other groups, and Beam prepared to expand.30

Growth depended upon the social and financial investment of a close co-
hort of Klan supporters, tied to Beam and his growing movement through 
violent activism as well as through family relationships facilitated by women’s 
participation. Dorothy Scaife, mother of a Klan security forces member, 
trained at Camp Puller and then purchased adjacent land, which she do-
nated to expand the facilities in 1980. She worked as a trainer and reported 
to Beam. Besides Scaife, who described herself to a reporter as a former Klan 
member, several other women helped to run Camp Puller.31 Beam’s younger 
brother, Phillip Beam, was a co-owner of the Double Bayou land. A third 
co-owner of the camp’s original fifty acres, Robert Sisente, would later say 
that Phillip Beam ran scuba instruction for trainees at nearby Camp Winnie. 
Sisente was a forty-nine-year-old Korean War veteran who named Camp 
Puller after his commanding officer in the Marines. He participated in the 
Klan Border Watch and worked the security detail at Klan rallies, a posi-
tion usually held by elite soldiers. Although he was head of the Texas Emer-
gency Reserve and Beam’s second-in-command, Sisente claimed to have no 
knowledge of Klan activities in the camp and said that he was not a Klansman. 
Louis Beam, on the other hand, spoke freely about Camp Puller as a Klan 
facility after its presence became public knowledge.32

Camp Puller attracted attention in the fall of 1980 with a series of un-
dercover reports and parental complaints. Klansmen had used the facility 
to instruct a group of high-school-age Explorer Scouts on strangulation, 
decapitation using a machete, hijacking airplanes, and firing semiauto-
matic weapons. Trainers at the camp had come close to taking the young 
Scouts on a Klan Border Watch patrol. As one trainer explained to re-
porters, they had restaged their own Vietnam War boot camp training for 
the teenagers.33

To Beam and others in the camp, paramilitary training had just as much 
validity as a military boot camp, and served the same anticommunist mis-
sion. Although the publicity generated by the Explorer Scouts fiasco caused 
Sisente to briefly close Camp Puller in November 1980, Beam expressed no 
remorse. “Instead of playing baseball or . . . ​kicking a football around they 
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are learning how to survive,” Beam said. “We are operating just as legally 
as the Boy Scouts . . . ​or the United States Army.”34 Beam felt he had the 
right to recruit and train an army to defend his race from the threat of 
immigration, and to carry out border enforcement on behalf of the state. 
And as with a military boot camp, violence was meant to do the work of 
shaping foot soldiers who would be loyal to one another and to his cause.35

However, the camps also prepared participants for future antigovernment 
combat. Beam believed that the United States and the Soviet Union would 
soon engage in a nuclear struggle but would lack the military strength to 
follow missile attacks with a land invasion. He planned to wage race war 
at that moment of vulnerability, after the missile strikes. A white separatist 
army, he said, could take control of the United States—or at least Texas—
expelling all nonwhite people to create a white homeland. It would be conve
nient that their vehicles, uniforms, and weapons looked like those issued by 
the U.S. government, with their original army paint and markings; as Sisente 
told an undercover reporter posing as a recruit, “We may need to pass for 
National Guardsmen or Army guys someday.”36 “We’ll set up our own state 
here and announce that all non-whites have 24 hours to leave,” Beam said 
to a group of recruits that included the same undercover reporter. “Lots of 
them won’t believe it or won’t believe us when we say we’ll get rid of them, 
so we’ll have to exterminate a lot of them the first time around.”37

By 1980, Beam and Sisente were well on their way to collecting enough 
equipment to outfit and command a paramilitary army. Beam kept a gre-
nade launcher attached to his AR-15 assault rifle, and he had distributed 
twelve radiation detectors to his troops.38

Though Beam and the Texas KKKK dreamed of race war and a white home-
land, they did not immediately declare open war on the government. In-
stead, they chose an enemy that would allow them to frame their violence 
as serving the state by continuing the Vietnam War against Asian enemies. 
Following a long history of Klan opportunism, they used local tensions to 
conscript new recruits in the work of shared violence against a minority 
group. For this, they looked across Galveston Bay. There, along the Texas 
coast, the white fishing community had grown increasingly anxious about 
the arrival of Vietnamese refugees.39 The white fishermen turned to the Klan 
for help waging a campaign of intimidation against the Vietnamese.
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Although many Americans initially responded to the arrival of Viet
namese refugees with enthusiasm, particularly in the case of refugee children, 
unease grew as the number of arrivals increased. The refugees arrived in the 
middle of an economic crisis. By 1974, economic shock had produced stag-
flation, the perilous combination of rising inflation rates, slow economic 
growth, and growing unemployment. Gasoline was scarce and expensive, 
the auto and steel industries struggled, unemployment rose, and hourly 
wages dipped for the first time in a quarter century. By 1982, nine million 
Americans were out of work.40 Although the Sunbelt, including Houston 
and the nearby Texas coast, fared better than other regions, still people 
struggled.41 Under these conditions, Vietnamese refugees—displaced from 
their homeland by the same military engagement that fomented Klan 
paramilitarism—looked to some like economic competitors.42

Many refugees knew how to shrimp and crab, having done so in waters 
much like those of Galveston Bay. Moving to the Texas coast from the places 
where they had been officially resettled by government and sponsor organ
izations, they arrived in extended families and shared their resources, 
pooling their money to buy boats. They frequently didn’t understand the 
many official and unofficial rules governing where, when, and how they 
could fish, and many spoke little or no English. They worked twelve-hour 
days regardless of the weather, and frequently netted larger catches than 
their white counterparts. They lived frugally and worked together. As one 
white fisherman said in frustration, “They ain’t beating us with brains . . . ​
they’re beating us with a lifestyle. They live eight or ten to a trailer and eat 
only what they catch. How do you compete with that?” Many white fish-
ermen believed their livelihoods were threatened by the sudden increase in 
competition, which simultaneously overfished the harbor and flooded the 
local seafood market, driving down prices.

In Seadrift, Texas, a town of 1,000 people, the arrival of 100 refugees 
profoundly altered local culture: suddenly, some 10 percent of the popu-
lation spoke Vietnamese and lived in a very different way than the town’s 
other inhabitants.43 In August 1979, after a misunderstanding about the 
acceptable distance between crab traps, a fight in Seadrift ended in the 
shooting death of a white crabber. Two Vietnamese fishermen were ac-
quitted on self-defense grounds. As tensions increased along the coast, the 
white fisherman’s brother and father told the press that Viet Cong lurked 
among the refugees.44
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A white power periodical, the Thunderbolt, soon picked up the story, cir-
culating a widely held belief that as the shrimp population dwindled, the 
federal government was financially supporting the Vietnamese but leaving 
white fishermen to fend for themselves. False rumors flew that the refugees 
lived on hefty welfare checks, as well as having smuggled stolen gold out of 
Vietnam, and bought their boats with their ill-gotten cash. Tensions about 
refugee resettlement flared nationwide, including on the Texas coast.45

For many veterans, economic instability mapped onto an emerging narra-
tive of the lost Vietnam War and its uncelebrated soldiers.46 “There was a time 
that I was proud to wear my uniform and ribbons to show I fought in 
Vietnam. But now I’d be ashamed to because I was a fool,” said Gene Fisher, 
a veteran and Seabrook shrimper who would lead a coalition of frustrated 
white fishermen. “Uncle Sam has broken his promise to the Vietnam vet-
erans and kept his promise to the Vietnamese.” 47

Fisher’s story of government betrayal in Vietnam blended with a lack of 
government and social support for veterans at home. The government’s si-
multaneous support of Vietnamese refugees fit seamlessly into a worldview 
compatible with the Klan’s anticommunism and racism. Immediately after 
his tour in the Marines—when he returned to Seabrook on convalescent 
leave with six wounds from a Claymore land mine—Fisher had been treated 
like a hero. But as public opinion of the war soured, his life became in-
creasingly difficult. He landed in prison for burglary and assault on a police 
officer in Nebraska, and served part of a second sentence for interstate 
transportation of stolen motor vehicles. Two marriages ended. He held un-
satisfying jobs, such as working on other people’s boats. By 1979, he told 
the Houston Post, he was through with all those troubles and ready for his 
share of the American dream. But he couldn’t become rich because of the 
refugees, who were in the bay each day, outfishing him and his friends and, 
significantly, reminding him of the war. He experienced the refugees them-
selves as “one of those nightmares . . . ​you can’t move and you can’t scream.” 48 
His language pointed to a distress far out of proportion with simple economic 
anxiety. Fisher came to believe that the refugees were counterparts of the 
same enemy soldiers who had wounded him in Vietnam.

In fact, the Vietnamese refugees on the Texas Coast represented one of 
several populations that came to the United States because they were dis-
placed by U.S. military and economic interventions abroad.49 Ironically, 
while the white fishermen and Klansmen painted the refugees as Viet 
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Cong—and the mainstream media picked up this rhetoric in a more tan-
gential way by characterizing the dispute as a continuation of the Vietnam 
War—several of the Vietnamese fishermen had fought as American allies 
during the war. Nguyen Van Nam, who would lead the Vietnamese Fisher-
men’s Association, had served twenty-two years in the army of South Vietnam, 
where he rose to the rank of colonel. He later received American military 
training at Fort Benning, Georgia. Another had enlisted in the South Viet
namese marines, although he had not seen combat. Ngyuen Luu, association 
secretary, served twenty years in the South Vietnamese navy, where he was a 
captain; another fisherman also served in that branch. They, like many other 
refugees on the Texas coast and nationwide, had come to the United States 
to avoid reprisals against those who had been American military allies.50

In 1980, the first Vietnamese in the area earned their citizenship. The vio
lence rapidly escalated. Three Vietnamese boats and a mobile home were 
firebombed; two Vietnamese shrimpers were beaten.51 Guns were fired out 
in the bay.52 A group of Vietnamese fishermen were pelted with beer bottles 
thrown from a speeding car as they walked home from the docks one night. 
A boat was set adrift.53 Someone pulled a gun on a Vietnamese fisherman 
walking across a dock without permission and shot him in the leg. The in-
cident was listed as a “mishap” in later FBI reports, which noted that no 
“complaint” was filed.54

It was not just economic anxiety and mistaken identification of Viet 
Cong enemies that drove demonization of Vietnamese refugees. The Klan 
and neo-Nazis also pushed explicitly racist tropes. In their periodicals, the 
groups accused “boat people” of carrying tuberculosis, malaria, and other 
diseases to the United States. At times, the articles linked the threat of 
disease to the threat of sexual violence, as in a widely circulated story of 
four Vietnamese refugees found guilty of the abduction and gang rape of 
seven white women in Orange County, California. One of the assailants had 
leprosy in remission, but the reports in white power publications claimed he 
had infected his victims. This story tapped into a history of white suprema-
cist rhetoric revolving around the defense of white women from rape by 
men of color, a theme that would profoundly shape the white power move-
ment in years to come.55

Klansmen and fishermen used gendered language and the specter of sexual 
violence to describe the territory they hoped to defend. Sisente would later 
testify that the Klan Border Patrol had been named “Operation Hemline” 
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in 1978, evoking both a purported sexual threat of undocumented immi-
gration and the way that the Klan saw white women—conservatively 
dressed—as embodying a racial nation.56 Shrimper and Klansman James 
Stanfield, who had introduced Fisher to Beam at the Klan bookstore in Pas-
adena, told a reporter, “Galveston Bay is just like a fine woman. . . . ​If you 
rape her, she’s never good anymore.” To Stanfield, the actions of the refu-
gees in securing their livelihoods constituted a sexual violation of American 
territory.57

Sensational reports on Vietnamese refugees in white power publications 
highlighted radical cultural difference to foment violent responses. Such 
stories consistently described the refugees as a “flood” that threatened to 
wipe out white jobs, and claimed refugees were eating neighborhood pets. 
In one 1980 National Association for the Advancement of White People 
News—the mouthpiece of the new eponymous organization led by David 
Duke—an article accused the refugees of destroying a San Francisco park 
by eating its plants and animals, claiming that the refugees ate rats caught 
in peanut-baited traps.58

The most damaging rumors, however, alleged that the refugees were 
welfare cheats and wards of the state. Anger at these supposed freeloaders 
provided a bridge between Klan and neo-Nazi publications and a strongly 
anti-statist current of anti-welfare discourse in the mainstream New Right.59 
As one article in the Thunderbolt put it, the “most sickening aspect of all 
of this” was the idea that white American taxpayers would have to pay for 
the welfare illicitly received by the single Vietnamese men who were out-
fishing them. “While welfare is only available to families,” the Thunderbolt 
explained, “the 1980 federal refugee assistance program money is granted to 
aliens for up to three years even if they are single men. . . . ​Vietnamese are 
experts at milking such giveaway programs and stay on relief even when 
making huge sums from fishing.” 60

The rumor that Vietnamese refugees received large welfare payments or 
came to the United States with smuggled gold shaped the Texas coast com-
munity’s understanding of them before they even arrived in the area, and 
affected their treatment once there.61 When arriving refugees wanted to buy 
old boats, white fishermen charged them dramatically inflated prices, as 
much as $10,000 for an old shrimping boat worth perhaps a third of that. 
Jim Craig, an ally of the refugees, owned a wharf informally known as Saigon 
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Harbor, where some thirty-five Vietnamese boats docked. “The Americans 
laughed at them,” Craig said, “and sold boats to them for more than the 
Americans thought they were worth because the Americans thought (it) . . . ​
was ‘government money’ anyway, because the Vietnamese had received aid.” 
Less than 9  percent of the 23,000 to 25,000 refugees in the Houston-
Galveston area, however, received any kind of welfare, and those who did 
collected $36 per month on average. In Kemah, Texas, at the heart of the 
conflict, only five refugee families received aid.62

As the economic situation continued to tighten along the Gulf Coast, the 
harassment of Vietnamese fishermen—and those white members of the com-
munity who supported and traded with them—further intensified. Whites 
drove by the homes of the Vietnamese fishermen, throwing beer cans and 
eggs. Many refugees received death threats. One woman answered repeated 
telephone calls from an anonymous person who whispered, “Do you know 
where your children are?” This harassment continued in Seabrook and 
Kemah, on and off, through the winter of 1980 to 1981. One person pointed 
a gun at Vietnamese people; someone brandished a pistol in an immigrant’s 
face.63 The moment was ripe for Klan intervention.

On the night of January 10, 1981, someone ignited a fire on the Viet-
namese-run forty-three-foot shrimping boat Trudy B. while it was docked 
in Seabrook. The next night, directly across the channel in Kemah, another 
fire was set on a Vietnamese-owned shrimping boat. Neither boat was de-
stroyed as a result of the arson.64 Off-duty police officers reported to the FBI 
that they had seen three cars with their lights off driving slowly along the 
docks. The last car, carrying four white males, stopped by the site of the 
second fire. The occupants got out, donned Klan robes, stood in a group for 
about twenty minutes, then removed the robes and left. The Houston Arson 
Task Force assigned to the case believed white fishermen were responsible 
for the fire, and that both local and Louisiana Klansmen were involved. The 
FBI’s interest in the situation pointed in the same direction.65

At first, some local authorities, including Seabrook police chief Bill Kerber, 
seemed to blame the Vietnamese fishermen, attributing the fires to insur-
ance fraud. But very few Vietnamese-owned boats had any insurance at all.66 
Kerber pointedly mentioned that the Vietnamese had purchased their boats 
with large sums of cash. “The boats they bought were American boats. They 
were in very poor condition,” Kerber told a reporter. “The Americans saw 



46� BRING THE WAR HOME

someone to put it to, and they did. What the Americans saw was a lazy, 
stupid individual with a lot of money.” 67 Clearly, some local officials held 
their own prejudices against the Vietnamese refugees.

According to FBI interviews, the Texas KKKK had been attempting to 
intervene in the fishermen’s conflict since 1979. Beam later said that the white 
fishermen had believed the government would arbitrate in their favor, but 
after two years without action, they finally turned to the Klan for help. The 
Klan used the moment to solidify a narrative of government failure first in 
Vietnam and now on the Texas coast.68 By February, the Texas KKKK had 
begun its campaign in earnest, deploying paramilitary training and tactics 
to escalate existing tensions into a ruthless campaign of harassment and arson 
against the refugees.69

On February 14, between 300 and 400 people attended a Klan rally in 
Santa Fe, Texas.70 There, Beam burned a small rowboat. He ignited the vessel 
with a torch, and flames licked across the side where someone had painted 
“U.S.S. Viet Cong.” He did this, he later testified, to demonstrate the cor-
rect method for destroying a boat by arson.71 One of the men attending the 
rally wore a Klan hood sewn from camouflage fatigues. He embodied 
the merging of Vietnam War symbols and the local problems of the white 
fishermen. At the rally, the Klan announced publicly that the government 
had until May 15—the first day of shrimping season—to get the Vietnamese 
fishermen out of the Gulf. If the government failed, Klansmen threatened, 
they would take action.72

Klansmen were not the only ones to understand this conflict as part of the 
Vietnam War. News coverage across the nation, and in major daily newspa-
pers, described the events this way, too. The New York Times characterized 
the Klan harassment of refugees as “one of the last pitched battles of the 
Vietnam War.” The Houston Chronicle called an ensuing trial that pitted the 
Vietnamese fishermen against their harassers the “Viet-Klan proceedings.” 
A Los Angeles Times headline described it as a war in its own right: “Texas-
Asian Fishing War Heating Up on Gulf Coast.”73 This last might have come 
closest to the truth. Not only were the symbols, weapons, uniforms, land-
scapes, and presumed enemies of the Vietnam War framing the latest 
battle, but a new conflict was beginning. However, these media portrayals 
fundamentally misconstrued the situation, in which the violence went in 
only one direction, from white fishermen and Klansmen to the Vietnamese 
refugees.
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In the Klan, white fishermen found sympathy, vitriolic rhetoric, guns, 
paramilitary training, and an ongoing battle that could frame their struggle. 
Fisher told the Los Angeles Times that fifty-two white fishermen planned to 
take survival and weapons training from the Klan, presumably at Camp 
Puller. On March 15, 1981, robed Klansmen went on an armed boat patrol 
of the bay, carrying long guns and “semi-automatic military rifles,” and with 
a lynched Vietnamese refugee hung in effigy on the rigging.74

The boat patrol signaled a move from paramilitary preparation to action 
by an emboldened white power movement prepared to publicly threaten vio
lence. Months before, a caravan of Klan and neo-Nazi gunmen had opened 
fire on communist demonstrators in Greensboro, North Carolina—an event 
that signaled the unification of Klansmen with other white power activists. 
Now the Greensboro gunmen were rising to celebrity status within the 
solidifying movement, with one participant joining the armed boat patrol 
in Texas.75

Although some boat patrol participants equivocated about the violent in-
tent of that action, the meaning was clear to the refugee community. The 
Vietnamese-language local newspaper reported both the boat-burning at the 
Santa Fe rally and the armed boat patrol. The Klansmen hung “the Viet
namese effigy just like a bag of shrimp,” testified Thi D. Hoang. “I under-
stand it as a warning that they would do that to the Vietnamese if they do 
not do what they want them to do. . . . ​[M]y boat can still be threatened of 
destruction. And also I’m also afraid of body injuries, threats to my life.” 
One Vietnamese woman said that she saw one of the Klansmen on the boat 
point at the house where she was standing. She grabbed her infant niece and 
ran out of the house. “I don’t spend the night in that house anymore,” she 
testified weeks later.76

A few weeks later, the Trudy B. was ignited again; this time, the blaze 
destroyed the boat. The Klan burned a cross in Seabrook. Individual 
threats continued and intensified: someone threatened to burn down one 
woman’s house, others menaced Vietnamese refugees with guns. White 
harassers threw eggs. A white businessman who traded with the Viet
namese fishermen told the FBI that he was under pressure from the Klan, 
and that someone had tampered with the brakes on his car. “Unless the 
authorities do something,” the businessman said, “there will be killings.”77

In the face of this threat, the Vietnamese refugee community came to-
gether as the Vietnamese Fishermen’s Association and filed a harassment suit 
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with the help of the SPLC on April 16, 1981.78 Houston attorney David H. 
Berg appealed to the FBI for a full investigation, and for protection. “It 
is clear the Klan intends to do harm,” Berg wrote. “They are training in 
paramilitary camps around the State of Texas in the use of automatic and 
semi-automatic weapons, explosives and other methods of causing mass 
destruction and death.”79

Meanwhile, across the bay in Double Bayou, Camp Puller quietly re-
opened in April 1981. Sisente continued to publicly disavow his connection 
to the Klan, although his well-documented involvement in the movement 
would continue. By the time the Vietnamese Fishermen’s Association filed 
suit, Beam and Sisente had more than doubled the camp’s facilities. On one 
April weekend in 1981, thirty paramilitary soldiers bugled, raised and low-
ered the flag, paraded in uniform, and held a big Sunday barbeque.80

Neighbors knew the camp was open by the bullets flying past their doors. 
A community of black families lived on one side of the camp, and the white 
trainees aimed their guns in that direction during target practice, although 
white neighbors on the opposite side of the camp also reported errant bul-
lets. The local sheriff said that none of the trainees came from the area, and 
that they were “mostly ex-Marines and all ex-military.” The sheriff said his 
hands were tied. “No one has filed a complaint,” he said, “they won’t file 
complaints because they fear reprisal, or potential reprisal.”81

During the early months of 1981, Beam called for a mediating board to 
attempt to deal with the conflict on the Texas coast. According to the Klan 
newspaper White Patriot, he wanted the board to include two fishermen, 
one American and one Vietnamese; one representative of the governor; and 
“one American and one Vietnamese veteran of the Vietnam war.”82

Beam’s proposal was further evidence of his view that the conflict on the 
Texas coast restaged the Vietnam War.83 As Fisher put it in an April 21 press 
conference, Viet Cong and communist spies had infiltrated the Vietnamese 
fishermen. Another white fisherman chimed in, “North Vietnamese com-
munists are infiltrating the ranks of the Vietnamese relocated in the Kemah-
Seabrook area whose sole purpose is to cause discontent, create fear and 
conflict among the Vietnamese and stir up incidents with the American fish-
ermen.” Prominent Klansman James Stanfield also spoke of communist 
infiltration.84 Fisher would later say that this fear of communism, read here 
specifically as the fear of the Viet Cong, was the reason white fishermen 
turned to the Klan for support. “We were seeing Communists under every 
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bush then,” Fisher testified. Therefore, he argued, the white fishermen were 
simply continuing a defensive battle against the Viet Cong, waging the war 
the government had abandoned.85

Occasionally other American veterans challenged the way the white 
fishermen used the Vietnam War to rally support for their cause. For ex-
ample, when Fisher went before the Seabrook City Council to criticize its 
condemnation of the Klan, he gave a fiery speech that turned on patrio-
tism, his service in Vietnam, and his war injuries. One city councilman, 
also a veteran, told the press that Fisher was misusing patriotism. How-
ever, the Klan invocation of the Vietnam War often garnered community 
support.86 One threatening phone call to the Seabrook Police Depart-
ment put these sentiments plainly. Although the caller claimed he didn’t 
hate anyone because “he had the love of Jesus in his heart,” he said “the only 
good . . . ​Viet Cong” was “a dead one.”87 The caller painted all ethnic Viet
namese as Viet Cong. Sometimes this racial confusion extended even fur-
ther. One white fisherman called Craig’s dock “Pearl Harbor” rather than 
“Saigon Harbor,” revealing a slippage between wars, between enemies of 
Asian ancestry, and between enemies and allies.88

Beam looked to the federal government to rectify the situation, demanding 
that it purchase the boats and resettle their refugee owners elsewhere.89 
The Texas governor, Beam said, should also prevail upon the Coast Guard 
and the state Parks and Wildlife Department to enforce fishing regula-
tions, but the claim that the Vietnamese fishermen didn’t obey fishing 
laws had lost validity by the spring of 1981. A Texas game warden testified 
that while the Vietnamese were initially “problem violators” of fishing 
and safety laws due to language barriers and cultural difference, by 1981 
they had “learned the laws very well” and had proportionally fewer viola-
tions than U.S.-born fishermen. An FBI background memo filed in May 
1981 further noted that the U.S.-born fishermen “only selectively obeyed 
some of the laws and some of their own customs.” Anticommunism, racism, 
and invocation of the lost Vietnam War fueled the white community’s re-
sentment of the refugees—not failure to follow fishing laws.90

Many of the Vietnamese fishermen—representing sixty-nine boats—tired 
of living under such harassment and offered in March 1981 to leave on the 
condition that the white fishermen buy back the boats. Many even signed 



50� BRING THE WAR HOME

bilingual English-Vietnamese documents declaring their willingness to 
sell, including a clause stating, “I guarantee that, after the boat is sold, I 
will not buy another one and will not engage in fishing or shrimping ac-
tivity.” However, since the white fishermen had systematically overcharged 
the refugees—as Craig noted, $3,000 boats had been sold to the refugees 
for $10,000, and the Vietnamese had then made repairs and improvements 
that increased the vessels’ value—few white fishermen could afford to buy 
back the boats. So most of the Vietnamese stayed in Galveston Bay.91

By this point, depositions had begun in the Vietnamese Fishermen’s Asso-
ciation lawsuit against the white harassers, and attorneys for the Vietnamese 
fishermen filed various motions and complaints that focused on continued 
Klan involvement. On Beam’s instructions, “a robed, pistol-carrying leader 
of the Ku Klux Klan and a self-described Nazi” took photographs of the 
Vietnamese as they gave their depositions. Judge Gabrielle McDonald—a 
young black woman with a strong civil rights background—confiscated the 
film, but the act was clearly intended to intimidate witnesses. Lawyers 
claimed that Beam, who arrived to give his deposition in a Klan robe, was 
visibly armed with a pearl-handled pistol. Beam scornfully denied this, 
saying the object under his robe was a Bible, all the protection he needed. 
He added, “Only prostitutes and pimps carry pearl-handled guns and I’m 
neither.”92

The SPLC leveraged the trial to bring national attention to the Klan’s 
paramilitary camps. Morris Dees, lead attorney for the plaintiffs, showed 
the court two videotapes of Beam conducting guerrilla training, saying 
that several white shrimpers had attended Klan camps “to learn tactics for 
possible use against the immigrants.” One tape was widely played by 
the mainstream press, airing on NBC’s popular show Today. At least one 
expert witness testified that the videos showed Beam “training a viable 
military organization.”93

Called to testify, Beam referred to the armed patrols of the bay as “pro-
test,” adding, “I like the hell out of the Vietnamese. I think they deserve to 
get their country back.” Implicit in this comment was the idea that the ref-
ugees belonged in Vietnam, not in Texas. Beam emphasized the Vietnam 
War as the context for and validation of his actions, and his own service 
record as proof of good character. When McDonald rebuked Beam for 
cursing on the stand, he replied, “I’m sorry, it’s the soldier in me.”94
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Meanwhile, Beam continued to spearhead the Klan campaign. A second 
Santa Fe rally on May 9 was smaller than the February rally, with only about 
100 participants. Rain prevented the scheduled cross-burning. Despite the 
small crowd, new alliances were emerging that signaled the unification and 
further paramilitary organization of the white power movement. One of the 
speakers at the rally was Jerry Paul Smith, who had personally shot several 
communist demonstrators in Greensboro. “I have invited the Greensboro 
hero from that shooting,” Beam said. “You may remember that the Klan law-
fully and with the will of God behind them executed five communists in 
Greensboro.” Publicity pamphlets for the rally dubbed Jerry Paul Smith 
“Greensboro’s answer to John Wayne.” Also in attendance at the rally were 
ten blue-uniformed members of the Idaho-based neo-Nazi and Christian 
Identity group Aryan Nations, including leader Richard Butler. The pres-
ence of both Aryan Nations leadership and a Greensboro gunman signaled 
the growth and national reach of the new movement prepared to wage war 
on American soil.95

Five days later, the court ruled that the Klan did indeed pose a threat to 
the Vietnamese fishermen. On May 14—the day before the shrimping season 
would begin in Galveston Bay—McDonald granted an injunction that spe-
cifically forbade the Klansmen and white fishermen from carrying guns, 
wearing Klan robes when in groups of two or more, or burning crosses “where 
Vietnamese shrimpers live or work around Galveston Bay.” The judge also 
prohibited boat burning, armed boat patrols, threats, assaults, or any other 
unlawful conduct that could be reasonably foreseen as likely to intimidate 
the Vietnamese. McDonald backed the injunction by promising to hold 
violators in contempt of court, and ordered the notice posted at the Klan 
bookstore and headquarters in Pasadena, Texas, and around the docks on 
the coast.96

Shortly after the ruling, McDonald received a threatening letter from Post 
Falls, Idaho, not far from Hayden Lake, where Aryan Nations had begun 
to form. On the letterhead, the sending group called itself the Social Na-
tionalist People’s Party, but used the sword logo later made famous by Aryan 
Nations. The letter, addressed “To your honor?,” berated McDonald for 
her ruling in favor of the Vietnamese fishermen. “As a Viet Nam veteran 
and a white man I am appalled at your conduct from the bench,” it declared. 
Enclosed in the envelope was a widely circulated white power image, a poster 
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titled “Running Nigger Target,” featuring an offensive caricature and text 
endorsing the murder and torture of black people.97

Despite the hate mail, tensions on the Gulf Coast quickly subsided after 
McDonald’s injunction. Texas district attorney Mark White intervened in 
the case in June, shifting its focus away from the specifics of the fishermen 
and toward the larger problem of the paramilitary camps. At that time, Beam 
freely admitted to having between one and three operational paramilitary 
training camps in Texas, including Camp Puller. He would later specify that 
some of these camps might have been mobile and therefore much harder 
to regulate.98

White issued an injunction stating that the KKKK had “associated them-
selves together as a paramilitary organization” in violation of a state law 
that said, in part, “No body of men, other than the regularly organized State 
Military Forces of this State and the troops of the United States, shall as-
sociate themselves together as a military company or organization or parade 
in public with firearms in any city, or town of this state.”99 Even as White 
prepared to shut down the camps in Texas, many similar sites were con-
ducting combat training across the country. The Christian Patriots Defense 
League trained people on hundreds of acres of land in Missouri, West Virginia, 
Indiana, and Colorado. Near Cullman, Alabama, the Invisible Empire 
Knights of the Ku Klux Klan ran Camp Mai Lai, named to laud the noto-
rious massacre of civilians in Vietnam. Klansmen told a reporter that sim-
ilar camps were operational in Mississippi, Georgia, Tennessee, and “two 
northeastern states,” and hinted that another might be up and running in 
Louisiana. In Missouri, members of the secret society and paramilitary 
terrorist group the Order would train at a paramilitary camp conducted by 
the Covenant, the Sword, and the Arm of the Lord, an Arkansas-based 
white separatist compound—and would later purchase their own para-
military training facility in Idaho. In North Carolina, white power activ-
ists would steal weapons from military installations, and recruit and hire 
veterans and active-duty personnel to train them in their use at multiple 
paramilitary camps.100

Beyond the camps created specifically for the white power movement’s 
projected race war, others opened to a broader assortment of would-be mer-
cenaries, gun hobbyists, and survivalists. A few camps even catered to leftist 
paramilitary movements, such as the Brown Berets, a Latino group. These 
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camps often included the instrumental participation of veterans, and used 
the weapons, tactics, and uniforms of the Vietnam War and its paramili-
tary outgrowth. Camp Puller and the Klan harassment of Vietnamese refu-
gees were a bellwether of a broader paramilitary turn.101

In Texas, the fishermen’s dispute ended with the injunction against Klan 
paramilitarism and with the passage of laws in the Texas legislature putting 
limits on shrimping, in an effort to control overfishing.102 On June 4, 1982, 
Judge McDonald made her injunction permanent. Ruling that the paramili-
tary training both intimidated Vietnamese refugees and violated state law 
banning private armies, she disbanded the Texas Emergency Reserve, ordered 
the Klan to “stop paramilitary training” in Texas entirely, and permanently 
enjoined the Klan from combat, combat-related training, or parading in 
public with firearms. The ruling specifically shut down Camp Puller, as well 
as Camp Bravo at Liberty, Texas; Camp Winnie in Winnie, Texas; and Camp 
Alpha, location unknown. “Regardless of whether it is called ‘defense 
training’ or ‘survival courses,’ ” McDonald told the Houston Chronicle, “it is 
clear to this court that the proliferation of military / paramilitary organ
izations can only serve to sow the seeds of future domestic violence and 
tragedy.”103

However, the white power movement had already garnered too much mo-
mentum to be slowed by one court decision. Camps were still up and 
running in Florida, North Carolina, Idaho, Missouri, Arkansas, Colorado, 
Mississippi, Tennessee, Indiana, West Virginia, and other states. And in 
July 1981—well before Judge McDonald’s permanent injunction—Beam 
called in to a radio show on the day he was sentenced on a misdemeanor 
conviction for conducting paramilitary training on federally owned grass-
lands without a permit. He had already resigned as Texas KKKK Grand 
Dragon, but told the radio host that he was up in Idaho on vacation with 
some new friends: members of the Aryan Nations. It was a sign that the white 
power movement was consolidating in the Northwest. Beam—whose sen-
tence of ten months’ probation and a small fine would soon be overturned 
on appeal—resigned as Texas KKKK Grand Dragon but soon relocated to 
Idaho and continued his activities there.104

Those watching Beam were close behind. Just before the trial began, the 
FBI had declared the Texas Klan defunct and not worthy of further inves-
tigation. The Bureau closed the fishermen case in 1982, turning its gaze 
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northwest and transferring the records from Houston to its Seattle and Butte, 
Montana, offices. The FBI was already monitoring Beam and his new Aryan 
Nations affiliates in Idaho in October 1981.105

In the next few years, Beam would pursue his war against nonwhites and 
develop the cell-style strategy of leaderless resistance. His ideas would teach 
white power activists how to carry out the revolution he had envisioned in 
Texas. Despite the court injunction, Beam still saw things the way he had 
four years earlier:

We are already aware of Communist agents among the refugee commu-
nity. . . . ​There are a number of Vietnam veterans like myself who might 
want to do some good old search and destroy right here in Texas. They don’t 
have to ship me 12,000 miles away to kill Communists. I can do it right here. 
They trained me for it, and with sufficient motivation, I’m ready.106

Beam continued his war, prepared to kill communists in the United States 
just as he had killed them in Vietnam.



O N N OVEM BER  3 ,  1979, a caravan of neo-Nazis and Klansmen fired upon a 
communist-organized “Death to the Klan” rally at a black housing project 
in Greensboro, North Carolina. Five protestors died—four white men and 
one black woman—and many more were injured. Fourteen Klansmen and 
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If the Nazis don’t get you, a Klansman will.
—Song sung to the tune of “Sixteen Tons,” California Knights  

of the Ku Klux Klan rally, Oceanside, California, 1980

Virgil Griffin (center) marches with robed and paramilitary-uniformed Klansmen 
to protest the imprisonment of a white man for the bombing of a black-owned 
newspaper, Raleigh, North Carolina, 1982. (Bettmann, Getty Images)
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neo-Nazis faced murder, conspiracy, and felony riot charges. Although three 
news cameras captured the identity and actions of the Klan and neo-Nazi 
shooters, all-white juries acquitted the defendants in state and federal 
criminal trials. A civil suit returned only partial justice. The Greensboro 
confrontation heralded a paramilitary white power movement mobilized 
for violence, and also revealed a legal system broadly unprepared to con-
vict its perpetrators.1

The shooting at the Greensboro rally was the logical extension of post–
Vietnam War paramilitary culture and a series of increasingly violent 
clashes between the fractious radical left and the nascent white power move-
ment. Sharing a common story of the Vietnam War, disparate Klan and 
neo-Nazi factions united around white supremacy and anticommunism, and 
sustained the groundswell by circulating and sharing images, personnel, 
weapons, and money. In 1979, North Carolina Klansmen had recently dis-
covered a new leader in David Duke. His Knights of the Ku Klux Klan 
(KKKK), gaining momentum nationwide, had just secured a local foothold 
in an area with a long tradition of Klan activity and with other active Klan 
factions. In February, Duke himself came to Winston-Salem to screen Birth 
of a Nation. The 1915 film depicts Klansmen as heroically saving the South—
embodied by white women threatened by interracial sex—from the ravages 
of blacks and northern carpetbaggers during Reconstruction.2

While neither the post–Vietnam War KKKK nor the white power 
movement was primarily southern, the film’s invocation of the lost Civil 
War had particular resonance in North Carolina. For the South, the 
Vietnam War was not the only American defeat at play in the popular 
imagination, nor the only war that needed to be reengaged. Indeed, one 
illustration published in the Alabama-based KKKK newspaper White Pa-
triot portrayed a Confederate veteran standing in formation with a 
Vietnam War–era Green Beret and a third man wearing a Klan hood.3 At 
the time of Duke’s visit in 1979, the KKKK showed signs of a southern 
membership surge as well as openness to new alliances: people wearing 
Nazi armbands, for instance, attended an exhibit of Klan artifacts at a 
county library in Winston-Salem.4

At the same moment, an attack waged by Invisible Empire Knights of 
the Ku Klux Klan upon black civil rights marchers in Decatur, Alabama, 
modeled a Klan strategy of forming armed caravans to carry out violence.5 
The Decatur altercation wounded four black demonstrators and resulted in 
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a local ordinance prohibiting guns within 1,000 feet of public demonstra-
tions. The Invisible Empire responded by driving a caravan of vehicles past 
the mayor’s house: “If You Want Our Guns, Come and Get Them,” one sign 
read. The local police chief made no arrests, unsure if the ordinance applied 
to a moving caravan of cars. The Invisible Empire, helmed by Bill Wilkinson, 
famously didn’t get along with several other Klan factions. Nevertheless, 
an increasing circulation of newspapers and other printed ephemera had 
begun to link these groups, and articles about the Decatur clash appeared 
in Klan and neo-Nazi publications as well as in the mainstream press. The 
incident foreshadowed the caravan of Klansmen and neo-Nazis that would 
gun down protestors in Greensboro months later.6

In July 1979, local members of the Federated Knights of the Ku Klux 
Klan and the American Nazi Party arranged another screening of Birth of a 
Nation. This time they chose a community center in the small, working-class 
town of China Grove, North Carolina, about sixty miles from Greensboro.7 
Members of the Workers Viewpoint Organization (WVO)—which soon 
changed its name to the Communist Workers Party (CWP)—organized a 
rally and march in protest. A hundred self-proclaimed communists as well 
as black community members stormed the community center, armed with 
clubs. While Klansmen and Nazis stood on the porch with shotguns, a few 
policemen managed to keep the groups from attacking each other. The 
Klansmen retreated into the building as protestors damaged the structure 
and burned a Confederate flag.8

The scene was remarkably similar to the final sequence in Birth of a Na-
tion, in which the southern family hides in a small cabin as the town is, as 
the intertitles say, “given over to crazed negroes . . . ​brought in to overawe 
the whites.” As the “black mob” and the carpetbaggers wreak havoc in town, 
tarring and feathering Klan sympathizers and attempting to force an inter-
racial marriage, those in the cabin are trapped, hopelessly besieged, until a 
large cadre of robed Klansmen rescues them, accompanied by the strains of 
Richard Wagner’s “Ride of the Valkyries.”9

No such rescue party appeared in China Grove. Klansmen experienced 
the protest as a direct attack. The women huddled in the bathrooms as the 
men defended the building, vowing revenge. Several Klansmen would later 
study photographs of the China Grove demonstrators to choose whom to 
“beat up” in Greensboro on November 3. In the moments before the fatal 
shooting, a news camera would capture neo-Nazi Milano Caudle murmuring 
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“China Grove” as he drove past the demonstrators, evoking that earlier clash 
just before the shooting began.10

The CWP, on the other hand, saw China Grove as a success. A Maoist 
Communist group that advocated political violence, the CWP was largely 
composed of young, earnest white and Jewish outsiders, many from New 
York. Several had left jobs as doctors at Duke Hospital to unionize textile 
factory workers in nearby Greensboro, choosing the town because of its low 
unionization and the persistent problem of brown lung disease acquired from 
inhaling cotton fibers. The group also included black activists long involved 
with the local civil rights movement. While the WVO / CWP claimed a long 
alliance with the black community in Greensboro, it was a complicated re-
lationship characterized by misunderstanding. Black residents would later 
express their frustration that the CWP had turned their neighborhood into 
a site of confrontation without their consent. WVO / CWP leaders claimed 
China Grove as a victory, ignoring the fears of future violence the con-
frontation had raised for many group and community members. Fol-
lowing several other Maoist and radical left groups nationwide, the CWP 
took the official position that organizing against the Klan required aggres-
sive confrontation. They mobilized against what they called a southern Klan 
resurgence, and against the impact such a movement might have on unionizing 
and racial cooperation.11

The Klan was, indeed, in the midst of a major membership surge. Ac-
cording to watchdogs, the Klan had been 6,500 strong in 1975 but by 1979 
had increased to 10,000 active members plus an additional 75,000 active 
sympathizers. Duke, at the peak of his popularity on the talk-show circuit, 
boasted that the KKKK had doubled its membership between March 1978 
and March 1979. A Gallup poll, furthermore, showed that the number of 
people with favorable opinions of the Klan rose from 6 percent in 1965 to 
11 percent in 1979.12

While the local community and national press perceived people on both 
sides of the Greensboro confrontation as dangerous and violent extremists, 
they also remained deeply engaged in the anticommunism of the Cold War. 
The Greensboro community, including local media, saw the Klansmen as 
local boys defending the status quo and the communists as anarchist out-
siders who came to town to make trouble. The communists, with their openly 
revolutionary agenda, were understood as traitorous, radical, and dangerous 
in a way that Klansmen were not.



A Unified Movement
� 59

The Greensboro shooting was the culmination of almost two years of in-
tense antagonism and repeated clashes between white power groups and the 
radical left. In July 1978, Tom Metzger, Grand Dragon of the KKKK in 
California, encountered left-wing opposition when the Maoist Progressive 
Labor Party (PLP) and Committee Against Racism (CAR) tried to forcibly 
prevent Metzger’s Klan from screening Birth of a Nation in an Oxnard, Cal-
ifornia, community center. According to the KKKK newspaper Crusader, 
the communists had come to the screening prepared for a fight: “PLP / CAR 
put over nine police in the hospital, swinging lead pipes rolled in Challenge 
newspapers.” The Los Angeles Times reported that forty leftist demonstrators 
had charged the community center, wielding clubs, bottles, and pipes. Po-
lice arrested thirteen demonstrators for incitement to riot, assaulting police 
officers, carrying concealed weapons, and refusing to disperse. Between 180 
and 300 more demonstrators—characterized by local police as “mostly 
Mexican-Americans”—remained on the street, shouting “Death to the 
Klan, Death to the Klan!” One Klansman, blindsided by a protestor’s lead 
pipe, suffered a broken nose and lost teeth, according to police. Three law 
enforcement officers and four demonstrators also sustained serious injuries, 
and seven more policemen reported minor wounds.13

Similar incidents across the country showed rising tension between the 
left and the nascent white power movement. In August, leftists attacked neo-
Nazi Michael Breda in Kansas City as he was giving a radio interview—
twelve to fifteen men with clubs and pipes broke into the radio station and 
beat Breda and another member of his group, the American White People’s 
Party. Although the attack lasted less than a minute, Breda and two radio 
station employees suffered significant head and shoulder injuries. A member 
of the International Committee Against Racism and the Revolutionary 
Communists Progressive Labor Party—iterations of CAR and PLP—took 
credit for the beating. Breda told the Los Angeles Times that the same thing 
had happened during a Houston radio interview.14

The next summer, Klansmen gathered in Little Rock, Arkansas. They 
intended to stage a counterdemonstration to some 1,200 to 1,500 mostly 
black men and women protesting the rape conviction of a mentally disabled 
black man. The event stirred memories of the civil rights movement: Little 
Rock had seen some of its most tumultuous moments around the integra-
tion of the city’s Central High School in 1957, when federal troops were 
called in to keep order. As the Chicago Tribune reported of the 1979 
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march, “To preclude violence . . . ​state and city officials sent in extra men and 
firepower, including 230 state troopers, a full platoon of Alabama National 
Guardsmen, two armored personnel carriers, and police from surrounding 
communities armed with AR-15 semiautomatic rifles and pump-action 
shotguns.” This intense armament foreshadowed another burgeoning para-
military culture in the escalating militarization of civilian policing.15

Two months later, some forty members of Metzger’s Klan met to discuss 
“illegal aliens and Vietnamese boat people and communists and other things” 
in Castro Valley, California. Thirty chanting and stone-throwing CAR mem-
bers stormed the meeting to break it up. The Klan swiftly responded with a 
fifteen-man contingent armed with clubs and plywood shields, dubbed the 
“Klan Bureau of Investigation.” Sheriff’s deputies broke up the fight, which 
resulted in only one minor injury. The speed of the Klan response showed 
both an escalation from the Oxnard confrontation the previous year and the 
expansion of group activities throughout California. Although Metzger had 
militarized his operation as early as 1974 through the Klan Border Watch 
and other activities, the California KKKK was now regularly prepared for 
violent confrontation at public events.16

As violence came to the fore of the movement, distinctions among white 
power factions melted away. Klansmen and neo-Nazis set aside their differ-
ences, which had been articulated largely by World War II veterans with 
strong anti-Nazi feelings, as the Vietnam War became their dominant shared 
frame.17 White men prepared for a war against communists, blacks, and 
other enemies. As one Klansman said just after the China Grove altercation, 
“I see a war, actual combat, eventually between the left-wing element and 
the right wing.”18

Klansmen and neo-Nazis united against communism at the same mo-
ment that elements of the left fractured and collapsed under the pressure of 
internal divisions and government infiltration. In Greensboro, for instance, 
the CWP competed locally with the Revolutionary Communist Party and 
the Socialist Workers Party. The members of each group refused to speak to 
each other and more than once came to blows while attempting to unionize 
the same textile mill.19

In contrast, white power activists bound by paramilitarism also developed 
a cohesive social movement managed through intimate social ties. Intermar-
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riages connected key white power groups, and Christian Identity and Du-
alist pastors provided marriage counseling. White power activists, who often 
traveled with their families, stayed at each other’s homes and cared for each 
other’s children. They participated in weddings and other social rituals and 
depended on others in the movement for help and for money when ar-
rested. They founded schools to teach their ideas. The Dualist Mountain 
Church, for instance, hung Nazi flags and performed cross-burnings, but 
also held “namegivings,” weddings, “consolamentum” ceremonies for the 
sick, and last rites.20

In September 1979, two months before the Greensboro shooting, about 
100 neo-Nazis, National States’ Rights Party members, and Klansmen of 
various groups convened in Louisburg, North Carolina. Leroy Gibson, con-
victed in 1974 of two civil-rights-era Klan bombings, organized the 
meeting. Gibson, who claimed twenty years of service in the Marine Corps, 
said that 90 percent of his faction, the Rights of White People, was composed 
of veterans. Gibson described paramilitary training and free instruction for 
local high school students. Harold Covington, leader of the National So-
cialist Party of America, spoke of Nazi paramilitary training camps in two 
North Carolina counties. “Piece by piece, bit by bit, we are going to take 
back this country!” he said, holding aloft an AR-15 semiautomatic rifle.21 A 
rope noose was strung from a tree outside the lodge “for purely inspirational 
purposes,” as Klan Grand Dragon Gorrell Pierce told an Associated Press 
reporter.22 Many activists attended the meeting heavily armed.

Participants called the rally the first North Carolina meeting of Klansmen 
and neo-Nazis, although the groups had begun cooperating as early as Feb-
ruary. Activists understood how World War II affected relations between 
their groups. “You take a man who fought in the Second World War, it’s 
hard for him to sit down in a room full of swastikas,” Pierce said. “But people 
realize time is running out. We’re going to have to get together. We’re like 
hornets. We’re more effective when we’re organized.” Pierce argued that ur-
gent threats—particularly communism—required Nazis and Klansmen to 
band together.23 They named their coalition the United Racist Front and 
pledged to share resources.

Shifting from the openly segregationist language of the civil rights era to 
a discourse in which anticommunism was used as an alibi for racism, 
Klansmen spoke publicly of race as a secondary concern. “The one thread 
that links all Klan factions and other extreme right-wing groups such as 
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Nazis is hatred of communists,” one Associated Press article reported just 
after the shooting. “Blacks, they say, are pawns of communism, and inte-
gration is merely one salvo in the communist battle to destroy the United 
States.”24

This strategy drew on a long history of Klan rhetoric that intertwined ra-
cial equality, communism, labor organization, immigration, anti-imperialism, 
and internationalism as threats to the “100 percent American” nationalism 
early Klans sought to defend. Such ideas were linked not only in Klan rhe
toric but also on the left. In Alabama, for instance, the Communist Party 
attempted in the 1930s to mobilize the same groups targeted by Klan 
vigilantism and harassment. Communists called the Jim Crow South an 
oppressed nation, pushed for black self-determination, decried lynching, 
and defended black men accused of rape. They organized for shorter 
workdays, better labor conditions, and the right of tenant farmers to engage 
in collective bargaining. Those who opposed communism in the South—not 
only the Klan, but many southerners—explicitly associated communism 
with free love, assaults on the family and on the church, homosexuality, the 
idea of white women becoming public property, and the threat of interracial 
sex. In this way, communism and unionization were seen as threats to the 
white supremacist racial order, which the Klan purported to defend.25

In the days before the Greensboro shooting, the men who would join the 
caravan papered the North Carolina city with posters of a lynched body in 
silhouette, hanging from a tree. Part of the caption read “It’s time for old-
fashioned American Justice.” (Four years later, the same language and graphic 
would appear on a poster for Posse Comitatus in the Midwest. The Posse 
would use the Klan graphic in 1983 to encourage its members to stockpile 
guns and ammunition in preparation for white revolution. The flier promoted 
its own circulation: “Reprint permission granted,” it read. “Pass on to a 
friend.”)26

When the Klan and Nazi caravan drove to Greensboro on November 3, 
its members expected to wage war on communists. The CWP prepared for 
confrontation as well, anticipating the brawling that had characterized such 
clashes in previous years. Several communists wore hard hats. Others armed 
themselves with police clubs and sticks of firewood. Some brought small 
guns to the demonstration, though these were mostly left in locked cars.27
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But the United Racist Front in North Carolina, following the movement 
at large, had outfitted itself as a paramilitary force. White power activists 
brought three handguns, two rifles, three shotguns, nunchucks, hunting 
knives, brass knuckles, ax handles, clubs, chains, tear gas, and mace. Ro-
land Wayne Wood, a neo-Nazi who had served as a Green Beret in Vietnam, 
had a tear gas grenade, possibly stolen from nearby Fort Bragg; he wore his 
army boots. They had packed several dozen eggs for heckling and “a .22 cal 
revolver as fresh as the eggs—a receipt for its purchase was with it.” This 
implied that the Klansmen and Nazis armed themselves particularly for the 
November 3 confrontation, with plans to use the guns. They also had two 
semiautomatic handguns and an AR-180 semiautomatic rifle, a civilian ver-
sion of a military assault rifle. The Vietnam War’s guns and uniforms framed 
this attack, much as the war’s narrative framed the larger movement.28

Significantly, although the Vietnam War had also impacted the left, the 
militarization of the left never matched that of the paramilitary right, in part 
because of the right’s cultural embrace of weapons and in part because of 
the matériel and active-duty personnel that the white power movement 
continued to draw from the U.S. Armed Forces. Veterans led leftist groups 
like the CWP, continuing a legacy of protest and armed self-defense begun 
by veterans of color who participated in civil rights, armed self-defense, 
and other left movements after homecoming. In Greensboro, one of the 
CWP leaders, Nelson Johnson, was a local black activist who had fought 
in Vietnam. While some on the left advocated radical activism in the name 
of anti-colonial self-determination, however, many wavered on the use of 
violence.29

On the sunny Saturday morning of November 3, 1979, CWP members 
arrived in Greensboro’s Morningside Homes, a black housing project, to 
stage their widely publicized “Death to the Klan” demonstration. Three tele
vision news crews arrived. At a rally preceding the march, protestors—along 
with a number of children wearing red berets—milled around the inter-
section, singing protest songs and burning a Klansman in effigy. While 
the group expected confrontation during the march, they did not expect 
it at the rally. And, due to a series of command decisions and miscommu-
nications, local police had not provided on-site protection, but instead sta-
tioned their cars and personnel several blocks away.30

Meanwhile, Klansmen and Nazis convened at a member’s home and 
talked about “getting into some fistfights” with the communists. Caudle 
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showed people a military machine gun and told them he could get more for 
$280 each. Spurred on by Eddie Dawson, a longtime Klansman and some-
time FBI informant, they grabbed guns and formed a caravan of cars. They 
intended to picket the march, taunting and throwing eggs, but they also 
brought the guns and planned to use them if necessary. As Klansman Mark 
Sherer would later testify, “By the time the Klan caravan left . . . ​it was gen-
erally understood that our plan was to provoke the Communists and blacks 
into fighting and to be sure that when the fighting broke out the Klan and 
the Nazis would win. We were prepared to win any physical confrontation 
between the two sides.”31

As the caravan of cars approached, a news camera zoomed in, refocusing 
on a Confederate flag license plate. The protestors took up the chant: “Death 
to the Klan, death to the Klan.” People in the caravan screamed racial slurs. 
A young black man yelled, “Get up,” beckoning at the Klansmen and Nazis 
in the cars. A black demonstrator hit a car with a stick as it accelerated at 
him; the car swerved wildly at the demonstrators. A teenage white girl 
shouted from one of the cars, calling the protestors “kikes” and “nigger-
lovers.” In a pickup truck, Sherer, smiling, hung out of the front window 
and fired the first shot in the air, with a powder pistol. The air turned heavy 
with blue smoke. Another Klansman fired, also pointing his shotgun in the 
air. Sherer fired twice more, claiming later that these shots hit the ground 
and a parked car.32

A young Klansman yelled into the CB radio, “My wife’s in one of those 
cars!”33 Klansmen and neo-Nazis climbed out of the vehicles and ran toward 
the intersection. The groups met, fighting with fists and sticks.34 CWP 
member Sandi Smith screamed for someone to get the children out of the 
way; a black woman, eight months pregnant, lost her balance and fell 
while trying to run away, her legs pelted with birdshot.35 CWP member 
Jim Waller retrieved a fellow protestor’s shotgun from a parked car, pulled 
it up, and aimed it at Klansman Roy Toney. They struggled, and the gun 
fired twice.36

As the shots continued, a few communist protestors reached for their 
handguns. Caudle climbed out of his powder-blue Ford Fairlane and walked 
calmly around to the trunk, from which he distributed shotguns, rifles, and 
semiautomatic weapons to six men. One of these men, Klansman Jerry Paul 
Smith—a cigarette dangling from his lower lip—dropped one knee to the 
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ground, a gun in each hand, as he fired into the panicking crowd. Others 
took aim and shot, over and over. One gunman, a survivor remembered, 
passed up a clean shot at a white woman in order to kill Sandi Smith, a black 
woman, instead.37 Klansman Dave Matthews, firing buckshot, would later 
recount, “I got three of ’em”;38 neo-Nazi Roland Wayne Wood, who had a 
12-gauge pump shotgun, would claim, “I hit four of the five that were killed 
and wounded six more.”39 Three minutes after the first shot, twelve Klansmen 
and neo-Nazis, including Jerry Paul Smith, Wood, Matthews, Harold 
Flowers, Terry Hartsoe, and Michael Clinton, climbed into a yellow van and 
drove away. The police didn’t arrive until the gunfire had subsided and the 
yellow van had fled the scene. By then, five protestors lay dead or mortally 
wounded; as many as seven more protestors and one Klansman were injured, 
and damage to the Morningside Homes community would reverberate across 
generations.40 The dead included Cesar Cauce, shot by a .357 Magnum in 
the neck, heart, and lungs. Michael Nathan had “half his head shot off.” 
Jim Waller lay dead with fifteen bullets in his body. Bill Sampson was shot 
in the heart; Sandi Smith was shot between the eyes. Paul Bermanzohn, who 
survived, was shot twice in the head and once in the arm. He underwent 
major brain surgery and spent the rest of his life in a wheelchair.41

Despite the threats and altercations leading up to the clash, the shooting 
took Greensboro by surprise. A town of textile mills, rapidly developing 
Greensboro had a reputation for progressivism but low rates of unionization. 
The city prided itself on its civil rights history—the Woolworth’s of the first 
lunch counter sit-in of the civil rights movement, in 1960, would become a 
designated landmark downtown. Greensboro’s civil rights record, however, 
turned on a “progressive mystique” that placed a premium on civility, con-
sensus, and paternalism. While protestors experienced a notably lower level 
of violence in the Carolinas than in the Deep South, North Carolina was 
still a stronghold of civil-rights-era Klan activity.42

The Greensboro shooting briefly garnered national attention, making 
Time, Newsweek, and the front pages of several major papers including the 
Boston Globe, Miami Herald, New York Times, and Times-Picayune. President 
Jimmy Carter ordered an investigation into Klan resurgence on November 5, 
and his press secretary announced that a special unit of twenty-five FBI 
agents had been assigned to the case. Also on November 5, however, the 
Iran hostage crisis took the front page and held it for some fourteen months. 
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Greensboro became a strange aside, lost in the inner pages of national 
newspapers.43

But within the white power movement, Greensboro served to energize 
activists. A few months later, Metzger’s KKKK organized another march in 
Oceanside, California. Local police had to separate Klansmen from coun-
terprotestors, who shouted “Death to the Klan!” as both sides threw rocks 
and bottles. Klansmen kicked and beat one member of the Revolutionary 
Socialist League until blood covered his head and face.44 As they marched, 
wielding bats, the Klansmen sang a song to the tune of “Sixteen Tons” that 
lauded the altercation in Greensboro and ended with the refrain, “If the Nazis 
don’t get you, a Klansman will.” 45 The U.S. Department of Justice marked 
1979 as a particularly violent year, noting that serious Klan violence had in-
creased 450 percent.46

The movement drew on anticommunism to classify that violence as self-
defense. Klansmen and neo-Nazis involved in the November 3 shooting 
almost uniformly invoked the Vietnam War to justify their actions. As 
Klansman Virgil Griffin—the Imperial Wizard of the Invisible Empire 
KKKK, who had brought a semiautomatic handgun to the November 3 
march47—said in a public statement long after the shooting:

I think every time a senator or a congressman walks by the Vietnam Wall, 
they ought to hang their damn heads in shame for allowing the Communist 
Party to be in this country. Our boys went over there fighting communism, 
came back here and got off the planes, and them . . . ​that they call the CWP 
was out there spitting on them, calling them babykillers, cursing them. If 
the city and Congress had been worth a damn, they would’ve told them sol-
diers turn your guns on them, we whupped Communists over there, we’ll 
whup it in the United States and clean it up here.48

Griffin saw the Vietnam War not only as a war between nations but also as 
a universal, man-to-man conflict between communists and anticommunists. 
He had tried three times to enlist, he said, but doctors declared him unfit 
for duty because of his asthma. Griffin’s Vietnam War, real to him, was in 
the realm of a popular narrative. Within that story, he equated all antiwar 
protestors with the CWP and all veterans with the Klan.49

Michael Clinton, a Klansman who rode in the yellow van on November 3, 
had a good record of army service, his wife told a reporter. He was drawn 
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into the Klan because of its anticommunism and its paramilitarism. And 
the wife of caravan member Harold Flowers, the only Klansman injured on 
November 3, expressed her anticommunism as a common view: “Everybody 
has concerns.”50

Following the shooting, the local district attorney’s office pressed charges 
against all fourteen of the Nazis and Klansmen who had been arrested after 
the melee. Charges included four counts of first-degree murder, one count 
of felony riot, and one count of conspiracy.

The defendants called upon the Vietnam War story to raise money for 
their defense. Several of the men from the caravan posed for a photograph in 
front of the local Vietnam War memorial. The signed photo circulated in 
the Thunderbolt under the heading “Dangerous Communists Killed” and was 
reprinted in other white power publications. In an attempt to raise money 
for the defense and awareness for their cause, the photo also appeared in the 
Talon, a white power periodical that made its way—free of charge—to prison 
inmates.51

Trial proceedings began on August 4, 1980, and from the outset reflected 
the entrenched racism of the North Carolina judicial system. The allowance 
of peremptory challenges—dismissal of jurors without explanation—meant 
that the defense could easily select an all-white jury. With fourteen people 
on trial, the defense had a total of eighty-four peremptory challenges to use at 
its discretion: defense attorneys dismissed fifteen black jurors for cause and 
another sixteen peremptorily. This system so clearly produced racially bi-
ased juries that North Carolina would abolish it in 1986.52 In this case, it 
ensured a jury sympathetic to the defendants.

The all-white jurors were all Christian and therefore likely to be fundamen-
tally opposed to communism, understood in 1979 as a threat to any organized 
religion and, in the South, tinged with the threat of race mixing. Jurors repeat-
edly voiced anticommunist rhetoric. Foreman Octavio Manduley, who had 
fled Fidel Castro’s Cuba in the 1960s, spoke frequently to the press about his 
strident anticommunism, allegedly telling a reporter that the CWP was like 
“any other Communist organization” and needed “publicity and a martyr.” 
He implied that the CWP had staged the November 3 altercation with the 
intention of getting one of its members killed in order to bring attention to 
its cause. His view resonated with a summary presented in the Thunderbolt: 
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“The hitch came when they got more martyrs than they intended.” The 
Thunderbolt also reported that Manduley called the Klan “a patriotic 
organization.”53

Manduley quickly became a favorite of the white power movement, held 
up as an example of white, anticommunist, first-wave Cuban immigration. 
Slain CWP member and fellow Cuban Cesar Cauce, on the other hand, was 
painted as “a pro-Castro enemy agent” of questionable whiteness. Cauce had 
come to the United States later than Manduley; the Thunderbolt claimed 
Cauce was “on the first boatlift of so-called refugees. Fidel Castro used the 
boatlift to empty his prisons and insane asylums of thousands of undesir-
ables to further destabilize America for his planned communist overthrow 
of the U.S. Government in the future.” This passage conflated Cauce’s ar-
rival with the 1980 Mariel boatlift, which Castro had indeed used to move 
inmates to the United States. The white power focus on immigrants as com-
munists and as threats to whiteness was a thread that connected the Greens-
boro shootings to the Klan harassment of Vietnamese refugees on the Texas 
Coast.54

Although later proceedings would cast doubt on whether Manduley had 
really expressed views that the Klan was “patriotic” and the neo-Nazis were 
“strongly patriotic,” at least one juror did make those comments.55 Other 
jurors and potential jurors expressed sympathy with the defendants or dis-
trust of the CWP. One prospective juror said of the gunmen, “I don’t be-
lieve that they were guilty of anything but poor shooting.” Another said of 
the slain, “I think we are better off without them.”56 One juror, the wife of 
a sheriff’s deputy, commented after the not-guilty verdict, “I’m really wor-
ried about the spread of communism.”57 A man who was chosen as an alter-
nate juror said he believed that it was less of a crime to kill a communist 
than to kill someone else. According to the Thunderbolt, another juror “stated 
that the communists got themselves in too deep when they challenged the 
Klan to attend their ‘Death to the Klan’ rally. . . . ​The Klansmen were simply 
the superior marksmen.”58

Those responsible for the prosecution of the gunmen also reportedly ex-
pressed prejudice. Even district attorney Mike Schlosser drew connections 
between peacetime communist protestors in North Carolina and commu-
nist soldiers abroad; when asked by a reporter about his ability to objectively 
prosecute the Klan and neo-Nazi gunmen, Schlosser referenced his own 
experience fighting in Vietnam and added, “And you know who my ad-
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versaries were there.” In another public comment, Schlosser reportedly said 
that the Greensboro community felt the CWP members got what they 
deserved.59

Besides the anticommunism that framed the proceedings, the state trial 
failed to take into account the role of two government informants who had 
foreknowledge of the Greensboro shooting and may have actively incited the 
altercation. Neither prosecution nor defense called them as witnesses. Two 
other key witnesses against the white power activists also refused to testify 
because of their fear of reprisal, surrounded as they were by a paramilitary 
and demonstrably lethal white power movement.60

Public distrust of the CWP mobilized sympathy for the white power 
gunmen. Furthermore, CWP members repeatedly undermined their chance 
at what justice the court could offer. Several of the women widowed on No-
vember 3 confounded the Greensboro community when, instead of weeping 
or grieving, they stood with their fists raised and declared to the television 
cameras that they would seek communist revolution.61 Days after the 
shooting, an article appeared in the Greensboro Record that was titled “Slain 
CWP Man Talked of Martyrdom” and implied that the CWP had fore-
knowledge of the shooting and that some planned to die for the cause. 
This damaged what little public sympathy remained. In language typical 
of mainstream coverage, the story described the CWP as “far-out zealots 
infiltrat[ing] a peaceful neighborhood.” Even two years later, when the 
widows visited the Greensboro cemetery and found their husbands’ head-
stone vandalized with red paint meant to symbolize blood, they would not 
be able to effectively mobilize public sympathy.62

Community wariness of the CWP’s militant stance only increased after 
the CWP held a public funeral for their fallen comrades and marched 
through town with rifles and shotguns. The fact that the weapons were 
not loaded hardly mattered: photographs of the widows holding weapons at 
the ready appeared in local and national newspapers. In the public imagina-
tion, these images inverted the real events of November 3, when a heavily 
armed white power paramilitary squad confronted a minimally armed group 
of protestors. The defendants, depicted as respectable men wearing suits in 
front of the Vietnam War memorial, stood in stark contrast to the gun-toting 
widows.63

National and local CWP members took up a campaign of hostile protest 
of the trial itself. The day before testimony began, the CWP burned a large 
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swastika into the lawn of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms di-
rector, and hung an effigy on his property with a red dot meant to convey a 
bullet wound. In the trial itself, CWP members refused to testify, even to 
identify the bodies of their fallen comrades. CWP widows who shouted that 
the trial was “a sham” and emptied a vial of skunk oil in the courtroom were 
held in contempt of court. Although the actions of the widows may have 
“shocked the court and freaked out the judge,” as the CWP newspaper 
Workers Viewpoint proudly reported, the widows’ “bravery” didn’t translate 
as such to the Greensboro community.64 Even those who may have sympa-
thized with the CWP after seeing the graphic footage of the shooting soon 
found that feeling complicated by the group’s contempt for the justice system, 
however problematic that system was.

With the CWP widows refusing to tell their stories, attorneys for the de-
fendants built a self-defense case by deploying two widely used white power 
narratives: one of honorable and wronged Vietnam veterans, and the other 
of the defense of white womanhood. The defense depended on the claim that 
CWP members carrying sticks had threatened Renee Hartsoe, the seventeen-
year-old wife of Klansman Terry Hartsoe, as she rode in a car near the front 
of the caravan. Terry Hartsoe testified that he could see the communist 
protestors throwing rocks at the car and trying to open the door. Such a 
statement can be seen as alluding to the threat of rape of white women by 
nonwhite men, a constant theme throughout the various iterations of the 
Klan since the end of the Civil War.65 White supremacy has long deployed 
violence by claiming to protect vulnerable white women.

To bolster the claim that the CWP had started the fight, and that the 
Klansmen and Nazis had acted in self-defense, attorneys called an expert 
witness from the FBI. Based on the locations of the news cameras that had 
recorded the altercation, he said, he could pinpoint the origin of each shot 
with new sound-wave technology. Using this new and insufficiently tested 
method—later broadly discredited—he testified that the CWP had fired sev-
eral of the first shots. In other words, the defense convinced the jury that 
the CWP had started the fight. However, under North Carolina law, the 
claim of self-defense should have been limited to defendants free from fault 
in planning or provoking a confrontation. Even had the CWP fired first, 
the Klansmen and Nazis intended to incite a fight, and had planned it in 
advance. Their armament alone, and the receipts that showed the timing, 
indicated as much.66
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Meanwhile, some defendants showed little or no remorse for the five 
deaths and numerous injuries that resulted from the shooting. Defendants 
testified at the trial that members of the white power movement had dis-
played autopsy photographs of the CWP victims at a Klan fundraising rally 
on September 13, 1980. Jerry Paul Smith had obtained copies of the autopsy 
photos, as well as photos of the dead and mutilated victims taken just after 
the shooting, from the office of one of the defense attorneys. Smith said 
someone had displayed the photos at the Klan rally without his knowledge, 
and that he asked for them to be put away when he saw them.67

The jury spent long hours watching the footage of the shooting—forward, 
backward, and in slow motion—and witnessed the raw violence of the event. 
However, jurors heard nothing of the Klan’s use of graphic photographs of 
the victims for fundraising; they were out of the courtroom when this in-
formation came to light. Prosecutors argued that the “jury should hear the 
testimony, saying it shows the Klansmen acted with malice and have no re-
grets about the deaths of five Communist Workers Party members,” but the 
judge disagreed. The jury deliberated without accounting for the continuing 
violence manifested in the circulation of those images, including profiting 
from the photographs of the wounded, mutilated, and dead. Such action re-
called a long history of circulating lynching photographs. The white power 
movement was using the pictures to raise money not only for the defense of 
the “Greensboro 14” but also for acquiring weapons to use in future violent 
actions—including a projected race war.68

On November 17, 1980, the jury arrived at a unanimous not-guilty ver-
dict after six days of deliberation and twelve major votes. Surprised Klansmen 
and neo-Nazis wept. The verdict was a national news story. Saturday Night 
Live even ran a sketch depicting the opening day of “Commie Hunting 
Season.” The performance received little laughter and scant applause from 
the live studio audience, and NBC received 150 phone complaints that it 
was offensive. Perhaps the accuracy of the sketch, despite its overwrought 
redneck accents and heavy-handed satire, rendered it humorless. The basic 
point, that a court had effectively condoned the intentional killing of com-
munists, rang true.69

After the acquittal, the white power movement amplified its praise of the 
Greensboro 14. The Thunderbolt reported at length that the men showed 
courage during the long trial, from praying and singing “God Bless Amer
ica” in jail to their heroic homecoming. Family, neighbors, and fellow 
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Klansmen cheered for Smith when he returned home, where “he proudly 
wore a [Confederate States of America] belt buckle and flew the Confederate 
flag over his house. One neighbor . . . ​remarked: ‘I’ve said all along they 
ought to pin a medal on those boys.’ ” A journalist reported that Smith’s 
“feelings toward blacks have softened, partly because of black prisoners he 
met in jail.” His alleged contrition didn’t last long. Two days later, Smith 
crashed his car after exchanging gunshots with an unknown person.70

Smith had testified in court that, after a blow to the head, he had no 
memory of firing into the crowd in Greensboro with a gun in each hand. 
But he soon traveled to Texas to recount the shooting as a guest speaker at 
a rally of Klansmen mobilizing against Vietnamese refugees. By 1984, 
members of the movement could buy a ninety-minute interview of Smith 
on audiocassette, in which he retold the shooting in detail. The story he 
allegedly didn’t remember became his currency and celebrity within the 
movement.71

Indeed, the white power movement took the acquittal as a green light for 
future action. The Aryan Nations organ Calling Our Nation ran photographs 
of neo-Nazis in Detroit marching with signs reading “Smash Communism: 
Greensboro again.” To some, the trial stood as one battle won in a global 
war against communism, the same war they had fought in Vietnam. As 
Klansman and defendant Coleman Pridmore remarked: “This is a victory 
for America. Anytime you defeat communism, it’s a victory for America. 
The communists want to destroy America, to tear it down, and they should 
be tried for treason.”72

The Greensboro case went to trial again on January 9, 1984, this time 
under civil rights laws in federal court. Although an appeals court blocked 
a court-ordered federal investigation into “charges of high-level government 
involvement” under the Ethics in Government Act, this time the court did 
allow investigation into the role of government informants who provoked 
or failed to prevent the altercation.73 The FBI and ATF had long used un-
dercover agents in attempts to arrest members of fringe groups on both left 
and right, and would continue to do so in the years that followed. However, 
the 1971 end of COINTELPRO made it illegal for undercover operatives 
to act as agents provocateurs or to initiate or incite violence. The first man 
in question, Eddie Dawson, was a longtime Klansman who had occasion-
ally reported information to the Greensboro Police Department and FBI. The 
second, Bernard Butkovich, was a career ATF agent working undercover.74
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According to three neo-Nazis and one Klansman, Butkovich—posing as 
a trucker interested in the movement—had foreknowledge of the Greens-
boro caravan and did not report it to other agents, his superiors, the FBI, or 
local law enforcement. He allegedly suggested several illegal activities, en-
couraging people to get equipment used to convert weapons to fully auto-
matic function and suggesting the assassination of a rival Klan leader. Group 
members also said Butkovich advised white power activists to harbor the No-
vember 3 fugitives after the shooting. The Klansmen and Nazis didn’t take 
any of his suggestions. Butkovich defended his actions—with the support 
of his superiors in the ATF—by saying that these statements were necessary 
to establish him as a credible member of the group for future intelligence-
gathering purposes. Butkovich had met Covington and Wood at a White 
Power Party rally in Ohio in June 1979, but his wire had gone dead, failing 
to record a lengthy section of their meeting.75

Eddie Dawson, on the other hand, actively worked to plan and provoke 
the November 3 clash. Dawson gave speeches to fire up the Klansmen and 
Nazis to protest the CWP rally, according to Klansman Chris Benson’s later 
trial testimony. And police knew that Dawson was bringing the Klan to con-
front the CWP. They knew the Klansmen had eggs and planned to heckle, 
and that they had guns. They knew Virgil Griffin was involved, that he had 
“a hot head with a short fuse,” and that he frequently carried weapons.76

Dawson obtained a copy of the CWP parade permit prior to November 3 
and so he knew where to find the communists. That day, he urged the car-
avan members to hurry to the CWP rally. At the same moment, the Greens-
boro Police Department ordered two officers on an unrelated call away 
from the neighborhood, and sent the rest of the force to lunch. As a result 
of this sequence of events—as well as prior confrontations between the CWP 
and the local police that had led the latter to decide that officers would 
protect the demonstration from afar—no police officers were on the scene 
when the shooting began.77

The evidence in the federal trial clearly established that the earlier claim 
of self-defense could not stand. As one prosecutor noted, the Klansmen and 
Nazis “fired 11 shots before any shot was fired in return,” by which point 
they had wounded several people. Mark Sherer, who had by then quit the 
Klan, testified that Griffin had planned to incite a race war in North Caro-
lina and that Smith had experimented with making pipe bombs. Butkovich 
had overheard a Klansman say the explosives would “work good thrown into 
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a crowd of niggers,” but had failed to mention bombs in his ATF paperwork. 
Sherer now indicated that the Klansmen and Nazis fired the third and fourth 
shots, which had been attributed to the CWP by faulty sound analysis in 
the state trial.78

Despite substantial evidence to discredit the claim of self-defense—and 
despite the full cooperation and testimony of the CWP—the federal trial 
exonerated the Klansmen and neo-Nazis a second time. Prosecutors sought 
to prove that by shooting and killing them, the Klansmen and neo-Nazis 
denied the CWP members their civil rights for reasons of race. To make this 
case, the jury instructions specified, the prosecution had to show that race 
was the “substantial motivating factor” behind the violence. The defense 
countered that the Klansmen and neo-Nazis acted on political, not racial, 
motives. They were, as they had said repeatedly, trying to defend the United 
States from communism. And since the connection between anticommu-
nism and racism in the ideology of white power activists went unexplained, 
the Klansmen and neo-Nazis walked free again in April 1984.79

The third and final trial began in March 1985. In a civil suit, the CWP 
widows and eleven injured demonstrators sought monetary damages from 
the Klansmen, the neo-Nazis, Dawson, Butkovich, the Greensboro Police 
Department, the City of Greensboro, the State Bureau of Investigation, the 
FBI, the ATF, and more. The judge dismissed several of these defendants, 
including the federal agencies that had sovereign immunity, and also dis-
missed a number of unknown “John Does” because charges against them 
were too vague. The case went to trial with sixty-three defendants.80

Attorneys for the plaintiffs called seventy-five witnesses over eight weeks; 
the defense lasted four days. In the most dramatic moment of the trial, former 
Klansman Chris Benson testified that he had previously lied in court because 
he feared retaliation. Benson had been the second-highest-ranking Klansman 
in the Greensboro caravan, and in earlier trials had maintained that the 
CWP demonstrators provoked the violence. Now he said that white power 
activists had intended to provoke a confrontation. In cross-examination by 
Klansmen and Nazis representing themselves, Benson “said he had particu-
larly feared the ‘underground Klan,’ which he described as a paramilitary 
group that would ‘carry out acts to intimidate people.’ ” Benson named mem-
bers of the paramilitary Klan, including co-defendant Dave Matthews, and 
added, “I saw Mr. Matthews shooting at people in Greensboro who were 
running away from him.”81



A Unified Movement
� 75

Benson, reformed and contrite, stood in stark contrast with most of the 
other defendants. On the first day of the trial Roland Wayne Wood wore 
“an olive drab T-shirt with the phrase ‘Eat lead, you lousy red’ printed next 
to an image of a man in camouflage fatigues spraying automatic weapon 
fire.” Because Wood chose to represent himself in the civil trial, he wore the 
shirt in court while acting as a part of the U.S. justice system.82

Despite compelling evidence, the jury, which this time included one black 
member, delivered only partial justice. In June 1985, it found some of the 
absent policemen and some of the white power gunmen—Dave Matthews, 
Jerry Paul Smith, Roland Wayne Wood, Jack Fowler, and Mark Sherer—
jointly liable for one of the five deaths and two of the many injuries. Signifi-
cantly, the only death found wrongful was that of Michael Nathan, the only 
one of the five people killed who was not a card-carrying CWP member. It 
might be wrong to shoot bystanders, the decision confirmed, but there was 
nothing wrongful about gunning down communists. The City of Greens-
boro paid the full amount of the settlement, covering the costs for Klansmen 
and neo-Nazis.83

Once again, the white power movement took the settlement payment as 
endorsement of violent action. As Klansman and Thunderbolt editor Ed 
Fields wrote in his 1984 personal newsletter, “We must increase activity while 
we are still free—while juries made up of God fearing White people will 
free our street activists such as in the Greensboro case.”84 Louis Beam, too, 
saw Greensboro as a success for the movement. In a film of Beam’s para-
military camps in Texas circa 1980, he told the camera, “When the shooting 
starts, we’re going to win it, just like we did in Greensboro.”85

The Greensboro shooting had the effect of consolidating and unifying 
the white power movement. Most directly, caravan participant Glenn Miller 
would use the shooting to leverage state leadership in the North Carolina 
Knights of the Ku Klux Klan, which would soon change its name to the 
White Patriot Party, uniform its members in camouflage fatigues, and march 
through the streets by the hundreds. In his increasingly revolutionary 
Confederate Leader, Miller expressed pride about the shooting even six 
years afterward.86 A veteran who served two tours in Vietnam as a Green 
Beret, Miller used paramilitary camps to prepare his new white army for 
race war, recruited active-duty soldiers, and obtained stolen military 
weapons. Soon he would align his force with the white power terrorist group 
the Order.87
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The idea of worldwide struggle against communism also aligned the 
Greensboro gunmen with antidemocratic paramilitary violence in other 
countries. Thunderbolt, for instance, called it “very strange” to hear Presi-
dent Ronald Reagan “pleading for money to send to guerillas” fighting 
against communists in Nicaragua and El Salvador when “right here in Amer
ica we have a clear case of White Christian family men being shot at by 
communists who returned fire in a perfect case of self-defense.”88 To the 
movement, there was little difference between white power gunmen at home 
and paramilitary fighters who worked to extend U.S. interventions abroad.

Harold Covington, an American Nazi Party Leader and veteran who 
claimed to have been a mercenary soldier in Rhodesia, did not participate in 
the Greensboro caravan, but sent several of his men to the skirmish. Shortly 
before the shooting, Covington wrote a letter to the Revolutionary Commu-
nist Party, which he mistook for the CWP. “Almost all of my men have killed 
Communists in Vietnam and I was in Rhodesia as well,” he wrote, “but so far 
we’ve never actually had a chance to kill the home-grown product.”89 Cov-
ington, who saw himself as a person who killed communists—he killed them 
abroad and he intended to kill them at home—showed how violence at 
home and anticommunist interventions abroad would link white power 
organizing with a network of mercenary soldiers who waged war in Central 
America and beyond.



TO M POSEY WAS so eager to fight communists that he attempted to join the 
Marines early, at sixteen. When he came of age in 1964, he did enlist in 
the Marines and served in Vietnam, rising to the rank of corporal by 1966. 
He also joined the Alabama National Guard and explored right-wing groups, 
having become a member of the anticommunist and ultraconservative John 
Birch Society in 1963.1 After coming home from Vietnam, Posey found that 
life as a wholesale grocer bored him: “Peacetime is miserable, sitting on my 
butt.”2 He considered several avenues for paramilitary activism, both racist 

4� Mercenaries and Paramilitary Praxis

Wild men . . . ​doing wild things.
—State Department official on mercenaries in Nicaragua

Frank Camper instructs trainees in use of machine guns at a camp for 
prospective mercenary soldiers, Alabama, 1985. (© Eli Reed, Magnum Photos)
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and anticommunist. In 1979 Posey attended a Klan action in Decatur, Ala-
bama, his hometown. There, around 100 members of the Invisible Empire 
Knights of the Ku Klux Klan, armed with bats, clubs, and guns, attacked a 
civil rights demonstration. They inflicted major injuries and shot two civil 
rights demonstrators in the head and face. While the FBI did not find suf-
ficient evidence to charge the Klansmen, the Southern Poverty Law Center 
would file a civil lawsuit that reopened the case. Four Klansmen were later 
found guilty of criminal charges, and ten were bound by consent decrees in 
settling the civil suit.3

Instead of delving into the domestic white power movement, however, 
Posey took a different route. He formed a new group that used similar guiding 
principles for violent action, Civilian Military Assistance (CMA). Drawn 
largely from Vietnam veterans and active-duty National Guardsmen in the 
South, CMA described itself as a civil organization dedicated to supporting 
anticommunist combat in Central America with supplies, weapons, and 
manpower.4 CMA conducted vigilante patrols of the U.S.-Mexico border, 
adopting the tactics of the earlier Klan Border Watch, and contributed mer-
cenary soldiers to the Contras, a loose alliance of paramilitary groups that 
sought to overthrow the leftist Sandinista government in Nicaragua after 
the 1979 revolution. In Nicaragua, CMA acted covertly on behalf of the U.S. 
government—it was funded by the CIA and supplied by the U.S. military.5 
Under President Ronald Reagan, the state’s semi-official interventions would 
swell into a bustling, multilayered network of mercenary soldiers, CIA op-
eratives disguised as rogue mercenaries, and civilian veterans doing the work 
of state military advisors, all participating in a frenzied effort to circumvent 
public opinion and congressional checks, to contain or roll back commu-
nism, and to redeem the loss in Vietnam.6

Posey’s engagements are one example of the complex interconnections be-
tween U.S.-sanctioned covert intervention in Central America, white power 
activism, and the actions of independent mercenary soldiers. He formed the 
CMA as an alternative to, but in common cause with, the domestic white 
power movement. He used his organization to move the soldiers, weapons, 
and symbols of the Vietnam War to the fight against communism in Central 
America. He saw himself as more than a “standard mercenary” who fought 
without “scruples or morals”—Posey’s battle cries featured a strong belief 
in God intertwined with virulent anticommunism. He would gladly shoot 
any American citizen who aided the cause of communism. “I wouldn’t 
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shoot them as individuals,” he explained. “I would be shootin’ them as 
communist.”7 For Posey, as for the Greensboro shooters and others in the 
white power movement, killing communists provided an opportunity for 
like-minded combatants to join forces. Mercenary soldiers—civilians who 
fought for money and for free in the anticommunist skirmishes of the Cold 
War—honed an antidemocratic praxis some would later use to structure acts 
of violence on U.S. soil.

In parallel with the way white power activists in Greensboro understood 
themselves as participating in a global war against communism, mercenaries 
such as Posey expressed approval of acts of white power violence at home.8 
Links between white power activists and mercenaries were strong and 
sustained. In Rhodesia, where between 1965 and 1980 as many as 2,300 
American mercenaries defended the white minority-rule government, sol-
diers for hire included John Birch Society members and neo-Nazis.9 One 
gun dealer and former Klansman who later sold a cache of fourteen AR-15 
assault rifles to the white power terrorist group the Order claimed to have 
been “approached by people in Alabama who I am now told were under-
cover agents for the government about engaging in gun running to South 
America,” presumably CMA. Although he declined the sale, the attempt 
reveals continued interconnection between the CMA and the white power 
movement.10

White power activists focused keenly on Central America, traveling there 
with frequency. Louis Beam, a national-level movement leader, made sev-
eral trips to Mexico and Costa Rica for reasons ranging from evading arrest 
to obtaining cheap medical care, participating in business ventures, and pos
sible money laundering and arms deals.11 Members of the Order had supplied 
the Contras and reportedly guarded a Costa Rican gold mine secretly owned 
by the Covenant, the Sword, and the Arm of the Lord, an Arkansas white 
separatist group. The story about the mine may be apocryphal, and cannot 
be verified in the archive. But by the mid-1980s, the Order did regularly 
produce false Costa Rican identification for its members, as one member 
had spent time there. Movement interest in the region was marked and 
intense, if not fully illuminated by archival sources.12

Although the number of veterans who became mercenary soldiers rep-
resents a very small percentage of the men who served in the Vietnam War, 
their activities made a profound impact—both in politics and in violence—
in countries throughout the Third World. Veterans who used their combat 
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training in Vietnam to act as mercenary soldiers elsewhere brought the war’s 
violence to new battlefields and new enemies. Between the 1960s and the 
end of the Cold War, American mercenaries fought to preserve white 
minority-rule governments in Rhodesia and South Africa, and in Latin 
America and the Caribbean they propped up U.S.-supported regimes, op-
posed leftist movements, and attempted to overthrow leftist governments. 
Some traveled back to Southeast Asia, where they supported anticommunist 
actors and regimes, and to Angola and the Congo, where they augmented 
U.S. support of guerrilla factions that opposed the Soviet Union.

Posey saw himself and CMA as protecting the United States from a threat-
ening Red menace. He believed the government wasn’t doing the job 
because politicians refused to deploy sufficient force to let soldiers win. He 
invoked a series of failed military actions in Korea, Vietnam, and the Middle 
East that he attributed to half-hearted U.S. commitment.13 Posey’s Vietnam 
War memories structured CMA and, by extension, shaped a significant ele
ment of the CIA involvement in Central America. Others, too, perceived 
the American mercenaries as continuing the Vietnam War. In Rhodesia, for 
instance, one author described the civilian-targeted violence carried out by 
mercenaries as “transplanted American methods of dealing with the Viet 
Cong in Vietnam.”14

The circuit that brought mercenary soldiers to the Third World moved 
other vestiges of the Vietnam War as well: weapons, technologies, strategies, 
and slang. The struggle to continue white minority rule in Rhodesia deployed 
planes and helicopters left over from Vietnam, as well as field cannons, rifles, 
tanks, and 900 tons of small arms and mortars. An estimated 15,000 mer-
cenaries accounted for as much as 60 percent of Rhodesia’s white army, and 
included soldiers from around the world. The contingent of Americans was 
relatively small—between 40 and 2,300—but left an indelible cultural im-
print. Elite fighting units within the Rhodesian army were modeled after 
the U.S. Army Special Forces. Even the word “gook” had made a transna-
tional circuit—beginning as “gugu” to describe territorial subjects during the 
U.S. conquest of the Philippines, the term “gook” migrated to the anticom-
munist war in Korea, was widely used to disparage enemies and civilians 
alike in Vietnam, and eventually became shorthand for the enemies of mer-
cenary soldiers in various African countries.15

The linkage between domestic anticommunism, white power organizing, 
and intervention abroad found more public backing in some conflicts than 
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it did in others. For instance, U.S. foreign policy did not support the white 
supremacist wars in Rhodesia and South Africa, at least in part because of 
President Jimmy Carter’s commitment to human rights and his dedication 
to race-neutral democracy as a moral issue at home. Although some people 
in and beyond the white power movement organized to support overtly white 
supremacist conflicts in southern Africa, it was difficult for many Ameri-
cans to reconcile these with the new, post-civil-rights racial mores. The Carter 
administration also argued that transition to majority rule in southern Africa 
would better prevent communist revolution there in the future.16

Central America provided an opportunity with wider appeal. There, 
mercenaries were only one weapon in an extensive arsenal of covert Cold 
War strategies. In the years before the Iran-Contra scandal became public 
in 1986, the United States co-opted, advised, funded, condoned, and created 
an assortment of local actors, mercenary soldiers, and CIA operatives that 
worked to support anticommunist regimes, unseat leftist governments, 
and keep right-wing, military, and counterrevolutionary governments in 
place throughout the region.

Mercenaries fought in places where they believed they could redeem the 
defeat of the Vietnam War, this time against new communist enemies. Posey 
spoke of the enemy in Vietnam as indistinguishable from civilians, and largely 
saw communists in other sites as interchangeable with those he had fought 
under more official auspices. Speaking of Central America, he said:

I take it for granted that if we’re down there and we get shot at, those other 
people must be the communists. If somebody’s shooting at you, they sure as 
heck ain’t your friend. . . . ​In Vietnam . . . ​who were the soldiers? Who was 
the [Viet Cong]? The ones in pajamas? Everybody wore black pajamas. You 
didn’t know until after the battle. If they was laying there with a rifle in their 
hand that was made in Russia and you got men laying down here dead with 
Russian bullets in them, then they must have been the communists.17

Anyone who fired at Posey was, to him, a communist. A banner in the back-
ground of an iconic press photo of Posey vividly summarized this world-
view: “Kill ’Em All, Let God Sort ’Em Out.”18

Mercenary combat made visible the interchanges between white power 
activism and more mainstream paramilitary culture. For instance, the slogan 
“Kill ’Em All, Let God Sort ’Em Out” appeared regularly in the paramilitary 
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magazine Soldier of Fortune. Founded in 1975 by Special Forces veteran 
Robert K. Brown, Soldier of Fortune had 35,000 subscribers, 150,000 news-
stand sales, and an estimated 300,000 casual readers in the mid-1980s. The 
magazine’s content appealed to a readership that included gun hobbyists, 
hunters, survivalists, and armchair adventurers. While it did not espouse 
white power rhetoric, it did appeal to activists through its extensive coverage 
of issues relevant to the movement, such as white minority rule in Rhodesia, 
and its many articles on weapons and matériel, martial arts, urban warfare, 
survivalism, and other skills relevant to the white power reader.19

Similarly, Posey’s stance reflected not only the thoughts of mercenaries 
on the fringe but an interventionist current in mainstream conservatism that 
gave rise to increasing paramilitarism within the Reagan administration it-
self. In the 1980s, Central America became the testing ground for an esca-
lation in anticommunist foreign policy pursued through a series of brutal 
covert interventions. The policy came under intense public scrutiny when 
the Iran-Contra scandal broke in 1986. While those in government shied 
away from public statements using the kind of directly dehumanizing lan-
guage that mercenaries would employ so freely, U.S. foreign policy in Cen-
tral America nevertheless generated a civilian-targeted, body-count-oriented 
violence that recalled popular representations of combat in Vietnam.20

The paramilitary turn, in both popular culture and foreign policy, built 
upon decades of counterinsurgency strategy and crystallized around the 
loss of the Vietnam War. The public at large hesitated to engage in new 
wars, and members of Congress elected by the antiwar and leftist social 
movements of the 1960s and 1970s sought to limit presidential power to 
send troops into action. The War Powers Resolution, passed over President 
Richard Nixon’s veto in 1973, set strict limits on when, how, and for how 
long the executive branch could send American soldiers to war. Advocates 
of intervention believed that waging new wars that could redeem the loss 
in Vietnam could stop the spread of communism. However, they faced a 
major obstacle in the public and legislators’ reluctance to commit the country 
to new conflicts. Antiwar attitudes from the defeat in Vietnam softened in 
the 1980s, but the public remained resolutely opposed to a draft and to 
any tax increases needed to pay for large-scale military operations. Instead 
of  big war, the United States increasingly fought communism through 
covert interventions and the support and use of U.S.-trained local counter
insurgent units.21
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A fundamental contradiction of the Cold War was that the United States 
frequently allied with antidemocratic governments to carry out a foreign 
policy that purported to protect freedom and democracy. Containment 
under Presidents Richard Nixon and Jimmy Carter sought to stop the spread 
of communism. President Ronald Reagan adopted a more aggressive roll-
back policy that sought to unseat communist and leftist governments where 
they already held power. In practice, this meant opposing anticolonial revo-
lutions and struggles for self-determination that swelled through the Third 
World in the 1970s and 1980s. Increasingly, America’s attempt to protect 
democracy at home by preventing communism from approaching its bor-
ders resulted in the violent suppression of democratic and popular political 
change abroad.22

This contradiction employed a definition of democracy that broke a long 
bond between the notions of liberty and social responsibility. Instead, lib-
erty was linked with free enterprise. Revolutions for self-determination were 
often deemed communist, and thus threats to be contained. Not only did 
this occlude a long American intellectual tradition joining democracy with 
social welfare—an idea codified during the New Deal, refined by the emer-
gent discourse of human rights after World War II, and embraced in the 
social movements of the 1960s—but it further aligned U.S. democracy with 
aspirations to global dominance.23

Indeed, Nicaragua became a stark example of the contradiction between 
U.S. intervention in the name of preserving democracy and opposition to 
popular revolutionary movements. President Anastasio Somoza Debayle 
was a U.S.-supported dictator notorious for the kidnapping, torture, and 
assassination of his political opponents, although he was friendly to U.S. 
business and political interests in the region. The Somoza family had ruled 
Nicaragua since 1934 with U.S. military and economic support (though 
the Carter administration stopped aid to Somoza because of his human 
rights record), and many Nicaraguans suffered from poverty, illiteracy, and 
high infant mortality even as the Somozas amassed a fortune—as well as 
control of Nicaragua’s banks, airline, television stations, industries, and one-
third of its land. A people’s movement dedicated to a leftist state and named 
after Augusto César Sandino, the popular leader who had opposed a U.S. 
occupation of Nicaragua in the 1930s, sought Somoza’s overthrow. The 
Sandinistas hoped to free Nicaragua from the influence of U.S. government 
and businesses, renegotiate foreign debt, and address social inequality by 
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providing health care, creating jobs, instituting land reform, providing food 
subsidies, and supporting education. Rather than being simply communists, 
the Sandinistas represented a political coalition of Marxists, socialists, Catho-
lics, and progressive capitalists.24

American mercenaries in Nicaragua who worked to prop up the Somoza 
regime arrived there through the School of the Americas, a military training 
institution run by the U.S. Army. Founded in the Panama Canal Zone in 
1946 and later relocated to Fort Benning, Georgia, the School of the Amer
icas worked to circulate U.S. military tactics, training, and weapons to Latin 
American allies, building military and police institutions through which the 
United States could exercise absentee regional influence.25

Somoza sent his son Anastasio Somoza Portocarrero to the United States 
in 1977 for college and military training. Somoza Portocarrero spent time 
at West Point and Harvard University, and then trained at Fort Leavenworth 
and Fort Benning. At the U.S. Army Special Forces training school in Fort 
Bragg, North Carolina, he met Michael Echanis, who became a mercenary 
soldier for the regime.26 Echanis, a twenty-seven-year-old decorated Vietnam 
veteran, had a marketable skill set, according to a lengthy Soldier of Fortune 
profile. He had served in the infantry, suffering major injuries that hospital-
ized him for eight months; after his recovery he became an accomplished 
hand-to-hand fighter and prolific writer of martial arts manuals. Besides 
training SEALs, Army Rangers, and Special Forces units at Fort Bragg, 
Echanis was also a member of the Soldier of Fortune editorial board and 
was frequently pictured in its pages wearing camouflage fatigues, often in 
action shots.27

Somoza Portocarrero recruited Echanis—and another veteran, Charles 
Sanders—specifically to teach the skills they had learned in the Vietnam 
War. In 1977, Somoza Portocarrero took command of the Basic Training 
Infantry School (EEBI) within the elite Nicaraguan National Guard. U.S. 
advisors had formed the National Guard to quell the nationalist insurrec-
tion led by Sandino in the 1930s; by 1972, the U.S.-trained unit had claimed 
the lives of more than 30,000 of Somoza’s political opponents.28 Indeed, So-
moza kept control of the National Guard even during his brief ouster as 
president, thus retaining control of Nicaragua itself. In a 1978 series of candid 
interviews given on the condition that they could be published only post-
humously, Echanis told the Los Angeles Times that he had risen to a position 
of leadership within the National Guard and the EEBI. “I run all uncon-
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ventional warfare training for the guard,” Echanis told the reporter. “I run 
all operations and intelligence on counter-operations against the Sandinistas. 
I have a $5 million budget and I just got another $1 million and six colonels 
to set up a special antiterrorist intelligence division.” Echanis also described 
his long personal war against communism. “I hate Communists for what 
they did to my people in Vietnam,” he said. “I’ve got six AK-47 holes in my 
body.”29

Memoirs by Nicaraguan National Guard members verify Echanis’s in-
volvement but argue that he exaggerated his position and influence.30 One 
National Guard member, Henry Briceño, wrote that the guardsmen referred 
to Echanis as a “trainer” rather than by a military title, but added that he 
was still considered a high-ranking man and accompanied Somoza Porto-
carrero wherever he went. Briceño described Echanis as “a hero of the Viet 
Nam war” and the best instructor of “a mountain of methods to kill, kill, 
and kill some more.”31

Echanis played a crucial role in guiding the implementation of American 
methods and weapons on Nicaraguan soil. He claimed approval from 
the U.S. government and cited a letter from the secretary of state asking 
him not to violate human rights or kill noncombatants. He “interpreted 
this to mean that it was all right to kill combatants.”32 In September 1978, 
Echanis died when his private plane, belonging to the commander of the 
National Guard, crashed into Lake Nicaragua. In a Los Angeles Times ar-
ticle about his death, State Department officials were quoted as saying that 
the government knew mercenaries were fighting to support the Somoza 
regime in Nicaragua, but could do little to stop them.33 Indeed, the American 
state’s reaction to mercenary combat in the 1970s and 1980s ranged from 
inconsistent prosecution to tacit non-action to overt approval.

The government also failed to take seriously the links between American 
mercenaries and the white power movement. One example of this is the story 
of Operation Red Dog. On April 27, 1981, FBI and ATF agents arrested a 
group of ten men on their way out of New Orleans. Authorities seized their 
cache of weapons and supplies: eight Bushmaster automatic rifles, ten shot-
guns, five rifles, ten handguns, ten pounds of dynamite, 5,246 rounds of 
ammunition, Nazi and Confederate flags, the neo-Nazi newspaper National 
Vanguard, and various military manuals. Investigation eventually revealed 
that the men were participants in a plan to send mercenaries by boat to the 
small Caribbean island of Dominica to overthrow the government there and 
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set up a puppet regime that would funnel millions of dollars to the Klan in 
the United States.34

The would-be invaders of Dominica included Don Black, a high-ranking 
Klan leader of the Knights of the Ku Klux Klan, the organization with 
chapters led elsewhere by Louis Beam and Tom Metzger that had militarized 
on a national scale. The leader of the mercenaries, Michael Perdue, was, as 
one follower said, “obsessed with the league of Aryan Nations thing”—a ref-
erence to the unifying white power movement and specifically to Aryan 
Nations in Idaho, where Louis Beam had relocated after an injunction barred 
him from running paramilitary camps in Texas.35 Five of the mercenaries 
had military training, and all but one had affiliations with U.S. or Canadian 
Klan and neo-Nazi groups. One of them, Bob “Mad Merc” Prichard, would 
later be diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder from his harrowing 
tour in Vietnam, where he was shot twice and wounded a third time by the 
shrapnel of a rocket-propelled grenade. Prichard had trained at a paramili-
tary camp run by Glenn Miller’s Carolina KKKK—soon to be renamed 
the White Patriot Party—that was associated with the Klan and neo-Nazi 
shooting of communist protestors in Greensboro, North Carolina, in 
November 1979 and later with the large-scale theft of military weapons.36

Though their end goal was to funnel money to the Klan, likely to facili-
tate the race war for which Klansmen had started to prepare, the Dominica 
mercenaries framed their actions as a defense of the United States from 
communism. Even though they sought the overthrow of a Dominican 
prime minister who opposed communism, they saw the island as ripe for 
takeover by either American or Soviet communist interests, and claimed 
they were working to forestall a Soviet victory. When they rented the boat 
for their mission they claimed to be CIA operatives, and perhaps some even 
believed this to be the case.37

The first iteration of their plan revealed that the Operation Red Dog 
mercenaries saw themselves as acting in service of the state. Though they 
quickly abandoned this plan for lack of manpower, they had hopes of in-
vading Grenada. The Reagan administration itself would invade Grenada just 
two years later under more official auspices, but using a notably similar an-
ticommunist ideology.38 Black frequently spoke of the similarity in rhetoric 
and objectives that he thought connected the Klan with the Reagan admin-
istration, always claiming that he had acted patriotically even when he broke 
the law. “We were military advisors, and our purpose was to stabilize and 
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secure the island against communists,” Black later told a reporter. “Had we 
been successful, it would have been in the best interests of the United 
States.”39 Black’s comment about Dominica echoed Reagan’s talk of stabi-
lizing and securing Grenada when referencing successful U.S. interventions.40 
In other words, white power mercenaries positioned themselves within a state 
ideology of covert action that itself constituted a form of paramilitarism.41

Reagan would later describe the Grenada invasion as the beginning of 
the end of American “self-doubt and national confusion” in the wake of 
the Vietnam War.42 Indeed, while the Dominica mercenaries came from a 
variety of political, economic, and cultural backgrounds, they shared both 
intense anticommunism and deep identification with the Vietnam War 
story. Some had served in Vietnam, while others fashioned their identity 
around their participation in paramilitary combat. Group leader Michael 
Perdue falsely claimed Green Beret experience in Vietnam—he was con-
victed of petty theft and thrown out of the Marines before he could be de-
ployed overseas—and boasted of a long and fabricated record of mercenary 
combat in Uruguay, Rhodesia, and Nicaragua.43

Charged with violating the Neutrality Act, which prohibited American 
citizens from engaging in combat in countries with which the United States 
had not declared war, most of the ten would-be Dominica mercenaries 
pleaded guilty. Of three who did not, only one walked free, twenty-one-
year-old Alabaman Michael Norris. Although Norris had been affiliated 
with both the KKKK and the neo-Nazi group National Alliance prior to 
the Dominica attempt, his defense was gullibility: he claimed he didn’t know 
any better and stumbled into mercenary action by accident.44

Norris’s acquittal revealed a legal system unprepared to understand or 
curb the white power movement’s paramilitary violence. The plot looked un-
realistic and badly managed—a Los Angeles Times headline, for instance, 
called it “A Tragicomedy of Errors,” and ATF agents jokingly referred to it 
as “the Bayou of Pigs”—but its significance should not be minimized. The 
plot revealed a rapidly militarizing white power movement. And in the 
case of Norris, who was effectively acquitted on the basis of his claim that 
he hadn’t known any better, the U.S. court system underestimated the risk 
he posed: in the two years following his acquittal, Norris—and another 
Dominica mercenary, Wolfgang Droege—would work with the Order, a 
terrorist group that carried out counterfeiting, armed robbery, and assassina-
tions in attempts to wage race war.45
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The invasion attempt also demonstrated that Dominica was just one of 
several countries in the Western Hemisphere that these activists understood 
as the front lines of a global war against communism. Two longtime merce-
naries who had been enlisted for the Dominica plot, Frank Camper and 
Robert Lisenby, had run multi-week mercenary camps for years, recruiting 
trainees through Soldier of Fortune. In March 1981, the month before the 
planned Dominica invasion, they were arrested with a dozen mercenaries-
in-training when they conducted paramilitary training exercises that ven-
tured too close to a Central Florida nuclear reactor for the comfort of the 
local police. They were carrying military-style identification in Spanish 
when they were arrested, and Lisenby told a reporter for the Los Angeles Times 
that they were preparing for “deep jungle” warfare. Seeking out combat 
was “a holdover from Vietnam, I guess,” said Lisenby. “We are soldiers. It’s in 
our blood.” 46

Released after the Central Florida incident, Lisenby and Camper began 
preparing for Operation Red Dog, but they never made it to the embarka-
tion point. Two weeks before the other participants were arrested in New 
Orleans, Lisenby and Camper were arrested in Miami. They had illegal 
weapons and explosives in their car—including a bomb—and a map marking 
the location of the Miami consulate of the Dominican Republic. Officials 
released Camper, later revealed to be an FBI informant, but detained 
Lisenby on explosives and weapons charges. Initially, the press and police 
called the connection between the failed Dominica invasion and the ap-
parent attempt to bomb the Dominican Republic consulate a product of 
ignorance at best and lunacy or stupidity at worst; apparently the assump-
tion was that Lisenby had intended to bomb the embassy for the island of 
Dominica and didn’t know the difference between that country and the Do-
minican Republic.47

The incident yields more insight if taken seriously. An anonymous source 
told one reporter that the mercenaries did know the difference, and that 
anticommunism connected the two sites. In each case, mercenaries hoped 
to send the message that they would not tolerate communism in the Carib
bean. In other words, the Operation Red Dog mercenaries saw Grenada, 
Dominica, the Dominican Republic, Nicaragua, and El Salvador as the front 
lines in a war against communism.48

The specter of the Vietnam War appeared regularly in characterizations 
of Central America, and not just among those on the right. The Sandinista 
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newspaper La Barricada published an uncaptioned, stand-alone front-page 
photo of street graffiti reading “Yankee, we will bring you hell, just like 
in Vietnam.” A Workers’ Front pamphlet in Nicaragua echoed the same 
language, opposing what the party saw as an “imperialist campaign” for 
“the Vietnamization of Central America.” An American journalist wrote 
of El Salvador: “For both opponents and proponents of the Reagan ad-
ministration’s policy towards Salvador, Vietnam provides the emotional 
kindling, the passion, as well as the frame of reference.” Neoconservative 
William F. Buckley printed a column titled “Nicaragua, Another Vietnam” 
in the National Review. As the administration received thousands of letters 
against intervention in Central America, some opponents distributed a popular 
bumper sticker that read, “El Salvador is Spanish for Vietnam.” 49

By the 1970s, with multiple guerrilla groups in El Salvador opposing 
an increasingly militarized, corrupt, and ultraconservative government,50 
U.S. militarists saw another opportunity to relaunch, redeem, and hone 
Vietnam War methods. American military advisors, largely from Special 
Forces, guided the Salvadoran army in implementing counterrevolutionary 
tactics. Congress imposed a limit of fifty-five advisors, but the actual 
number reached as many as twice that at any given time, augmented by 
more than a hundred CIA agents. The war in El Salvador would rage for 
twelve years.51

It was this El Salvador, torn by low-intensity and civilian-targeted war-
fare, which Soldier of Fortune–affiliated mercenaries entered in 1983. Small 
teams of ten to twelve men—largely composed of the magazine’s editorial 
staff—worked to train the Salvadoran army in “everything from counter-
ambush to field medicine,” according to one report. They brought with 
them the technologies, uniforms, and language of the Vietnam War and, 
although they claimed neutrality, by February 1983 they were close enough 
to combat to receive fire.52

Like Posey—who participated in at least one Soldier of Fortune trip to El 
Salvador—the magazine’s founder and his compatriots saw themselves as 
doing the work the U.S. government should do, but was unable or unwilling 
to carry out. “I keep saying, the only reason we’re down there [in Central 
America] is because the Congress won’t let anyone else do the job,” Brown 
said. “If Washington would get its act together we wouldn’t have to do it for 
them.” Brown claimed that the cap on advisors set by Congress necessitated 
the intervention of private mercenaries. By 1984, the Soldier of Fortune teams 
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were regularly teaching small-unit tactics, including marksmanship with 
small arms and mortars, to Salvadoran troops.53

Mercenaries involved in El Salvador sometimes acted as state agents by 
meeting with official U.S. military advisors to report on Salvadoran per
formance in the field. In this way, U.S. military advisors barred by their 
superiors or by congressional restraints from traveling into combat areas 
could still judge the Salvadoran performance in battle by the reports of 
experienced Americans. Roberto D’Aubuisson, ultraright leader, death 
squad commander, and School of the Americas alumnus, went so far as 
to  say that he preferred mercenaries to the official deployment of more 
advisors.54

The presence of mercenaries in Central America often correlated with vio
lence against civilians. In El Salvador, Soldier of Fortune teams worked most 
closely with the Atlacatl Battalion.55 Between its official U.S. military training 
and the arrival of the Soldier of Fortune teams, the battalion had massacred 
nearly 1,000 civilians, more than half of them children, in the village of El 
Mozote. Battalion members stabbed and decapitated some victims, and shot 
others with bullets manufactured for the U.S. Army and stamped “Lake City, 
Missouri.”56 The Salvadoran military encouraged these abuses with its own 
anticommunist training, but the presence of American mercenary trainers 
correlated with civilian-targeted violence. In 1983, a story in the Washington 
Post anticipated the impact of the kind of dehumanizing rhetoric espoused 
by the mercenaries. The reporter recounted a Soldier of Fortune issue docu-
menting the El Salvador trips.

One picture . . . ​showed a smiling Salvadoran soldier draped in sashes of ma-
chine-gun bullets. The caption read, “Airborne gunner after he blew away 
two Gs.” In the magazine’s parlance, “Gs” are enemy guerrillas. Another pic-
ture on the same page showed a Salvadoran soldier and two members of the 
magazine group crouching in the brush around the bodies of two dead “Gs.” 
The picture clearly resembled photographs that hunters take after they have 
bagged a deer.57

Far from decrying such practices, some mercenaries boasted about their 
association with brutal regimes and units. At a 1985 Soldier of Fortune con-
vention, firearms editor Peter Kokalis proudly introduced himself as a 
member of the Atlacatl Battalion to roars of approval from the crowd. 
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Kokalis alluded to killing communists as target practice. “Remember, when 
it comes to police brutality, that’s the fun part of police work!” Kokalis 
joked. Then he brandished a short-barreled assault rifle: “I’m going to take it 
down to El Salvador to try it out on a variety of targets.”58 Kokalis and his 
contemporaries spoke of guerilla insurgents as targets, gooks, and animals 
rather than human beings, recycling the body count rhetoric of the Vietnam 
War in a renewed anticommunist mission.59

After the Sandinista revolution of 1979 and Reagan’s inauguration in 
1981, the United States continued to provide advice and supplies in El Sal-
vador but increasingly adopted more direct strategies in Nicaragua. Mercenary 
activity adapted to this change. In September  1984, a Huey helicopter 
carrying American mercenaries crashed in Nicaragua after receiving fire. 
Four CMA mercenaries escaped, and two died on the scene: Dana Parker 
and James Powell were both thirty-six-year-old Vietnam veterans on what 
CMA called a “rescue operation,” soon revealed to be an attack on a Nica-
raguan military school that killed three young girls and an old man.60 Parker 
and Powell were typical CMA members: Powell had served as a helicopter 
pilot in Vietnam, where he was shot down in combat three times. Parker 
had served as a Green Beret.61 He was also on leave from the Special Forces 
unit of the Alabama National Guard, deployed at the time of his death to 
Panama to “plan and conduct unconventional war operations” there.62 The 
Reagan era fostered a rise in special-operations-style units in all branches of 
the military as well as civilian police forces, and CMA actions showed the 
easy slide from Special-Forces-style units to paramilitary CIA missions to 
rogue mercenary involvement in the Third World.63

The helicopter crash was a precipitating event in the public’s discovery of 
the Iran-Contra scandal. The Reagan administration sought to unseat the 
Sandinistas as part of a new rollback policy that committed the United States 
not only to containment, or stemming the tide of communism and leftist 
governments to new countries, but also to violently removing them from ter-
ritories already won. In the legislative branch, however, Congress attempted 
to stop the Reagan administration from waging war on the Sandinistas. 
Congressional limits and public reluctance drove the administration to in-
creasingly covert methods. Through the CIA, the executive supported the 
Contras even as Congress passed a series of laws restricting U.S. military 
intervention in Nicaragua. Three Boland Amendments, passed between 
1982 and 1984, prohibited direct attempts to overthrow the Nicaraguan 
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government, in particular limiting CIA covert action. They restricted and 
then prohibited funding for the Contras. Significantly, Congress only set par-
tial limitations, allowing a continuation of “humanitarian” aid even though it 
prohibited direct military support.64 To circumvent congressional limitations 
on intervention, Reagan administration officials funneled the proceeds from 
arms sales to Iran to illegally fund the Contras. Iran-Contra, as this deal 
became known, became a widely reported public scandal in 1986, with trials 
of high-placed Reagan administration officials stretching through the years 
that followed. Although the systematic destruction of documents occluded 
a full accounting of the deal and those who approved it, several officials 
were indicted. George H. W. Bush later pardoned several of those convicted 
in the final years of his presidency.65

The Iran Contra scandal revealed rising paramilitarism in the nation it-
self. Hawks in the Reagan administration saw the executive as the head of a 
Cold War military chain of command rather than as one branch of a three-
part government limited by checks and balances. The CIA, newly incorpo-
rated into Reagan’s cabinet, now functioned as part of the executive. The 
administration also further expanded army Special Forces and navy SEAL 
units, and militarized SWAT teams and other civilian police units as well as 
the National Guard by providing these agencies with military weapons and 
training.66

The intense media attention in the United States following the 1984 he
licopter crash did not stop CMA activity. The Nicaraguan opposition news-
paper La Prensa reported the next week that a U.S. Army official had used 
CMA to move military equipment to the Salvadoran army. Posey anticipated 
the group would double or triple over the next few months because of in-
creased interest generated by the crash.67

Before CIA involvement became public, Senator Patrick Leahy 
(D-Vermont) called for an investigation, saying that the CMA mercenaries 
surely would have had to use U.S. government-constructed trails in Hon-
duras to launch their attack. He was quickly overruled. But Posey proudly 
claimed the support of the U.S. government, including assistance from U.S. 
embassies in Honduras and El Salvador. Posey did say the FBI had warned 
him about violating the Neutrality Act, but he insisted that he had permis-
sion from the U.S. Department of Treasury to buy guns and send them to 
El Salvador. Since January 1984, Posey said, CMA had delivered more than 
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$70,000 worth of military equipment and at least fifteen American instruc-
tors to the Nicaraguan Democratic Force (FDN), the main Contra group 
launching attacks from Honduras.68

The State Department made a statement immediately after the CMA 
helicopter crash claiming that the CIA did not send the mercenaries and 
suggesting that the Contras might have turned to them “to fill battlefield 
shortages caused by a congressional cutoff of U.S. aid in May.” 69 While 
this language of “shortages” hinted that the mercenaries unofficially furthered 
the Reagan administration agenda, it also allowed the CIA to avoid taking 
any direct responsibility for mercenary violence. As a State Department 
official told the Los Angeles Times, “There was no connection between the 
raid and the U.S. government. We can’t prevent wild men from doing wild 
things.”70 By writing off the mercenaries as “wild”—insane, uncontrollable, 
and beyond the limits of society—the administration disavowed the agents of 
its own violence.

Indeed, the CIA employed the trope of the insane mercenary soldier to 
hide its involvement in the region. The CIA had hired Parker and Powell 
and the U.S. Army had loaned them the Huey helicopter, but the agency 
claimed that the mercenaries were what one former CIA agent called “dis-
posable assets.” The state could employ them and then make them disappear, 
erasing questions of accountability. Paramilitary romanticism and emotional 
instability worked to discredit operatives who chose to go public. As a former 
CIA case officer noted, “The agency likes things that way. . . . ​The wilder 
and crazier and sillier the story, the more they like it. The agency indulges 
people to come up with that. It’s the best defense.”71

Meanwhile, mercenaries set their sights on increasingly ambitious targets, 
and their actions became more and more visible. Just after the helicopter 
crash, the story broke that Posey and a CMA team had undertaken a major 
arms trafficking trip to Honduras the previous fall. They arrived with a trunk 
containing their “personal arms,” which included two heavy machine guns, 
a flamethrower, and a bazooka, and which customs agents admitted with 
no delays. Posey carried a letter offering his services to Honduran army com-
mander General Gustavo Álvarez—head of Battalion 3-16, a School of the 
Americas–trained and CIA-aided death squad within the Honduran army 
that carried out most of that country’s assassinations and disappearances 
throughout the 1980s. As La Barricada reported, Posey was leading “an 
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organization that the [CIA] created as a screen to funnel millions of dollars 
from official channels in the Reagan administration to [supporters of So-
moza] so that they can develop their campaigns of terror.”72

Posey’s group signed in at the U.S. embassy in Tegucigalpa upon arrival 
in Honduras and openly declared themselves to be mercenaries. The embassy 
staff recorded them without objection. Posey described “Tegooch” as a city 
“full of Americans who may or may not be with the CIA.” Also at the em-
bassy, Posey made contact with a Salvadoran colonel in order to send mili-
tary supplies to that country. A Nicaraguan journalist asked if Posey “was 
just a brutal and bloodthirsty mercenary” or if he worked for the CIA. Posey 
dodged the question. The reporter described Posey’s mission as traveling to 
“machine-gun children and murder women.” Posey described it as, “for our 
boys, something like a well-deserved vacation.”73

As the New York Times reported mounting State Department and CIA 
concern about American mercenaries, Reagan commented publicly that 
aiding the Contras, whom he consistently characterized as freedom fighters, 
was “quite in line with what has been a pretty well established tradition in 
our country” and that he would “be inclined not to want to interfere with 
them.” However, the CIA and State Department worried about rogue mer-
cenaries provoking a diplomatic crisis. Although Posey maintained that 
CMA and its members would not participate in combat, a series of investi-
gative articles in the Memphis Commercial Appeal claimed that teams of thirty 
Americans and seventy Nicaraguans planned to carry out a series of raids 
on strategic Nicaraguan military targets.74

Around the same time, CMA became larger and less centralized. Mem-
bership had blossomed in the two months following the helicopter crash: 
Posey reported new chapters in multiple regions. CMA claimed more than 
1,000 members in 1985, and some number of those members had connec-
tions to the white power movement: they belonged or had belonged to the 
Klan, the John Birch Society, or both. One local director of a CMA chapter, 
for instance, said he had chosen to join CMA instead of the Klan, again sig-
naling their common cause and memberships.75

The U.S. government stepped in to regulate CMA only after the group 
received enough public attention to force an investigation. In April 1985, 
five CMA mercenaries were arrested in Costa Rica. In a raid on an FDN 
Contra camp near the Nicaraguan border, authorities confiscated a large 
cache of arms and ammunition including grenades, bazookas, rifles, and 
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machine guns. Interviewed after the bust, the mercenaries spoke of the 
startling ease of trafficking weapons, manpower, and matériel to Central 
America. They said they had flown from Florida to El Salvador on a plane 
loaded with weapons, including M-16 automatic rifles, 20-millimeter 
cannons, .50-caliber machine guns, and 60-millimeter mortars—a total of 
six tons of military supplies. During the trip, one mercenary said, “there were 
no customs checks, and nobody asked any questions.”76

Posey confirmed that CMA sent the mercenaries, but denied giving them 
weapons. According to a CMA affiliate attempting to gain immunity from 
prosecution, the mercenaries plotted to blow up the U.S. embassy in neu-
tral Costa Rica and to frame the Sandinistas for the attack. They intended 
to create outrage in the United States that would lead to public pressure for 
invasion.77 Soon after the CMA investigation began, American mercenary 
and former Marine Eugene Hasenfus was shot down over Nicaragua while 
supplying the Contras. Hasenfus said he had been hired by a mercenary 
organization “to do what I did in Vietnam.”78 The subsequent investigation, 
and the following Iran-Contra hearings, revealed that he was working for the 
U.S. government in delivering the weapons. Hasenfus’s mission, and the 
spotlight it brought to the circulation of mercenaries, marked the end of 
their widespread employment as covert state agents in Central America.79

The CMA, one of the most visible examples of mercenary activity in 
Central America, worked to unite fringe and mainstream supporters of 
intervention. CMA was linked to Soldier of Fortune through images, per-
sonnel, and rhetoric: the magazine gave posthumous heroism awards to 
Parker and Powell at its 1984 convention, which Posey accepted on their 
behalf.80 And, as noted before, while the magazine did not endorse the 
white power movement, some of its subscribers, readers, and convention 
participants were members of the movement. The camouflage fatigues later 
worn by members of the Order when training for overt race war were pur-
chased at a Soldier of Fortune convention. There, Randall Rader, head of 
paramilitary training for the Order, said he spent between $10,000 and 
$15,000 obtained through armored car robberies on uniforms, boots, “mili-
tary goods and sophisticated equipment of different sorts. . . . ​It all fell right 
into the military science and the guerilla warfare I was teaching.”81

The violent white power movement roundly supported mercenaries 
fighting in Central America. Just after the helicopter crash, Dominica mer-
cenary Don Black told a reporter that the Reagan administration condoned 
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CMA actions. “It’s clear to me that the United States is passively supporting 
rebels to overthrow the government of Nicaragua,” Black said.82 This tacit 
support, to Black, meant as much as an official mission. He spoke of his plans 
for future mercenary projects abroad and concurrent white supremacist para-
military training at home. On parole for his attempt to invade Dominica, 
he could not leave the United States himself. Nevertheless, Black said he 
planned to send 125 Klansmen to advise the Contras. Black intended to 
name them the Nathan Bedford Forrest Brigade, after the Confederate 
lieutenant general and first Grand Wizard of the Klan, who “pioneered 
guerrilla warfare.” To train them, Black promised to reopen a defunct Klan 
paramilitary facility—Camp Mai Lai, named for the My Lai massacre—
near Cullman, Alabama.83

Black’s brigade either never materialized or was inconsequential enough 
to avoid archival documentation. Nevertheless, his remarks explicitly linked 
Central America–bound mercenaries to the Vietnam War: “I think a lot of 
Klan members will be enthusiastic about taking part in this. . . . ​Many of 
our members have military experience and some are Vietnam vets.” He also 
told a reporter, “I suspect there are several hundred Americans down there 
[in Central America].”84

Black very likely drew support for his belief that the United States gov-
ernment backed the Contras from Reagan’s soaring rhetoric about the 
dangers of communism “in our own backyard.”85 The president spoke fre-
quently of Nicaragua’s proximity to the United States, and of the necessity 
of defending the U.S. border from an impending communist flood as the 
Sandinistas would “ultimately, move against Mexico.”86 Reagan warned that 
Managua, Nicaragua, was just a two-day drive from Harlingen, Texas.87 As 
he told the nation in 1986, “If we don’t want to see the map of Central America 
covered in a sea of red, eventually lapping at our own borders, we must act 
now” by supporting the Contras.88 On other occasions, he made the same ar-
gument about the rest of the region, claiming that the Soviet Union and Cuba 
were trying to “install communism by force” throughout the Western Hemi
sphere. “What we see in El Salvador is an attempt to destabilize the entire re-
gion and eventually move chaos and anarchy toward the American border.”89

By invoking both Reagan and Forrest, then, Black attempted to identify 
himself with the freedom fighters, and to collapse the distinction between 
official state action and rhetoric. Black told White Patriot that if he had vio-
lated international law in Operation Red Dog, then so had Reagan, and so 
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had an entire generation of American soldiers. The administration, after all, 
had invaded Grenada and supported the Contras, both without official 
declarations of war from Congress. If the Neutrality Act were enforced, 
Black argued, “every soldier who served in Korea and Vietnam would be 
guilty.” Black equated his interventionist mercenary force with a series of 
undeclared wars waged by the United States. With no official declarations 
of war issued since 1941, Black reasoned, all military actions following that 
date had the same degree of legality as his invasion of Dominica. The 
Vietnam War itself, in other words, validated his mercenary action.90

Conservative and white power ideologies alike linked fears of commu-
nism abroad—especially in the Western Hemisphere—with threats to the 
southern border of the United States that included rising immigration.91 In 
addition to warning about communism potentially moving up through Cen-
tral America and Mexico toward the United States, Reagan had also ex-
pressed concerns about a wave of Nicaraguan refugees coming into the 
United States across the southern border. “If the Communists consolidate 
their power, their campaign of violence throughout Central America will 
go into high gear, bringing new dangers and sending hundreds of thousands 
of refugees streaming toward our 2,000-mile long southern border,” Reagan 
told the nation in a 1986 radio address. “We cannot and we must not permit 
this to happen.”92 Here, Reagan interwove anti-immigration rhetoric with 
fears about communism and race.

Members of CMA took it upon themselves to confront this perceived 
threat at the border, following more than a decade of similar Klan Border 
Watch actions.93 In July 1986, nineteen CMA members in camouflage fa-
tigues left Tucson, Arizona, to patrol the Lochiel Valley, three miles north 
of the border and thirty miles east of Nogales. By this time Civilian Mili-
tary Assistance had changed its name to Civilian Materiel Assistance, but 
its mission and leadership remained the same. Armed with semiautomatic 
weapons and night vision goggles, the patrol members ventured two and a 
half miles into Mexico before returning to the United States. There, they 
set booby traps for, fired upon, and stopped two vehicles transporting un-
documented immigrants. They detained sixteen men, women, and children, 
forcing them to stand at gunpoint for ninety minutes with their legs spread 
and their hands over their heads.94

J. R. Hagan, a “burly” thirty-seven-year-old Vietnam veteran and former 
Army boot camp sergeant, led the patrol. Hagan said CMA planned the 
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border action for “defensive” reasons, in an attempt to stop the drug smug-
glers they believed financed the Sandinistas.95 Hagan added that some CMA 
members carried AK-47 assault rifles and versions of M16s because they were 
veterans, and therefore wanted the best guns available. He saw the paramili-
tarism of the group, from uniforms to semiautomatics, as a direct result of 
its members’ combat in Vietnam.96

Hagan denied that CMA had booby-trapped the vehicles’ route, detained 
people, entered Mexico, or fired weapons. But some group members—
themselves veterans—thought the group had gone too far, and blew the 
whistle to journalists. Floyd Blaylock, a Vietnam veteran who had also fought 
as a mercenary in Central America, resigned in protest, saying “I feel that 
the well-being of civilians and CMA members was endangered. . . . ​Weapons 
were handed out to people who in my opinion were not competent.” Brad 
Wright, a twenty-five-year-old former Marine who was on his first CMA 
outing that night, added, “I can’t trust them. They lied about what happened. 
If our mission was to report, document, and observe, why do we need mili-
tary codes and guns?”97

By contrast, Tom Posey told the New York Times that he was “proud as a 
peacock in a cornfield” of the Arizona CMA branch, “because it’s Ameri-
cans standing up and doing something.”98 CMA had by then grown to claim 
5,000 members spanning all fifty U.S. states and eight countries. According 
to Posey, veterans accounted for 75  percent of the group; he claimed the 
rest included active-duty military personnel.99 Opposition to immigration 
had rapidly gained traction nationwide, with a particularly strong foothold 
in the Southwest. The Arizona border had, by 1986, undergone a series of 
transformations that increased its militarization and surveillance. Only 
four days before the CMA border action, Congress had finally passed the 
long-debated Immigration Reform and Control Act. The measure granted 
amnesty to some three million undocumented immigrants, but also strength-
ened the Border Patrol, made it illegal to knowingly hire undocumented 
immigrants, further militarized the border, and criminalized so-called illegal 
aliens. Ultimately, the act made Latinas and Latinos in the United States—
whether recent immigrants or longtime residents—less able to secure full 
civil rights.100

The legislation followed widespread anti-immigrant sentiment during the 
economic strife of the 1970s, as well as increasing concern over the drug trade 
nationwide. The mercenaries had embarked from Tucson, Arizona, the epi-
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center of the Sanctuary Movement that provided refuge to victims of the 
very anticommunist guerrilla wars they had waged in Central America. 
The immigrants opposed by mercenaries and white power activists on the 
fringe had arrived in the United States in large part because of the violent 
impact of U.S. covert interventions in their home countries. While mi
grants from Mexico were still largely impelled by economic inequality, most 
other immigrants to the United States in these years came from Nicaragua, 
El Salvador, Vietnam, and other countries where the United States had car-
ried out military actions.101

The U.S. legal system broadly failed to respond to the CMA incident, 
which theoretically constituted both kidnapping and a violation of the 
Neutrality Act. The undocumented immigrants detained by CMA were 
immediately deported. Then the Cochise County attorney, Alan Polley, 
decided not to prosecute the CMA mercenaries. Before being elected county 
attorney, Polley had served as defense attorney for three men accused of 
torturing, robbing, beating, and shooting at three undocumented immi-
grants trespassing on their ranch in 1976, in the Hanigan Case. Although 
the U.S. Department of Justice investigated the possibility that CMA had 
violated the civil rights of the immigrants, the case could not be prose-
cuted because a government official with a history of defending vigilante 
violence declined to enforce the law. Key witnesses—the undocumented 
immigrants who had been apprehended by the CMA patrol—disappeared 
after being deported. However, the two leaders of the CMA border patrol 
were indicted on firearms charges in December 1986. Both of them were 
felons, convicted on minor drug charges in the early seventies that made it 
illegal for them to carry guns.102

By 1987, Posey, subpoenaed in the Iran-Contra investigations and under 
threat of indictment for gunrunning and Neutrality Act violation, also found 
himself the target of a civil suit.103 Significantly, Posey and his codefendants 
successfully argued in late 1988 that they could not be guilty of violating 
the Neutrality Act because the United States was, in fact, at war with Nica-
ragua, even if that war was covert and undeclared. In dismissing the case, a 
federal judge wrote: “The court finds overwhelming evidence that the United 
States was not ‘at peace’ with Nicaragua during the time charged in this in-
dictment.” Posey was cleared of all charges.104

Both CMA and Soldier of Fortune retreated from militant activity in the 
late 1980s, and so their members came to be perceived as armchair adven-
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turers who did little more than participate in annual conventions.105 This 
characterization gave insufficient credence to the real wars enabled by these 
formations, and the acts of mercenary violence that ventured far beyond 
weekend hobbies and warrior fantasy. Even the annual Soldier of Fortune 
conventions, as the Order’s purchases of uniforms and weapons show, 
contributed to real paramilitary intentions.106 Such actions were gaining a 
new momentum on the domestic front as the white power movement de-
clared war on the state.



PART I I    THE WAR COMES HOME





5� The Revolutionary Turn

Let us be . . . ​weapons of war.
—Membership oath, the Order

Order members Gary Lee Yarbrough (left) and David Lane at the Aryan Nations 
compound in Hayden Lake, Idaho, December 1983. (Patrick Cunningham, Associated Press Photo)
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I N 1983 TH E WH ITE power movement declared war on the state. This marked 
a tectonic shift for the movement, which until then had featured populist 
and reactionary Klan mobilizations and vigilante violence.1 Rather than 
fighting on behalf of the state, white power activists now fought for a white 
homeland, attempted to destabilize the federal government, and waged rev-
olutionary race war.

To be sure, a long and messy ramp-up led to revolution. In the Texas 
paramilitary camps before the fishermen’s dispute, Louis Beam had specu-
lated to an undercover reporter about how he would use his paramilitary 
infrastructure for eventual race war.2 The early 1980s were characterized 
by small-scale violence waged by local groups, and by the first stirrings 
of the terrorist group the Order. And some movement documents about 
the revolutionary turn—including the Order’s Declaration of War in De-
cember 1984—appeared a full year after the shift, and were written only 
when federal agents began to close in on white power operatives.3 FBI re-
cords and the testimony of a few key activists point to the Aryan Nations 
World Congress in July  1983 as the moment of formal declaration of 
war—but the FBI informants were not in the room when this discussion 
purportedly took place, and the activists who spoke about it were testifying 
for the state and may have had their own reasons to overstate the impor-
tance of the World Congress and to support prosecutors’ theories.4

But certainly something happened in July  1983. The archive clearly 
shows that before that date, Klansmen on the Texas coast, Klan and neo-
Nazi gunmen in Greensboro, and mercenaries in Central America had 
justified their violent actions by claiming to serve state and country. Even 
as they targeted new communist and racial enemies at home and abroad, 
they claimed to be continuing the work of the state. After the Aryan Nations 
World Congress, where white power leaders purportedly made a formal 
declaration of war, the movement shifted nationwide to call for revolution 
against the Zionist Occupational Government (ZOG), bombing of public 
infrastructure, undermining of national currency, assassination of federal 
agents and judges, and attempts to break away into a white separatist na-
tion. The movement after 1983 was decidedly revolutionary. As Beam wrote 
in the introduction to his widely circulated Essays of a Klansman that year, 
“The old ways have failed miserably. . . . ​Out with the conservatives and in 
with the radicals! Out with plans for compromise and in with plans for the 
sword!”5
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The 1983 World Congress wasn’t the first gathering of its kind. Aryan 
Nations leader Richard Butler had convened white power activists at the 
group’s compound in Hayden Lake, Idaho, every summer since 1975. The 
gathering was part organizing meeting, part church service, part summer 
picnic. Attendees listened to racist speeches and cemented social ties over a 
big spaghetti dinner.6 Nazis, Klansmen, and other believers from the United 
States, Canada, Germany, and beyond drove narrow dirt roads up to the 
property, nestled between farms under the big skies of northern Idaho. Tow-
ering ponderosas and squat evergreens bordered the main field, blocking 
sight lines and making the place feel more remote. Some participants bedded 
down in the bunkhouse designated for young, single men recruited as Aryan 
soldiers. They met women their age through the Congress, played volley-
ball, and watched television. Others pitched tents with their families, drying 
their laundry on lines hung between the trees. Alongside Butler’s modest, 
flower-ringed house, the compound featured a high watchtower manned by 
armed guards, a church with a stained-glass Aryan Nations sword logo, and 
an outdoor platform where speakers could address the crowd.7

The two activists who later testified for the state claimed that there was a 
private, heavily guarded meeting at the 1983 Congress at which white power 
leaders and elite activists discussed organized revolution and the articula-
tion of a major change within the movement.8 A precise list of people in the 
room, and what they discussed, remains contested. Richard Butler, by his 
own testimony, convened the closed meeting, informally described some 
tourist attractions in nearby Coeur d’Alene, and then left the room.9 Louis 
Beam and Robert Miles were both present at the Congress—Beam gave a 
speech exhorting the defense of an innocent white Rhodesian girl against 
racial peril,10 and Miles conducted a cross-burning and a “blessing of the 
sword” that included firearms11—so either or both could have been there. 
Order members including Bob Mathews, David Lane, and Bruce Pierce cer-
tainly attended the World Congress, and might have been in the room.12

Following the convention in Idaho, activists widely adopted two new 
strategies: using early computer networks to mobilize and coordinate action, 
and “leaderless resistance,” cell-style organizing in which activists could work 
in common purpose without direct communication from movement leaders. 
Both strategies facilitated greater connection between white power activists 
while making their movement activities less visible. Both served to occlude 
direct orders from movement leadership. Cells and individual white power 
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activists determined their actions and targets through a set of common cul-
tural narratives obtained through speeches, relationships, movement publica-
tions, and new computer message boards.13 The Vietnam War was the major 
frame that organized these narratives and the ensuing campaign of violence.

In some ways, the revolutionary turn within the white power movement par-
alleled a concurrent, widening fissure in the mainstream right between pa-
triotism and support of the government. The 1980 election of Ronald 
Reagan elevated the antistatism that had long characterized New Right grass-
roots activism to the White House itself.14 From the 1970s forward, ideas of 
individualism and freedom broke loose from their Cold War counterbalances 
of social responsibility, morality, and justice.15 As Reagan said in his inaugural 
address about the nation’s ongoing economic problems, “In this present crisis, 
government is not the solution to our problem; government is the problem.”16

White supremacist violence has had a complex relationship with state 
power throughout U.S. history, and the precursors of the white power 
movement have varied greatly in their character. Vigilantism should be 
understood as violence that served to constitute, shore up, and enforce sys-
temic power, that is to say, not only overt power wielded by the state, but also 
the many informal structures that upheld law and order. Because white 
supremacy undergirded state power throughout U.S. history, vigilantes most 
often served the white power structure.17 Vigilante violence such as lynching 
served to bind settlers into a unified white polity in the colonial period, and to 
target racial others and strengthen the state’s development in early America.18 
It often stood in for a weak state during the westward expansion of the na-
tion’s frontier.19 During World War I it worked to shore up nationalist fervor 
and generate the second-era, popular and mainstream Ku Klux Klan.20 Spec-
tacle lynchings in the South between 1890 and 1930,21 and in Texas around 
1915,22 propped up Jim Crow segregation laws and helped to ensure the 
docile labor pools necessary for the nation’s entry into corporate-commodity 
capitalism. Vigilante violence demarcated whites as separate from and more 
powerful than not only blacks but also Mexicans and Mexican Americans. 
To be sure, it also targeted white victims, particularly social outcasts, reli-
gious others, and unruly women, but for the most part—and often even 
when its victims were white—vigilantism simultaneously served white su-
premacy and the state.23
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At some moments, violent white supremacists had sought to subvert or 
overthrow state power. In these cases, their violence does not properly qualify 
as vigilantism because it no longer worked to support the state: it is better 
understood as revolutionary violence.24 The first era of the Ku Klux Klan 
sought to undermine the federal government through violence against freed 
slaves and supporters of Reconstruction. Klan violence dissipated only after 
the end of the system it had sought to overthrow. As lynching became more 
visible and public, Klan terror gave way to violence that worked to uphold 
the new Jim Crow social order—vigilante violence.25

The third-era Klan, too, worked against some aspects of the federal state 
during the civil rights movement, using acts of violence to confront demon-
strators, but also to prevent the enforcement of laws prohibiting segregation 
and disenfranchisement. Both prosecution and the changing tide of public 
opinion eventually curtailed violence, driving the Klan underground before 
it reemerged as one element of the white power groundswell after the Vietnam 
War. Significantly, though, neither the first- nor third-era Klan sought to 
overthrow the federal government itself. Both groups had limited and local 
objectives, seeking to regain local power or prevent federal influence in local 
contexts.26 Although white power activists used prior Klan mobilizations to 
conceptualize and shape their actions, and although some continuity in 
membership has connected Klan surges from the first era forward, the post-
1983 white power movement represented a major break with prior Klan 
activity.27

Three veterans shaped a new wave of coordinated—though “leaderless”—
revolutionary action nationwide. Louis Beam had served in Vietnam, and 
Richard Butler and Robert Miles claimed to have fought in World War II, 
Miles with the French Foreign Legion. Butler, a tall, tanned man who chain-
smoked Pall Mall cigarettes, led Aryan Nations. He lived on the Hayden 
Lake, Idaho, compound with his wife, and preached there at the Church of 
Jesus Christ Christian, a Christian Identity congregation. Beam had reset-
tled in Hayden Lake as Aryan Nations Ambassador following the 1981 court-
ordered halt to his paramilitary Klan activities in Texas. This title referred 
to his work in outreach from the Hayden Lake compound to other white 
power groups. Miles was a gray-haired man in his late fifties, released from 
prison in 1979 after serving six years for a plot to blow up school buses in 
an attempt to halt integration. He ran the Mountain Church, a Dualist white 
power congregation in Cohoctah, Michigan, affiliated with a chain of fifteen 
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autonomous churches. All three men were compelling speakers and prolific 
writers. They helmed such publications as Butler’s widely distributed 
Calling Our Nation, Miles’s regular and lengthy From the Mountain, and 
Beam’s sporadic but inflammatory Inter-Klan Newsletter and Survival Alert.28

The movement’s new strategy of cell-based organization was intended to 
conceal the movement’s organization and protect its leaders, make it difficult 
for agents provocateurs to infiltrate the movement, limit the government’s 
ability to prosecute movement members for incidents of white power vio
lence, and forestall public opposition. Beam, Butler, and Miles had learned 
much about defense from the ongoing prosecutions of the Greensboro 
gunmen, the court order that halted paramilitary training in Texas, and 
the presence of government informants and agents provocateurs within 
white power groups—efforts that, while delivering few real restraints on 
white power violence, did hamper movement organization and cost white 
power leaders time and money. For some time they had been chafing at the 
presence of undercover informants at their meetings and ceremonies, and 
they had come to realize that they would never achieve their aims through 
electoral means. “It is . . . ​pure fantasy,” Beam wrote in 1983, “to imagine 
the Klan as a broad-based political movement that will obtain the numbers 
requisite to effect peaceful political change.”29

Miles proposed an organized network of white power cells: 600 centers, 
positioned 100 miles apart and outside of the range of likely Soviet nuclear 
strikes against the United States. In one sense, Miles’s formulation was a 
preparation for something still to come rather than the war at hand: he wrote 
of an apocalyptic battle or post-nuclear moment, a forced evacuation, a man-
datory seizure of guns—or simply a call to concentrate white power mem-
bers through migration in order to found a white homeland. The centers 
could respond after an apocalyptic crisis. Meanwhile, he wrote, they should 
focus on knowing their local areas and local enemies, and also on preparing 
supply and escape routes.30 In another sense, Miles laid the groundwork for 
something larger. As he wrote in 1984:

You are the organization. You alone. You with others. It all begins with you. 
You are the keystone, the nucleus and intersecting point in the web. You must 
plan, act and believe that it all now depends upon you. You alone can tri-
umph. You alone can endure and survive. . . . ​Five kinsmen can be a highly 
efficient and effective intelligence team.31
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Miles proposed that small five-man cells of white power soldiers could create 
a nationwide network, connected with one another by a common mission 
and family-like social ties. The infiltration or prosecution of any one such 
cell would remove only five activists from the greater struggle.

Leaderless resistance, the movement’s name for cell-driven revolu-
tionary violence, was not an altogether new concept, and white power 
leaders were aware of this. The John Birch Society had used a similar 
method of expanding and proliferating secret chapters, although they 
credited their strategy directly to methods lifted from their communist 
opponents.32 Beam claimed to have developed his version of the strategy 
from a 1962 tract by Colonel Ulius Louis Amoss, which laid out hopes 
that an army of communist exiles would one day take up arms against the 
Soviet Union in alliance with the West, led not by orders but by “leading 
ideas.”33 At Camp Puller, Beam was thinking in terms of how to capi-
talize on a Soviet-U.S. showdown and how to seize a white homeland.34 
Beginning in 1983 and intensifying with the fall of communism in 1989, 
however, he would shift his target to the state.35 As he wrote in 1992, “Col. 
Amoss feared the Communists. This author fears the federal government. 
Communism now represents a threat to no one in the United States, while 
federal tyranny represents a threat to everyone.” Seeking to avoid “gov-
ernment infiltration, entrapment, and destruction of the personnel in-
volved,” Beam envisioned a cell-based terrorism that drew both on the 
American Revolution and, significantly, on strategies successfully deployed 
by communists.

Participants in a program of Leaderless Resistance through phantom cell or 
individual action must know exactly what they are doing, and how to do it. 
It becomes the responsibility of the individual to acquire the necessary skills 
and information as to what needs to be done . . . ​all members of phantom 
cells or individuals will need to react to objective events in the same way 
through usual tactics of resistance. Organs of information distribution such 
as newspapers, leaflets, computers, etc., which are widely available to all, keep 
each person informed of events, allowing for a planned response that will take 
many variations. No one need issue an order to anyone. Those idealist[s] truly 
committed to the cause of freedom will act when they feel the time is ripe, 
or will take their cue from others who precede them. . . . ​It goes almost 
without saying that Leaderless Resistance leads to very small or even one man 
cells of resistance.36
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Cell warfare without direction from movement leadership depended upon 
commonly held cultural narratives and values, and shared texts and symbols, 
to motivate and coordinate activity. In this new climate, movement texts that 
had already captured the imagination of white power activists came to play a 
major role in shaping action. The racist utopian novel The Turner Diaries, 
perhaps the most prominent white power text, was one that served this func-
tion. It first appeared in serial form in Attack!, the newspaper of the neo-Nazi 
group National Alliance, in 1974. Group leader and author William Pierce 
published it in paperback under the pseudonym of Andrew Macdonald in 
1978.37 Over the next twenty years, The Turner Diaries sold some 500,000 
copies, gaining tremendous popularity both in the white power movement 
and around the mercenary soldier circuit. It was advertised in Soldier of For-
tune magazine and sold in bookstores as far away as South Africa. That The 
Turner Diaries popped up over and over again in the hands of key movement 
actors, particularly in moments of violence, reveals its utility in coordinating 
acts of underground resistance. Louis Beam would use “Turner” as one of 
his many aliases. Glenn Miller would later say he handed out some 800 free 
copies of the book while leading the White Patriot Party, and an undercover 
informant verified that he received the book during his induction to that 
group. Order member Bruce Pierce would be arrested carrying a copy, and 
Order member Randall Rader would say the group kept a stack of twenty to 
thirty copies in the bunkhouse at Bob Mathews’s farm. Timothy McVeigh 
would sell the novel on the gun show circuit prior to his bombing of the 
Oklahoma City federal building.38

The Turner Diaries worked as a foundational how-to manual for the move-
ment, outlining a detailed plan for race war. Presented as a diary found and 
published after a white racist revolution has overthrown the U.S. govern-
ment, it describes an all-white utopia. It recounts a series of terrorist attacks 
leading up to the partitioning of a white homeland in California and the 
use of nuclear weapons to clear first the United States and then the world of 
nonwhite populations. In the future world, in which the diary serves as a 
historical artifact of the revolution, the white supremacist army, called the 
Organization, has abolished the dollar, started a new calendar at year zero, 
and made women subservient. At various moments, the novel describes the 
forced migration of all people of color out of California, the genocide of Jews, 
the nuclear bombing of high-density black populations in the South, and 
the public lynching of all people in interracial relationships.
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The book drew heavily on the idea of veterans as white power soldiers and 
on the utility of paramilitary violence. The protagonist, Earl Turner, implies 
that many Organization members were military men. Turner says, “We have 
decades of guerrilla warfare in Africa, Asia, and Latin America to instruct 
us,” and he warns that the white supremacist movement will force the public 
“into the front lines, where they must choose sides and participate, whether 
they like it or not.”39

In the novel, set in the late 1980s and early 1990s, Earl Turner works as 
a soldier in the racist movement attempting to overthrow the government, 
which he calls the System. An engineer handy with weaponry, Turner ad-
vances quickly through the ranks; after he blows up FBI headquarters, the 
Organization inducts him into the Order, a secret society of key soldiers. 
He then performs the Test of the Word, proving his knowledge of movement 
ideals, and the Test of the Deed, proving himself through violent action. 
He vows to kill himself before giving away the group’s secrets. The Order, 
he writes, “will remain secret, even within the Organization, until the suc-
cessful completion of the first phase of our task: the destruction of the System.” 
When Turner is arrested, he breaks his vows by failing to kill himself with 
a cyanide capsule prior to interrogation. Although the group breaks him 
out of prison, they decide to punish him for his failure by assigning him a 
suicide mission. The diary ends as Turner prepares to fly a small plane—
loaded with a sixty-kiloton nuclear warhead—into the Pentagon. A small 
afterword, in the voice of someone who has found Turner’s diary, describes 
the ensuing revolution and white victory after his death. This narrative, out-
lining a strategy that is dependent on secrecy, loyalty, and violence, would 
become the sustaining myth of a real-life Order dedicated to a violent war 
on the state, and a guidebook for decades of white power terrorist violence.40

Beam, too, wanted white power activists to organize as a guerrilla army. 
For the cell structure, he drew both on the organization of counterinsur-
gency combat troops and on the organization of the communist revolution-
aries they faced in wars and mercenary interventions around the world. He 
called for a network of cells organized not by direct orders from leadership, 
but by a common set of worldviews, logics, and a violent repertoire of action 
held in common by movement members. Much as the white power movement 
used racism, anticommunism, and frustration over the experience and loss of 
the Vietnam War to bind together previously disparate groups, leaderless 
resistance factions could use that same narrative to operate on their own, 



112� BRING THE WAR HOME

with only minimal coordination from leadership. Essays of a Klansman, 
printed at Hayden Lake in 1983, contained a two-part piece, “Under-
standing the Struggle,” that began to outline this strategy. In an undated 
essay, likely published shortly thereafter, Beam named this approach “Lead-
erless Resistance” and further refined the idea:

Any one cell can be infiltrated, exposed and destroyed, but this will have no 
effect on the others; in fact, the members of the other cells will be supporting 
that cell which is under attack. . . . ​At first glance, such a type of organization 
seems unrealistic, because the natural question is, how are the cells to coop-
erate with each other, when there is no intercommunication or central direc-
tion? The answer to this question is that participants in a program of Leaderless 
Resistance through phantom cell organization must know exactly what they 
are doing and how to do it. This is by no means as impractical as it appears, 
because it is certainly true that in any movement, all persons involved have the 
same general outlook, are acquainted with the same philosophy, and generally 
react to given situations in similar ways. As the entire purpose of Leaderless 
Resistance is to defeat the enemy by whatever means possible, all members of 
phantom cells will tend to react to objective events in the same way, usually 
through the tactics of resistance and sabotage.41

In other words, Beam’s strategy relied on the viewpoint, values, and predict-
able reactions shared by white power groups to form them into an army. The 
Vietnam War narrative was critical here, as it framed both the general out-
look and philosophy of white power paramilitarism, and because it pro-
vided the repertoire from which activists and cells might select violent 
actions.42

This guerrilla war on the state was never intended to succeed through an 
outright coup aimed at overwhelming the military and police, at least not 
in the early stages. The overwhelming militarization and armament of the state 
discounted such a strategy even for those who dreamed of race war. Instead 
activists in resistance cells hoped to follow the model of The Turner Diaries 
in mounting a campaign of violence designed to awaken a sympathetic white 
public. They hoped that acts like destroying infrastructure, poisoning water, 
assassinating political targets, and undermining public confidence in currency 
would reveal the problems with “the System.” They thought people of color, 
race traitors, Jews, communists, journalists, academics, and other enemies 
were lost causes. But they hoped that they could sway a white public in their 
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favor, make small territorial gains, and eventually seize movement objec-
tives ranging from a white homeland in the Pacific Northwest, to a white 
America, to a white world secured by the annihilation of all people of color. 
The Turner Diaries provided an outline for each step of this plan.43

The recruitment efforts, publications, and training infrastructure of 
the pre-1983 white power movement paved the way for the formation of 
resistance cells on the ground. Now the movement required foot soldiers to 
fill its cells, and a network of communication to connect their acts of 
“resistance and sabotage” in a common mission. In addition to a sustained 
focus on recruiting veterans and active-duty military personnel, in the late 
1970s and early 1980s Aryan Nations adopted an aggressive strategy to re-
cruit activists directly from prisons. Butler focused on detention facilities with 
visible racial tensions. So did other white power leaders, with one Texas Aryan 
Nations and Klan leader claiming that more than 300 inmates subscribed 
to his mailing list in a single Texas prison.44 Miles began the Mountain 
Church’s prison outreach program in 1970 and increased his emphasis on 
prison recruiting in 1978. By 1988 he included a special section for prisoners—
“Beyond the Bars . . . ​the Stars!”—in his From the Mountain newsletter, 
which he claimed had a total circulation of 5,700 copies a month.45

Butler undertook his campaign to recruit current and former prisoners 
openly, and spoke about such activity as Christian Identity proselytizing. “All 
three Northwest state penitentiaries are prime targets for tracts, leaflets, 
posters and letters extolling segregation and the supremacy of the white race,” 
he told the Oregonian in 1984. “They write in. They want to know, and so 
as a service we are expanding and telling the gospel of the Kingdom by 
sending them a sample packet. . . . ​We send out thousands of them.” 46

Within prison walls, the violent white power gang Aryan Brotherhood 
rapidly accrued members and power, acting as an auxiliary of Aryan 
Nations on the inside and influencing its parent organization. “Aryan 
Nations . . . ​will not do anything with the prison population without the 
[Aryan Brotherhood]’s sanction,” the FBI reported in 1984. The Aryan 
Brotherhood, with members suspected in various murders of guards and in-
mates, also was involved in loan-sharking, gambling, extortion, and gun 
and drug trafficking, and sent a substantial portion of their illicit profits to 
Aryan Nations, often disguised as religious offerings.47

Key white power activists moved directly from prison to underground 
white power cells. Gary Lee Yarbrough, for instance, came from “one of the 
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most notorious families” in Pima County, Arizona. His parents frequently 
fought each other with knives, and three of their four sons had long criminal 
records. Convicted of grand theft, burglary, and possession of marijuana, 
Yarbrough served the full eight years of his sentence, since his numerous 
assaults on guards and other inmates and his possession of marijuana, 
homemade weapons, and white power literature did not recommend him 
for early release. Yarbrough later said he was in an isolation cell, praying for 
a sign from God, when the guard handed him an Aryan Nations recruitment 
letter. He spent his last three years inside as a leader of Arizona State Prison’s 
Aryan Brotherhood.48

Not only did recruitment mobilize both prisoners and, if Yarbrough can 
be believed, some of their guards, but it also emphasized a lifelong com-
mitment to the movement by articulating a permanent state of war. The 
Aryan Brotherhood inducted members for life, and failure to keep group 
secrets was punishable by death. “On entering this family, we pledge our 
blood,” members swore; “on leaving, it will be shed.” The group’s bylaws 
spelled out that “the [goal] and purpose of this organization is to instill 
and maintain respect and pride of / and for the white race. And to become 
a major power in this prison and state.” In Arizona, this would be realized 
by hundreds of gang members, including current and former inmates, in-
volved in a broad range of criminal activity outdistanced only by prison 
gangs in California. The Arizona Aryan Brotherhood’s organized crime 
extended statewide and included murder, kidnapping, armed robbery, bur-
glary, drugs, assault, rape, child molestation, and child prostitution. Law 
enforcement officers formed a special unit to deal with Aryan Brotherhood 
after seven members in Phoenix, Tucson, and Arizona State Prison were 
indicted on charges of conspiring to smuggle weapons into the prison. In a 
three-month trial, four convicted Brotherhood members testified that they 
sent a full 25 percent of the crime ring’s profits to Aryan Nations as reli-
gious offerings.49

While Aryan Nations claimed to endorse a simple, wholesome lifestyle 
at its compound—defined by the absence of popular media, abstinence from 
drugs and alcohol, subservience of women, race-based education of children, 
and a strict morality grounded in the Christian Identity interpretation of 
the Bible—its members accepted ill-gotten funds as well as recruits with long 
criminal records. Movement leaders spoke of the state of emergency neces-
sitated by impending race war to justify this contradiction.
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A broad call for migration to establish a white homeland drew white power 
activists to the Northwest. Yarbrough traveled to Idaho immediately after his 
1979 release. He quickly became an Aryan Nations Color Guard Leader and 
a model member of the group.50 Two men from Tom Metzger’s California 
KKKK, Frank Silva and Randy Evans, made the trip north, and soon regularly 
attended target practice sessions at the Aryan Nations compound.51 Bruce 
Carroll Pierce, enthralled with the West, moved to Montana and stumbled 
on Aryan Nations.52 Richard Scutari made his way to the Northwest from 
Florida, bringing his wife and children after becoming involved with the 
movement there.53 David Lane traveled up from Colorado. He was a Denver-
area white supremacist whose wife of fourteen years had left him after his 
arrest for distributing hate literature.54 Lane became “a pitiful, lonely, sexu-
ally frustrated figure at neo-Nazi meetings,” according to one journalist, and 
soon earned the nickname “Lone Wolf.”55 David Tate, on the other hand, had 
grown up in the Aryan Nations compound, where his entire family lived and 
worked. “Vigorous and attractive, [Tate’s] love of weaponry and militant ac-
tion became public knowledge when he posed on the cover of a Seattle Times 
supplement wearing a ‘White Power’ T-shirt and holding a Mini-14 rifle,” 
the Rebel reported in 1984. Tate worked the Aryan Nations printing press 
with Yarbrough, turning out propaganda leaflets and, later, counterfeit bills.56

Just across the state line, Robert Jay “Bob” Mathews had migrated to the 
Northwest from Arizona, where his father had brought him into the tax pro-
test movement at age fifteen. Mathews’s father, who was in the Air Force 
Reserve, was also a member of the anticommunist and ultraconservative John 
Birch Society. At twenty-one, Mathews formed the Sons of Liberty, a para-
military, anticommunist, and survivalist group, and got in some minor legal 
trouble for tax evasion. He moved to the Northwest in 1974, settling in 
Metaline Falls, a small, quiet, and very remote town in northeastern Wash-
ington. He also helped one of his old friends from the Sons of Liberty 
escape the FBI with a phony passport; the friend traveled to Rhodesia as a 
mercenary soldier. This friendship connected Mathews not only to the tax 
resistance movement but also to the mercenary soldier circuit. He soon joined 
the National Alliance, run by leading white power movement thinker and 
Turner Diaries author William Pierce. Mathews read The Turner Diaries as 
a member of the National Alliance, possibly in installments as it was first 
printed in Attack! He met a woman through a personal ad in 1975 and mar-
ried her in 1976, but his new wife, Debbie Mathews, could not have 
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children. In 1981, they christened an adopted son at Aryan Nations, but 
Bob Mathews remained deeply frustrated about his failure to contribute to 
the white race through procreation.57

At the Hayden Lake compound, Beam, Mathews, and other migrants met 
lifelong Aryan Nations members such as Tate. Butler acted as the public and 
religious head of the organization, leaving Beam and Mathews free to build 
an underground. Mathews founded the Order—also called Bruder Sch-
weigen, or Silent Brotherhood—as both secret society and paramilitary 
strike force, intended to carry out the most difficult criminal acts envisioned 
by movement leaders and by its commander, Mathews. It included fewer 
than ten men in the beginning, but it quickly grew to fifty members, orga
nized in cells.

Modeling its name, structure, rituals, and actions on The Turner Diaries, 
Mathews outlined the Order’s six-step strategy. First was paramilitary training 
in the camps in Idaho and Missouri. Second, “fundraising”—robbery and 
counterfeiting. Third, the purchase of weapons. Fourth, distribution of stolen 
and counterfeit money to other white power groups. Fifth, “security,” or the 
assassination of individuals on a circulated hit list. Sixth, expansion into cells 
to avoid prosecution. The Order’s ultimate goal was to create a white separatist 
nation in the Northwest, and later to expand this territory into an all-white 
homeland encompassing all U.S. and Canadian soil north of the U.S.-Mexico 
border.58

Order members pledged their lives to race war until victory or until death. 
They took their induction oath on Mathews’s farm. They stood in a circle 
around a white female infant, who symbolized the race they sought to pro-
tect. They raised their arms in a “Hitler salute.” “I, as a free Aryan man,” 
they recited, “hereby swear an unrelenting oath upon the green graves of our 
sires, upon the children and the wombs of our wives.” They swore that they 
had no fear of death or foe, but had “a sacred duty to do whatever is neces-
sary to deliver our people from the Jew and bring total victory to the Aryan 
race.” They pledged secrecy about all activities to follow. They swore to rescue 
any of their number taken prisoner. “Should an enemy agent hurt you,” they 
promised their silent brothers, “I will chase him to the ends of the earth and 
remove his head from his body.” Their oath recognized them as racial war-
riors, but also transformed them into weapons. “My brothers, let us be [God’s] 
battle ax and weapons of war. Let us go forth by ones and by twos, by scores 
and by legions, as true Aryan men,” they vowed. “We are in a state of war 
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and will not lay down our weapons until we have driven the enemy into the 
sea and reclaimed the land which was promised to our fathers of old, and 
through our blood and His will, becomes the land of our children to be.”59

As younger activists joined the white power movement in this period, the 
Vietnam War narrative became increasingly unmoored from a lived experi-
ence of combat. The war had provided the fuel and the frame of reference 
for the formation of the white power movement in the late 1970s, and in 
the 1980s continued to work as a narrative and set of symbols that shaped 
claims of authenticity, tactics, modes of violence, and paramilitary structures 
within the movement. This iteration of white power valued, but did not re-
quire, the participation and stories of veterans. Several members of the Order 
were too young to have served, but the Vietnam War story still shaped their 
actions, and veterans played an instrumental role in guiding the group’s vio
lence. Randy Duey was an Air Force veteran and an instructor at the sur-
vival school at Fairchild Air Force Base in Spokane, Washington, at the time 
he joined the group. While his position did not constitute active-duty status, 
Duey was an employee of the Air Force when he became a soldier in the 
war on the government.60 Other members had come close to serving: Yar-
brough was inducted into the Marines as an alternative to incarceration, but 
shortly thereafter went AWOL in Hawaii and wound up serving his prison 
sentence back in Arizona. Mathews intended to enlist but changed his mind 
because of the prosecution of Lieutenant William Calley for the massacre 
of Vietnamese civilians at My Lai, an act Mathews thought justified. Re-
gardless of their individual veteran or nonveteran status, Order members 
entered a movement energized by and united around the symbols, uni-
forms, weapons, and strategies of the Vietnam War. The Order’s Declaration 
of War in November 1984 would name congressional betrayal of soldiers 
in the Vietnam War as a key justification of their violent campaign.61

In the Order and throughout the broader movement, white power activists 
adopted and recognized the weapons and uniforms of the U.S. military. The 
Aryan Nations uniform—most of which could be obtained from a depart-
ment store—included a Marine Corps cap dyed blue.62 Randall Rader, who 
had never served in the military but who taught military tactics to the Cov-
enant, the Sword, and the Arm of the Lord (CSA) and then to the Order, 
consistently used military standards for his decisions about methods and 
armament.63 He referred to the M16, the preferred weapon of the Order, as 
“the standard general purpose machine gun of the U.S. Armed Forces.” He 
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called the AR-15, another commonly chosen weapon, the “Civilian model 
of the military M16.” Rader described the AR-180, a third common weapon, 
as “a predecessor to the AR-15 or M16. It was designed by the same man, 
except it’s just a later model.” 64 Later, when members of the group were pros-
ecuted under racketeering laws, Rader would testify that the Order’s strategy 
came entirely from U.S. Army training manuals and books about U.S. mili-
tary strategy.65 Although the Order’s guerrilla-style warfare might have re-
sembled the tactics of communist guerrilla fighters, the man in charge of its 
implementation took the specifics directly from the U.S. military.

According to Rader, Mathews had a long-term plan for bringing the 
broader white power movement together under the command of the Order, 
and this plan rested specifically on battle-ready white power activists. Mathews 
told Rader that members of Aryan Nations, the Mountain Church, the Na-
tional Alliance, the White Patriot Party, White Aryan Resistance, and the 
Christian Identity congregation led by Pastor Dan Gayman in Missouri had 
already completed paramilitary training. As Rader would later testify, 
Mathews thought that “each of these organizations, or most of them, had 
trained military people in the organizations and because we had founded 
them in these organizations, would fall under our military command . . . ​
he told me that these groups would provide recruits to The Order out of 
their ranks.” 66

In its first year, the Order funneled money through Mountain Man 
Supply Company to operate two paramilitary training camps—270 acres 
total—in Idaho and Missouri. The FBI would track 137 separate shipments 
of matériel and supplies to Priest River, Idaho, including guns, ammunition, 
all-terrain vehicles, Rottweiler dogs, army K-rations, and Apple computers. 
The same kind of supplies flowed to the camp in Missouri.67

Mathews, who cemented the Order together, insisted on high morality 
in its acts that distinguished the group from organizations such as the Aryan 
Brotherhood. They thought of themselves as an elite military force, but also 
as the men responsible for protecting and propagating the white race. They 
followed The Turner Diaries, which instructed that for the public to support 
a racist revolution, all violence would have to be strictly moral: “We couldn’t 
use means which contradicted our ends. If we begin preying on the public 
to support ourselves, we will be viewed as a gang of common criminals, re-
gardless of how lofty our aims are.” 68 In April  1983, Mathews and the 
Order, still recruiting members and refining strategy, undertook the robbery 
of a small pornography store in Spokane, Washington—choosing that target 
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rather than, say, an upstanding family grocery store because they believed 
that the owner and clerk deserved violence. Duey punched the clerk, and the 
group stole a paltry $369.69

The robbery illustrated another important fact: although federal prosecu-
tors and the FBI would later argue that the Order had been formed during the 
Aryan Nations World Congress in July 1983, this minor action shows that 
the group was operational prior to that meeting. Instead of being a rogue 
splinter group of Aryan Nations, the Order included members from several 
different white power organizations and belief systems, and intended to re-
cruit even more broadly. “The Order” simply gave a name to first one, and 
then many, underground resistance cells within the unified white power 
movement, acting in concert but without direct communication with lead-
ership.70 Instead of being the site of the Order’s founding, then, the July 1983 
World Congress appears to have served as an opportunity to codify some 
aspects of the group’s organization and augment the group’s violence.

Another major event in 1983 sent shock waves through the white power 
movement, calling the movement faithful to revolution. In February of that 
year, a radical tax protestor, self-proclaimed racist, and decorated World War 
II veteran named Gordon Kahl killed two federal marshals and injured three 
others in a firefight that had erupted as he left a meeting to organize a Posse 
Comitatus group in Medina, North Dakota. The Posse, another white power 
faction, recognized no authority higher than the local sheriff and advocated 
vigilante violence, tax evasion, and frivolous lawsuits designed to hamper the 
legal system.71 While on the run, Kahl issued a statement that equated 
shooting the marshals with his military service during World War II:

I want the world to know I take no pleasure in the death or injury of any of 
these people any more than I felt when I was forced to bring to an end the 
fighter pilots’ lives who forced the issue during WWII. When you come under 
attack by anyone, it becomes a matter of survival. I was forced to kill an 
American . . . ​pilot one day over Burma, when he mistook us for Japs. I let 
him shoot first, but he missed and I didn’t. I felt bad, but I knew I had no 
choice. I would have liked nothing other than to be left alone, so I could 
enjoy life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness, which our forefathers willed 
to us. That was not to be, after I discovered that our nation had fallen into 
the hands of an alien people.72

Kahl continued his statement with further antisemitic rhetoric, arguing that 
the white race and Christianity would have to stand or fall together. He 
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evaded authorities for several months, despite a nationwide manhunt, until 
June, when he died in a showdown at a cement bunker in northern Arkansas. 
Pursuing agents fired into the bunker, which then caught fire, incinerating 
Kahl’s body. His fiery martyrdom at the hands of federal agents became part 
of a white power call to arms against the state.

This call, and the organization of leaderless cells more broadly, required 
communication between the network of groups and activists that constituted 
the white power movement, and for this Louis Beam turned to a new tech-
nology: computers. His idea of organizing groups, cells, and individual white 
power activists through the early Internet emerged directly from the 1983 
World Congress. It would turn out to be the most radical, and the most 
wildly successful, idea proposed that weekend. Minicomputers, which after 
the refinement of the microchip were finally small enough to fit in a home 
office, were mass-distributed by Apple and Microsoft from 1977 to 1985. 
Time magazine named the computer Man of the Year—rather, Machine of 
the Year—in 1983. A loose network of small, informal computer-to-computer 
linkages had begun to form; by the mid-1990s, it would become the World 
Wide Web. Beam set out to use this nascent network to coordinate white 
power cells.73

Decades before the popularization of social media as a method of organ
izing, white power activists used computers to connect with one another per-
sonally, and to coordinate violence and radical activism. In one of the first 
effective deployments of computer networks for social mobilization, Beam 
created a series of code-word-accessed message boards that linked the white 
power movement around the country and beyond. Liberty Net, implemented 
in 1984, featured recruitment materials; personal ads and pen pal match pro-
grams to connect white power activists; and messaging about targets for 
sabotage and assassination. It enabled the forging and maintenance of the 
social connections that sustained white power activism and violence.74

Liberty Net also furthered the strategy of leaderless resistance by coordi-
nating action without creating a paper trail of evidence, especially over the 
two years before the FBI decrypted the network’s messages. “Finally, we are 
all going to be linked together at one point in time,” Beam wrote after set-
ting up the network nationwide. “Imagine, if you will, all the great minds 
of the patriotic Christian movement linked together and joined to one 
computer. Imagine any patriot in the country being able to call up and ac-
cess these minds. . . . ​You are online with the Aryan Nations brain trust. It 
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is here to serve the folk.”75 In other words, an activist could check in and 
learn movement objectives from the computer message boards without ever 
having contact with leadership, and thus avoid implicating leadership in any 
ensuing crimes in the insurgent war on the state.

One overtly violent component of the network, a “computer index on trai-
tors,” sometimes corresponded to an assassination point system Beam had 
purportedly outlined at the Aryan Nations World Congress.76 It listed the 
names and addresses of anti-Klan groups and spokespeople; those who had 
informed on the movement to the FBI; and targets such as federal judges 
and agents.77 It also worked to further bind disparate groups in common 
cause. “It is time!” Beam and Miles wrote jubilantly in the Inter-Klan News-
letter and Survival Alert. “Time for a voice unhindered by loyalty to a single 
Klan group or leader.”78 The unified white power movement, suddenly con-
nected by Liberty Net, sought to rise above factionalism and leader-driven 
group structures.

Beam was proud of the new technology—a product, he said, of “Amer-
ican know-how”—that would allow the white power movement to reclaim 
the country from the corrupt federal government. “It has been said that 
knowledge is power, which it most assuredly is,” Beam wrote. “The com-
puter offers, to those who become proficient in its use, power undreamed of 
by the rulers of the past.”79 The newly connected white power movement 
was poised for coordinated war, and its leaders spoke with candor about their 
plans to unseat the federal government. “Looking down the road, the Aryan 
movement is going to make the Third Reich look like a third-grade school 
party,” Butler told a reporter. “We are just on the very outer edge of tremen-
dous violence.”80

Liberty Net provided immeasurable benefits to the movement. Beam im-
mediately began to send electronic hate literature into Canada, bypassing 
laws prohibiting such materials from crossing the border. Klan chapters 
around the country began to dial in to the computer network: the Texas 
Klan was online by 1984, and others soon followed.81 The Aryan Brother-
hood was using Liberty Net by 1986.82 What Liberty Net required, though, 
was cash. Initial startup costs came in at a substantial $3,500.83 Each 
additional Apple minicomputer cost around $2,000, and the movement 
needed to equip its factions all around the country.84

While Beam worked on messaging and connection at a national level, the 
Order supported the Liberty Net project with robberies and counterfeiting. 
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No longer satisfied with the small proceeds of raiding porn stores, Mathews 
robbed a bank near Seattle, Washington, in December 1983, coming away 
with a more lucrative haul of $25,952. Still moralizing their violence, Order 
members understood bank robbery—and later, armored car robbery—as a 
way both to fund their war on the state and to target what they saw as 
corrupt, Jewish-controlled banks.85

The Order continued its robbery campaign in January 1984, when Yar-
brough and Order member Bruce Carroll Pierce stole $3,600 from the Mu-
tual Savings Bank in Spokane.86 They sent $200 to Miles and dropped 
$100 in the collection plate at Aryan Nations. In April, Yarbrough bombed 
the Embassy Theater, a Seattle pornography house, in another act of moral-
ized violence.87 Then the group turned to armored car robbery. In March, 
Mathews, Pierce, and Duey robbed an armored car in Seattle and netted 
$43,345; the next month, Mathews and five others robbed more than 
$500,000 from an armored car parked outside a Seattle department store.88

At the same time, the Order refined its counterfeiting operation. Early 
failures, such as Pierce’s arrest for passing a phony fifty-dollar bill near Ya-
kima, Washington, in December 1984, didn’t concern them. Pierce simply 
pleaded guilty and then failed to report to serve his sentence.89 The Order 
altered its methods so that its fake bills would be caught less frequently. For 
this, members recruited a meticulous ex-Boeing engineer and sometime 
Contra supplier, Robert Merki.90 As did the Organization in The Turner Di-
aries, the Order regarded counterfeiting not only as a source of income but 
also as a way to wage war on the Federal Reserve by flooding the market 
with fake money. Eventually the Order hoped to undermine public confi-
dence in paper currency, fomenting revolution.91

Meanwhile, the group set its sights on other, more violent goals, particu-
larly the assassination of opponents. For years, dating at least to 1979, Denver 
talk radio host Alan Berg had clashed on-air with members of the white 
power movement. An outspoken and confrontational commentator on 
KOA-AM radio, Berg was the kind of prominent Jewish and liberal voice 
that the Order sought to silence. Berg had argued on his show with local 
Klan leader Fred Wilkins, paramilitary trainer Jack Mohr, and Pete Peters, 
the pastor of a small but influential Christian Identity congregation in La-
Porte, Colorado. In February 1984, Order member David Lane, who had 
lived in Denver prior to migrating to the Northwest, phoned in to Berg’s 
show to recount his belief in a Jewish plot to take over the world. “I think 
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you’re sick, you’re pathetic,” Berg told Lane, and hung up on him. Lane’s 
coworker at a Denver title insurance company would later testify that Lane 
called Berg “a filthy Jew,” adding, “Somebody ought to shoot that guy.”92

The Order found help through Peters’s LaPorte Church of Christ, where 
Mathews recruited fifty-year-old Jean Craig. Mathews, eager to propagate 
the white race, had set up a second home with her twenty-eight-year-old 
daughter, Zillah, in Laramie, Wyoming, while still married to Debbie 
Mathews. In doing so, Mathews took part in a newly condoned polygamy 
within the movement, whose leaders put aside some ideas about traditional 
family structure in order to encourage the birth of white children.93 Mathews 
recruited Jean Craig to spy on Berg for the Order. For a few months, when-
ever she could get down to Denver, the unassuming Craig tailed his move-
ments, learning his routines. She visited KOA-AM radio, taking photographs 
of the security cameras. She researched Berg at the public library. She then 
reported back to the Order, presenting Mathews with a folder detailing 
Berg and his daily routine.94

Order member Andrew Barnhill, using money from an armored car rob-
bery, purchased a gun from Randall Rader, the leader of paramilitary in-
struction for the CSA, who had just moved to Hayden Lake to train Order 
members. The submachine gun he sold Barnhill, a MAC-10 with silencer, 
could fire 900 rounds per minute. The weapon could be had for as little as 
$595, or even less—and with hardly any regulation—if someone bought the 
parts separately. Assembly presented no challenge, even for someone who 
didn’t have the Order’s extensive paramilitary training. “There are a lot of 
parts floating around,” a local gun dealer would later tell the Denver Post. 
“Anybody that’s handy can put a MAC-10 together by himself.”95

Armed, several members of the Order drove to Denver via Laramie. At 
9:15 p.m. on June 18, 1984, Pierce fired the MAC-10 as Berg stood in his 
driveway, cutting him down with a one-second burst that lifted him off the 
ground and riddled his body with bullets. Berg died instantly. Mathews and 
Richard Scutari, another Order member, acted as lookouts; Lane drove the 
getaway car. Zillah Craig would later say that Mathews had told her that 
he, Pierce, Lane, and Scutari were going to Denver to kill Berg. She said 
Mathews left their home in Laramie early on June 18, 1984, and came back 
the next day at 1:00 a.m. “Later, he went out to buy newspapers,” Craig said, 
“and he, Pierce and Scutari sat around reading accounts of the Berg killing.”96 
At the time of those reports, the press had not yet connected the string of 
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robberies with the assassination, nor had reporters connected either kind of 
crime with the white power movement’s political goals. All of these acts 
seemed, instead, a chaotic and random assortment of violent crimes.

Yarbrough maintained long afterward that he was not part of the Berg 
shooting, but his position as leader of the Order’s assassination cell pointed 
to his involvement. One witness testified that she had seen Yarbrough 
running away from Berg’s apartment several hours prior to the shooting; Yar-
brough, nicknamed “Yosemite Sam” for his red hair and beard, was perhaps 
one of the most identifiable Order members.97 Whether or not he had been 
there, Yarbrough became fixated on the murder weapon, which had jammed, 
ominously, on the thirteenth round. He decided to keep it, leaving a trail of 
evidence for agents to follow later.98

The FBI got a break in the counterfeiting case in June 1984, the same 
month as the Berg assassination. Order member Tom Martinez—a working-
class Philadelphian who stridently maintained that his Hispanic surname 
came from white, Castilian origins—bought a fifty-cent lottery ticket with 
a ten-dollar bill counterfeited by the Order. Surprisingly, given the prepara-
tion and training of Order members, Martinez did the same thing in the 
same store the next day; Secret Service officers arrested him on the spot. 
Eventually Martinez pleaded guilty to counterfeiting and then turned in
formant, passing Order secrets to the FBI. Using his testimony, the Bureau 
would make significant progress in the counterfeiting investigation. Just after 
his arrest, however, Martinez had wavered about becoming an informant. 
“Do you think I want to die?” he asked the agents.99 His terror revealed the 
possible consequences for betraying the group.

Meanwhile, movement leaders reconvened in Hayden Lake for the 1984 
Aryan Nations World Congress in July, making plans to further ramp up war 
on the state. According to FBI affidavits, Beam gave lengthy presentations—
assisted by a man named Mosby, an active-duty soldier from Fort Bragg, 
North Carolina—on how to build and detonate explosives, concentrating 
on infrastructure targets such as utilities, railroads, and bridges. The idea 
was that after attacks on infrastructure, the black community would begin to 
loot, creating a diversion during which “the white supremacist organ
ization” could assassinate federal judges.100

The use of the phrase “the white supremacist organization” was an 
acknowledgment that the many disparate Klan, neo-Nazi, and other groups 
nationwide were functioning as a unified movement. The reference to “the 
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organization”—intact even when filtered through the hearsay and transcrip-
tion of FBI paperwork—came directly from The Turner Diaries. Indeed, 
during one of the sessions at the 1984 World Congress Beam and Mosby 
laid out a similar strategy as the plan of operations for the next year of racist 
violence. “Beam and Mosby stated that it is their intention to form opera-
tional units which would become involved in this sabotage operation inde
pendently using guerrilla warfare tactics throughout the United States,” the 
affidavit read. In this session they instructed white power activists on how 
to shoot and kill FBI agents and other law enforcement personnel wearing 
body armor.101

Extant FBI documentation indicates that undercover informants had in-
filtrated the World Congress and observed the imminent danger of white 
power revolution. Despite this, the strategy of coordinated cell violence 
without direct orders from leadership was working. Hate-group incidents had 
already increased more than 500 percent in Idaho between 1980 and 1984.102 
The World Congress itself generated immediate violence. During the meeting, 
seven arson fires occurred in Spokane, Washington, the nearest large city. 
Just afterward, Klansmen linked to Aryan Nations firebombed the SPLC 
headquarters in Montgomery, Alabama. The white power movement had 
reached an unprecedented level of violence, funding, and purpose in its 
commitment to wage war on the state. As the resources of the Order grew, 
so did its manpower, as it accepted new members from a wide array of white 
power groups.103

The eventual arrest and prosecution of Order members depended upon 
evidence provided by informants. Given the Order’s demand for total and 
lifelong loyalty from every cell member and the promise in the induction 
oath to find anyone who had hurt another member and “remove his head 
from his body,” turning informant was a terribly risky endeavor. Martinez 
had good reason to worry about informing on the Order. As in The Turner 
Diaries, members who talked too much were to be sent on suicide missions 
or, more simply, killed.104 In late summer 1984, Order member Walter West 
was accused of talking too much about the group. A four-man team, Randy 
Duey, David Tate, Jim Dye, and Richard Kemp, took West deep into Kan-
iksu National Forest, where Kemp struck him twice on the head with a three-
pound sledgehammer and then shot him in the head. Afterward, Kemp 
would reenact this killing when his associates whistled or sang the popular 
Beatles song “Maxwell’s Silver Hammer.”105 In the song, Maxwell kills two 



126� BRING THE WAR HOME

women with repeated hammer blows to the head and then, later, stands be-
fore a judge to answer for his crime. Two women cry from the gallery that 
he should be freed, but before the judge can rule, Maxwell kills him with 
the hammer, too. The Order members’ invocation of the song referenced not 
only West’s murder but also their plans to murder federal judges.106

The Order continued to carry out robberies using the model of The 
Turner Diaries. In July 1984, an Order robbery yielded a stunning payday 
that would catapult the war on the state forward. Twelve Order members 
and associates including Mathews, Scutari, Yarbrough, and Pierce robbed a 
Brinks armored car near Ukiah, California, with the help of a sympathetic 
employee. According to later affidavits, “approximately 12 men wearing 
white T-shirts and red bandanas riding in two pickups forced the armored 
car onto the shoulder of the road. . . . ​After firing several shots into the 
truck, a sign was displayed reading ‘Get Out or Die.’ The men got inside 
the truck and took the bags of money.”107

The Ukiah heist netted $3.6 million in cash, a dizzying sum compared 
to their early robberies and enough to send them into ecstatic philanthropy. 
All of the participants received $40,000 in stolen cash as salary. Mathews 
and Zillah Craig, heavily pregnant with his child, embarked on a trip around 
the country to distribute large sums of money to both established leaders and 
rising stars of the white power movement. They went to Cohoctah, Mich-
igan, where Mathews gave some $300,000 to Robert Miles. Miles wrote 
them a letter of introduction to White Patriot Party leader Glenn Miller, 
and they headed south. Mathews and Craig stopped in Ohio, Philadelphia, 
and then Arlington, Virginia, where they met with Turner Diaries author 
William Pierce. Next was Benson, North Carolina, where they met up with 
Miller and Order members Scutari, Barnhill, and Artie McBrearty. Barn-
hill and McBrearty had just come off their own distribution trip, funneling 
$145,000 to Rader to buy more military supplies and equipment, and then 
distributing $10,000 to Missouri Christian Identity leader Dan Gayman.108 
According to Rader, the Order also tithed 10 percent of all its ill-gotten in-
come to Aryan Nations.109

As the distribution trips began, the Order refined its paramilitary proce-
dures with read-and-destroy official plans, safe houses, and code names 
referring to icons, personal traits, and criminal records. David Lane was 
code-named “Lone Wolf,” drawing on his existing nickname. Pierce chose 
“Brigham,” after the polygamist Mormon leader Brigham Young. Yarbrough, 
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with his red hair and beard, was “Yosemite Sam.” Rader was known by a 
trainer’s title, “Field Marshal,” until he killed and ate his pet dog to prove a 
point about survivalism; then he became “Big Boy.” Barnhill was “Mr. Closet,” 
because he had a record of seeking out and hurting homosexuals. Kemp, who 
had killed Walter West with the hammer, went by “Jolly.” Louis Beam’s code 
name, “Lone Star,” paid tribute to his home state. Beam also had a medal-
lion given only to Order members.110

Although the aim of the leaderless resistance strategy was to obscure the 
coordination behind white power violence and limit attempts at prosecution, 
its success was only piecemeal. Indeed, federal agents at the FBI and ATF 
were working to document white power movement intergroup relationships, 
plans, and circulations of weapons, as evinced by federal efforts to decrypt 
Liberty Net and prosecute the Order. Agents would present extensive evi-
dence of white power as a movement not only in the trials of Order mem-
bers under new federal anti-racketeering laws but also in a federal sedition 
trial held at Fort Smith, Arkansas, in 1987–1988. Nevertheless, strategies to 
insulate leaders proved enormously effective in other ways. Even if federal 
agents and a few journalists were aware of the white power movement, the 
mainstream public continued to see most white power violence as the work 
of errant madmen. The phrase “lone wolf,” previously used to describe crim-
inals acting alone, was employed increasingly in the 1980s and 1990s to 
describe white power activists. This played into the movement’s aim to 
prevent anyone from putting together a cohesive account of the group’s ac-
tions. The white power movement’s cell structure stymied the kind of public 
understanding that had worked to limit the civil-rights-era Klan, as well as 
the political will that could have brought about real change in how the ju-
dicial system responded to violent white power activism.111

The public might have been largely unaware of the extent and activity of 
the movement, but federal law enforcement was not. A massive federal man-
hunt drew together the resources of the FBI, Secret Service, and ATF. On 
October 18, the FBI raided Yarbrough’s house in Sandpoint, Idaho. Inside, 
they found the MAC-10 semiautomatic that had killed Alan Berg, as well 
as two shotguns, two rifles, and five semiautomatic rifles. They also found 
100 sticks of partially deteriorated dynamite, a three-foot-high shrine to 
Adolf Hitler, fragmentation grenades, night vision scopes, more than 6,000 
rounds of ammunition, four loaded crossbows, police scanners, booby traps, 
and Aryan Nations uniforms. There was also a disguise kit, as recommended 
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in The Turner Diaries. Rounding out the arsenal was a pound and a half of 
C-4 plastic explosives—enough, Harper’s Magazine reported, “to blow up 
the federal courthouse in Boise.” Yarbrough and Mathews fled the scene.112

A month later, Martinez, now an FBI informant, met Yarbrough and 
Mathews in Portland. Martinez contacted the FBI, and agents surrounded 
them at the Capri Motel, near the airport. Agents apprehended Yarbrough. 
Mathews escaped by shooting his way out, but, enacting another scene from 
The Turner Diaries, did not shoot the agent pursuing him because the man 
was white. Mathews fled to a safe house on Whidbey Island, a short ferry 
ride from Seattle. There he wrote a last letter to the movement, promising 
death for Martinez—“the traitor in room 14”—and asserting that his war 
on the state was just beginning.

Up until now we have been doing nothing more than growing and 
preparing. . . . ​[T]he government, however, seems determined to force the issue, 
so we have no choice left but to stand up and fight back. Hail Victory! . . . ​
I am not going into hiding, rather I will press the FBI and let them know 
what it is like to become the hunted. Doing so it is only logical to assume 
that my days on this planet are rapidly drawing to a close. Even so, I have no 
fear. For the reality of life is death, and the worst the enemy can do to me is 
shorten my tour of duty in this world. . . . ​As always, for blood, soil, honor, 
for faith and for race.113

Mathews described his life as war—a “tour of duty”—and himself as a per-
petual soldier. The movement’s Vietnam War story lay just behind this rhe
toric: Mathews, who had never served, framed his war on the government 
with the same ideas about tours of duty, combat zones with no safe retreat, 
and perpetual readiness for combat that regularly appeared in the writings 
and speeches of veterans like Beam. The movement continued to reference 
the war not only in rhetoric and written documents, but also in its symbolic 
material: that Yarbrough’s cache of weapons included Vietnam War–style 
fragmentation grenades and C-4, for instance, signaled plans for paramili-
tary warfare well beyond the robbery of banks and armored cars.

When federal agents found the safe house on Whidbey Island, Mathews 
would engage in a fiery last stand and ultimately die. Stories of Mathews’s 
lone stand and death reached mythic prominence in and beyond the move-
ment, and have been used to bolster an analysis of warrior culture and para-
military masculinity as a defining force of the 1980s.114 However, although 
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the white power movement organized around the symbols and legacy of the 
Vietnam War and deployed notions of paramilitary masculinity, the revo-
lutionary turn that necessitated cell-style organizing—the use of social net-
works and relationships to connect and coordinate activists—relied on the 
work of female activists. Although Jean Craig was widely described in court 
and in journalistic and scholarly accounts as the only woman in the Order, 
this was far from true even if she was the only one tried for her involvement. 
The wives, daughters, and girlfriends of Order members brokered social 
relationships and performed supportive work for white power cells. They 
disguised male activists and drove getaway cars, trafficked weapons and 
matériel, created false identity documents, destroyed records when pursued 
by federal agents, and helped to produce the symbols and rhetoric that 
defined the group.115 At one point, as one Order member testified, Zillah 
Craig—having recently given birth to a daughter with Mathews—dressed 
in his clothes to lead pursuing agents away from their house in Laramie so 
he could evade arrest.116

Women, as both bystanders and actors, significantly shaped the events at 
Whidbey Island. The safe house there sheltered not only Order members but 
their wives and young children as well. Michelle Pardee, wife of Richard Scu-
tari, would later testify that she and her two-year-old daughter lived in the 
Whidbey Island house just before pursuing agents discovered Mathews there. 
There she did support work for the Order: “[I c]ooked and cleaned for all 
the people at the house. . . . ​I went out to buy some vehicles one night. I col-
lated some paperwork. . . . ​I counted some money. . . . ​Approximately 
ninety to ninety-five thousand [dollars].” She also dyed Mathews’s hair to 
disguise him, and wrote out coded telephone numbers at Scutari’s request. 
In late November 1984, Mathews and other Order members finally drafted 
a formal Declaration of War that referenced, over and over again, the pro-
tection of white children. Here, too, the work of women was not only 
symbolic but material and instrumental. Pardee testified of the Declara-
tion, “They asked me to proofread it for them.”117

As the manhunt for Mathews tightened, the wives and children, and 
other Order members, left the safe house. Alone, Mathews engaged in a 
thirty-six-hour standoff with the FBI. With 100 agents surrounding the 
house, Mathews returned fire effectively enough to hold them off. He had a 
substantial arsenal and refused to surrender. He attempted to call Zillah 
Craig and Debbie Mathews but could not reach either woman. After several 
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hours, four agents approached the house and entered the first floor; Mathews, 
upstairs, fired through the floor with an automatic weapon. In the end, agents 
called in a helicopter to drop illumination flares. Mathews attempted, un-
successfully, to shoot down the helicopter. The flares ignited something in 
the house—possibly a stockpile of explosives like those seized during the ar-
rest or apprehension of nearly every other Order member—and the house 
went up in “a huge red fireball.” White power activists, men and women, 
watched, horrified, as the Whidbey Island house burned. As Harper’s 
Magazine reported, “They recovered what was left” of Mathews “in the 
morning, when the ashes cooled.”118

Beam later testified that after Mathews’s death, he “went to the closest 
church and started praying for [Mathews’s] family.” Rader’s wife recorded the 
coverage on the local news. The movement quickly canonized Mathews as a 
martyr. Activists made annual pilgrimages to the site where the Whidbey Is-
land house had stood, laying flowers, candles, and photographs where 
Mathews had died. Women’s groups talked of creating a map for commemo-
rative white power pilgrimages, to memorialize the site of Mathews’s last stand 
alongside the places where others, such as Gordon Kahl, had died for the 
cause. “We Love the Order” slogans became common at rallies, in illustra-
tions, and in white power publications, as did photographs of Mathews and 
articles honoring him. As arrests mounted, Miles started a Spring Aid Fund to 
support the wives and children of fallen and incarcerated Order members.119

The Harper’s article postulated that Mathews, “an uncomplicated, friendly, 
and murderous man with a genuine talent for leadership,” was simply a man 
out of his time, a man without a war to fight. “Once, and not long ago, so-
ciety would have known exactly what to do with the likes of . . . ​Mathews,” 
the article claimed. “It would have sent him somewhere and encouraged 
him to kill people. He would have been given an Alamo to defend or an 
Indian tribe to exterminate; in the slack season, he could have been sent to 
sea or dispatched to some distant turbulent colony where there existed ample 
scope for his peculiar talents.” The article bemoaned the fact that Mathews 
had not fought in Vietnam, saying that war could have given him a legiti-
mate outlet for his violence and bitterness. However, this notion presented 
too narrow a definition of war. Mathews had elected not to enlist in the 
military sent to fight the Vietnam War, or in the government’s covert inter-
ventions in Central America—the sorts of imperial project that could be 
described in the language of the Harper’s article as the policing of “distant 
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turbulent colon[ies]”—but instead chose to wage war at home, and on his 
own government.120

Mathews’s death did not slow the Order, which continued to operate and 
expand into new cells. Over the next few months, the FBI worked to round 
up Order members and associates, forming a joint task force with the Secret 
Service, the U.S. Marshals Service, the ATF, the Internal Revenue Service, 
and the Bureau of Prisons. Agents arrested Barnhill and Kemp in the middle 
of a poker game in Kalispell, Montana, linking them to weapons found in 
a commercial storage unit. They nabbed Jean Craig in Boise, Idaho, for re-
ceiving $10,000 stolen in the Ukiah holdup. And they arrested other Order 
members in North Carolina, near Miller’s White Patriot Party operation, 
and near the Arkansas compound of the CSA. For a time Miller harbored 
Pierce and Lane as fugitives. In March, FBI agents arrested Pierce in Ten-
nessee; he was carrying receipts for twenty gallons of nitroglycerin, an 
explosives component. Four days later, they caught Lane as he left a Winn-
Dixie grocery store in Winston-Salem, North Carolina. A document found 
in his possession, “Lane’s Laws,” called for splitting the Order into six-member 
cells, each armed with two .308-caliber automatics, two rifles, and two 
.45-caliber automatics. “You cannot afford to engage in a chase scene,” Lane 
wrote to prospective operatives. That was “the reason for the .308”: to dis-
able pursuing police cars. Pierce would later testify that some of the stolen 
money had gone to finance these new cells. The seizure of four such arsenals 
with the arrests of Order members made one FBI agent wonder if the group 
was already in the process of recruiting soldiers for its six-man cells, and 
therefore already in a phase of major expansion. Indeed, the archive supports 
this speculation.121

The FBI intended to vigorously prosecute the Order; its director told Con-
gress that the group represented the most violent manifestation of the white 
power movement to date. On April 15, 1985, after four months of secret hear-
ings, a federal grand jury issued a twenty-one-count racketeering and con-
spiracy indictment against twenty-three members of the Order, alleging that 
the group constituted a criminal enterprise and therefore fell under the scope 
of the 1970 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act. Six Order 
members were still on the run, including Tate and Scutari. The day of the 
indictment, two troopers stopped Tate in a routine traffic check near the 
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Order’s training camp in Missouri. Tate shot them both with an illegally 
automated MAC-10 submachine gun like the one that had been used to 
murder Alan Berg, killing one and injuring the other, and then fled on foot 
into the Ozarks. He left behind his brown 1975 Chevy van, outfitted as a 
mobile repair station for automatic weapons and containing enough fire-
power to arm another of the six-man cells called for in “Lane’s Laws.” He 
was eventually arrested after a five-day search.122

The arrest and prosecution of the Order members shook the white power 
movement from foundation to rafter. The FBI had seized a significant amount 
of stolen and counterfeit money, straining the movement’s resources, and 
critical media attention suddenly focused on paramilitary white power ac-
tivity. Aryan Nations cancelled its 1985 World Congress “due to unprece
dented events beyond our resources.” Besides convictions, the government 
also sought forfeiture of property acquired with stolen and counterfeit 
money, including caches of weapons, computers, cars, electronics, the land 
used for paramilitary camps in Idaho and Missouri, and Pierce’s $3,000 
Rottweiler.123

On December 30, 1985, after fifty-four hours of deliberation over eight 
days, a Seattle jury convicted Lane, Pierce, Craig, and others of racketeering 
and conspiracy. The judge sentenced Lane and Craig to forty years each, and 
Pierce to a hundred. The jury did not, however, return a verdict on Berg’s 
murder. Scutari stayed on the run until the following March, when he was 
arrested in San Antonio; he pleaded guilty to racketeering and was sentenced 
to sixty years.124

In 1987, a federal court in Denver indicted Craig, Lane, Pierce, and Scu-
tari on charges of “interfering with a federally protected right”—freedom of 
speech—“resulting in a death” in the Berg shooting. The trial began in 
Denver the following October, and Pierce and Lane were convicted. The dis-
trict court judge added 150 years onto each of the sentences handed down 
in the Seattle trial, and also required that the defendants serve fifty years 
before consideration for parole. “Noting that there is no federal death pen-
alty, the judge said he imposed the extraordinary sentences to make sure the 
parole commission doesn’t make a ‘mistake’ that leads to their release,” Den-
ver’s Rocky Mountain News reported.125

The judge in the Berg murder trial clearly believed that Order members 
presented an ongoing threat. However, the trials of Order members repre-
sented only a minimally effective prosecution of the white power movement. 
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While those found guilty received substantial sentences, fewer than half of 
the group’s members stood trial at all; the others remained free to continue 
their war. Beyond the Order itself, a multitude of other cells, activists, and 
groups continued to function. No national-level leaders such as Beam were 
indicted. The absence of direct ties between cells and leadership worked to 
stymie prosecution, and white power activists continued to carry out vio
lence, even as the trials progressed.126

Federal authorities turned their attention to the problem of the stolen and 
counterfeit money, much of which remained missing. All told, the Order had 
stolen more than $4 million, and counterfeited an unknown additional 
amount. At time of the 1985 indictment, however, the FBI reported recov-
ering only $480,000 in cash. The indictments claimed that Jean Craig had 
received $10,000, for instance, but Craig pleaded innocent despite “earlier 
court affidavits and hearings” in which “FBI agents said Craig admitted re-
ceiving the robbery money from Mathews . . . ​in part to set up a message 
operation center,” likely as part of Liberty Net. Pierce testified that some of 
the stolen money had gone to white power leaders around the country. He 
also testified, after fifteen hours of interrogation, that the cash went to finance 
“ ‘a new Order’ made up of six-man ‘cells’ with plans for more mayhem.”127

The testimony about distribution of funds revealed a nationally connected 
and unified white power movement. Bruce Pierce, based in Idaho, said he 
had given $300,000 to Glenn Miller in North Carolina, $300,000 to 
Metzger in California, $100,000 to the CSA in Arkansas, $50,000 to Wil-
liam Pierce in Virginia, and $40,000 to Butler in Idaho. Rader said Mathews 
had told him that $300,000 went to Miles in Michigan. Order member 
Denver Parmenter testified that he gave an additional $1,000 to Miller, that 
Yarbrough gave $40,000 to Butler, and that the group planned to distribute 
another $250,000 to $500,000 to Miles, Gayman in Missouri, Beam in Idaho 
and Texas, and William Pierce in Virginia. Although several of these numbers 
were not substantiated, it was clear that large sums were involved.128

A Philadelphia Order member said he dug up $100,000 hidden on a farm 
in Washington and delivered it to Beam in August 1984. Two months later, 
Bruce Pierce gave $6,000 in marked bills from the Ukiah heist to someone 
in Kalispell, Montana, where Barnhill and Kemp were later arrested. 
Someone said Mathews had tried to give $500 to Joseph Paul Franklin, a 
Utah man convicted in the sniper killing of an interracial couple following 
the model of William Pierce’s second novel, Hunter.129
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Still, much of the money eluded the FBI. Two informants said Mathews 
had sent between $1 million and $2 million in stolen money to a Denver 
attorney to invest for the movement. The attorney was not identified. Because 
this claim was included in a ninety-four-page affidavit attempting to get 
court approval for a wiretap of Miles’s phone, Miles found out about the 
transaction in pretrial discovery and was himself trying to figure out who 
the attorney was and where the money had gone, informants said. News
papers reported $1 million of the stolen money still missing in April 1988. 
More than ten years later, in 1997, the FBI could still account for only 
$600,000 of the $3.6 million stolen in the Ukiah robbery.130

Even with plentiful evidence, the arrest of people clearly still engaged in 
illegal activities, and intent to prosecute, the innovations of the white power 
movement insulated both the leadership and the broader movement from 
legal culpability. While the Department of Justice shifted its strategy, be-
ginning to consider the prosecution of movement leaders on seditious con-
spiracy charges, the movement redoubled its efforts, recruiting more Aryan 
soldiers to aid the cause and continuing its cell-driven violence. In Arkansas, 
the CSA stored cyanide intended to poison the water supply of a major city. 
In California, White Aryan Resistance began the targeted recruitment of 
young urban skinheads. And in North Carolina, the White Patriot Party 
stole weapons and matériel directly from military posts and armories as ac-
tivists prepared to escalate their war on the government.



I N 1986,  I NVESTI GATO RS for the United States Congress and Department of 
Defense reported growing concern in the U.S. Armed Forces over missing 
weapons. Hundreds of millions of dollars in military arms, ammunition, and 
explosives had disappeared. The military supply system had grown so large, 
officials told the New York Times, that matériel could be lost “without anyone 
knowing the items were gone.” Scrutiny quickly turned to Fort Bragg, an 
army post in Fayetteville, North Carolina. The command there, the Army 

6� Weapons of War

The necessary material to begin this revolution.
—Glenn Miller, “Declaration of War,” 1987

Glenn Miller (far left) and the White Patriot Party march in camouflage uniforms, 
bearing the Confederate battle flag, North Carolina, 1985. (© Robin Rayne Nelson, ZUMA Images)
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Audit Agency found, had routinely assigned security guards for the armory 
without proper background checks. With large, open areas and regular com-
ings and goings of all sorts of people, the post was easy to rob.1

A congressional report on Fort Bragg cited a large amount of missing 
ordnance recovered around the post, including 148 pounds of plastic explo-
sives, 142 pounds of TNT, 1,080 feet of detonating cord, 13 hand grenades, 
and 35 antipersonnel land mines. Some of the weapons and explosives 
turned up in private homes. Children found more of it around the post, 
discarded or cached there. The extensiveness and capacity of this arsenal 
signaled more than bad record-keeping or a few soldiers out to sell unused 
equipment for extra money. Indeed, the thirty-five land mines—a figure 
representing only those recovered, rather than the whole of those missing—had 
the capability of inflicting mass violence on civilians. If a pound and a half 
of C-4 had raised concerns about the Order blowing up a federal court
house in Idaho, 148 pounds of plastic explosive surely constituted a war
time arsenal.2

In the wake of the bad press around the discovery, Fort Bragg instituted 
surprise inspections by the military police, as well as classes for officers on 
managing munitions. Both of these measures, officials reported, “appeared 
to be bringing the problem under control.” By the time the military noticed 
that weapons were going missing, however, the scale of the problem was stag-
gering. In 1986, a Pentagon official estimated, $900 million in arms, elec-
tronic components, parts, and other equipment and supplies disappeared 
nationwide.3

But by then, the white power movement had developed a paramilitary 
network so effective, sophisticated, and dedicated to war on the state that 
military action to resolve the missing weapons problem came too late. The 
new movement used military weapons and manpower, having perfected an 
earlier strategy of recruiting active-duty military personnel to its cause. At 
least $50,000 worth of the missing weapons and explosives—almost 
certainly much more—had fallen into the hands of Glenn Miller’s White 
Patriot Party (WPP), a local white power group dedicated to war on the 
federal government. An active-duty soldier from Fort Bragg had traveled to 
the Aryan Nations compound in Idaho to advise members on how to carry 
out a war on the state using explosives, assassination, sabotage, and guer-
rilla warfare. Active-duty personnel at Fort Bragg were photographed par-
ticipating in white power rallies.4
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In the post-1983 movement, the overlap in membership between white 
power and the U.S. Armed Forces had new implications. The active-duty 
soldiers who had joined Louis Beam’s Texas KKKK during the fishermen’s 
conflict in Texas had described their actions as serving the state by continuing 
the Vietnam War’s anticommunist stand on the Texas coast. Active-duty per-
sonnel who joined the white power movement after 1983 could make no 
such claim. Instead, they joined a movement that openly advocated war on 
the state and the overthrow of the federal government. By becoming part of 
the movement, U.S. soldiers and Marines broke their induction oath to pro-
tect the United States from “enemies foreign and domestic.” As the movement 
organized a campaign of domestic terrorism in its war on the state, active-
duty personnel who joined its ranks sought to become those enemies.

To be sure, a 1986 directive from Secretary of Defense Caspar Weinberger 
decreed that “military personnel must reject participation in white supremacy, 
neo-Nazi and other such groups which espouse or attempt to create overt 
discrimination. Active participation, including public demonstrations, 
recruiting and training members, and organizing or leading such organ
izations is utterly incompatible with military service.”5 However, the direc-
tive said nothing about other kinds of actions that undergirded white power 
activity—such as membership excluding “organizing or leading,” distrib-
uting propaganda, or displaying white power symbols. Active-duty per-
sonnel continued both passive and active participation in the white power 
movement. It would take until 1996—after Gulf War veteran Timothy 
McVeigh bombed the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building Oklahoma City 
in April 1995, and after the December 1995 murder of two black people 
by  a group of active-duty skinheads at Fort Bragg—for the military to 
forcefully prohibit active-duty personnel from joining white power groups.6 
Even then, the effort to bar active-duty troops from participating in the 
movement was not wholly successful.7 The reluctance of the military to take 
rapid and decisive action regarding either the theft of military weapons or 
the recruitment of active-duty personnel showed an inability to accept that 
the white power movement was no longer a collection of hate groups but 
rather an organized war on the state.

After the revolutionary turn in 1983, as Aryan Nations members declared 
war on the government in Idaho and the Order went about amassing and 
distributing weapons, computers, and cash, a decentralized network of local 
groups carried out white power actions on the ground. Located in all regions 
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of the country, these groups followed the strategy of coordinated under-
ground resistance, subscribing to movement rhetoric and aligning around 
common objectives without receiving direct orders.

Among the many local-level white power factions that supported the vi-
sion of the Order, the stories of three intertwine and show how the federal 
government was able to pursue charges including seditious conspiracy against 
movement leaders and rank-and-file activists, mounting a major trial that 
began in 1987. In North Carolina, Glenn Miller, a Vietnam War Special 
Forces veteran previously stationed at Fort Bragg, had used the momentum 
of the 1979 Greensboro shooting to form the Carolina Knights of the Ku 
Klux Klan, later known as the Confederate KKKK (CKKKK) and, finally, the 
White Patriot Party (WPP).8 The WPP would eventually disintegrate under 
legal pressure from the Southern Poverty Law Center (SPLC), a watchdog 
organization that hoped to cripple white power movement activity by filing 
civil suits. Miller, arrested after declaring war and going underground, would 
testify for the state. In Arkansas, a member of the Covenant, the Sword, and 
the Arm of the Lord would kill a state trooper, bringing a siege to the com-
pound and revealing a massive and illegal arsenal that prosecutors used as 
leverage to force leader James Ellison to testify for the state.

In California, though, Tom Metzger’s California Knights of the KKK, 
renamed White Aryan Resistance (WAR)—which contributed two promi-
nent soldiers to the Order—managed to avoid prosecution in the short 
term. In December 1983, WAR held a rally and cross-burning attended by 
Metzger, Aryan Nations leader Richard Butler, and Order members Frank 
Silva and David Tate. Silva had been a California KKKK member, but the 
presence of Butler and Tate, both from Aryan Nations, reaffirmed strong 
movement ties connecting the groups. In 1984, WAR became active in San 
Francisco, Los Angeles, San Diego, and Sacramento, working from its base in 
Fallbrook, California. It expanded the distribution of its eponymous news-
paper and opened hate lines—phone numbers set up with prerecorded 
racist messages—in eight cities. In November, Metzger began a talk show 
titled Race and Reason on public access television; in January 1985, Silva, by 
then a fugitive, appeared on the show and described the Klan as a “guerrilla 
organization.” In February, someone saying he represented WAR threat-
ened to bomb the College of Ethnic Studies at San Francisco State Univer-
sity. By summer 1985, WAR had seen its membership increase 400 percent 
over the previous few months.9
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That summer was violent in California. In May, the promised bomb—
undetonated—was found in a San Francisco State classroom, set to go off 
during a black studies class. In September, bombs were found at the home 
of a rabbi and at an attached Jewish school; another bomb detonated a few 
hours later outside the Humanist Party offices in San Francisco. Swastikas 
appeared on a Berkeley synagogue. Despite all of this, Metzger would not 
face a trial limiting his activities until 1990, when a civil suit found him and 
WAR jointly liable in the murder of an Ethiopian student by skinheads in 
Portland.10

The CSA, on the other hand, faced intensive prosecution. The group’s 
name—the Covenant, the Sword, and the Arm of the Lord—referred to 
the hopes of compound residents that they would become the avengers of the 
Christian Identity God, Yahweh, in the final stages of an apocalyptic battle. 
Surrounded by low, wooded mountains, Bull Shoals Lake, and the Arkansas 
border, the 224-acre Zarephath-Horeb compound could be accessed by only 
one road. On the compound, seventy to ninety members lived and married, 
delivered babies, attended church and school, and worked in factories on the 
premises. As did the residents of the Aryan Nations compound in Idaho, they 
attempted in many ways to live simple, highly moralized lives. However, after 
the compound militarized in 1979, violence became part of their day-to-day 
routine. Their homes had kerosene lanterns and wood-burning stoves, but in 
their workshops they built silencers, converted weapons from semi- to fully 
automatic, and produced high-tech homemade hand grenades and Claymore-
type land mines. They wore camouflage field fatigues and prepared to fight. 
The camp, leaders said, could take in 5,000 people in an emergency. They 
also stocked light antitank weapons (LAW rockets) and military-grade explo-
sives such as C-4. The CSA residents had thoroughly armed themselves with 
the weapons of the Vietnam War.11

The CSA was deeply intertwined in the larger movement. It provided 
paramilitary training, according to trainer Randall Rader, to “several hun-
dred” activists from other groups, including the Klan, the American Pistol 
and Rifle Association, and the anticommunist Christian Patriots Defense 
League. Aryan Nations representatives visited the CSA convocation early, 
in 1981. Ellison, however, openly took a second wife and declared himself 
the divinely ordained King of the Ozarks. This turn, along with a practice 
called “Plundering the Philistines” that justified robbery and theft from non-
Identity Christians as permissible, caused fractures within the group.12
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Following an infusion of money from the Order in 1983, the CSA pur-
chased an additional 160-acre tract of land in southern Missouri, where the 
two groups set up a paramilitary training camp. As later investigation and 
prosecution would reveal, that July the CSA firebombed a synagogue and 
some local Jewish businesses. The next month, the group firebombed a gay 
community church in Springfield, Missouri. In November, CSA member 
and army surplus dealer Richard Wayne Snell blew up a natural gas pipe-
line in Fulton, Arkansas, which he thought was a feeder line to Chicago. 
Snell also participated in the murder of a Texarkana pawnshop owner in 
1983, and killed a black Arkansas state trooper during a routine traffic stop 
in 1984. Agents arrested Snell as they laid siege to the CSA compound. Re-
flecting the connections within the white power movement, Snell had Beam’s 
book Essays of a Klansman in his trunk, along with “three hand grenades, a 
.45-caliber machine gun, and two .22-caliber pistols with silencers” and lit
erature and tapes from CSA and a Christian Identity church.13

The four-day siege of the CSA compound began when ATF agents tried to 
serve Ellison with a warrant “in connection with the manufacture and 
transportation of a silencer for an automatic weapon.” In an action that would 
prove fruitful for the prosecution of the white power movement, agents 
stormed the compound on April 19, 1985. The CSA surrendered to a heavily 
armed force of 300 federal and state agents, who found inside the compound 
a 30-gallon drum of sodium cyanide, enough to kill 440,000 people. They 
also found what one ATF agent called “a small but efficient bomb factory,” 
four fugitive Order members, and $40,000 in South African Krugerrands, 
illustrating the movement’s continued common cause with the mercenary 
soldier circuit. Ellison testified for the state after being charged with a three-
year conspiracy to manufacture and sell illegal weapons.14

In North Carolina, however, the CKKKK / WPP went a step further by 
employing the soldiers and weapons of the state itself as it waged war on the 
federal government. Riding the momentum generated by the Greensboro 
shootings, Glenn Miller had formed the CKKKK in 1980. Miller had served 
twenty years in the U.S. Army and was last stationed at Fort Bragg. He was 
discharged in 1979 for distributing racist literature, though his own account 
claimed that he retired in 1979 with the rank of master sergeant, having 
served two tours in Vietnam and racking up fifteen years as a paratrooper 
and Green Beret.15 He had a stronger military bent than some other local 
leaders of the white power movement, and readily employed the narrative, 
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symbols, and weapons of the Vietnam War to shape his group, which he 
would later describe as a military organization.16 He outfitted CKKKK mem-
bers in uniforms consisting of camouflage fatigues, black combat boots, an 
“Army-type pistol belt,” and camouflage baseball caps. “A 2 × 4 inch Con-
federate Battle Flag patch is worn on the left shoulder, and a ‘CKKKK’ patch 
is worn over the left shirt pocket,” Miller specified. “Military Veterans may 
wear duly earned and authorized U.S. military patches.”17 This use of mili-
tary uniforms appealed both to veterans and to active-duty servicemen at 
nearby training facilities. It also meant that by joining the CKKKK, someone 
who had not gone to war in Vietnam could claim a small piece of a veteran’s 
identity.

Immediately after founding the CKKKK, Miller undertook a recruitment 
drive targeting active-duty military personnel at Fort Bragg, Marine Corps 
base Camp Lejeune in Jacksonville, and the adjoining New River Air Station. 
In 1981, Miller staged a Jacksonville rally attended by hundreds of Marines 
protesting the U.S. military’s ban on open racism. Miller complained that 
Marines stationed at New River had their barracks ransacked and printed 
Klan material confiscated, and that some had been dismissed on “trumped 
up charges.” Miller said that he had more than a hundred active-duty mem-
bers stationed at New River and Camp Lejeune. Although this number 
may have been inflated, the targeted recruitment of these active-duty troops 
demonstrates Miller’s mobilization of a local community centered on mili-
tary service to serve the goals of the larger white power movement.18

According to his later self-published autobiography, Miller himself had 
joined the Klan as an active-duty soldier stationed at Fort Bragg. His ac-
tivism intertwined with his Vietnam War story. After his father gave him a 
copy of the racist periodical Thunderbolt in 1974, he wrote, “I blamed the 
Jews directly, for the successes of Blacks in their Civil Rights struggles, and 
for the loss of the Vietnam War, the latter because I believed the national 
media and especially the TV news destroyed the American will to win that 
war.” Miller joined two neo-Nazi groups, first the National States Rights 
Party and then in 1976 the National Socialist Party of America. In 1979 he 
read The Turner Diaries, and the next year he established the CKKKK. 
During these years, Miller was plagued with personal problems—he lost his 
driver’s license in 1976 for driving drunk, and his wife left him, he said, after 
the Greensboro shooting brought “dozens of telephoned death threats against 
myself and the family.”19
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Miller got the CKKKK off the ground by distributing copies of the Thun-
derbolt inscribed with the heading “Free White Power Message” and a local 
number where people could call in to hear a recorded diatribe. By 
July 1986—a period Miller called “the peak of our success”—twenty-eight 
such messages would be running in five southern states, getting about 5,000 
calls per month, he wrote, and the group would claim 2,500 members. Mes-
sages included racist rhetoric, event details, and recruitment information.20 
In one such recording, which he reprinted in his White Power newspaper, 
Miller used the group’s military uniforms as a recruitment tactic:

The Carolina Knights of the Ku Klux Klan are trying to unite and organize 
white people to fight against communism and racial mixing. We’re a legal 
organization, but we bear arms. We wear uniforms. We train our men, 
women, and children. If you’re a patriotic white American, we offer you the 
chance to join with us in our holy crusade to save our country and our 
people. . . . ​White Power, the only way.21

By summer 1982, the group was gaining momentum, Miller’s wife had 
returned to their home, and Miller started the CKKKK Special Forces, a 
program through which members could earn a green beret through loyalty 
and firearms training, directly invoking the military prowess and cultural 
cachet of the Vietnam-era Special Forces. Nearby Fort Bragg, the home of the 
U.S. Army Special Forces, made the CKKKK a natural epicenter of this kind 
of paramilitary training. The Klan group had armaments including AR-15s 
and 12-gauge automatics. They experimented with making Molotov cocktails 
and attended frequent training sessions in groups of forty to a hundred.22

CKKKK members spent time during 1982 and 1983 in the woods of Lee 
County, North Carolina, undergoing training by active-duty military per-
sonnel in search-and-destroy missions, hand-to-hand combat, escape and 
evasion, and ambush using an assortment of military weapons that included 
artillery simulators. They used this high-tech approach with the express in-
tent of waging war on the state. Multiple witnesses later said that the group 
hoped to overthrow the government and establish a neo-Nazi “United State 
of Carolina” or a “white Southland.”23

As their plans for race war and the establishment of a white homeland 
advanced, the CKKKK continued acts of intimidation against the local black 
population. In 1983 Bobby Person, a black prison guard in Moore County, 
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North Carolina, tried to apply for promotion to sergeant. CKKKK mem-
bers donned fatigues, burned a cross in his front lawn, and held his family 
at gunpoint. The SPLC responded with a $1 million civil suit on behalf of 
Person—himself a Vietnam War combat veteran—and all black residents 
of North Carolina, opening a three-year investigation in which nearly eighty 
people would be deposed. In the suit, Person’s legal team claimed that Miller 
was operating a paramilitary army with more than 300 members, based 
widely in eleven North Carolina counties. The suit’s outcome would soon 
create obstacles for the movement.24

Meanwhile, the Order’s crime spree in the Northwest had begun to 
generate significant funds. Andy Barnhill and Denver Parmenter, using 
pseudonyms, visited Miller in April 1984, bringing a cash donation. Bob 
Mathews himself made a distribution trip to Benson, North Carolina, on 
August 9, 1984. He traveled with Zillah Craig, by then eight months preg-
nant with his child. Miller claimed that Mathews delivered $75,000 that 
visit, and promised another $125,000 in six weeks. The money soon arrived, 
and Miller used it, as he would later testify, “to further the organization. I 
put four people on payroll. I bought two vehicles. I bought ten acres of land 
I was going to build a training camp onto. Uniforms, flags, telephone mes-
sage units, the printing of hundreds of thousands of copies of my newspaper, 
and, you know, hundreds of other items, purchases associated with building 
the organization.”25

In tandem with underground paramilitarization, the CKKKK also kept 
up public campaigns. Members patrolled local schools, purportedly to pro-
tect white students from black violence in integrated classrooms. They started 
a poll-watching service, saying they wanted to protect older white voters from 
intimidation at the voting booth. They undertook all of these actions in cam-
ouflage fatigues and combat boots. Miller also attempted a series of elec-
toral campaigns, never earning many votes but garnering publicity and 
recruits.26

Soon the Order began to see Miller not just as a rising star in local 
leadership of the movement but as a prospective operative. At the annual 
Labor Day Klan rally at Stone Mountain, Georgia—an event traditionally 
attended by many Klan groups, including the CKKKK—Beam pulled Miller 
aside and took him to a nearby motel for an interview.27 In late September, 
Mathews and Barnhill delivered more money and brought Miller deeper into 
their activities. He later wrote that Mathews had him look at, and then burn, 



144� BRING THE WAR HOME

a document outlining plans for “code names; a suggestion that my group ex-
pand to cover nine listed Southern states; a request that I maintain a record of 
how the money was spent; and a statement indicating how future stolen 
money would be divided.”28 A few weeks later, Miller attended a meeting 
held by Robert Miles and the Mountain Church in Cohoctah, Michigan. At 
least one member of Aryan Nations made the trip as well. The local police 
chief reported that the meeting was “some kind of quasi-military survivalist 
exercise,” and that all twenty-five to thirty participants wore military uniforms. 
They displayed holsters but no sidearms; some wore swastika armbands. 
Many came from North Carolina. During the meeting, a few Order members 
conducted an interview with Miller, likely his formal initiation into the 
group. As an Order member, Miller took on the code name “Rounder”—
“someone who gets around a lot.”29

In November  1984—as the arrests of Order members began—Beam 
traveled to North Carolina. He met with Steve Miller (no relation to Glenn 
Miller), who was chaplain of the CKKKK, head of its paramilitary under-
ground activities, and a Special Forces veteran, to train him and others in 
operating a computer bulletin board for Liberty Net. Glenn Miller later 
wrote that Beam received $200,000 in Order money to set up such a system 
nationally.

The computers provided information such as dates and locations of meetings, 
lengthy propaganda articles, status of court trials, the names and addresses 
of anti-Klan groups, and other information deemed of interest to White rac-
ists and anti-Semites. Steve [Miller]’s job was to input his computer with local 
information so others around the country could keep up to date on the hap-
penings in North Carolina and within the White Patriot Party. . . . ​[S]ome 
computer items included not only the names, addresses and locations of anti-
Klan groups and leaders, but thinly-veiled threats against them.30

Glenn Miller later reported that he paid Beam $2,000 for a computer, plus 
$1,000 for expenses. Miller didn’t like the computer network, he later wrote, 
because it left him with all the work while Beam jetted around the country 
in “high-style anonymity.” Still, Miller got four password-protected com-
puters up and running by August 1985, according to the Confederate Leader, 
the CKKKK newspaper, and the FBI had not yet broken the code to see 
what movement activists were posting.31
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The exact amount of money transferred from members of the Order to 
Glenn Miller remains disputed but likely fell between $150,000 and 
$300,000. Miller immediately used the cash to expand the scope of his 
organization. He changed the name of the group to the Confederate Knights 
of the Ku Klux Klan—seeking to appeal to a broader population beyond 
the Carolinas—and then, in March 1985, to the White Patriot Party. He 
made plans to open new chapters. According to an FBI investigation, Miller 
spent more than $17,000 on publication costs that year and bought a $7,300 
car, a ham radio, and an Apple IIe computer. Miller later wrote that he spent 
$12,000 for a ten-acre plot of land on which to conduct training exercises, 
and $10,000 “underground,” presumably on weapons and matériel.32

Glenn Miller used at least $50,000 of the money to expand his arma-
ments. Robert Norman Jones, who had lost an arm to an LAW rocket ac-
cident at Fort Bragg, would later testify that during 1984 and 1985 he sold 
thirteen LAW rockets, ten Claymore anti-personnel mines, 200 pounds of 
C-4 plastic explosives, blasting caps, weapons, ammunition, CS riot gas, 
TNT, and other military equipment to the CKKKK / WPP for $50,000 in 
cash. Jones purchased all of these from active-duty soldiers stationed in Fort 
Bragg, using either cash or drugs for currency. Significantly, one item from 
Fort Bragg—purchased by Jones and delivered to the WPP—was a set of 
camouflage fatigue uniforms. According to Jones and James Holder, a former 
group member, active-duty servicemen then helped train the camouflage-
outfitted CKKKK / WPP members to use the stolen weapons. Jones testi-
fied that Order member David Lane was present for at least one of these 
weapons sales, one that included five antitank rockets. He said that Steve 
Miller attempted to purchase surface-to-air missiles following Mathews’s 
fiery death in the standoff with the FBI, saying that with such weapons, he 
could have shot down the government helicopter that ignited the blaze. 
Around the same time, according to an ATF investigation, another WPP 
member attempted to buy explosives from an undercover Fayetteville police 
officer, and three more received M16 ammunition and gas masks stolen from 
the U.S. armory at Wadesboro, North Carolina. These purchases and pur-
chase attempts indicated a clear project of outfitting the WPP as a paramili-
tary force, undertaken in consultation with the Order and using multiple 
sources for illegally acquiring military weapons and training in their use.33

As it armed for race war, the WPP also took up a more directly anti-
government message about its intentions. “Kill the Jews and niggers, kill 
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the President and overthrow the government,” shouted members arrested for 
distributing hate literature in May 1985.34 A message on one of the organ
ization’s phone-in hate lines, recorded by Miller, described the group’s re-
jection of the “federal tyranny of Washington, D.C.,” a government which 
he said represented everything and everyone except white people. “The fed-
eral government abandoned the white people when they rammed blacks 
down the throats of white people,” Miller said on the recorded message. “[The 
government] forced integration, forced white boys to fight in the Viet Nam 
war, allowed aliens into the country, allow[ed] Jewish abortion doctors to 
murder children, and allow[ed] blacks to roam the streets robbing, raping 
and murdering.”35 The Vietnam War story remained a central signifier in 
this mix of racist, antisemitic, and anti-immigrant vitriol.

As the WPP ramped up its armament and rhetoric, the Department of 
Defense and Congress announced in September 1985 that tens of millions 
of dollars’ worth of “advanced, American-made weapons” missing or stolen 
from military installations were showing up on the black market. The spot-
light turned on Fort Bragg, from which the WPP was acquiring much of its 
arsenal.36 The Department of Justice began an investigation of more than 
twenty people suspected of aiding in the theft of several tons of grenades, 
land mines, artillery, plastic explosives, and other weapons from Fort Bragg 
in the previous few years. Two active-duty army Special Forces soldiers were 
convicted in the case. During the investigation it was revealed that it was 
possible to obtain weapons simply by checking them out for training, but 
Fort Bragg officials, despite clear evidence of major lapses, planned no 
changes in security. The Naval Investigative Service in North Carolina also 
launched an investigation into whether Marine Corps equipment had been 
supplied to the WPP, but said it would limit its inquiry to weapons rather 
than examining active-duty membership in the group. These responses 
showed that the military administration did not yet grasp the nature of the 
threat posed by the white power movement, seeing disconnected paramili-
tary hate groups instead of a cohesive movement dedicated to antigovernment 
guerrilla war.37

The WPP, meanwhile, had reached an unprecedented level of militariza-
tion. The Charlotte Observer reported that a paramilitary camp in Winston-
Salem known as Force Recon—perhaps the facility Miller purchased with 
Order money—was only one of several such sites in the state. As the FBI 
special agent in charge of the case commented on the growing militancy of 
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the group: “They openly admit training operations, and have more sophis-
ticated equipment, weapons, uniforms and computer equipment. It’s overt 
and very obvious.”38

Glenn Miller, during these months, harbored and aided Order members 
on the run from pursuing federal agents. He had recruited two lieutenants, 
both former members of the antigovernment Posse Comitatus in Oklahoma. 
Doug Sheets and Robert “Jack” Jackson had encountered the White Caro-
linian, the newspaper of the CKKKK, and had relocated to North Carolina 
in order to be closer to the action. They had come to town already outfitted 
in camouflage fatigues, and rode in on a truck “loaded . . . ​with shotguns 
and assault rifles,” Miller would later write.39

In January 1986, Glenn Miller harbored other fugitive Order members. 
The public actions of the WPP continued with an anti–Martin Luther 
King Jr. Day rally that same month, drawing activists from several white 
power groups. A truck with a “We Love the Order” sign led the march. 
During a speech to the crowd, Miller said violence would precede a coming 
race war and that blood would be spilled. “Our forefathers shed some to 
make our country,” he said, “and we’re going to have to shed some to keep 
it, and we will.” 40 After stopping a car for speeding on the way to the rally, 
local police discovered fifteen weapons and 1,000 rounds of ammunition in 
the car, which was carrying four WPP members, and arrested the four on 
weapons charges. Even at legal public rallies, where at least one function of 
paramilitarism was simply performative, WPP members were heavily 
armed.41

By July 1986, Glenn Miller was claiming 5,000 members for the WPP; 
journalists estimated the number at closer to 1,500. Whatever the number, all 
of them—including the women—were outfitted in military-style camouflage 
fatigues and combat boots. The FBI opened a preliminary investigation into 
the WPP that June, and submitted a request for a full domestic security and 
terrorism investigation by September. “The WPP is known to be recruiting 
active duty military personnel into its membership,” one FBI memo from the 
Charlotte office belatedly advised Washington:42

This has sparked increased national concern that military supplies and 
weapons are being channeled to these supremacist groups to be used for ter-
rorism activities. The potential harm and threat to law enforcement, as well 
as the general public, is great. The propensity for violence among the radical 
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right-wing groups has been well established. . . . ​It is felt that the magnitude 
of the threat to society by the WPP is great and that the likelihood for vio
lence is substantial.43

Despite the impending threat documented by the FBI, active-duty soldiers 
remained free to participate in a movement involved in the sustained theft 
of military weapons and matériel, and dedicated to the violent overthrow of 
the government.

The Bobby Person lawsuit, however, had given the SPLC an opening to 
pressure the white power movement. Glenn Miller had settled the case in 
January 1985 by signing a consent decree to stop paramilitary activity. This 
document would eventually bring down both Miller and the WPP, and 
would be bitterly remembered in the broader movement. In the consent 
decree, Miller agreed not to violate a state law banning the operation of 
paramilitary groups with the intention of causing injury or promoting civil 
disorder. But as Miller told one reporter, “We don’t intend to cause any civil 
disorder, so the law doesn’t apply to us. The purpose is to train white people 
in how to defend themselves in a crime-ridden society.” 44

The question, then, in determining whether Glenn Miller and the WPP 
had violated the consent decree turned on whether the paramilitary group 
intended to cause injury or to bring about civil unrest. Miller maintained 
that the group was a defensive militia and therefore didn’t violate the law; the 
way he understood it, the group was legal as long as it wasn’t dedicated to 
civil disorder. His lawyer told the jury a familiar story: that Miller expected 
an attempt by communist forces to overthrow the government, and that 
WPP members simply wanted to be ready to defend their families. This was 
the same defense Beam had mounted unsuccessfully in the earlier dispute 
with the Vietnamese fisherman, and similar to the one used successfully by 
the Greensboro gunmen.45

The prosecution, “amid an evidentiary parade of guns, hand grenades and 
missile launchers,” reported the New York Times, “painted a portrait of a 
group of anti-Semitic racists who were shaped by the Christian Identity 
movement, joined by active-duty soldiers and marines, and equipped with 
heavy weapons stolen from Fort Bragg with the help of an Army intelligence 
officer and a Special Forces supply sergeant.” 46 Prosecutors claimed that 
Glenn Miller was using The Turner Diaries as a model to take power and 
establish a white separatist Southland. Miller’s planned revolution would 
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succeed in 1992, he had claimed, the same year promised by the novel. 
Miller admitted to distributing hundreds of copies of The Turner Diaries to 
WPP members at rallies, meeting Mathews, and placing the slogan “We 
Love the Order” in the Confederate Leader, the WPP newspaper.47 But under 
direct questioning by SPLC director Morris Dees, Miller “denied emu-
lating The Order or being a member of it.” Despite his denial, the WPP had 
clearly planned a race war, establishing ample evidence of intended civil 
disorder. Added to this, Jones testified that Miller had been directly in-
volved in the purchase of stolen military weapons and in training Klansmen 
to use them for some six months after the court order, activity halted only 
by Miller’s arrest.48

Regarding the law prohibiting paramilitary groups that intended to 
injure others, various sources reported that Glenn Miller planned, once rac-
ists had taken control of the United State of Carolina, to conduct “murder 
and treason trials of selected defendants,” including abortion providers, 
“ultraliberal federal judges, neo-communist congressmen and senators, com-
munist professors and neo-communist newspaper and television magnates.” 
He presumed these people guilty and proposed their execution “in the 
tradition of the South—public hanging from a sturdy oak tree.” 49

This vivid threat of lynching, along with Jones’s testimony about the tre-
mendous quantity of stolen weapons and explosives he had sold to Glenn 
Miller and the CKKKK / WPP, spelled guilty verdicts for Glenn Miller and 
Steve Miller, delivered by a federal jury in Raleigh in July 1986. They had 
continued, the jury found, to operate a paramilitary organization intending 
“to promote civil unrest” despite their signed consent decree not to do so. 
With each count of criminal contempt carrying a maximum sentence of six 
months in jail and a $1,000 fine, Glenn Miller was found guilty on two 
counts, and Steve Miller and the White Patriot Party guilty on one count 
each. Both men had to agree to never again associate with the WPP or any 
members or former members, nor with a long list of white power groups and 
personae named by Dees. This list included the Order, Aryan Nations, sev-
eral Klan factions, Tom Metzger, Richard Butler, William Pierce, James 
Ellison, David Lane, Louis Beam, Robert Miles, Don Black, and more. 
Miller was then sentenced to six months in jail, an additional six-month 
sentence that was suspended, and three years of probation.50

Glenn Miller, who believed he had been acting within the law, felt duped 
by the SPLC regarding the terms of the consent decree and was furious. 
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A dozen WPP supporters in the courtroom reacted to the verdict with sadness 
and shock, one woman hiding her face in her hands. The movement re-
sponded with outrage over what members perceived as heinous interference 
with Miller’s right to free association. The Confederate Leader announced a 
rally to “protest the continuous federal harassment of patriots.” Aryan Na-
tions leader Richard Butler made the trip to speak against the verdict, as 
did Greensboro shooter Roland Wayne Wood. The WPP issued a $50,000 
contract to kill Morris Dees. Preparing to take drastic measures, Miller sent 
his mailing list to David Duke, Ed Fields of the National States Rights Party, 
Pierce, Metzger, Miles, and Butler in the hope that the momentum of re-
cruitment and action would continue.51

Cecil Cox, an active-duty Marine stationed at Camp Lejeune, took over 
leadership of the WPP but in October 1986, under legal pressure, disbanded 
the organization and closed The Confederate Leader. He reestablished the 
WPP as the Southern National Front. There would be no uniforms, Cox 
promised, and the group would be “pro-white” rather than anti-black and 
antisemitic. The SPLC estimated that membership had fallen to 1,000; Cox 
claimed that the group held strong at 4,500.52

Eventually the case brought scrutiny to the problem of active-duty 
military personnel participating in the white power movement’s war on the 
state. In September 1986, Defense Secretary Caspar Weinberger issued his 
memorandum discouraging—but not prohibiting—service personnel from 
joining hate groups. As North Carolina commanders implemented this new 
policy, Cox and a fellow former WPP member were discharged in De-
cember 1986 for their involvement in the movement. “As a practical matter, 
you cannot have a racist Marine in an integrated organization and expect to 
train and eventually fight together as a unit,” said Camp Lejeune spokesman 
Lieutenant Colonel David Tomsky, who remembered the Vietnam War as 
the time of the worst racial tension in his branch of the U.S. Armed Forces. 
“We don’t think in terms of white, black, Hispanic, we think in terms of 
being good Marines.”53

In seeing white power movement membership as a political statement, 
rather than participation in a war on the federal government, military leader
ship once again failed to acknowledge the danger posed by active-duty 
personnel in such a movement. Not only were such troops violating their 
oath to protect the country against enemies foreign and domestic—engaging 
as they were in a project of explicit domestic terrorism—but they also brought 
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with them training, skills, and weapons. Active-duty troops, together with 
veterans, played instrumental roles in energizing the movement.

In January 1987, the FBI, ATF, and U.S. Army criminal division con-
cluded its domestic security and terrorism investigation of the WPP, and a 
federal grand jury indicted five members—Steve Miller, Jack Jackson, Tony 
Wydra, and two others—on charges of conspiring to steal U.S. military 
weapons “by whatever means necessary, including robbery and murder, in 
order to maintain, train and equip a paramilitary armed force.” They also 
summoned Doug Sheets as a material witness and brought the total number 
of Klan and WPP members charged to twenty-nine.54

The indictment further stated that the WPP had planned Order-style 
armed robberies in order to finance its paramilitarization. It pointed to an 
impending crime spree, stating that Steve Miller and others had planned to 
rob motorists on Interstate 95, and had discussed plans to rob a Pizza Hut 
manager in Fayetteville. It also alleged that he had conspired with Wydra 
and others to attempt to blow up the SPLC offices in Montgomery, Alabama. 
This crime spree fit the Order’s ideas of moralized violence in that the “mo-
torists” targeted were very likely drug runners who frequently used I-95, and 
in that the SPLC was a target.55

The problem of weapons theft was broad-scale and entrenched. Even as 
the trial unfolded, two .45-caliber submachine guns went missing at Fort 
Bragg; the weapons were recovered, but three soldiers would face charges. 
An FBI investigation, aided by the Naval Investigative Service and the Ma-
rine Corps, resulted in the conviction of 134 Marines and weapons dealers 
in “a national network trafficking in stolen military gear.”56 As the FBI wor-
ried about continued active-duty membership in the white power move-
ment, agents circulated requests for information on “any recent efforts by 
the [National Socialist Liberation Front (NSLF)] at recruiting active duty 
military members, and if such activity could have been coordinated with 
similar membership recruiting by the WPP.”57 The NSLF, led by Karl Hand, 
also shared close ties with the Order. Hand was a longtime movement char-
acter and had circulated extensively through its factions. He had spoken at 
the Aryan Nations World Congress in 1984 and had been director and na-
tional organizer of the Knights of the Ku Klux Klan under Duke. At Hand’s 
1986 wedding, Tom Metzger of WAR stood up as best man and Robert 
Miles of the Mountain Church officiated. Standing before an altar bedecked 
with a swastika banner, the bride held a “beautiful bridal bouquet” donated 
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by a local Dualist church and the couple exchanged vows and “a reaffirma-
tion of the couple[’]s faith and allegiance to their Race and its leaders,” Miles 
reported to the readers of his newsletter. Hand’s connections showed how 
North Carolina activists were deeply connected with Michigan, California, 
Louisiana, and Idaho white power groups. Stopping the flow of military 
weapons and active-duty personnel to the WPP had hardly stopped the 
movement at large from acquiring them, as its social networks and trafficking 
networks alike remained strong.58

In spring 1986, Glenn Miller had made a surprising announcement: he 
would run as a candidate for U.S. Senate in North Carolina. He gave inter-
views trying to soften his position. One article on his candidacy reported 
that “active-duty military personnel were not allowed to be members of his 
organization, to spare them from ‘harassment and persecution’ by military 
officers.” Miller characterized the attention on active-duty WPP member-
ship as “a witch hunt looking for white patriots under every rock on the 
military bases in this country.”59

Still under his suspended sentence even as he sought public office, Miller 
was relatively certain that he would be served with weapons charges like 
Jackson and Steve Miller. Eventually he decided to forgo his campaign for 
office and “go underground and wage war against the Jews and the federal 
government.” As he would later write, “Since they wouldn’t allow me to 
fight them legally above ground, then I’d resort to the only means left, armed 
revolution.” He took out a life insurance policy and said goodbye to his 
family.60

Miller drove to Oklahoma City to rendezvous with his most trusted lieu-
tenants. In addition to the charges they faced for possession of stolen mili-
tary weapons, Jackson and Sheets were also slated to stand trial for a triple 
murder and armed robbery at the Shelby III, a pornographic bookstore in 
Cleveland County, North Carolina. Three armed and hooded men had 
rushed into the bookstore on the night of January 17, 1987, forcing four cus-
tomers and the clerk to the floor and then shooting each in the head. The 
attackers subsequently blew up the store with several firebombs improvised 
from plastic jugs and gasoline. Three of the five victims died. Sheets’s trial 
was scheduled first, on sixteen counts including murder, kidnapping, armed 
robbery, and conspiracy. Before the Shelby incident, he had been serving time 
in a federal penitentiary for illegal firearms and explosives charges. Jackson 
was supposed to appear in court in the stolen military weapons case, and 
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then for the Shelby murders. Neither man had much to lose by going un-
derground with Miller.61

On April 6, 1987, Glenn Miller issued 5,000 copies of a Declaration of 
War, sent to the SPLC, radio stations, and everyone on his mailing lists.62 
Then he disappeared. The Declaration of War demanded, among other 
things, that the government revoke the consent decree limiting Miller’s 
freedom of association with people in the white power movement, and that 
there be a federal investigation of Dees. Other demands included:

Total and complete amnesty and immunity for all white patriots who are pres-
ently underground from any government prosecution . . .

Promise to allow white patriots to wear camouflage uniforms, to conduct 
public marches and demonstrations, to train with legal firearms for defense 
purposes, to publish “The Confederate Leader” newspaper.

The overturning of my conviction and Stephen Miller’s conviction and 
the White Patriot Party’s conviction [for contempt of court] of July 25, 1986.

The payment in cash of $888,000 for damages done to myself and the 
White Patriot Party in these past three years.

If his demands were not met, Miller threatened, he had “eight teams of 
freedom fighters prepared to start a race war nationwide. We have the nec-
essary material to begin this revolution.” 63 Miller claimed that Order-directed 
cell organization was already in place, and referenced the stolen military 
weapons.

The Southern National Front, which the FBI characterized as operating 
with “despondency and confusion” after the name change and courtroom 
defeat, responded to Miller’s Declaration of War with a hopeful, if short-
lived, increase in militancy. Its members suddenly appeared in uniform again, 
even for a birthday party. The leadership personnel disappeared from FBI 
surveillance for days at a time, and wore sidearms.64

A massive manhunt for Glenn Miller and his accomplices followed. The 
day after the Declaration of War, three individuals robbed an armored car 
in an Order-style heist in Delaware. Miller had been living in Virginia, and 
officials assumed a connection. On April 19—the anniversary of the CSA 
compound bust—someone bombed an unmarked police car in Missoula, 
Montana. Though an Aryan Nations member took credit for the bombing, 
agents were initially concerned that Miller was acting as Mathews had 
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before his fatal standoff with the FBI. A warrant for Miller’s arrest for 
violation of bail conditions was issued on April 20, but FBI agents worried 
that they might not be able to apprehend him alive. The Declaration of War 
had been “characterized by many as a viable suicide note,” wrote a Richmond 
FBI agent in a memo sent to the director and all branch offices.65

Authorities noticed that Sheets and Jackson had failed to appear in court 
on the same day as the Declaration of War, and Jackson sent a letter to the 
court explaining his absence bearing the same postmark as the Declaration. 
Jackson was tried in absentia and convicted on possession of illegal weapons 
charges. Steve Miller—who did appear in court—was convicted as well; two 
others plea-bargained and testified against Steve Miller, saying he had 
planned to use an antitank Dragon rocket against Dees.66

By the end of the month, U.S. marshals and the Kansas City branch of 
the FBI had caught up with Glenn Miller, Jackson, Sheets, and Wydra (also 
charged in the weapons case) at a small trailer park in Ozark, Missouri. Gov-
ernment agents surrounded the trailer at 6:08 a.m. and announced repeat-
edly that the occupants had two minutes to surrender. At 6:10, agents fired 
four Ferret gas rounds into the trailer and one into a nearby van. Within a 
few minutes, four men exited the trailer, yelling “We surrender, don’t shoot, 
we surrender.” 67

The agents called in a U.S. Army team from nearby Fort Leonard 
Wood to enter the trailer, anticipating booby traps. The trailer and van held 
a vast weapons stockpile, including several AR-15 and M16 guns and ban-
doliers. Two of the guns had been converted to shoot in both semi- and 
fully automatic mode. There was also a stock of C-4 plastic explosives, hand 
grenades, pipe bombs, detonator cord, switches, and military gear, as well as 
thousands of rounds of ammunition. The FBI search of the premises turned 
up $13,880 in $20 bills, possibly from the Order’s robberies and counter-
feiting operations.68

On May 5, 1987, Glenn Miller was charged with mailing a threatening 
communication and possession of illegal weapons. In a plea bargain that 
would destroy his reputation within the movement, Miller pleaded guilty 
and testified against Lawrence and Sheets and—much worse, to white power 
activists—divulged information about the Order. The dejected Southern Na-
tional Front promptly voted to disband. According to Miller, trying to jus-
tify his plea deal a decade later, no one served a longer sentence because of 
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his testimony, and he made the exaggerated claim that the bargain reduced 
his sentence from a hundred years to five.69

In fact, Jackson and Sheets would serve only six and a half years each for 
the possession of illegal weapons. Even the massive and sustained theft of 
weapons from a U.S. military post over three years—with the express in-
tention of violence against both the state and its civilians, and accompanying 
murders at the Shelby III—held only six years’ worth of consequences.

Glenn Miller also testified that he had received $200,000 from Mathews, 
that he was told it came from armored car and bank robberies, and that he 
used the money to purchase facilities for military training, hire staff, and 
buy uniforms and vehicles. He said Mathews told him that Miles, “the 
number two man of the Aryan Nations,” was leading “this thing,” referring 
to a war on the government. Miller also said that members of the Order were 
still at large, planning a big “inside” job that would net $50 million, but did 
not disclose details. Judge Earl Britt sentenced Miller to five years instead of 
fifteen for his plea bargain—a hundred-year sentence was never on the 
table—and freed him on $50,000 bond until the sedition trial. All in all, 
Miller’s testimony against white power leaders was damaging enough that 
he had to enter the witness protection program.70

Glenn Miller’s testimony, however, would not be enough to curb white 
power activism in the sedition trial to come. The white power movement—
nationally and locally—was conducting an organized war on the federal gov-
ernment, as demonstrated through the advent of cell terrorism, recruitment 
of soldiers and prisoners, the theft and procurement of stolen military 
weapons and matériel, and the Liberty Net computer network. Despite this 
clear evidence, however, the jury would acquit all thirteen white power de-
fendants. Although the same jury selection procedures that hampered jus-
tice in the Greensboro trials would shape this verdict, acquittal would turn 
on the work—both real and symbolic—of white women in the movement.
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The mothers of future Aryan warriors.
—Confederate Leader, July 1985

Louis Beam carries his wife, Sheila Beam, after his acquittal on federal seditious 
conspiracy charges, Fort Smith, Arkansas, 1988. (Danny Johnston, Associated Press Photo)
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I N 1987, the federal government indicted fourteen white power movement 
leaders and activists on federal charges including seditious conspiracy. To 
convict, the prosecutor would have to prove that “two or more persons . . . ​
conspire[d] to overthrow, put down, or destroy by force the Government 
of the United States, or to levy war against” it.1 At the ensuing trial in 
Fort Smith, Arkansas, prosecutors presented extensive evidence of linkages 
between white power groups and of their plans for violence. Witnesses 
testified that the movement had declared a race war that targeted both ci-
vilians and the federal government. Attorneys presented physical evidence 
including stolen military weapons, extensive armament, and more.2 De-
spite a compelling case, the jury delivered no convictions, and white power 
activists proclaimed a major victory. The 1988 acquittals at Fort Smith 
were, in one sense, a product of the organization and strategies of the white 
power movement, including cell-style organizing and a broad paramilitary 
infrastructure. But they also indicated the centrality of women to the 
movement. The trial revealed the movement’s deep dependence on social 
connections, often brokered by women. Acquittal also turned upon the 
systematic invocation of a primal American story about defending white 
women. The Fort Smith acquittals can be better understood through a 
close analysis of the symbolic invocation of women within white power 
ideology, and the activism and performance—that is to say, the public ac-
tions that embodied symbolic and political meaning—of women in the 
movement.

The defendants, many of whom represented themselves, tapped into a 
deeply rooted and powerful rhetoric about protecting white female bodies, 
one that found easy traction not only in the white power movement but 
among many other Americans. In the purportedly colorblind 1980s, the rhe-
torical defense of white women from miscegenation, racial pollution, and 
other dangers continued to structure the worldview not only of white power 
movement activists but also of several jurors as well as the mainstream media 
coverage that shaped the trial’s public perception. Danger to civilians, though 
clearly evinced, failed to move the jury as much as the rhetoric deployed by 
the defense. That the war on the state would be told as a love story within 
the white power movement is hardly surprising: narratives of the defense of 
white women and, by extension, white children and domestic spaces have 
been deployed to justify violence throughout U.S. history.3 That two defen-
dants formed romantic relationships with jurors after the trial indicates that 
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white power rhetoric held a romantic appeal for some people in broader 
American society.

To be sure, the symbolic function of white female bodies was more 
starkly rendered in white power publications than in the mainstream. In 
one representative example, a 1985 white power pen illustration reimagined 
the nativity, showing a blond and blue-eyed Mary, Joseph, and infant Jesus 
surrounded by white-robed Klansmen on one side of the manger and uni-
formed neo-Nazis on the other. In the background, a burning cross and a 
swastika flag framed the Star of Bethlehem. Distributed by Aryan Nations 
and signed by a woman, the sketch placed the Virgin Mary at the epicenter 
of the unified white power movement. It used the white female body, 
powerful through its fertility, to symbolize a mythologized white history 
and theology.4 Indeed, a cult of motherhood framed a wave of cultural 
representations of women in the white power movement and their real and 
imagined place within a movement usually understood through the lens of 
paramilitary masculinity.

However, the work of real white women was equally important both to 
movement formation, activism, and violence and to the outcome of the Fort 
Smith trial. Women’s activism, while consciously antifeminist in the sense 
that women almost uniformly avoided leadership roles and combat, worked 
to forge the social ties that bound the movement, to support the war on the 
state waged through men’s violence, and to perform white womanhood in 
ways that carried direct appeals both to the mainstream and to juries.

White power activists codified their ideas about gender in the middle of a 
nationally charged debate about the place of women in American society. The 
women’s movements of the 1960s and 1970s had put forward radical claims 
for equality in the home and workplace, reproductive rights, and freedom 
from sexual violence. The Equal Rights Amendment (ERA), passed by 
Congress in 1972, failed to receive ratification by the states in no small part 
because of its purported threat of drafting women into military service and 
emasculating men, and by the early 1980s, its ratification seemed increasingly 
unlikely in the face of an ascendant conservative movement.5 The 1973 Roe vs. 
Wade Supreme Court decision had legalized abortion but had also inflamed a 
debate about that issue that would prove enormously generative for social con-
servatives and a rising tide of evangelical voters.6

Ideas about women, sexuality, and birth in this period were deeply inter-
twined with racial ideology, and not just on the fringe. American white su-
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premacy had long depended upon the policing of white women’s bodies. In 
order to propagate a white race, white women had to bear white children. 
While white men’s sexual relationships with nonwhite women mattered less 
to white supremacists, especially if such activity was secretive, profitable, or 
part of systematic violence against communities of color, for a white woman 
to bear nonwhite children was tantamount to racial annihilation.7 The pro-
hibition of interracial marriage has defined the world’s most entrenched racist 
regimes, and sexual threats to white female bodies have been used to justify 
the strictest anti-miscegenation laws in the United States. Such bans multiplied 
and intensified through the first half of the twentieth century, with legis-
lation and enforcement peaking when their intended subjects were white 
women.8

Before the white power movement’s unification, the civil rights move-
ment had dismantled legal segregation and made overt racism and segre-
gation less socially acceptable. The landmark Loving vs. Virginia Supreme 
Court decision rendered anti-miscegenation laws unconstitutional in 
1967, and public opinion polls showed that Americans not only rapidly 
came to disapprove of such bans but also quickly forgot that a majority 
had held them dear just a few years earlier. However, social issues that 
were related to white women’s sexuality, reproduction, and motherhood 
but typically described without explicitly racist terminology—including 
opposition to busing, abortion, contraception, welfare, and immigration—
appealed well beyond the white power movement. They extended to the 
mainstream New Right base and mobilized suburbanites in the political 
center. The continued focus on policing white women’s sexuality and 
reproduction in the post–Vietnam War era indicates the tacit presence of 
white supremacy in many social issues that remained important to the 
New Right in the 1980s and 1990s, and belies the idea of a colorblind 
mainstream.9

In white power publications, social issues with implicit relationships 
to white women’s bodies in mainstream society were made emphatically 
explicit. White power activists claimed that the Zionist Occupational 
Government (ZOG) wanted to abort white babies, admit immigrants, 
allow people of color to have unlimited children on the government’s welfare 
dime, allow black men to rape white women, and encourage interracial 
marriages—all of this, they said, to destroy the white race. In this context, 
the wombs of white women became battlegrounds.10
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Rather than weakening or disappearing after the legislative and social 
changes of the civil rights and women’s movements, ideas of the pure and 
chaste white female body remained powerful in the 1980s. The accompa-
nying mythic villain, the black rapist, still appeared regularly in post–
Vietnam War white power publications, even as movement rhetoric and 
violence increasingly used anticommunism as an alibi for racial violence. The 
Klan newspaper Thunderbolt, among others, ran a regular column featuring 
true-crime stories of the gruesome rape and murder of white women and 
girls at the hands of black assailants. This feature ran next to a “Sick Photo 
of the Month,” which usually pictured interracial couples or biracial children, 
implying the interchangeability and equal repulsiveness of rape, miscegena-
tion, and interracial reproduction.11

Protection of white women and their reproductive capacity represented 
one ideology motivating white power activists to wage war. The future of 
the white race, activists believed, rested with the mothers of white children. 
In the movement, this went far beyond anti-miscegenation to the demand 
that every white woman attempt to bear children. One widely circulated 
photograph portrayed a white woman sitting on a sand dune before a bank 
of reeds, long hair draped over her shoulder, nursing a white infant. The sun-
drenched, tranquil image appeared with a bold-faced headline: “What We 
Fight For” or “Fight for White Rights!” The innocent white mother and 
child symbolized the race under siege. As one caption in the neo-Nazi 
newspaper White Power declared, “If this woman doesn’t have three or 
more children during her lifetime she is helping to speed her Race along the 
road to extinction.”12

Significantly, members of the terrorist group the Order encircled a white 
female infant as they took their membership oath; her body symbolized in-
nocence, but also future fertility. As one Order pamphlet read, “It is recom-
mended that no kinsman be put in combat situations, i.e. raise their sword 
against ZOG, until he has planted his seed in the belly of a woman. The 
same for kinswomen, if possible, they should bear at least one warrior be-
fore putting their own life on the line.” Characterizing birth as intimately 
tied to the battle at hand, the pamphlet worked to increase the policing of 
white female bodies, positioning women as mothers first and race warriors 
second.13

White power leaders embraced this pro-natalism with urgency, going so 
far as to advocate polygamy in hopes of an increased birthrate among move-
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ment women. Order leader Bob Mathews, for instance, could not have bio-
logical children with his wife, Debbie Mathews, and started a relationship 
with Zillah Craig, eventually having a child with her. As the movement 
turned toward open war on the state, several of its leaders emphasized that 
pro-natalism had become more important than a traditional family struc-
ture, and even described the birth of each white child as an act of war.14

In the early 1980s, a key development in movement strategy would 
intensify the emphasis on the reproductive capacity of white women. Activ-
ists and leaders called for a “Northwest Imperative,” urging white separatists 
to migrate to the Pacific Northwest and establish an all-white homeland 
there by producing a large white population. The idea of separatism attempted 
to appeal to a broader audience. People could say they were “separatist,” 
rather than use older, volatile labels such as “segregationist” or “white 
supremacist,” just as they could replace “racist” with the pseudo-scientific 
“racialist.”15 Many people across the political spectrum shared the white 
power movement’s concerns about demographic shifts and about the waning 
white majority. The idea of separatism facilitated recruitment even as the 
movement prepared for and waged race war.

White power activists had long proposed sites where they might attempt 
to establish a white homeland. The Turner Diaries had outlined a California 
enclave reaching from the U.S.-Mexico border to 150 miles north of Los An-
geles, bounded by the Sierra Madre and the Mojave Desert. Activists in the 
South called for a “Carolina Free State” that would unite North and South 
Carolina and expel all people of color. The paramilitary Christian Patriots 
Defense League, likely in affiliation with the white separatist compound the 
Covenant, the Sword, and the Arm of the Lord, proposed a “Mid-America 
Survival Area” that would extend from eastern Colorado to West Virginia 
and Georgia, and between latitudes drawn just south of Chicago to the 
southern border of Oklahoma. David Duke advocated a more comprehen-
sive racial partitioning, with designated areas for a black “New Africa” in 
the South; a Jewish “West Israel” on the East Coast; a Latino / a “Alta Cali-
fornia” in the Southwest; and a designated “White Bastion” in the remainder 
of the country.16

White power leaders in the 1980s, however, set their sights on something 
simpler, a territory they believed they could realistically seize, populate, and 
defend. “All we heretics ask for is the northwestern part of the USA,” wrote 
Mountain Church leader Robert Miles. “Let us pull away in peace. . . . ​We 
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are not asking for very much. Just ten percent. Just a geographical tithe in 
return for which, you have peace and so do we.” Miles implied that the state 
would have to concede a white homeland in order to avoid race war.17

The Northwest, Miles claimed, was the only section of the nation that 
could still be salvaged for the white race. He argued that Washington, Or-
egon, Idaho, Montana, and Wyoming, at 493,782 square miles, had a popu-
lation of less than ten million people, mostly white. He proposed a refuge for 
white separatists, “a sanctuary for our Folk . . . ​since we are an endangered 
species in America.” Miles wrote that the Northwest had everything the 
movement required: space free of “hostiles, indifferents or aliens,” a coast, 
mountains, water, vacant land, a definable border, and “the warmth of the 
temperate zones but the cold which our Folk require in order to thrive.” He 
believed that Mexicans were overrunning the Southwest in a peaceful but 
“total and final” invasion, and that the South was already lost—too racially 
mixed and too close to the Jewish- and politician-dominated East Coast. 
Meanwhile, a territory in the center of the country would be militarily inde-
fensible, with no outlet to the sea. The Northwest was not just the white 
separatist homeland of choice, then, but the movement’s last hope.18

White power leaders and activists across the country embraced the idea 
of Northwest migration and the founding of an all-white nation. Miles 
claimed his call to migrate was reprinted in “a dozen different publications,” 
including Calling Our Nation, the Inter-Klan Newsletter and Survival Alert, 
Instauration, and National Vanguard, and was reprinted as a standalone 
pamphlet with 15,000 copies.19 Richard Butler advocated the migration, as 
did the movement faithful to whom he preached at the Aryan Nations 
compound at Hayden Lake, Idaho.20 White Aryan Resistance (WAR) leader 
Tom Metzger echoed Miles in romanticizing the Northwest. “To the eyes 
of WAR members from Southern California, the Northwest area was a truly 
refreshing and beautiful site,” Metzger wrote. “The spirit of the cowboy and 
the woman pioneer are everywhere evident as tall, mostly Nordic Aryans 
ranch and farm while their children ride horseback. . . . ​[T]he prices for food 
and clothing are fully 10 to 40% cheaper than in other areas.”21

Just as Metzger’s invocation of “the cowboy and the woman pioneer” re-
inscribed gender expectations for women in the white power movement, it 
also fit into a longer narrative of romanticization of the West. In its main-
stream use, this story elided the genocide of Native Americans by describing 
the West as an empty land ripe for those who sought economic opportunity 
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and didn’t fear hard work and harsh conditions.22 Movement leaders who 
chose the Northwest ignored long-established chains of migration that had 
shaped the region and which would continue to bring Asians to Seattle and 
Portland and Latinas and Latinos to agricultural areas such as Washington’s 
Yakima Valley through the 1980s.23 Instead, the movement focused on 
largely white areas like northern Idaho. Butler built the Aryan Nations com-
pound in Kootenai County, where, according to the 1980 U.S. Census, the 
population of 59,770 people included only 39 black residents, 197 Asians, 
753 Hispanics, and 467 Native Americans. The director of the Chamber of 
Commerce in nearby Coeur d’Alene estimated “maybe half a dozen” Jewish 
residents.24 White power leaders waxed poetic about the beautiful scenery—
winding mountain roads, pine-covered hills, and brilliant blue lakes. So 
did journalists covering the movement migration:

Here . . . ​nature has crafted a landscape beautiful enough to make you weep. 
Tall pines scrape the sky, reflected in cool, mirror-clear lakes. Mountains and 
valleys are dusted in Christmas-card snow, like powdered sugar. Everything 
is dipped in a piercing blue light, at rest and quiet.25

White power migrants worked as loggers, in mines and cement plants, and 
in the small economy of publication, recruitment, and armament generated 
by the Aryan Nations compound itself.

At the 1986 Aryan Nations World Congress, Miles pressed activists to 
pack up and move. He preached that the Northwest nation for whites would 
be won not by violence or treaty but by migration and reproduction.26 Rev-
olution, he said, would be made “not with guns, not with violence, but with 
love for each other. We will flood the Northwest with white babies and white 
children so there is no question who this land belongs to. We are going to 
outbreed each other.” Miles added that this strategy should allow “as many 
husbands and wives as required” for each white woman to bear five to ten 
white children.27

According to movement rhetoric, white women would be delighted with 
their task of bearing and raising white warriors. As Butler wrote in 1984, 
“The thoughts of Aryan woman are dominated by the desire to enter family 
life. Aryan woman brings true love and affection and a happy, well-run home 
to refresh and inspire her man. The world of contented womanhood is made 
of family: husband, children and home . . . ​No Equal Rights Amendment 
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or National Organization for Women buttons allowed.” This antifeminist, 
domestic, and subservient role for white women was paired with strictly 
white-only sexual relationships. “Miscegenation,” Miles admonished, “is the 
ultimate abomination and violation of the law of God.”28

In some ways, the white power movement’s emphasis on motherhood mir-
rored similar currents in both mainstream New Right conservatism and 
American culture at large. The American housewife had become iconic in 
the 1950s as Cold War conservatives intertwined populism and antistatism 
with domesticity. These roles shaped and delimited the grassroots women’s 
activism that gave rise to the New Right.29 Populist housewives framed es-
sentialist notions of gender, particularly in their claim that mothers were 
uniquely suited to the task of vigilance in crusades against the conflated 
enemies of communism, internationalism, expert knowledge, and race-mixing.30 
The housewife populists of the Cold War had, by the 1980s, influenced and 
populated the New Right.

Between 1960 and 1980, meanwhile, motherhood itself became a cen-
tral and highly racialized issue in American Cold War politics. A lower 
average age of marriage and rigid gender norms harmonized with a nation-
alist push for white women to stay home and reproduce. Bearing and rearing 
free white children defined good citizenship for American women, and pro-
ponents of hereditarianism and population control sought to limit birth rates 
among women of color. Those who supported school segregation, restrictions 
on welfare and public housing, tough-on-crime policing, and mandatory 
sterilization (largely aimed at poor women of color), as well as those who 
opposed immigration and overpopulation, all justified their positions by in-
voking the hyperfertile bodies of nonwhite women. Anxieties about rising 
nonwhite birth rates mingled with those about school desegregation and the 
sexual revolution.31

White power pro-natalism and the symbolic importance of women’s re-
production became distilled in Order member David Lane’s slogan, penned 
in prison and widely circulated within the movement: “We must secure the 
existence of our people and a future for white children.” This reproductive 
mandate, which quickly became known as “Fourteen Words,” was linked to 
the sexual availability of white women. After Lane’s arrest, Butler offered 
white women as a reward for his activism, assuring the Aryan Nations con-
gregation that “there will be many wives waiting for Brother Lane when he 
walks out of ZOG’s prison.”32 Indeed, while incarcerated, Lane married and 
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also wrote several poems for the White Aryan Resistance about the beauty of 
white women.33

The Turner Diaries also offered a template for white power women’s ac-
tivism within a cell-style organization and race war. The novel described a 
role of subservience and purity for white women, often by drawing on fa-
miliar tropes. One pivotal scene—the public lynching of men and women 
in interracial relationships, the women marked with “race traitor” signs—
emphasized the violent policing of sexually transgressive white women. 
The novel’s protagonist, Earl Turner, begins his racist activism as part of a 
cell including two other men and one woman, Katherine. She comes to life as 
a character only through her sexual relationship with Turner—he never 
speaks to her or thinks about her until then. Turner describes her as an 
ideal racist woman, devoted both to him and to race war: “She is an affec-
tionate, sensitive, and very feminine girl beneath the cool, professional ex-
terior she has always maintained.” Katherine, though an activist, resides in 
a terrain demarcated as female, writing and editing her own women’s 
quarterly.34

Although Katherine soon refuses to be “nothing but a cook and house
keeper” for the rest of the cell members, gender norms—and the expectation 
that her ultimate function will be to sexually reward Turner and bear white 
children—shape her role as revolutionary combatant.35 She takes supportive 
rather than violent action: disguising the men and driving getaway cars. 
Meanwhile, sexual danger to white women is the force that drives the Organ
ization to race war. At one point, a black man accosts and nearly rapes 
Katherine. Her monogamy and her protection by white men mark Katherine 
as a good woman; she remains safe from assault, and when Turner lands in 
prison, she waits faithfully for him.36

Symbolic invocations of endangered white women by male leaders and 
activists provided a crucial rhetorical tool for consolidating and directing 
white power activism and for making appeals to the mainstream. Several 
accounts of paramilitary masculinity examine women only in this symbolic 
register.37 While male movement leaders wrote romantically about the beauty 
of white women and made pen sketches of topless white women bearing 
semi-automatic weapons for recruitment stickers, however, the cause required 
the work of women themselves.38

To be sure, the paramilitary structure of the movement meant that 
men held all leadership roles and that women’s activism was circumscribed. 
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Movement discourse regularly objectified women. Even when women donned 
their own camouflage fatigues and marched for themselves, as they did in 
the White Patriot Party, leaders still viewed them as “the mothers of future 
Aryan warriors” and objects of sexual reward. “Look-a-here, yaw’ll,” pro-
claimed one caption in the Confederate Leader under a photograph of a 
blond woman in camouflage fatigues. “We’ve got the best looking gals too. 
20% of the White Patriot Party is female—Serving proudly to further our 
cause.”39 The double meaning of “serving” emphasized both military and 
sexual service by women. This recruitment tactic, which may have overstated 
the female membership of the group, appealed to men but foreclosed the 
possibility that women might become white power soldiers in their own right.

Although movement rhetoric often reduced women to mute symbols, 
maternal or sexual, male activists within the movement needed real white 
women to validate men’s activism both rhetorically and practically. The 
wives of white power activists played critical roles in establishing the credi-
bility of their husbands. Butler and Miles both used their long marriages as 
evidence of good character within the movement and, when prosecuted, in 
court. Butler said he once discovered an informant because the man, suspi-
ciously, didn’t bring his wife to church on the Aryan Nations compound.40 
So, too, could women jeopardize the war on the state: the wife of Order 
member Denver Parmenter, for instance, disapproved of her husband’s ac-
tivism and criminal activities. She prohibited the Order from using her infant 
daughter in the membership oath ritual—and she may have eventually influ-
enced Parmenter to testify against the group.41

For some women who rose to prominence within the movement during 
these years, relationships to men worked to validate these roles: some spoke 
as widows, others as wives, and others as promised objects of sexual reward 
for white male warriors. Debbie Mathews, for instance, became a regular 
speaker at white power events as the honored widow of Bob Mathews after 
his death; David Lane’s wife, Katja Lane, rose to prominence in the move-
ment after their marriage by trading heavily on his status as a “prisoner 
of war.” 42

Some wives of prominent leaders also rose in the movement by forming 
racist women’s organizations affiliated with groups run by their husbands, 
following a long tradition of Klanswomen’s auxiliaries.43 Kathleen Metzger 
ran the suburban Aryan Women’s League in the late 1980s, which published 
a considerable amount of material in its own name while her husband Tom 
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Metzger’s WAR dominated white power activities in California. Several of 
her publications referred to the frustration of league members at getting “no 
respect from the men” and having “no place in the movement.” However, 
the league still proposed activities that hinged on traditional ideas of a 
woman’s sphere and—even more important, as one flier proclaimed—as 
“bearers of the future white race!” 44

The Aryan Women’s League located its concerns within the bounds of 
home and family, a terrain marked in the movement as feminine.45 Mem-
bers started a coupon-sharing program to lower grocery bills in order to raise 
contributions for the race war, and produced racist and antisemitic coloring 
books for white children. They advocated homeschooling, fearing corrup-
tion, Jewish content, and race-mixing in public schools. They discussed me-
morialization for fallen movement soldiers.46

The league strongly emphasized the support of white infants. One flier 
showed a white child in pajamas, standing on top of a tiny Earth, holding a 
teddy bear in one hand and giving a Nazi salute with the other. The flier 
had blank spaces in which to write the name of a newborn white child and 
his or her parents, and instructed supporters to send them a dollar, thus 
creating a network of economic support for new families. The league followed 
these announcements with courteous thank-you letters about the development 
of each sponsored child, also enclosing more birth announcements and 
calling for further donations. “Yes, the baby boom for the Aryan race is here!” 
the letter declared. “Let us promote it!” 47

In addition to running their own organizations and producing their own 
printed materials, women in the white power movement worked extensively 
in the social sphere, contributing to the building and maintenance of social 
networks, recruitment, the production and circulation of family-oriented 
cultural products like recipes and homeschooling materials, and the social 
normalization of young activists.48 However, their role remained limited by 
the rigidly patriarchal and paramilitary structure of the white power move-
ment, both in top-down leadership by men like Beam, Butler, and Miles, 
and in local operations of male-led cells.

In the war on the state, women were expected to bear future white war-
riors, train as nurses to heal the wounded, prepare stores of food and other 
supplies to sustain white people through apocalyptic race war, and carry out 
support work. Women attended—and even co-owned—paramilitary camps, 
but while the men trained in weapons, urban warfare, and demolition 
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tactics, most of the women learned survivalist strategies such as canning, 
making their own soap and shampoo, and how best to prevent radiation 
poisoning in the event of nuclear war.49 In cells, women did support work 
including disguising male activists and driving getaway cars, destroying 
documents, transporting people and weapons, designing medallions meant 
to identify group members, and proofreading major movement tracts such 
as the Order’s Declaration of War (a role that may also have created oppor-
tunities for women to make substantive contributions to such writings).50

Women’s participation worked to broaden and reaffirm the wide variety 
of activists incorporated within the unified white power movement, even 
bridging cultural divides between separatist housewives (survivalist and 
Christian Identity rural and suburban activists) and younger, urban skin-
heads. The separatist housewife discourse as written by women appears most 
clearly in Christian Patriot Women, published regularly in the late 1980s by 
June Johnston, a homemaker in rural Wyoming. Notably, neither Johnston 
nor her husband has an archival presence beyond this publication, and she 
may have been an invented character or a pseudonym. Nevertheless, Chris-
tian Patriot Women was intended for real movement women; like the Aryan 
Women’s League, it framed its message with images, language, and topics 
defined by the movement as feminine and included practical information 
for survivalist homemaking. Johnston adorned her photocopied publication 
with clip-art roses and butterflies. She ran inspirational quotes and witticisms—
“What to wear for ‘safe sex’? A wedding ring!”—and a regular column 
of charming things her children said, titled “From the Mouths of Little 
Aryans.” She also coordinated a letter-writing and fundraising campaign to 
support the widows of white men killed or imprisoned in the war on the 
state, and wrote and republished articles on a host of incendiary rumors 
such as stories of white women being forced to have abortions and claims 
that oral contraception advocates plotted to lower the white birth rate. 
Christian Patriot Women opposed the ERA and abortion and defined good 
womanhood through Proverbs 31, a biblical passage that outlines the attri-
butes of a submissive, godly wife and emphasizes obedience.51

Johnston also sought to prepare her readers for apocalyptic race war as 
foretold by Christian Identity. She shared recipes for food, but also for soap, 
lotion, and other things women would need to make for themselves. “We 
must get this knowledge back . . . ​or we’ll never be free of ‘the system,’ ” she 
wrote, self-consciously quoting The Turner Diaries. Johnston regularly en-
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treated readers to grow and can their own food, and to hoard store-bought 
food and clean water: “Life could get pretty [bad] in a very short period of 
time. We need food, clothing, shelter, and . . . ​arms!” Johnston framed this 
call by referencing the “New World Order,” connecting the paramilitary 
white power movement of the 1980s to the budding militia movement that 
used the term much as the old guard had used “ZOG” to claim that an in-
ternational conspiracy had taken control of the government. Despite the 
feminine aesthetic and domestic slant of the journal, it attempted to pre-
pare women for an apocalyptic “hideous upcoming battle.” Johnston con-
ceded that even her women readers must prepare to bear arms: “Probably 
more of us will have to ‘man the guns’ than has been the case back through 
history. . . . ​We must be prepared, well prepared.”52

As survivalist housewives like Johnston prepared for a coming apocalyptic 
battle with the state, women also appeared among the groundswell of skin-
head activists drawn to the movement in the late 1980s. Skinheads presented 
the most direct cultural challenge to white power leadership. Leaders who 
had long abhorred drugs, alcohol, and tattoos had to adjust their rhetoric to 
appeal to this new group of urban recruits. Skinhead women typically wore 
their hair short or shaved, wore heavy makeup, and adopted androgynous 
postures and behaviors. Strikingly, even within skinhead publications, both 
male and female white power activists insisted on motherhood as a woman’s 
most important contribution to the movement, although they rendered it 
differently. In 1991, for instance, the neo-Nazi SS Action Group advertised 
with a pen drawing of a skinhead couple and child. The woman wears a plaid 
miniskirt; though a mother, she holds the baby against her flat, muscular 
chest. Her face signals nothing soft or nurturing about motherhood.53

Even violent skinhead fighters defined themselves as mothers. In one 
interview with the Chicago zine Right as Reina, skinhead woman and Bay 
Aryan publisher Jessica (no last name given) recounted an incident in which 
a man attacked one of her friends with a loaded gun. Only sixteen years 
old  at the time, she rushed the attacker, daring him to shoot her. She 
proudly remembered getting a reputation for being “crazy,” a positive attri-
bute in violent skinhead culture. “But my primary interests lie closer to the 
heart,” Jessica said, to conclude her story. “I take care of my family (hus-
band and baby) and try to be a model Aryan wife and mother.”54

The emphasis on white women’s reproduction was so powerful that it 
worked as a unifying force for activists with dramatic—perhaps otherwise 
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insurmountable—cultural differences. Motherhood spanned the distance 
between housewife populism and paramilitary violence. Even Right as Reina, 
which often included semi-sexualized images of young girls and was by no 
means directed toward women, carried birth announcements.55

Women in the white power movement would shape the sedition trial, both 
because of the symbolic invocation of their bodies as terrain in need of de-
fense, and because of the work real women did in forming the movement, 
furthering its war on the state, and performing white womanhood to garner 
sympathy from jurors and the public. This worked precisely because the 
movement story about women’s purity resonated with mainstream Ameri-
cans. White power women were both symbols of and actors in a common 
struggle: to protect white women’s chastity and racial reproduction and, with 
it, the future of whiteness itself.

The Fort Smith trial represented a major change in the prosecution of white 
power violence. Before 1985, those who committed such acts of violence were 
often either not prosecuted by local, state, or federal authorities or acquitted 
at trial. The failure to convict the Greensboro gunmen in two criminal trials 
or to levy any real penalties upon them in a civil trial showed this most 
clearly.56 Indeed, efforts undertaken by outside groups—namely, the lawsuits 
filed by the Southern Poverty Law Center—had done far more to slow the 
white power movement than had any criminal trial or state action. While 
criminal proceedings against violent racist actors failed to produce convic-
tions in Greensboro, and racketeering prosecutions of Order members resulted 
in only piecemeal success, civil proceedings more effectively hobbled hate 
group activity. It was an SPLC lawsuit on behalf of the Vietnamese Fisher-
men’s Association that had stalled Beam’s paramilitary organization in Texas 
in 1982, albeit temporarily. In February 1987, the SPLC won a $7 million 
lawsuit against the United Klans of America, an old-guard group connected 
only loosely to the paramilitary white power movement. The court ordered 
the UKA to surrender its Alabama headquarters to the mother of Michael 
Donald, a nineteen-year-old black man two of its members had lynched in 
1981. While local criminal courts frequently declined to prosecute or re-
turned short sentences, judges in civil cases—where there was a lighter 
burden of proof and where the plaintiff’s case could be bolstered by the re-
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sources of the SPLC—could levy fines, seize assets, reveal mailing lists, and 
even bar white power association and organization.57

The criminal justice system’s failure to significantly slow the white power 
movement did not go unnoticed, especially by some federal agents dissatis-
fied with the outcomes of criminal trials involving movement defendants. 
According to FBI affidavits, agents felt the trial of the Order had resulted in 
convictions of merely “entry-level soldiers and non-coms,” while the leaders—
Beam, Miles, Butler, Metzger, Pierce, and others—avoided charges.58 To 
some extent the strategy of leaderless resistance had worked as intended, both 
in protecting leaders from prosecution and by isolating cells infiltrated by 
informants. In 1985, the Department of Justice began Operation Clean 
Sweep, a massive investigation with the goal of a major court case against 
white power movement leaders.59

In recognizing the linkages between seemingly disparate white power 
groups, Operation Clean Sweep had several early victories. These included 
stopping a 1985 plot by an Aryan Nations member to kill an informant; ar-
resting Posse Comitatus leader William Potter Gale in 1986 and convicting 
him of plotting to attack the Internal Revenue Service; and arresting eight 
members of the Arizona Patriots on gun and conspiracy charges related to a 
planned bank robbery in 1986 and preventing imminent acts of violence by 
that group.60 On the connection between the Arizona Patriots and several 
other groups—Posse Comitatus, Aryan Nations, and the Order—one anon-
ymous official told the Arizona Republic, “It’s like one guy is in the Army 
and the other is in the Navy. . . . ​They both belong to the military.” If this 
description alluded figuratively to the movement’s actions as warfare, the evi-
dence found upon the group’s arrest established the veracity of this com-
parison. The Arizona Patriots had blueprints for two major dams and a power 
station, as well as a cache of weapons and explosives. The compound was 
low-tech, apart from its arsenal, with no plumbing or electricity beyond a 
portable generator they used to screen Red Dawn, a film depicting guerrilla 
resistance to a Soviet invasion. “They’re cavemen with bombs,” one federal 
agent told a reporter.61

The indictments in the Fort Smith trial, issued on April 21, 1987, used 
years of FBI investigation, surveillance, and wiretaps to allege that the white 
power movement had attempted to overthrow the government through out-
right revolution.62 To be sure, the FBI had an interest in finding conspiracy, 
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and some parts of this evidence were more reliable and better interpreted 
than others. However, the Fort Smith trial represented the only attempt at 
prosecuting white power as a coherent social movement, and the scope of 
the proceedings reflected this goal. Fourteen men faced indictment on 
charges of interstate transport of stolen money, conspiracy to manufacture 
illegal weapons, conspiracy to murder federal officers, and seditious con-
spiracy. The extensive indictment listed 119 acts to establish grounds for 
seditious conspiracy, including the 1981 attempted invasion of Dominica 
by white power activists; the firebombing of a Jewish Community Center 
in Bloomington, Indiana, in August  1983; the CSA destruction of a 
natural gas pipeline in Fulton, Arkansas, in November 1983; the theft of 
more than $4 million by the Order in 1983 and 1984; the purchase of 
guns and explosives in Oklahoma and Missouri; bank robberies in Illinois, 
Missouri, and North Dakota; and Liberty Net, Beam’s computer network 
that linked white power groups and listed the names and addresses of their 
enemies.63

The indictments also revealed that war on the government had not slowed 
with the trials of Order members. An FBI affidavit on October 2, 1986, re-
vealed ongoing plots to “rescue” white supremacists from incarceration at 
various prisons—another strategy taken from The Turner Diaries. Eleven friends 
and family members of movement leaders, recruited as FBI informants, 
stood ready to testify that “the top echelons had developed a plan to set off 
bombs at federal buildings in five cities”—including Denver, Minneapolis, 
St. Louis, and Kansas City—“and then threaten to bomb more buildings 
unless several members of The Order were released from federal prisons.” 
Informants said that Beam, Miles, and paramilitary instructor Jack Mohr 
met in Harrison, Arkansas, in May 1986 to discuss a jailbreak of Order 
members that was to be financed with counterfeit money. Wiretaps of hun-
dreds of calls between Miles and racist groups nationwide revealed the me-
chanics of movement unification.64

The indictment targeted white power leaders Beam, Butler, and Miles, but 
also a number of mid- and low-level activists: CSA member Richard Wayne 
Snell, who blew up the natural gas pipeline to Fort Smith and killed a state 
trooper; and Order members Bruce Pierce, Andrew Barnhill, David Lane, 
Ardie McBrearty, and Richard Scutari. All of these men were charged with 
attempting to overthrow the U.S. government. CSA members Lambert 
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Miller, David McGuire, and two more casual participants who had come to 
the movement through the farm foreclosure crisis, William and Ivan Wade, 
were charged with plotting to kill a federal judge and FBI agent. Fort Smith 
gun dealer Robert Smalley was also indicted, but charges were quickly dis-
missed for lack of evidence. Neither Tom Metzger nor William Pierce was 
charged; Glenn Miller and James Ellison would testify for the state under 
plea bargains.65

After many years of ineffective, smaller prosecutions, the Fort Smith trial 
marked the first serious attempt by the federal government to recognize the 
unification of seemingly disparate Klan, neo-Nazi, and white separatist 
groups in a cohesive white power movement, and to prosecute the move-
ment’s leaders in light of this understanding. Affidavits documented nearly 
a decade of control by Beam, Butler, and Miles, and also named Miles’s 
home as the command center for the Order.66 “They preached war, prayed 
for war and dreamed of war,” said Justice Department prosecutor Martin 
Carlson. “And when war came, they willingly accepted war.” 67 The indict-
ments presented a serious enough threat to white power leaders that Beam 
decided to flee the country, setting off a series of events that would shape 
the outcome of the trial.

Before Beam fled he married a woman whose martyrdom would later 
rally the movement and appeal to the mainstream. After the fishermen’s dis-
pute, Louis Beam had led a chaotic personal life. He separated from his 
third wife in 1981, and an ugly custody battle followed the split. Beam took 
his young daughter to Costa Rica for two years. After his return to Texas in 
late 1984, he moved permanently to the Aryan Nations compound. He didn’t 
break his Texas ties, however, and took long trips there frequently.68

Sheila Toohey was a pretty, blond twenty-year-old Sunday school teacher 
at the Gospel Temple, a Christian Identity congregation in Pasadena, Texas. 
Beam’s young daughter was one of her students. Perhaps Beam met the 
Toohey family during the fishermen’s dispute: his Texas Knights of the Ku 
Klux Klan had run a bookstore in Pasadena. Toohey came from a family 
that lived in a trailer in nearby Santa Fe, Texas—the site of the Klan rally 
where Beam had burned a boat painted “U.S.S. Viet Cong” during the 
fishermen conflict in 1981.69

“Louis fell in love with Sheila immediately,” wrote J. B. Campbell, a white 
power movement activist who also claimed mercenary service in Rhodesia.70 
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Campbell’s laudatory essay later appeared on Beam’s personal website under 
the heading “Love” and framed with images of roses:

[Beam had] been visiting her father, talking politics, and couldn’t believe his 
friend could have such a beautiful, sweet and unaffected daughter as Sheila, 
who lived at home with her parents and brothers in Santa Fe, Texas. Sheila 
taught Sunday school. She’d had to wear a back brace from a recent car ac-
cident and was in constant pain, although she would never burden anyone 
by mentioning it. In the following weeks Sheila noticed that Louis was coming 
over for dinner quite frequently and that he was talking with her more than 
with her father. He actually likes me, she realized. Within a few months Louis 
asked Sheila to marry him.71

The passage focused on Toohey as a vulnerable white woman—in constant 
pain but never mentioning it—and subservient to the man who “actually 
like[d]” her. Her position as a Sunday school teacher confirmed her inno-
cence, presumed virginity, fitness for motherhood, and, since she taught 
children at a Christian Identity church, subscription to a white power po
litical theology. That she lived surrounded, and presumably cared for, by her 
father and brothers emphasized her movement from one set of male guard-
ians to another. It also highlighted the twenty-year age difference of the 
newlyweds. Toohey was Beam’s fourth wife; the first three had each been 
around sixteen years old when they married and around twenty years old 
when they divorced.72

Beam and Toohey married at a Christian Identity church in Pennsyl-
vania in April 1987.73 After the wedding, with seditious conspiracy charges 
issued, Louis and Sheila Beam traveled to Mexico to avoid trial, taking 
his seven-year-old daughter with them, though without the proper docu-
ments. They settled in Chapala, near Guadalajara, in a community of white 
American expatriates. Beam spent four months on the FBI’s Ten Most 
Wanted list before authorities caught up with him in November 1987.74

One night the Beams returned home after grocery shopping. While the 
couple was unloading the food from the car and his daughter was still sit-
ting in the vehicle, authorities apprehended Louis Beam. Sheila Beam 
“glanced out the kitchen window down at the car and was appalled to see 
Louis bent over the hood with a gun to his head,” according to Campbell’s 
narrative. Sheila Beam would later say that the officers never identified them-
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selves as policemen and she assumed the attack was a robbery or kidnap-
ping. Purportedly defending herself, she grabbed her husband’s weapon and 
shot a Mexican federal officer three times, wounding him. Authorities de-
tained her in Mexico for ten days while they extradited Louis Beam to the 
United States, where he spent the next five months in prison during the se-
dition trial. A Mexican judge found Sheila Beam not guilty for reasons of 
self-defense in November 1987, and she was released and deported back to 
the United States. The officer she shot in the chest and abdomen remained 
hospitalized.75

To white power activists, this story was about endangered white women, 
but it was also about government betrayal. Rumors flew that federal agents 
had used phony drug charges as a pretense for the arrest, in order to extra-
dite Louis Beam to the United States. This narrative placed innocent Sheila 
Beam in the crosshairs of a renegade state.76 However, Beam would most 
likely have been subject to extradition in any case, with or without drug 
charges.77

In an affidavit, Beam presented herself as an innocent white woman in 
need of the protection of white men. She said that she sustained an abdom-
inal injury when the arresting officers threw her over a chair, and was then 
taken to jail and kept handcuffed for five days. She also said that the chief 
of police threatened her with torture, and that she was forced to sign docu-
ments in Spanish that she couldn’t read. She testified:

While I was in the Guadalajara jail, I was physically and psychologically mis-
treated. I was kept with my wrists handcuffed behind my back for five days; 
my wrists were so swollen that my hands were turning colors and my watch 
was cutting off the circulation. I was hand-fed by a little Mexican boy with 
his dirty fingers. Officers would come into my cell and leer at me and caress 
their weapons. I was chained to the bed, which had a filthy, rotten mattress, 
and when I would try to sleep, they would kick the bed to jar me awake and 
keep me from sleeping. I was refused water for extended periods and medi
cation for my back injury or my back brace. I was denied medical attention 
for my abdominal injuries and suffered from vaginal bleeding for several days 
afterward.78

Her testimony positioned her as endangered. It placed her in peril and in 
the presence of male racial others—the “Mexican boy” feeding her with “his 
dirty fingers,” and the officers. It presented men of color “caress[ing] their 
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weapons” as they “leer[ed]” at her, invoking masturbation.79 It also placed 
her in a violated bedroom space, “chained to the bed, which had a filthy, 
rotten mattress.” Within the broader frame of pro-natalism, this language 
positioned Sheila Beam’s body as vulnerable to attack by men of color, and 
emphasized it as a site of combat where battles might be won or lost through 
the birth or absence of white children. The vaginal bleeding she said she suf-
fered after her imprisonment hinted at both rape and miscarriage of a white 
child, and would have signified a double martyrdom.

Jailed at the moment when the state had finally turned to the prosecution 
of the white power movement, Sheila Beam acted the martyr in a way that 
further united activists and appealed to people beyond the movement. Her 
wounded body served as a constant symbolic reminder of state failure and 
betrayal. Metzger lobbied for her release; Kirk Lyons, who represented Beam 
in the sedition trial and would become the go-to attorney of the white power 
movement over the next decade, sent an associate, Dave Holloway, to help 
the Toohey family advocate for her return. Back home, the Tooheys answered 
the phone with the entreaty, “Save Our Sheila.”80 After her release Lyons told 
one reporter, “It made a Christian out of me again. Her being freed was a 
miracle to me.”81

In the mainstream press, too, Sheila Beam became a sympathetic figure 
in local newspapers and major publications alike. A series of articles in the 
Galveston Daily News focused on her injuries, stating as fact that she had 
been “severely beaten” and raising the possibility that she “may have been 
sexually assaulted.” The same reporter uncritically repeated white power 
claims that FBI agents had refused to arrange her release to the United States, 
and described “physical and psychological coercion” during her ten-day im-
prisonment.82 Other articles linked her faith in God to her hopes for the 
acquittal of all the trial’s defendants,83 and mentioned her pain and injuries 
with no mention of the reasons for Louis Beam’s arrest or Sheila Beam’s ac-
tions in shooting and wounding the officer.84 The Houston Chronicle reported 
that she returned to the United States sobbing and limping, escorted by her 
father and an associate of Lyons, and was met by her mother and three 
brothers at the airport. The article emphasized that Sheila Beam had a swollen 
abdomen and walked with such a pronounced limp that two people had to 
support her.85 A photograph of Sheila’s return in the Miami News featured 
a flattering photograph of her leaning against her brother’s chest, holding 
flowers and flanked by a pretty, smiling, female friend. The caption referred 
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to her “break[ing] out in tears” upon her return, and to her being “charged 
with shooting a Mexican federal police officer during the arrest of her hus-
band at their . . . ​home.” It elided any reference to Christian Identity or par-
ticipation in the white power movement, either by Sheila Beam or by her 
husband. It didn’t even name Louis Beam, much less discuss his pending 
seditious conspiracy charges or his stint on the FBI’s Ten Most Wanted list. 
Nevertheless, it made clear that Sheila Beam shot the officer at her home, 
emphasizing domestic defense beneath a photograph that portrayed her as 
vulnerable, small, and feminine.86

For her own part, Sheila Beam delivered a political performance of mar-
tyrdom both in comments to the press and in her actions. After her release, 
she flew directly to Fort Smith, where Louis Beam had been transferred to 
a federal prison hospital following a weeklong hunger strike. White power 
leaders praised her selfless devotion. “Despite her severe internal injuries and 
equally severe psychological damage,” Campbell wrote, “Sheila postponed 
her required emergency surgery and flew to Ft. Smith to reassure her hus-
band.”87 Sheila Beam went to her husband’s side despite her severe pain, the 
story had it, illustrating the sacrifice of the white female body to the needs 
of the movement.

During the trial, the presence of Sheila Beam’s wounded and wronged 
body entered the official record in several ways. Lyons invoked her injuries 
regularly, interrupting testimony about her arrest to ask the pursuing FBI 
agent what had happened to her back brace and conspicuously leaving court 
to pick her up at the airport. Sheila Beam continued to speak about her in-
juries and abuse to the press, and claimed her husband’s innocence with the 
simple position that since he had quit the Klan in 1981, he couldn’t now be 
guilty of sedition. In truth, he had quit the Klan to join Aryan Nations and 
lead the white power movement on a larger scale. She also reminded news-
papers that her husband held the Distinguished Flying Cross, the Army 
Commendation Medal, and the Air Medal for Heroism, staking out his 
moral authority as a hero of the Vietnam War.88

It is difficult to gauge the impact of such performative acts on the out-
come of a jury trial, but Sheila Beam’s symbolic work toward acquittal 
should not be discounted. Even in the pages of academic accounts that have 
argued that white power paramilitarism partially or wholly excluded them, 
women nevertheless appear as historical actors who impact events. In Ra-
fael Ezekiel’s widely cited ethnographic study, for instance, which includes 
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his observation of the Fort Smith trial, he notes that “a sister appears for 
a young fellow who is already serving a long term for involvement in The 
Order’s robbery of an armored car . . . ​entering the court, she touched her 
brother’s arm, quietly, as she passed him.”89 With these actions, the “sister”—
no name given, as she did not qualify as an activist in this study, but perhaps 
it was Brenna or Laura Beth Tate, sisters of David Tate—conferred humanity 
upon her brother, appealed to the jury, and neutralized the racism of the 
movement.90 Similarly, Ezekiel recounts the presence of Louis Beam’s 
“young new wife,” Sheila Beam, although she isn’t named in his account.91 
Ezekiel describes how the couple

make frequent eye contact across the room. She had been the Sunday school 
teacher of Beam’s daughter. A reporter ungraciously described her to me as 
“a Yahweh freak.” Here in court she wears a frilled white blouse; during 
Beam’s arrest in Mexico, she shot an armed Federale who had failed to iden-
tify himself.92

In other words, Sheila Beam played her part as a movement activist by 
creating and embodying a particular narrative of her innocence, the arrest, 
the justified shooting of the Mexican officer, and her husband’s wrongful 
detention—one persuasive enough to be accepted uncritically by journalists 
and academic observers.93

Beyond the symbolic impact of women and their courtroom perfor
mances, several problems plagued the trial’s prosecutors. The decision to 
hold the proceedings in Fort Smith, Arkansas, meant drawing on a jury pool 
near the CSA, close to the headquarters of the Populist Party, and near the 
place where radical tax protestor Gordon Kahl died in a shootout with pur-
suing federal agents. One juror would later go on record saying he admired 
Beam’s racist views and that the Bible prohibited race-mixing. The court 
completed a rushed jury selection process in one day, rather than the two to 
three weeks customary for similar trials. In a jury pool narrowed by peremp-
tory challenges to eliminate six black prospective jurors—the same strategy 
used to ensure all-white or majority-white juries in the Greensboro trials—the 
judge questioned jurors himself, rather than allowing the usual practice of 
scrutiny by attorneys. He quickly appointed an all-white, working-class jury. 
FBI agent Jack Knox, who had led the investigation of the white power move-
ment following Kahl’s death, would later say that the judge jeopardized the 
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outcome by pushing the trial too fast toward completion, eliminating pro-
fessionals from the jury, and excusing all jurors who had even heard of white 
power groups operating locally, where local news media had thoroughly cov-
ered the CSA bust just a few years earlier.94

The judge also greatly constricted the case planned by the prosecution, 
in part because of Beam’s flight. He quickly excluded half of the prosecu-
tion’s 1,200 pieces of evidence and half of its 200 witnesses. Beam had been 
arrested in Guadalajara with forty-eight pieces of evidence, but these were 
excluded because Mexican officers had not followed U.S. protocol. Evidence 
ruled inadmissible included Beam’s deliberate attempt to falsify his identity 
with multiple blank and partially blank Texas birth certificates; false iden-
tification and military documents in the name of his alias, Jerry Wayne 
Clinton; a passport application; two Texas death certificates for Louis R. 
Beam Jr.; a California driver’s license application; and instructions for filling 
out false identification papers. Inadmissible, too, was a medallion proving 
that Beam was part of the Order.95

The trial was lengthy and complex, with several defendants representing 
themselves. Movement-associated people who testified as witnesses for the 
prosecution frequently undermined their own credibility, whether deliber-
ately or not. Ellison, the star witness for the prosecution, delivered large 
quantities of incriminating and alarming information including details of a 
plot to poison the public water supply of a major city. But he also referred to 
levitation and to speaking directly with God, which, as one newspaper re-
ported, “may have reduced his credibility with the jury.”96 Many elements 
of Ellison’s testimony, however, are confirmed elsewhere in the archive. Suc-
cessful delivery of those thirty gallons of cyanide to the water supply of 
Chicago, New York, or Washington would have killed almost half a million 
people, according to the FBI and independent reports. A witness for the pros-
ecution also pointed out that when he blew up the natural gas line outside 
of Fort Smith, Snell had intended to destroy a much larger line running from 
Texas to Chicago. Clearly, civilians were in the crosshairs of the white power 
movement’s war on the state.97

According to assistant U.S. attorney Steven Snyder, it was this threat to 
the civilian population—a threat now dramatically amplified by the training 
and weapons of the Vietnam War and the paramilitary culture that blos-
somed in its wake—along with the unification of the white power move-
ment that justified the rare seditious conspiracy charge. During the trial, the 



180� BRING THE WAR HOME

Houston Chronicle reported, Snyder “wheeled into the courtroom two huge 
laundry hampers jammed with rifles, submachine guns, a shotgun, a rocket 
launcher, grenade launchers and grenades allegedly used at the CSA com-
pound to train the Aryan Warriors for rebellion.”98

The prosecution needed to establish that white power leaders were in con-
tact with one another and involved with shaping the violence carried out by 
cells and individual activists. They spent significant time on the creation of 
a hit list that included Alan Berg, the progressive activist and controversial 
television producer Norman Lear, and SPLC head Morris Dees, among 
others.99 They also presented data from the FBI wiretap of Miles’s phones. 
Between March 8, 1985, and November 7, 1985, Miles had made sixty-three 
calls to Butler, twenty calls to CSA member David Moutoux, fourteen calls 
to Metzger, and assorted calls to William Pierce, Don Black, Glenn Miller, 
Thunderbolt publisher Ed Fields, and other activists. Not only did the list of 
individuals he called clearly illustrate a unified, connected, and coordinated 
white power movement, but the volume of calls indicated continued 
activity.100

The social relationships cemented by women’s participation further 
revealed the interconnectedness of Klan, neo-Nazi, and other groups in a 
cohesive, antigovernment white power movement, although only some of 
them were mentioned in trial testimony, and they were not fully mobilized 
in the prosecution’s argument. Marriages were an important way of forging 
alliances between groups and of reaffirming loyalty within factions. While 
marriage records are not available for most white power unions—perhaps 
because some of them were deliberately conducted outside of state auspices—a 
thorough reading of sources across several archives yields a startling picture 
of movement interconnections.

Limiting such examples to those immediately pertinent to the sedition 
trial: The daughter of the Order’s chief counterfeiters, Robert and Sharon 
Merki—who, with her parents, had attended the LaPorte Church of Christ—
married an Order member and received some of the Order’s ill-gotten 
funds. After members of the Order assassinated their own Walter West for 
talking too much, another Order member, Thomas Bentley, married West’s 
widow. Carl Franklin Jr., the leader of the Pennsylvania branch of Aryan 
Nations, married Order member David Lane’s adopted sister, Jane Eden 
Lane, before becoming heir apparent to Aryan Nations founder Richard 
Butler; Butler officiated at their wedding.101
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Marriages bore out intergroup connections relevant to the sedition trial 
even after the acquittals. Ellison, leader of the CSA, would later marry the 
daughter of Robert G. Millar, head of the white separatist compound at 
Elohim City. Dave Holloway, who traveled to Mexico to advocate for Sheila 
Beam’s release, married twice: to the daughter of Robert Sisente, second-in-
command of the paramilitary Klan group that had harassed Vietnamese fish-
ermen under Louis Beam’s direction, and to the daughter of Order member 
James Wallington. Wallington had evaded pursuit by FBI agents, including 
Knox, by hiding at Elohim City. Kirk Lyons, who represented Louis Beam 
in the sedition trial, would also marry within the movement in a 1990 double 
wedding. In a ceremony at Aryan Nations and officiated by Butler, with 
Beam as best man, Lyons married eighteen- or nineteen-year-old Brenna 
Tate—daughter of an Aryan Nations leader and sister of Order member 
David Tate. Her sister, Laura Beth Tate, married Neill Payne, a Houston 
man who had hidden the Beams when they were on the run to Mexico. And 
David McGuire, one of the sedition trial defendants who would become 
romantically involved with a juror, was previously married to Joahanna 
Ellison, the daughter of Jim Ellison; Ellison participated in the marriage 
ceremony.102

Romantic relationships also cast doubt upon the acquittal. Two female 
jurors became involved in public romantic relationships with defendants fol-
lowing the trial, raising questions about whether the Fort Smith proceed-
ings met the constitutional mandate of an impartial jury and signaling the 
continued importance of white women to the movement. According to the 
Houston Chronicle, one juror, Carolyn S. Slater, thirty years old, entered into 
a relationship with acquitted CSA member David McGuire, twenty-five, fol-
lowing the trial. She married him after the trial, and they planned to sell 
their story to People magazine. Slater and McGuire also set up another fe-
male juror, Mary B. Oxford, age twenty-four, in a pen-pal romance with 
incarcerated Order member David Lane, fifty. Oxford called Lane “a little 
too old for me” but showed no ethical hesitation about carrying on the re-
lationship. Both jurors said they had been attracted to the defendants during 
the trial. In these cases, the romantic availability of jurors signaled the de-
fendants’ innocence and, by extension, provided a kind of social credibility 
to the movement itself.103

With white power social networks only partially exposed, the Fort Smith 
proceedings faced another hurdle in the charismatic testimony of white 
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power leaders. Men such as Beam, Butler, and Miles had risen in the move-
ment precisely because they were compelling speakers. Beam, representing 
himself, invoked two rhetorical devices in his opening statement: his defense 
of white women and his Vietnam War service. He said he would continue 
to fight for his innocent seven-year-old daughter and portrayed his flight to 
Mexico not as a criminal act but rather as an imposition upon his innocent 
daughter and his wife, whom he called “Little Sheila.” “My wife up until 
April of this year had never been out of her father’s arms,” he testified, “and 
it was just terrible on both of them.”104

Then he pivoted to his Vietnam War story, and testified that he had come 
home from war believing it was his duty to kill enemies, foreign and do-
mestic. According to the trial report, Beam ended his statement with the 
story of a “soldier being burned to death in the armored personnel carrier 
and how he was reminded of that when he came home to see protestors 
burning flags,” and said this was the reason “that he turned to the politics 
that he did.” Beam and his attorney, Lyons, listed his many military decora-
tions as part of a defense aimed at establishing his good character. Far from 
a passing reference, Beam’s testimony about the Vietnam War would fill sev-
eral pages of the trial transcript.105

Indeed, the promise of a continued fight and a strong current of 
antistatism—or at the very least a belief in popular sovereignty that super-
seded the authority of the federal government—was perfectly clear in Beam’s 
testimony. In cross-examination by Carlson, Beam pledged to continue his 
fight. “If it comes to it, Mr. Beam, would you kill these enemies?” asked 
Carlson. “To defend my country, I would continue to perform my duties as 
a soldier, yes,” Beam replied. “I’ll do anything I can to defend the Constitu-
tion of the United States.” “Including kill?” asked Carlson. “If so directed,” 
Beam replied, and clarified that he took such directions from the “government 
of the people. All law and authority rest in the people.”106

On April 8, 1988, after three days of deliberation, the jury found all the 
defendants not guilty on all counts. This meant that Butler, Beam, and 
Miles, along with Order members Bruce Pierce, Barnhill, Lane, Scutari, 
and CSA member Richard Wayne Snell, were found “not guilty of attempting 
to overthrow the government.” It meant McGuire and three other CSA 
members were found “not guilty of plotting to kill a federal judge and FBI 
agent.” Most incredibly, it meant that Barnhill and Scutari were found not 
guilty of transporting the money stolen by the Order and using it to finance 
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the white power movement. The men walked free and, with the government 
consenting, the judge ordered “the firearms in question returned to the 
person who turned them over to the government.”107

The trial’s most iconic moment occurred just after acquittal. Louis Beam, 
just released, spoke to reporters outside the courthouse. Beam thanked the 
jury for his acquittal, and declared: “To hell with the federal government.” 
Then he said he was “out of the movement. From now on,” he added, “I’m 
just going to write books and raise blond-headed children.”108 Surrounded 
by journalists and photographers, Sheila Beam collapsed into his arms.109 
A  photographer captured the moment for the Kansas City Times: Beam, 
dressed in a suit, holds his wife. She wears a demure, light-colored dress that 
covers her arms and falls below the knee. She rests her head on his shoulder, 
her blond hair falling over his arm. Her feet are bare. Louis Beam’s head in-
clines slightly toward hers, but he fixes his gaze on something farther away, 
and the light emphasizes his resolute expression. Sheila Beam, barefoot and 
limp in her husband’s arms before the Confederate memorial, embodied 
old stories of vulnerable white women in need of protection.110 As Campbell 
wrote, “Sheila fainted from the pain she was in and from the incredibleness 
of their stunning victory.”111

Immediately after the acquittal, jubilant white power leaders touted this 
victory loudly and movement-wide. Miles said the verdict “restore[d] my faith 
in the people.”112 FBI agent Knox resigned in frustration. Beam founded a 
new publication, The Seditionist, and published a second edition of Essays of 
a Klansman.113

White power activists used the trial victory to enhance and encourage 
further underground operations and hone their appeal to the mainstream. 
In the post-1988 period, the movement would incorporate new legions of 
skinhead members, reemerge as the purportedly nonracist militia move-
ment, and guide a new generation of activists, including Timothy McVeigh, 
to white power movement violence. And the work of white women, both as 
symbols and as activists, continued unabated. Indeed, when the movement 
used the federal sieges of two separatist compounds to fuel its militia 
groundswell, the stories it told to new recruits would be about women. 
Louis Beam would rehash the story of Sheila Beam’s arrest and detention to 
relaunch his writings on leaderless resistance and widen the appeal of the 
strategy in 1992, both before and after the federal siege of a white separatist 
family at Ruby Ridge, Idaho.114 The death of another martyred white 
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woman there—this time killed by a federal sniper—would inflame the 
white power call to arms. “When the Feds blew the head off Vicki Weaver, 
I think symbolically that was their war against the American woman, the 
American mother, the American white wife,” said Carl Franklin, the new 
pastor at Aryan Nations. “This is the opening shot of a second American 
revolution.”115



PART I I I    APOCALYPSE





O N AU G UST 22 ,  1992, Vicki Weaver died behind the door of her crude moun-
taintop cabin near Ruby Ridge Creek, Idaho, holding her ten-month-old 
daughter in her arms. Federal agents had already killed one of her children. 
She held the door open as her husband, Randy, ran toward her, fleeing the 
shots of government snipers. A stray bullet passed through the door and 
struck her in the head. For days, her husband and children waited with her 
body, under siege by a fully militarized police force, as horrified white power 
activists and others held vigil at the foot of the mountain.

8� Ruby Ridge, Waco, and Militarized Policing

Vietnam-style assault.
—Description by a journalist of federal actions in Waco, Texas, 1993

White power activists and neighbors hold a vigil at a federal roadblock after learning of 
Vicki Weaver’s death at Ruby Ridge, Idaho, 1992. (Anne C. Williams, The Spokesman-Review)
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Within and beyond the white power movement, the siege at Ruby Ridge—
along with the 1992 Los Angeles riots that preceded it and the fiery, 
catastrophic end to the Waco standoff that followed in 1993—inflamed a 
renewed apocalyptic imaginary, a worldview characterized by intensifying 
urgency that would eventually lead to the 1995 bombing of Oklahoma City.1 
If guerrilla war on the state characterized white power movement activity in 
the 1980s, spectacular state violence defined the early 1990s. White power 
activists reacted to these events with ideas of apocalypse on their minds.

Significantly, the apocalyptic imaginary of the early 1990s coincided 
with the end of the Cold War, a historical shift that rendered obsolete much 
of the anticommunist rhetoric that had structured white power activism 
through the previous decades. Apocalyptic rhetoric augmented violence 
and  separatism within the white power movement, but also worked as a 
bridge issue with the evangelical right, creating opportunities for recruit-
ment. Both constituencies had been preoccupied with the idea of apoca-
lypse following Soviet nuclear attack. People in both groups after the end 
of the Cold War were, in a way, in search of a new enemy to fight in their 
foretold end-times battle.2

White power activists used antistatist currents from earlier formations to 
refine the idea of a Jewish-controlled Zionist Occupational Government, in-
creasingly referring instead to a “New World Order”—an alliance of ma-
levolent internationalist forces—as an agent of the coming end times.3 Their 
apocalyptic vision motivated and shaped white power violence, using 
the  symbols and strategies of the post–Vietnam War moment in new ways. 
White power activists experienced apocalyptic threat both through the 
perceived peril of racial extinction and through catastrophic, violent events 
at Ruby Ridge and Waco that reaffirmed the state as inherently evil, sup-
planting communism as an irredeemable enemy and giving rise to a new surge 
of militia organizing.4

The Weavers did not have the homemade Claymore land mines, C-4 ex-
plosives, or stolen military machine guns routinely found in larger white 
separatist compounds. However, neither were they innocent rural survival-
ists: they were longtime participants in the movement. Vicki Weaver’s death 
inflamed the movement at a key moment of transition. Its activists invoked 
her as a model white woman they failed to protect from a rampant super-
state. Whereas the white female body had previously been seen as at risk of 
being violated by men of color, now the risk of violation came from the state, 
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via the brutal technologies of late twentieth-century warfare, now used by 
the federal government against its own citizens.

In confrontations with separatists at Ruby Ridge and Waco, local police 
and federal agents used military units, weapons, strategies, and technolo-
gies to unleash violence on American civilians. Hundreds of federal agents 
outfitted in military gear descended upon a remote Idaho mountaintop to 
stake out one white separatist family holed up in a cabin on Ruby Ridge. 
National Guardsmen participated in the standoff; military technologies in-
cluded two armored troop carriers, helicopters, and the construction of a 
command post.5 ATF and FBI agents deployed military technologies to close 
down a paramilitary separatist compound in Waco, Texas. Agents used mil-
itary helicopters, body armor and shields, armored personnel vehicles, 
Abrams M-1 series tanks, and M-60 combat engineering vehicles equipped 
with tear gas. They also used military strategies including psychological 
warfare.6 The white power activists enthralled by the Vietnam War now 
confronted another sphere in which the spillover of wartime violence had 
militarized domestic life: paramilitary civilian policing.

Before Ruby Ridge, the state had wielded military strategies and weapons 
against American citizens countless times. The civilian-targeted violence that 
became a feature of combat in the Vietnam War had been generated, at least 
in part, by policing tactics in urban communities of color. After the war, mili-
tary training of police departments and paramilitary units such as Special 
Weapons and Tactics (SWAT) teams brought violence home once again and 
disproportionately targeted the same communities.7 Paramilitary police 
units, implemented in Los Angeles to quell racial protest after the Watts riots 
in 1965 and used repeatedly to suppress dissent, would grow exponentially, 
even as federal police agencies, including the FBI, ATF, and DEA, militarized 
along the same lines. Almost 90 percent of cities with 50,000 or more resi-
dents would have paramilitary police units by 1995. The use of such units 
would grow 538 percent for “call-outs” (responses to emergency service calls) 
and 292 percent for “proactive patrols” (including the suppression of com-
munities of color) between 1982 and 1995.8

Civilian policing increasingly bore the same markers of paramilitary cul-
ture that defined white power activism: the presence of both veterans and 
active-duty soldiers in training and patrols, secrecy about operations, and, 
as sociologists have documented, “changing uniforms, weaponry, language, 
training, and tactics.”9 Paramilitary police wore “battle dress uniforms” and 
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the combat boots and body armor of soldiers. They defined themselves as 
“heavy weapons units”—a military term—and armed themselves with 
military-grade weapons, including submachine guns, M16s, grenades, C-4 
plastic explosives, and armored personnel carriers. They organized them-
selves on the model of military special operations and frequently received 
direct training from such military units. The vast majority of SWAT team 
and other paramilitary police deployments responded with military force to 
nonviolent drug crimes. Weapons and money seized during such actions 
often went toward the purchase of equipment and weapons for further 
paramilitarization.10

Beginning in the early 1990s, the 1033 Program of the National Defense 
Authorization Act arranged for the free or low-cost transfer of surplus military 
weapons, gear, and other equipment such as vehicles to local police depart-
ments. Tanks, military assault rifles, grenade launchers, body armor, and 
more became routinely used in policing civilians at home. The war on drugs 
also promoted collaboration between the military and civilian police forces. 
In the early 1990s, the Department of Defense worked with the Depart-
ment of Justice to coordinate paramilitary responses to civilian crime. As 
the historian Kimberley Phillips has argued, by the early 1990s “policing 
had become a war,” largely waged against communities of color.11

Before Ruby Ridge and Waco, however, the rhetoric of the war on drugs 
and policing strategies that brought the full force of military violence down 
on civilians had targeted people of color in urban areas. Ruby Ridge and 
Waco were notable because of their rural locales, sensational media cov-
erage, and the deaths of white women, children, and men at the hands of 
the militarized state. To white power activists, these confrontations—
especially alongside the 1993 Brady Bill and the Violent Crime Control 
and Law Enforcement Act of 1994, each of which imposed restrictions on 
gun purchases and ownership—signified an ever more urgent need to wage 
race war.

Some have argued that a period of white power inactivity followed the 
acquittal of thirteen white power movement activists in the Fort Smith 
sedition trial. Similarly, many have argued that the militia movement was 
distinct from the white power movement that preceded it: some acknowl-
edge a paramilitary movement in the 1980s but argue that it disappeared 
in 1988. They claim that something wholly new was born when the mili-
tias organized.12
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To the contrary, white power activists understood the sedition trial 
acquittals as a green light for future violence, just as they had understood 
previous acquittals such as those in Greensboro. Indeed, the archive indi-
cates continuous momentum from the sedition trial to the Oklahoma 
City bombing, revealing the militia movement as the outward growth of the 
paramilitary white power movement. The militia movement shared its 
leaders, soldiers, weapons, strategies, and language with the earlier white 
power mobilization. Ethnographic interviews with activists in the early 1990s 
showed that the movement remained fully focused on war against the state 
following the trial.13 A period of intense production of white power women’s 
publications from 1988 to 1995 revealed that such activity continued, even 
though it was largely out of view of scholars and journalists.

Militias appeared in the Northwest at least as early as 1989, and shared 
personnel, funds, images, and ideologies with the established white power 
movement. John Trochmann, for instance, founded the Militia of Montana 
in the late 1980s after involvement with Aryan Nations, and his ties to white 
power continued after that: Trochmann spoke at the 1990 Aryan Nations 
World Congress.14 Wayne Gonyaw, head of the Tennessee State Militia, had 
also been an Aryan Nations leader, as had E. Tom Stetson, leader of the 
Unorganized Militia of Idaho. Bob Holloway—a former mercenary and 
white power activist—led the Texas Light Infantry, a major militia organ
ization in Texas.15

Despite this clear continuity in personnel and resources, various commen-
tators tried to draw distinctions between militias and groups such as Aryan 
Nations. As the New York Times postulated,

Some experts say that the militia members, despite their tough talk, are not 
as dangerously militant as the small movements of other armed conspiracy 
theorists, like the Aryan Nation [sic] and Posse Comitatus. But, by all ac-
counts, the militia movement is a much more widespread phenomenon, in-
volving many more people in every region of the country, linked together by 
computer networks, fax, shortwave radio, home-produced videos and desk-
top publishing.16

While the Times was correct about the large number of militiamen across 
the country, the remainder of the report was misleading. Militias were in-
deed “dangerously militant,” as later standoffs would show. And the white 
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power movement had used a far-reaching computer network since at least 
1984, to say nothing of the explosion of printed materials it had generated 
for decades. The earlier white power movement was also a “widespread phe-
nomenon” that bridged regional and class identities. And, most crucially, the 
“small movements of other armed conspiracy theorists”—dismissed here as 
a coherent social movement in their own right—were root and branch of 
the militia groundswell.

Significantly, the New York Times, as well as other major newspapers 
around the nation, had covered the white power movement closely during 
the 1980s. Each of the movement’s major events appeared in national news 
stories and became part of public discourse. The Greensboro trials gener-
ated a Saturday Night Live sketch; video of Louis Beam’s paramilitary Camp 
Puller appeared on a morning newsmagazine show. Tom Metzger and Glenn 
Miller ran for political office, garnering substantial publicity even when they 
lost. Miller and Don Black, among other movement leaders, appeared on 
Sally Jessy Raphael and other popular talk shows. Metzger ran his own public 
access television talk show in California. David Duke’s presidential cam-
paigns in 1988 and 1992, and his successful run for the Louisiana House of 
Representatives in 1989, were widely reported.17

Government agents, too, were keenly aware of the organization of the 
white power movement and its continued capacity for violence. In a 1995 
New York Times piece, the FBI special agent in charge of the Coeur d’Alene 
office, Wayne Manis, called the Order “without a doubt the best organized 
and most serious terrorist threat that this country has ever seen.”18 Jack Knox, 
a career agent involved in trying to prosecute white power activists—white 
power activists had unsuccessfully tried to assassinate him, and he retired 
in frustration after the Fort Smith acquittals—made similar comments.19 
Nevertheless, in the early 1990s, the militia movement was repeatedly por-
trayed as a novel development.

By eliding its continuity with the white power movement, these observers 
missed the significance of the militia movement in historical context. Far 
from a new groundswell, it represented a move toward the mainstream, per-
haps the most successful of many such attempts to broaden recruitment. In 
the militia movement, the war on the government went public.

For many militiamen, antigovernment paramilitarism was rhetorically 
distinct from overt racism. A recruit could, theoretically, participate in a local 
militia without deliberately participating in the white power movement. Nev-
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ertheless, the actions of local militia groups remained framed by the same 
worldview, logic, and symbols that had long structured white power activism 
and violence. These were the very elements Beam had counted on to coor-
dinate underground cells in his strategy of leaderless resistance. The tactics 
chosen by those connected in such common cause continued to feature strat-
egies and weapons from the Vietnam War, scenarios from The Turner Dia-
ries, and a rhetoric that drew strongly on the defense of white women.20

A shift in language worked to broaden the appeal of the militias. Leaders 
and activists had begun to replace the idea of Zionist Occupational Gov-
ernment (ZOG) with the phrase “New World Order,” which signaled an 
alignment of malevolent internationalist forces, including the United Na-
tions, global finance, nations, and technology, that conspired to take over 
the world and would soon face the righteous in Armageddon. The phrase 
had long circulated among fundamentalist Christians, a group that included 
Identity Christians who understood the righteous as including only white 
people. It took on a new urgency in 1991 when President George H. W. Bush 
used the phrase in a speech to rally the nation for the Gulf War. Bush used 
it to refer to the end of the Cold War and the international role of the United 
States in securing the rule of law, favorable trade agreements, and the ouster 
of Iraqi dictator Saddam Hussein. But conspiracy theorists heard Bush’s 
use of the phrase as a signal of imminent apocalypse. The increasing preva-
lence of New World Order conspiracy belief among evangelicals, together 
with the rising importance of social issues held in common between main-
stream and fringe—opposition to immigration, gay rights, and especially 
abortion—indicate a narrowing gap between white power activism and a 
large segment of the mainstream evangelical right.21

To the white power movement, the concept of a New World Order in-
cluded both the old idea of ZOG and a broader international conspiracy of 
elites (sometimes Jewish) that intended to enslave the U.S. population. Move-
ment activists saw the New World Order as a rising global superstate, endowed 
with unlimited power and armaments and ready to crush white citizens under 
the heel of its black boot.22 In other words, the white power movement 
activists who had rallied around Vietnam War veterans, symbols, weapons, 
and uniforms and had formed their movement from the paramilitary spill-
over of the war now recognized that a similar circulation had militarized 
state enforcement mechanisms. In the 1990s the paramilitary white power 
movement would face the full force of militarized civilian policing.
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Indeed, the idea of the New World Order drew upon the old symbols of 
the Vietnam War, mixing fear of internationalism with the certainty that 
Huey helicopters—no longer the jungle green of the Vietnam War era, but 
now black—signified an impending invasion by United Nations troops and 
foretold the herding of white people into concentration camps. Oklahoma 
City bomber Timothy McVeigh and his compatriots deeply feared such 
camps, which they believed were already constructed and waiting; these 
fears  mushroomed into a vivid conspiracist subculture. More than two 
thousand pages of Internet material attempted to locate and explain the 
mysterious black helicopters. The idea of concentration camps inverted the 
old Turner Diaries strategy of forcing people of color into such facilities 
prior to their annihilation. Meanwhile, movement leaders expressed a 
rising sense of urgency: despite the Northwest migration, there was nowhere 
left to go, no further retreat. “We have run as far as we can on this earth!” 
wrote Aryan Nations leader Richard Butler in a 1991 call to confront the 
New World Order.23

The white power movement was deeply skeptical of the Gulf War, which 
Bush declared was a victorious end to what had come to be called “Vietnam 
syndrome,” an American reluctance to fight. “I’ve told the American people 
before that this will not be another Vietnam,” Bush declared. “Our troops . . . ​
will not be asked to fight with one hand tied behind their back.”24 Bush ref-
erenced the old Vietnam War narrative as he promised to unleash the full 
force of the U.S. military. Butler, on the other hand, saw the Gulf War as a 
manipulation designed to benefit Jews, and expressed particular displeasure 
that the military had changed the uniforms of the 1980s to desert hues. His 
disapproval highlighted the continued reference point of the Vietnam War 
as the primary cultural marker in the white power movement and its mi-
litia outgrowth, in which members continued to wear the tiger-stripe and 
woodland patterns of Vietnam War camouflage or the four-color pattern 
implemented in all branches of the military in the late 1970s. Skepticism 
about the Gulf War, however, did not stop white power activists from re-
cruiting its soldiers to their movement.25

In addition to the long-held strategy of targeting veterans and active-duty 
military personnel for recruitment, and a more successful appeal to the 
mainstream through militias, white power activists also deliberately modi-
fied some of their cultural standards in order to appeal to a new pool of re-
cruits. Beginning in the late 1980s, a large number of young people became 
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involved in the skinhead movement, which blended racial violence with a 
cosmopolitan white supremacy revolving around an urban concert and drug 
scene. On one level, the presence of skinheads signaled the frustrations of 
working-class white youth at a moment of profound economic transforma-
tion that seemed to threaten their life chances. In another way, skinheads 
represented an increasingly strong link between white power paramilitarism 
and prison culture.

Longtime white power leaders, most particularly Tom Metzger of White 
Aryan Resistance, successfully drew skinheads into the unified white sepa-
ratist movement by overlooking previously insurmountable cultural differ-
ences. Many skinheads lived in urban areas and were largely uninterested 
in rural survivalism and social conservatism. They typically used alcohol and 
drugs, both of which had been decried as immoral distractions by an earlier 
generation of white power activists. Skinheads often had tattoos, anathema 
to the teachings of Christian Identity. Despite their differences, opening the 
movement to include skinheads generated a new pipeline of youth recruit-
ment that helped sustain white power movement momentum. Skinheads be-
came regular attendees at movement meetings such as the Aryan Nations 
World Congress.26

As leaders Miles, Butler, and Beam began to age, former white power 
strongholds like the Aryan Nations compound became increasingly periph-
eral to movement activity, and those who traveled to Hayden Lake to gauge 
the strength of the movement did not find its center there. Miles died from 
a blow to the head, under suspicious circumstances, in 1992.27 That year 
Butler turned seventy-four; he preached old, tired sermons to a crowd of 
fewer than twenty, and more than one observer concluded that the move-
ment had withered. But, using the same adaptability and opportunism that 
had long characterized Klan activity, the movement recalibrated to the pre-
vailing public sentiment. The new advance guard was in militias: paramili-
tary groups that frequently claimed not to be racist despite overwhelming 
evidence to the contrary.28

The continued use of underground cells meant that many white power 
activists didn’t define success as the recruitment of large numbers of new 
members and were content to remain small. Many underground groups 
worked instead to recruit and train small numbers of committed activists. 
So while the Center for Democratic Renewal estimated that between 1992 
and 1996 there were around 25,000 “hard-core white supremacists” and an 
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additional 150,000 to 175,000 “active sympathizers who buy literature, 
make contributions, and attend periodic meetings,” these figures could not 
measure the formation of innumerable paramilitary cells, nor forecast their 
future violence.29

Indeed, the 1992 confrontation at Ruby Ridge, Idaho, electrified the 
movement. There, federal agents used excessive military force—and broke 
government rules of engagement—to apprehend a white separatist who had 
sold two illegally modified weapons. Randy Weaver had enlisted as a Green 
Beret during the Vietnam War, but resigned in frustration when he was never 
shipped out. He moved his family to Idaho in 1983 as part of the North-
west migration of white separatists, and took a job at the John Deere plant 
in Waterloo. There he heard about Aryan Nations. An Identity Christian, 
Weaver spoke frequently about his belief that the Bible said black and white 
people should not live together, not even in the same county. He also told 
his neighbors that Jews were behind the New World Order.30

In the Northwest, the Weavers found a nearly all-white community sym-
pathetic to white separatism. Boundary County, Idaho, had only one black 
family among its 9,000 residents. Looking to live off the grid and home-
school their children, Randy Weaver and his wife, Vicki Weaver, bought land 
on a remote Idaho mountaintop called Ruby Ridge. They adopted fifteen-
year-old Kevin Harris. Up on the mountain, they built a primitive cabin and 
a shed where the women would go when they menstruated or when Vicki 
Weaver gave birth to a baby daughter. Randy Weaver taught Kevin, his son, 
Sammy, fourteen, and his daughters, Sara and Rachel, twelve and ten, how 
to fire guns. They carried guns everywhere they went on the mountaintop. 
Randy Weaver ran for sheriff in nearby Naples, Idaho, in 1988, on a plat-
form of enforcing only those laws the people wanted enforced, a political 
strategy reminiscent of Posse Comitatus.31

The Weavers made the hour-long drive to attend the Aryan Nations World 
Congress at least three times. They were there in 1986 and 1989—both mo-
ments of intense focus on war on the state—and Randy Weaver sported a 
“Just Say No to ZOG” T-shirt and Aryan Nations belt buckle. At the Con-
gress, a man named Gus Magisono approached Weaver to discuss the 
mistakes of the Order and Order II, the latter a small cell that had blown 
up a few buildings and carried out some minor robberies in nearby Coeur 
d’Alene, Idaho. He also asked Weaver about buying some sawed-off shot-
guns, specifying that he needed the barrels shorter than the legal limit. 
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Weaver agreed, selling him two modified shotguns the following week for 
$400, and promising more as needed. Weaver said he hoped street gangs 
would use the shotguns to kill each other.32

But Magisono was actually Kenneth Fadely, a man the federal govern-
ment had busted for gunrunning and turned into an undercover informant 
for the ATF. Agents intent on entrapping Weaver with the gun sale hoped to 
turn him into another informant, as part of a broader project of cracking 
down on Aryan Nations and budding militia groups in nearby northwest 
Montana. When Weaver refused, a federal grand jury indicted him on illegal 
weapons charges in December  1990. After his arraignment and release, 
Weaver never reappeared in court. He was given the wrong court date, but 
he also returned to his mountaintop with plans to hole up. Vicki Weaver sup-
ported this course of action, anticipating a standoff. In a 1991 letter to the 
U.S. attorney for Idaho, she wrote: “Whether we live or die we will not bow 
to your evil commandments.” She included an attached quotation from 
Order leader Bob Mathews: “War is upon the land. The tyrant’s blood will 
flow.” Friends and neighbors—including militia leader John Trochmann, 
his wife, Carolyn Trochmann, and their son—regularly brought the family 
food and supplies. Again, social relationships undergirded political ones 
within the movement: Carolyn Trochmann had helped Vicki Weaver 
deliver her baby.33

The siege came soon. In the winter of 1992, newspapers reported that fed-
eral marshals knew Weaver was holed up on Ruby Ridge but weren’t sure 
how to pursue him. All four children, Vicki Weaver, and Harris were also 
in the cabin, and none of them had been charged with any crimes. In re-
connaissance flights, agents observed the three Weaver children and the baby. 
The cabin’s residents carried guns wherever they went on the property. Agents 
worried about another Whidbey Island, where Mathews had died in a fiery 
explosion after a long standoff with the FBI. They advised using caution in 
attempting an arrest, even though they considered Weaver to be holding 
the children hostage. Weaver sent out a letter stating that the impasse would 
end only with the deaths of himself and his family, or if federal agents ad-
mitted that they had set him up.34

On August 21, 1992, the Weavers’ Labrador retriever sensed intruders—
federal marshals conducting routine reconnaissance of the mountaintop. The 
dog ran toward the strangers, followed by Randy Weaver, Kevin Harris, and 
Sammy Weaver. The marshals shot the dog, and the separatists returned 
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fire, Harris killing federal marshal William Degan. Marshals returned fire, 
killing Sammy Weaver with a shot in the back. Randy Weaver and Harris 
placed his body in the birthing shed and took cover in the cabin. They kept 
the rest of the agents pinned down with gunfire until nightfall, when the 
agents had to be rescued.35

As the siege continued, agents brought in more personnel and more mili-
tary technology. They tried to use a negotiation team, but the Weavers had 
no telephone. They brought in armored personnel carriers and set up road-
blocks to further isolate the cabin. They surveyed the mountaintop by heli
copter. At least two armored troop carriers rolled through the tiny town of 
Naples. Gravel-filled trucks, bulldozers, and additional heavy equipment 
arrived, perhaps indicating plans to improve access to the cabin in order to 
ease the passage of more military vehicles and equipment.36

When word got out that a standoff had begun, both neighbors and far-
flung white power activists began to arrive to show their support for the 
Weavers. They camped out at the roadblock down the hill from the Weaver 
cabin, in what the Washington Post described as a “rag-tag band” of as many 
as 300 people, including Vietnam veterans in camouflage fatigues and skin-
heads in combat boots.37 This characterization calls to mind a group of men 
hardened either by the combat of war or by the violence of the streets. In 
fact, white power women played a key role at the Ruby Ridge protests, one 
that mirrored common practice within the movement. Debbie Mathews, the 
widow of Order leader Bob Mathews, had reached celebrity status in 
the movement after his death. She spoke not as an activist in her own right 
but as an honored widow and mother. She brought their ten-year-old adopted 
son with her to the roadblock. Carolyn Trochmann was there, too, and de-
fended Randy Weaver to journalists.38 People at the roadblock held signs 
with slogans like “Your Family Could Be Next,” mobilizing public support 
by depicting the siege as a violation of the white family.39

The white power movement tried to marshal paramilitary support for the 
besieged family. On August 25, officers arrested five skinheads trying to 
bring rifles and semiautomatic weapons to the cabin via back roads. Signifi-
cantly, the arresting officers and the skinheads were wearing the same 
camouflage fatigue uniforms, representing the clash of two distinct para-
militarizations: white power and civilian policing.40

On August 28, the world learned that Vicki Weaver had died up on the 
mountain. Randy Weaver, Harris, and the three living children cowered on 
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the floor of the cabin. Federal agents sent in a robot equipped with tape-
recorded messages from friends and family members urging the Weavers to 
end the standoff. The Weavers wrote a letter to the world, believing they 
would die, saying they had run into a “ZOG / New World Order ambush.” 41 
Longtime white power movement figure Bo Gritz attempted to negotiate a 
surrender. Gritz was a Vietnam War veteran who had been Randy Weaver’s 
commander in the Special Forces and had worked as a mercenary before re-
turning to the United States; he claimed to have personally killed “400 
communists.” At the time of the Ruby Ridge siege he was running for presi-
dent on the Populist Party ticket, leveraging his veteran status by telling do-
nors, “I’m counting on you to serve”; when his bid failed, he would found a 
separatist compound.

The standoff ended without a shot fired. “He just cried his wife’s name, 
his son’s name, and he stood up tall like a man, and we marched tall down 
the road like we said we were going to do,” said Gritz. On the way down, 
they passed a group of skinheads at one of the roadblocks, where encamped 
supporters of the Weaver family now numbered more than 300. Gritz 
gave them a Nazi salute.42

Weaver and Harris, both wounded by gunshots, received medical atten-
tion and were indicted on charges related to Degan’s death. The standoff and 
the trial became a focal point for tens of thousands of enraged militiamen. 
From the beginning, public sympathy was with the Weavers—all they 
wanted, as defense attorney Gerry Spence kept repeating, was to be left alone. 
The state did little to change this perception, and amplified it with missteps: 
FBI agents testified that they had falsified evidence, both by staging photos 
of the site where Degan was killed and by fabricating a photograph of a bullet. 
Spence was so confident that the jury would see the flagrant violence exhib-
ited by the state that he did not bother to present a defense.43

Commentators nationwide, left and right, saw Ruby Ridge at best as a 
public relations disaster and at worst as a rampage by a militarized super-
state. As the New York Times argued in an editorial:

Randy Weaver was a white supremacist. He lived as a heavily armed recluse 
in a cabin on a ridge in rural Idaho. Neither of those things is against the 
law in the United States. . . . ​There are a lot of lunatics out there in the woods. 
But it is not the job of Federal law enforcement agencies to behave in a way 
that seems designed to confirm their paranoia—especially when there is no 
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proof they have violated any laws. . . . ​[There was] no indication Mr. Weaver 
did anything illegal until Federal agents invited him to.44

The idea of lunatics in the woods impeded an understanding of the com-
plex social movement that had placed the Weavers on the mountaintop in 
the first place, and supported their existence there.

In the face of such a blatant deployment of militarized policing, the jury 
acquitted Harris and sentenced Weaver to eighteen months on the original 
firearms and failure-to-appear charges. The fourteen months Weaver had al-
ready served in the county jail counted against that time. But Weaver’s 
martyrdom, which turned both on the loss of his son and on the vulnera-
bility of white womanhood as he grieved for his wife and prepared to raise 
his daughters alone, appealed far beyond the movement. Public opinion in 
his favor, together with horror over a similar state overstep in Waco, Texas, 
would press Congress to investigate the FBI’s conduct in late 1995. Weaver 
would be awarded $3.1 million in compensation for the deaths of Sammy 
and Vicki Weaver, and the FBI would suspend and then demote the agent 
who had supervised the siege.45

Nowhere was the horror of Ruby Ridge more acutely registered than in 
the white power movement. Even before Randy Weaver walked down from 
the mountaintop and the public learned of Vicki Weaver’s death, Louis Beam 
and others in the white power movement mobilized around the family’s 
martyrdom. Beam used the incident to rally not only the core of the white 
separatist movement but also the burgeoning militias. As Beam put it, “Ten 
thousand Randy Weavers are spread out from one coast to another.” 46

Beam launched the United Citizens for Justice in Naples, Idaho, and or
ganized about forty people to press for a murder trial of the federal agents. 
At a rally in Sandpoint, Idaho, Beam presented himself as a new arrival to 
the war against the state, saying he was living innocently “in a small East 
Texas community raising black-eyed peas and blond-haired children until I 
heard about the events in North Idaho.” His disingenuous claim to be newly 
radicalized by Ruby Ridge appealed to a broad audience of horrified ob-
servers, and used the momentum of the incident to further the formation 
and organization of local militias without overtly tying them to the white 
power movement.47

In October 1992, white power leaders convened an emergency summit 
in Estes Park, Colorado, to discuss strategies for responding to Ruby Ridge. 
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Pete Peters, the pastor of the tiny Christian Identity LaPorte Church of 
Christ near Fort Collins, Colorado, led the summit. It was the first time Pe-
ters had taken such an overt leadership role in the movement, but he had 
been closely involved with violent white power activism for years. He was a 
guest on Alan Berg’s radio show before the Order’s assassination of Berg. 
He had traveled to North Carolina to explain Christian Identity to the jury 
during the Shelby III murder trial of White Patriot Party members. In La-
Porte, he had preached to Order members David Lane and Jean Craig, 
and to Zillah Craig, who would bear the child of Bob Mathews. Bo Gritz 
had traveled to Colorado to speak at Peters’s bible camp in 1990. And Peters 
intended to expand his flock: by the early 1990s, his Scriptures for America 
was running radio “outreach” broadcasts in twenty-seven cities and small 
towns, following a strategy used by local white power groups in North Car-
olina and California.48

While Peters preferred a cowboy hat to camouflage, he readily employed 
paramilitarism. Around the time of the summit, he published a pamphlet 
titled The Bible: Handbook for Survivalists, Racists, Tax Protestors, Militants 
and Right-Wing Extremists. The cover showed a man in camouflage fatigues, 
bandoliers, and combat boots, with an AK-47 on the ground by his feet and 
a cowboy hat on the pack beside him. The pamphlet made a case that the 
Bible featured tax protestors and racists as its “heroes and even role models 
for our children.” Peters wrote that Noah was a survivalist, Samson a vigilante, 
and Christ himself a militant who urged people to arm themselves—even if 
they had to sell the clothes off their backs to do so. Peters exemplified the 
new turn in the movement: a more overt paramilitarism, one that could 
openly march against the state by letting racism, anticommunism, and anti-
semitism move to the background.49

That the militia movement emerged from the leaders, organizations, and 
tactics of white power organization showed clearly in the 1992 Estes Park 
summit, which featured speakers Louis Beam, Richard Butler, and Pete Pe-
ters along with militiamen including Tom Stetson. Attorney Kirk Lyons 
spoke, too; by 1990, he had founded the Patriots Defense Foundation, filed 
for tax-exempt status, and raised $12,000 for the legal defense of white power 
activists. Beckman also spoke, as did Gun Owners of America leader, anti-
abortion activist, and former mercenary soldier Larry Pratt. Leveraging his 
mercenary experience in Central America to advocate and organize militias 
in the United States, Pratt exemplified once again a circuit of combat 
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connecting the Vietnam War with anticommunist warfare in other 
places. Drawing on the example of counterinsurgent death squads in Cen-
tral America, he called for small paramilitary units to violently resolve so-
cial problems such as drug use, interracial marriage, and the abortion of 
white babies.50

If the speakers at the Estes Park summit showed that the unified white 
power movement had extended itself into the militia movement, its 
160-person audience emphasized this even more profoundly. Old-guard 
white power movement leaders attended, including Turner Diaries author 
and National Alliance leader William Pierce and Posse Comitatus leader 
Jim Wickstrom. So did the militiamen: John and David Trochmann, the 
brothers who led Militia of Montana; and Michigan Militia leader Mark 
Koernke. Later, the Michigan Militia would stringently deny its involve-
ment with the white power movement in general and the Oklahoma City 
bombing in particular, but as this meeting showed, ties were clear from the 
beginning.51

As the summit got under way, activists repeatedly outlined plans for anti-
government terrorism despite their awareness of undercover informants in 
attendance. Tax-protesting pastor Greg Dixon declared, “We are at war!” and 
called for the establishment of militias.52 Beam delivered an emotional ac-
count of his apprehension in Mexico before the sedition trial, and once again 
spoke of his wife, Sheila Beam, to invoke the vulnerable white female body. 
He emphasized the continued importance of a united white power move-
ment, claiming authority by offering a long view of his activism:

For the first time in the 22 years that I have been in the movement, we are 
all marching to the beat of the same drum! . . . ​The two murders of the 
Weaver family have shown all of us that our religious, our political, our 
ideological differences mean nothing to those who wish to make us all 
slaves. We are viewed by the government as the same: enemies of the state. 
When they come for you, the federals will not ask if you are a Constitution-
alist, a Baptist, Church of Christ, Identity, Covenant Believer, Klansman, 
Nazi, homeschooler, Freeman, New Testament believer, fundamentalist, or 
fiefkeeper. Nor will they ask whether you believe in the Rapture or think it 
is poppycock!

He followed this description of a unified movement with a vivid account of 
the Vietnam War, using mistreatment of U.S. soldiers as evidence of the 
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government’s utter corruption. He saved special vitriol for the supposed 
abandonment of prisoners of war in Vietnam, where, he said, they still re-
mained “in bamboo cages.” He then pivoted again, calling for the defense 
of white women, this time speaking of Vicki Weaver and asking his audi-
ence to imagine the “brain matter” of their own wives scattered across their 
doorways.53

Beam concluded with an idea of liberty popular among the militiamen. 
He spoke of the tree of liberty and the need for continued white power vio
lence: “If you think that this generation of men will maintain its present 
freedoms without also having to fertilize the tree of liberty with the blood 
of both patriot and tyrant, then you are mistaken,” he said. With this call 
to war, Beam sought to expand the unified white power movement to in-
clude not just a coalition of overt racists, but also a new wave of sympathetic 
militiamen. Again, he concluded with family and the apocalyptic threat of 
racial extinction: “My children and your children have the right to a place 
under the sun.”54

Beam’s speech, which received a long standing ovation, both elided and 
echoed the 1979 meeting in North Carolina that formed the United Racist 
Front. At that summit, Klansmen and neo-Nazis spoke about banding to-
gether for the first time since the animosities of World War II. At this 
one, Beam sought to expand the white power movement further. He used 
the main events of the previous decade of white power activism—and, 
still writ large, the Vietnam War and the defense of white families—to 
rally the militias.55

Indeed, the white power movement had evolved far past anything so easily 
recognizable as a hooded, white-robed Klan march on Main Street. At Estes 
Park and in the militia movement in general, Ruby Ridge codified an alli-
ance of tax protestors, radical anti-abortionists, militiamen, racists, Identity 
Christians, survivalists, conspiracy theorists, and those who simply believed 
the U.S. government had grown too large. As anti-abortion fervor, resistance 
to gun control laws, and anger over big government grew among mainstream 
conservatives during the 1990s, the white power movement leveraged these 
issues for recruitment. In back rooms, Lyons and Chris Temple—affiliated 
with Aryan Nations and a regular contributor to the Jubilee, a Christian 
Identity periodical—argued for a two-pronged war on the state. In the first 
phase, they would form an alliance with people of color to overthrow the 
government. In the second, they would “take care” of those “strangers.” In 
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other words, the long-term goal remained war on the state, one that they 
hoped would end in the deportation or genocide of populations of color as 
framed by The Turner Diaries.56

On the record, Peters directed the formation of five committees, which 
the Jubilee claimed were “strictly defensive and advocated no aggressive ac-
tions.” The Divine Committee would discuss biblical examples of “self-
defense and spiritual deliverance.” The Legal Committee would discuss 
defense strategies to defend militants in court. The Public Works Committee 
would cover intergroup communication about “upcoming emergencies and 
news.” The General Committee would issue public statements to the main-
stream press. And the Sacred Warfare Action Tactics Committee—the 
SWAT Committee—would discuss “family preparedness, communication 
and Leaderless Resistance—a concept wherein Yahweh gives each man his 
inspiration for defensive action.” Rather than formulating a new strategy, 
white power activists in the SWAT Committee used leaderless resistance and 
other movement strategies from the early 1980s, but now used the language 
of militarized policing to frame this activity.57

Something new happened at Estes Park: the summit rearticulated white 
power tactics in such a way that they became widely available to the pur-
portedly nonracist militia movement. Beam, for instance, reissued a call for 
leaderless resistance in 1992 in the Seditionist, as well as in leaflets distrib-
uted at Estes Park. Even as the idea circulated among militiamen and 
old-guard racists, then, it did so in the same publication Beam had founded 
immediately after the acquittal of the white power activists who used the 
strategy to avoid conviction in the 1988 sedition trial.58

Beam’s 1992 iteration of leaderless resistance presented the same strategy 
as its earlier versions, modified to reflect the end of the Cold War and 
the disappearance of communism as a viable enemy. “Communism now 
represents a threat to no one in the United States, while federal tyranny 
represents a threat to everyone,” Beam wrote. “The writer has joyfully lived 
long enough to see the dying breaths of communism, but may, unhappily, 
remain long enough to see the last gasps of freedom in America.”59 That 
Beam called himself “the writer” served to distance the idea of leaderless 
resistance from his white power movement background—the casual mi-
litia reader would know only that he was anticommunist, and not that he 
was a longtime Klansman and Aryan Nations member. Meanwhile, he re-
minded hard-liners of his long movement record.
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The idea of cell-style organizing with no orders issued from central 
leadership, which had long permeated the established white power move-
ment, now rippled through the newer skinhead and militia factions. In the 
Oklahoma Separatist, a skinhead zine published in the early nineties, Metzger 
acolyte Joe Grego argued for the strategy. “Just like in The Turner Diaries 
there must be ‘legals’ and ‘operatives,’ ” Grego wrote. “You don’t plow gar-
dens with machine guns.” 60 In other words, the new movement was overtly 
paramilitary but covertly racist. Grego, a skinhead with direct ties to the 
white power movement, argued for taking a strategy directly from The Turner 
Diaries and running a paramilitary underground of “operatives” simulta
neously with “legal” organizing in the open. “Operatives” were expected to 
act on their own or in small groups in order to prevent leadership from being 
prosecuted, and to limit the impact of government surveillance and agents 
provocateurs by refusing to disclose their group memberships or even their 
affiliation with the movement. Later, Timothy McVeigh would follow the 
strategy perfectly by claiming that he acted alone in bombing the Okla-
homa City federal building.

Six days into the trial of Weaver and Harris for the death of the federal mar-
shal on Ruby Ridge—just months after the movement had organized its 
response system at the Estes Park summit—an even more explosive confron-
tation began in Waco, Texas. A long undercover operation by the ATF went 
wrong after federal agents stormed the Mount Carmel compound. The con-
frontation ended in a massive fire after a months-long siege; seventy-six 
compound members died, including twenty-one children. Several federal 
agents also died, although whether from shots fired by compound residents 
or from friendly fire in the confusion remained unclear.

The worshippers at Mount Carmel—Branch Davidians—belonged to a 
paramilitary cult organized around charismatic leader David Koresh. While 
their multiracial community focused more on imminent apocalypse than 
on politics, Waco, Texas, had a history of white power movement activity 
and a population sympathetic to separatism. It had an active Klan chapter 
that had been founded in 1986, in the heat of the war on the state, and which 
was aligned with the burgeoning skinhead movement.61

In the months before the siege, workers at a local United Parcel Service 
facility noticed a torn package on its way to Mount Carmel; inside, they 
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could see a hand grenade canister. At one point, undercover agents got in-
side the compound and discovered “a trove of semi-automatic weapons, AK-
47’s, AR-15’s, M16’s, 9-millimeter handguns, Israeli assault rifles and other 
weapons that cult members had been collecting for years.” The residents were 
also converting semiautomatic weapons to illegal automatics, as had white 
power separatists belonging to the Covenant, the Sword, and the Arm of 
the Lord a decade earlier in Arkansas. When the ATF and FBI began running 
drills at a nearby army post, Fort Hood, to prepare for the raid, someone 
tipped off the Branch Davidians.62

The Mount Carmel flock had long prepared for war. One survivor 
would later testify that Koresh regularly told his followers, “There was 
going to be a confrontation, a battle . . . ​if you can’t kill for God, you can’t 
die for God.” 63 An undercover agent reported that the compound members 
were watching a video by Larry Pratt—former mercenary leader of Gun 
Owners of America—on the ATF as a threat to liberty. The compound’s 
arsenal included “at least one tripod-mounted .50-caliber machine gun, which 
is illegal for civilians to possess and may have been stolen from a military 
supply depot,” as the New York Times would later report. Mount Carmel was 
a paramilitary encampment prepared for battle.64

The siege would drag on for fifty-one days, with spectators and sympa-
thizers turning up to watch. Beam and Lyons arrived about a month after it 
began. McVeigh also made the trip to bear witness, and to sell bumper 
stickers with slogans such as “When Guns Are Outlawed, I Will Become 
an Outlaw.” Later, he watched as the siege ended on April 19, 1993—with 
tears streaming down his face—as news footage showed federal tanks rolling 
in and flames consuming the compound.65 FBI transcripts of recorded 
conversations inside the compound seemed to indicate that the Branch 
Davidians had started the fire, but the white power movement blamed 
the federal agents for the inferno. Letters decrying the outcome poured into 
the FBI.66

The white power movement in general, and McVeigh in particular, un-
derstood Waco as a massacre carried out by a rampant superstate and its cor-
rupt agents. They saw the victims as innocent women and children. In some 
movement accounts, the victims of the Waco compound were incorrectly 
portrayed as all white. Kirk Lyons’s and Dave Holloway’s militia-directed 
fundraising newsletter would feature a smiling photograph of a fourteen-
year-old white girl killed in the Waco siege with the caption “Why We Fight” 
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that highlighted her martyrdom. Similar slogans had long appeared in white 
power publications captioning photographs of white women with their 
children, and worked to link paramilitarism with the defense of white fam-
ilies and white reproduction.67

The powerful rhetoric of protecting white women blended, once again, 
with narratives of government corruption and the symbols of the tank and 
the Huey helicopter passed down from the Vietnam War to frame the 
standoff. As Michael McNulty, a Vietnam veteran who produced the docu-
mentary Waco: Rules of Engagement, said, “Every promise that’s ever been 
made to me has been broken. . . . ​[Waco] starts to look like Vietnam.” 68 Mc-
Nulty drew on the narrative of betrayal of authority from the Vietnam War 
to frame this new confrontation on the Texas prairie. “Sons of bitches lied 
to us again,” added an anonymous Vietnam veteran at the scene.69 The press 
invoked the Vietnam War, too: the Guardian called it “the Vietnam-style 
assault on Waco.”70

Waco and Ruby Ridge did more than inflame the movement; for its mem-
bers, they became the standard of atrocity associated with the New World 
Order, by now synonymous with the federal government. In their aftermath, 
the militia movement surged to more than 50,000 members in forty-seven 
states, and focused increasingly on taking violent action to stop the ram-
pant federal government. One SPLC analyst estimated that some five mil-
lion people considered themselves part of the “patriot movement”—militias 
and militia sympathizers—in the mid-1990s. If correct, that number out-
strips previous post–Vietnam War white power mobilization and signifies 
an even larger movement than the second-era Ku Klux Klan in the 1920s; 
the white power movement had substantial numbers in addition to its exten-
sive underground of cells dedicated to resistance.71

Continued paramilitarism and proven white power movement tactics 
structured this new groundswell. Near Waco, the Texas Constitutional Mi-
litia claimed several thousand members, and veteran Green Berets and Navy 
SEALs conducted its paramilitary training. The militia Big Star One, which 
spanned Texas, Oklahoma, and New Mexico, included active-duty U.S. 
Army officers and carried out mortar and grenade-launcher exercises in west 
Texas. The Militia of Montana put out a handbook on “how to engage in 
domestic terrorism and sabotage.” And the SPLC reported in 1993 that law 
enforcement officers had discovered thirteen explosives arsenals and six 
weapons arsenals tied to the burgeoning movement and intended for attacks 



208� BRING THE WAR HOME

on targets that included a public housing complex in Ohio, the National 
Afro-American Museum, also in Ohio, and a black church in Los Angeles.72

Meanwhile, the Michigan Militia, where McVeigh was attending meet-
ings, had grown to 12,000 members. When police stopped leader Mark Ko-
ernke and three members of his security team in September  1994, they 
were carrying three military assault rifles, three semiautomatic pistols, and 
a revolver—all loaded—as well as 700 rounds of armor-piercing ammuni-
tion, twenty-one magazines, and six knives and bayonets. This armament 
revealed a continuing paramilitary fixation on weapons, paired with in-
creasing rage. As militia leader John Trochmann said that December, “The 
battle lines are drawn.”73



9� The Bombing of Oklahoma City

This kind of hell.
—Timothy McVeigh describing the bombing

O N APR I L  19 ,  1995, a Ryder moving truck filled with fertilizer exploded in 
front of the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building in Oklahoma City. The 
blast ripped through its glass façade and damaged its concrete columns, 
collapsing much of the edifice and rendering the rest structurally unstable. 

Federal agents escort Timothy McVeigh (left) after his arrest for the 1995 bombing of 
the Oklahoma City federal building. ( John Gaps III, Associated Press Photo)
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The explosion wounded more than 500 people and killed 168, including 
19 young children in the building’s day care center. The nation turned, 
horrified, to the young white veteran who quickly became the focus of the 
investigation and trials. In the first admission of his role in the bombing, 
after he was convicted and sentenced to death by lethal injection, Timothy 
McVeigh gave an interview saying that he acted alone. He called the dead 
children “collateral damage” of a military action, and would later tell a fellow 
inmate that he found it ironic to be imprisoned because “in Desert Storm I 
got medals for killing people.” McVeigh said he bullied his co-conspirators 
into helping him by threatening them and their families, and he stridently 
denied his connection to any movement. He said he was not racist. “You 
can’t handle the truth,” he told two reporters, quoting the famous speech 
from the 1992 military film A Few Good Men. “Because the truth is, I blew 
up the Murrah Building, and isn’t it kind of scary that one man could wreak 
this kind of hell?”1

Indeed, it was terrifying. Commentators searched for some psychological 
trigger in McVeigh’s past. Was it about his mother leaving, they wondered, 
or his failures with women? They worried about copycats who might follow 
in his footsteps. The trials of the other indicted men seemed far less impor
tant than the questions of why and how McVeigh acted. For a wide variety 
of reasons, most journalists and law enforcement officers alike failed to follow 
leads about additional suspects in the bombing. McVeigh appeared to be a 
lone madman, acting in concert with only a few co-conspirators, and easily 
dismissed as a mad outlier.

However, in no sense was the bombing of Oklahoma City carried out by 
one man. The hell McVeigh described represented the culmination of de
cades of white power organizing. McVeigh, trained as a combatant by the 
state, belonged to the white power movement. He acted without orders from 
movement leaders, but in concert with movement objectives and supported 
by resistance cell organizing. The plan for the bomb came directly from The 
Turner Diaries, the book that had structured the activity of the white power 
movement since the late 1970s. The choice of target came from an earlier 
white power movement incident: members of the Covenant, the Sword, and 
the Arm of the Lord (CSA), closely affiliated with the Order and Aryan Na-
tions, had cased the Murrah Building and attempted to blow it up with 
rocket launchers back in 1983 but failed. The Oklahoma City bombing 
represented the triumph of the white power paramilitary violence that had 
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reverberated through the American home front in the years following the 
Vietnam War.2

The bombing became popularly understood as the work of one man, or 
a few men, through several processes that eroded contextual understanding. 
One of these was the broad historical impact of the Gulf War in the early 
1990s: although politicians hoped it would vanquish “Vietnam syndrome” 
and end the public’s reluctance to engage in militarism abroad, its legacy on 
the ground was more complex. The quick victory in the Gulf War cemented 
a right-wing narrative that the Vietnam War had been lost only through gov-
ernment betrayal—in other words, victory in the Gulf became, for the 
right, further evidence of the threat presented by the federal government even 
as it reasserted a positive image of the U.S. military. The Gulf War also pro-
duced a new generation of combat veterans, and a militarization of Amer-
ican society more broadly, that white power could exploit as it pursued its 
new iteration of paramilitary mobilization through militias.3

Another erosion of meaning arose from the lack of convictions in the 1988 
Fort Smith sedition trial, after thirteen white power activists were acquitted 
of charges including seditious conspiracy despite overwhelming evidence of 
their war on the state. This failure, along with the even more damaging public 
relations disasters of Ruby Ridge and Waco, caused the Department of Jus-
tice and some agents in the FBI to be reluctant to portray the Oklahoma 
City bombing as the work of a movement and hence reluctant to pursue in-
vestigative and prosecutorial strategies based on that view. Indeed, the Bu-
reau had institutionalized a policy to pursue only individual actors in white 
power violence, with “no attempts to tie individual crimes to a broader move-
ment.” 4 This strategy not only worked to obscure the bombing as part a social 
movement but, in the years following McVeigh’s conviction, effectively 
erased the movement itself from public understanding.

Even the FBI’s own assessment of McVeigh in a criminological study of 
personality types fit poorly with his portrayal as a lone terrorist acting on 
his own motivations. “This is an easily controlled and manipulated person-
ality,” one FBI agent would tell the New York Times after the bombing. “They 
are looking for . . . ​some ideology. They have difficulty fitting into groups, 
but they are more mission-oriented, more focused.”5 This picture of McVeigh 
didn’t fit the man who would later speak as though he had organized the 
entire bombing, as though he had been “one man” wreaking “this kind of 
hell.” But the analyst’s depiction of McVeigh did fit the details of his life and 
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personality. Such a contradiction pointed, instead, to McVeigh as a soldier 
of leaderless resistance, motivated by the white power movement.6

McVeigh was born in a small town in New York and was by all accounts 
a quiet kid who never showed much interest in anything but guns. His 
mother left home when he was an adolescent. Forgotten by his teachers 
and dismissed by his peers, he took a job as a security guard. He liked to 
brandish “a huge . . . ​pistol out of his car window” and came to work with 
bandoliers of ammunition hung across his chest, like the fictional supersol-
dier and Vietnam War veteran Rambo. Clearly McVeigh was deeply attached 
to the popular culture deployments of the Vietnam War story.7

McVeigh found his footing when he joined the U.S. Army on May 24, 
1988. His obsessive neatness made him a model soldier—clean, in control, 
and quick to follow orders. In the army, he met Terry Nichols and Michael 
Fortier, both of whom would be involved in the plan to bomb Oklahoma 
City. Fortier would later say that Nichols, the platoon leader, also led them 
as a social group, while McVeigh was the follower.8 McVeigh and Nichols 
did their basic training at Fort Benning, Georgia, the same post that housed 
the School of the Americas. There they chanted cadences like “Blood makes 
the grass grow! Kill! Kill! Kill!” and one that sounded remarkably like the 
famous Soldier of Fortune motto espoused by Tom Posey and other merce-
naries, “Kill ’em all, let God sort it out.”9

After basic training, the group transferred to Fort Riley, Kansas—a post 
that was somewhat segregated and racially tense. McVeigh participated in 
this culture, exhibiting racist behavior while in the service. He kept a copy 
of The Turner Diaries and showed it to his fellow soldiers. Some of his former 
army buddies would later tell the New York Times, “McVeigh assigned ‘dirty 
work’ around the barracks to black soldiers.”10 He also felt that young black 
soldiers were disrespectful to him, and at one point bought a “White Power” 
shirt after seeing several “Black Power” shirts around the post; he didn’t wear 
it, but he showed it to friends. McVeigh would later claim he was not racist, 
and that there were a few black soldiers he respected. Still, people remember 
him using racial slurs and singling out black soldiers for negative attention 
because of their race. Around this time, McVeigh joined a Klan group in 
North Carolina.11

He served at Fort Riley until he shipped out to the Gulf War with Big 
Red One, the 1st Infantry Division, in which he served as an infantryman 
and then a gunner on a Bradley armored vehicle (similar to a tank). He 
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clashed frequently with his Latino platoon leader but was otherwise regarded 
as an excellent soldier. McVeigh received a promotion to sergeant and a 
Bronze Star, as well as Army Achievement Medal, Army Commendation 
Medal, National Defense Service Medal, Expert Rifleman’s Crest, and other 
decorations.12

While in the Gulf, McVeigh got a long-awaited call to try out for Special 
Forces. One of the sergeants who knew him in the military said McVeigh 
had trained for this opportunity on his own time, marching with a 100-
pound pack—but that was before the war. After going to Fort Bragg for the 
twenty-one-day Special Forces assessment and selection course, a tired and 
out-of-shape McVeigh washed out on the second day. He was extremely dis-
appointed. After that, the sergeant said, he “became involved with extreme 
right-wing political groups off-post.”13

After his subsequent discharge from Fort Riley, McVeigh appeared root-
less. He took another short-lived security guard job, where a coworker said, 
“He was a loner, a follower, not a leader.”14 His ties to the white power move-
ment deepened. A few publications later reported that McVeigh had been a 
member of the Knights of the Ku Klux Klan (KKKK) branch in Zinc, Ar-
kansas, in 1992.15 The leader of that branch, Thom Robb, was a national-
level white power movement figurehead who had taken over the KKKK from 
Don Black after the attempted mercenary invasion of Dominica; Black had 
previously taken over the leadership from David Duke. Robb also published 
White Patriot, a regular and widely read movement newspaper.16

McVeigh’s connection to the Klan in Zinc was more than casual or 
local—it connected him directly to the highest levels of the white power 
movement’s war-on-the-government leadership and messaging. In Feb-
ruary 1992, McVeigh wrote a letter to the Lockport, New York, Union-Sun 
and Journal in which he noted that he was not surprised racism was on the 
rise. “Is civil war imminent?” he asked. “Do we have to shed blood to re-
form the current system? I hope it doesn’t come to that, but it might.”17 His 
use of the term “system” echoed The Turner Diaries; at very least, McVeigh 
had tapped into the resources and strategies of the established white power 
movement, subscribing to White Patriot and talking with a coworker about 
stealing guns from a military installation.18 The theft of weapons from mili-
tary installations was a longtime strategy of white power activists, especially 
in North Carolina—the same state where McVeigh had written the Klan 
for more information and to purchase his “White Power” shirt.19
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McVeigh took the federal civil service exam to work as a U.S. marshal 
and scored high but was never hired; he blamed this and other career dead 
ends on equal opportunity laws, and said black people had put him out of a 
job.20 In June 1993, McVeigh moved to Canyon West trailer park in Kingman, 
Arizona. His place was clean and sparsely furnished, with guns hidden all 
over the trailer. One woman who spoke with him at a party said McVeigh 
talked a lot about the government and about Hitler. “He said he didn’t nec-
essarily agree with all those Jews being killed,” she said, “but he said Hitler 
had the right plan.” McVeigh’s phone records would later reveal several dif
ferent calls, placed before the bombing, to an Arizona representative of the 
National Alliance—Turner Diaries author William Pierce’s white separatist 
organization. Although he would later claim he was just looking for a place 
to hide out after his attack on the Murrah Building, rather than forming a 
relationship with or seeking guidance from the National Alliance, these 
calls evinced a strong and continued connection to the movement.21

One newspaper would later report that authorities suspected links be-
tween McVeigh and the Arizona Patriots, the group one official described 
in Order-era arrests as “cavemen with bombs” who had watched Red Dawn 
over and over and had plotted to destroy dams in Arizona. Their leader, Jack 
Oliphant, lived in Kingman, Arizona, as well, and claimed he was a former 
CIA mercenary who trained guerrillas from around the world in the use of 
explosives. He had a mailbox near McVeigh. A neighbor saw McVeigh and 
Nichols with Oliphant in the winter of 1993–1994. Though Oliphant said 
he didn’t know McVeigh, and he died before the completion of the bombing 
investigation, it is clear that McVeigh lived in close proximity to the Ari-
zona Patriots, and the group shared his worldview.22 McVeigh, like the 
Patriots, watched Red Dawn over and over. He also met repeatedly with a 
neo-Nazi activist, and met skinhead leader Johnny Bangerter. Fortier would 
later say that McVeigh wanted to start a militia in Arizona in 1994.23 Another 
resident told the local newspaper that McVeigh—who regularly wore 
fatigues—was terrifying at the shooting range, firing hundreds of rounds. 
“He pretty much went crazy, emptying on anything—trees, rocks, anything 
there,” the man said. “He just went ballistic.”24 As had earlier white power 
activists, McVeigh and Fortier broke into a National Guard armory in an 
attempt to steal guns and explosives, but they found only a few tools to 
steal.25 Once again, McVeigh was drawing heavily on the experiences of the 
white power movement.



The Bombing of Oklahoma City
� 215

In 1994, McVeigh quit his security guard job at a local trucking com
pany and moved to Michigan. There, he spent time off and on with Terry 
Nichols and his brother, James Nichols, who owned the farm near Decker 
where they stayed. An informer would later testify that James Nichols had 
been talking about leveling a federal building with a “megabomb” since 
1988. The witness remembered Nichols saying that “a small bomb could 
cause such a disaster,” and looking through his tool shed for a news clipping 
that showed the Murrah Building in Oklahoma City. When he didn’t find 
it immediately, he began to draw a diagram freehand.26 Thus, McVeigh lived 
with a militia movement member who had long fixated on blowing up the 
Murrah Building—enough so that he could draw it from memory.

While staying and working on James Nichols’s farm, Terry Nichols and 
McVeigh experimented with explosives and attended Michigan Militia meet-
ings. Terry Nichols sent a letter to the government renouncing his right to 
vote, participating in a widely used white power and militia movement 
strategy called “severation” in which members broke their official ties to the 
state by destroying Social Security cards, birth certificates, and other docu-
ments. Terry Nichols also subscribed to several white power publications. 
Michigan Militia members would later claim that James Nichols urged them 
all to go through severation, but that they asked him to leave because he 
was too radical. Still, McVeigh seems to have risen within the Michigan Mi-
litia. One newspaper reported that witnesses saw McVeigh at a militia 
meeting in Florida as a bodyguard to its leader, Mark Koernke. Although 
Koernke denied knowing him, McVeigh’s promotion to security guard at 
such a meeting indicated that he had entered the ranks of the heavily armed 
upper echelons of the militia movement.27 Throughout the history of the 
post–Vietnam War white power movement, private security forces had been 
a place to groom and train future movement leaders as well as elite paramili-
tary operatives such as members of the Order. A casual movement member 
would rarely, if ever, rise to a position of such trust.

In addition to his militia activity, McVeigh’s lifelong obsession with 
guns also gave him entry into a national network of weapons dealers. Under 
the alias Tim Tuttle, McVeigh traveled the gun-show circuit, reading, 
selling, and distributing The Turner Diaries in uniform or in camouflage 
fatigues. He also took another page from the strategy first proposed at the 
1983 Aryan Nations World Congress as the movement turned to revolu-
tion: he distributed information about movement enemies, perhaps in hopes 
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of coordinating others in the underground. His call was heavily framed by 
the defense of white women: McVeigh passed out cards with the name and 
home address of the sniper who had killed Vicki Weaver at Ruby Ridge. At 
a gun show in Tulsa, Oklahoma, he met Andreas “Andy the German” Strass
meir, a German army veteran who lived in a nearby white separatist com-
pound, Elohim City. McVeigh also read other white power publications and 
sent them to his sister, Jennifer McVeigh. His reading list included the para-
military mercenary magazine Soldier of Fortune and the white power news-
paper Spotlight.28

Zinc, Arkansas, the site of McVeigh’s Klan chapter, sat between Elohim 
City and the CSA compound; the three groups had substantial contact over 
the 1980s, and the Elohim City–CSA relationship was particularly close. 
One can draw a triangle between Fort Riley, where McVeigh was stationed; 
the CSA compound near Bull Shoals Lake, Arkansas; and Elohim City, just 
over the Oklahoma border. The triangle included no drive longer than six 
hours, and included both Zinc and Fort Smith within the routes connecting 
those three sites. McVeigh appears to have had connections to all these 
places: he once received a traffic ticket in Fort Smith, Arkansas. He and his 
sister subscribed to The Patriot Report, published in Fort Smith by a white 
separatist who lived at Elohim City. He was cited for crossing a double 
yellow line less than twenty-five miles east of Elohim City on October 12, 
1993, six months after the Waco siege and during a frenzy of movement 
activity; and in 1994 he stayed at a hotel in Vian, Oklahoma, twenty miles 
from Elohim City on the route back to Fort Riley. Connections between 
Elohim City and McVeigh were ample and sustained over at least the two 
years prior to the bombing, discrediting his later claim that he only wanted 
to hide out in the compound after the explosion.29

Founded by Robert Millar in 1973, Elohim City—“City of God,” in 
Hebrew—consisted of some seventy-five white separatists living on a 400-acre 
wooded compound, mostly in trailers parked on cement slabs. Residents 
trained with homemade napalm, Claymore mines, grenades, assault rifles, 
AR-15s, and Ruger Mini-14s. Strassmeir would later describe it as “a mix of 
the Afghani mountains and the Vietnam jungle,” locating the camp in a 
global paramilitary geography.30 Residents called Millar—the silver-haired 
leader in a clergyman’s shirt and stiff white collar—“Grandpa,” and for 
thirty-four of them, this was literally true.31 They were dedicated to what 
Millar called “cultural and genetic integrity,” and were careful—in light of 
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the CSA and Waco busts—to give the government no excuse to lay siege to 
their compound. Millar claimed the residents possessed no illegal weapons, 
although he refused to allow searches of the compound. He claimed he was 
not anti-government, although he frequently said that the ATF and FBI 
had “exceeded their legal mandates.” In interviews, Millar called himself a 
voice of moderation, and denied that the community was racist or paramili-
tary.32 However, several clear markers of white power movement involvement 
and paramilitary armament belied these claims.

Millar preached Christian Identity and separatism, and said that the 
wealth of the white race proved that they were God’s chosen people. He fore-
told civil war and race riots, and talked about “black helicopters.” Members 
of the compound brought semiautomatic weapons to church, even in front 
of outsiders. Elohim City residents called themselves “racialist,” believed in 
a Zionist conspiracy to control the government, and refused to participate 
in Social Security. Some didn’t pay taxes. One resident, a respected elder, 
was a Vietnam veteran who “went into the Vietnam War as a gung-ho pa-
triot and came out feeling betrayed by his government.” Three neo-Nazi 
skinheads lived nearby and attended church in the compound, and two 
worked at its sawmill. All of these factors point to a white separatist para-
military compound consistent in its beliefs, and armament, with the broader 
white power movement.33

Although the community itself had little to offer by way of a paramili-
tary force—only fifteen residents were adult males or teenage boys, with 
most being women, children, and old men—it served as a hideout and way 
station for other Aryan soldiers. James Wallington of the Order had hidden 
at Elohim City, and Kirk Lyons traveled there frequently.34 Elohim City reg-
ularly hosted white power movement leaders, including Tom Metzger, and 
had close ties with a cell of white power bank robbers called the Aryan Re-
publican Army (ARA). Federal agents had tried twice to search the com-
pound; on one of these occasions, related to a child custody dispute, Millar 
and other armed men confronted agents on the road and refused to let them 
in. Worried about a showdown like the one at Waco, the agents left without 
entering the premises. Much later, Millar’s son would concede that Elohim 
City had periodically given refuge to Aryan Nations members and other 
people in the movement.35

Jack Knox, the lead FBI agent who resigned in frustration after the 
sedition trial, believed that the government should have investigated Elohim 
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City following the CSA bust in 1985, and later spoke about the second time 
federal agents were denied legal entry to the compound. Knox believed that 
immediately after the CSA bust, a member of the Order who had master-
minded the Ukiah armored car heist holed up in Elohim City. When Knox 
and another agent tried to enforce a warrant for that man’s arrest, Millar 
and his grandsons confronted them at gunpoint until they agreed to leave. 
Knox saw this chain of events as government failure to prevent the disaster 
at Oklahoma City. “I think something should have been done prior to the 
bombing. I think something should have been done in connection with 
the CSA / Aryan Nations investigation,” Knox told the Arkansas Democrat-
Gazette in 2003. “I think there should have been a thorough investigation 
of Elohim City.”36

Millar claimed that there was “not a long or profound connection” be-
tween Elohim City and the CSA, saying he thought his group was “labeled 
in with them because we are both members of the Christian Identity.”37 
In fact, the connection between the CSA and Elohim City was remarkably 
long and profound. It was Millar who anointed Ellison “King James of the 
Ozarks” in the early 1980s. Ellison, Noble, and others from CSA attempted 
to travel to Elohim City in late December 1984, as the movement attempted 
to respond to the death of Order leader Bob Mathews. Federal agents 
called upon Millar to negotiate Ellison’s surrender during the 1985 CSA 
bust.38 Millar’s granddaughter would marry Ellison—who, at the time of 
the sedition trial, had at least two other wives—at Elohim City in May 1995, 
just after the Oklahoma City bombing.39

For all that Millar touted nonviolence—“I believe destruction is coming, 
but I want no part in starting it,” he told a New York Times reporter in 1985—
the compound did have a thoroughly armed paramilitary force led by 
Strassmeir, who would later be implicated in the bombing investigation.40 
Millar claimed this was only to send “a message to the area that our little 
village here shouldn’t be violated and we will protect ourselves.” 41 Millar 
believed in the same impending apocalyptic race war—and the role he 
would play in that fight—as did Ellison and other white power activists.

Millar acted as spiritual advisor to another CSA member who, unlike El-
lison, had stayed loyal to the white power movement through the Order 
and sedition trials. Richard Wayne Snell was the man who had blown up a 
natural gas pipeline in Fulton, Arkansas, in 1983, and killed a pawnshop 
owner and a pursuing black state trooper before hiding out in the CSA com-
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pound. He was arrested during the 1985 bust with Beam’s Essays of a 
Klansman and three hand grenades in his trunk.42 This was another strong 
connection between the bombing and the movement. Snell was scheduled 
to be executed by lethal injection on the day of the bombing, April 19, 1995. 
This was also the ten-year anniversary of the federal action at the CSA com-
pound and the two-year anniversary of the fiery end to the Waco siege, which 
McVeigh had watched on television, weeping.

Snell and Ellison had come up with the idea to bomb the Murrah Building 
some ten years earlier. In October 1983, during intense Order activity, the 
CSA considered using rocket launchers to destroy the building’s glass fa-
çade. Snell and Ellison had just attended the Aryan Nations World Con-
gress, the meeting where Beam and others declared war on the state and laid 
out the strategy of leaderless resistance, and of targeting federal officials, in-
stitutions, and buildings. Kerry Noble, Ellison’s right-hand man, cased the 
building with Snell several times that summer. They found Kent Yates, a 
former U.S. Army munitions specialist who claimed to have devised a system 
to simultaneously launch twelve to sixteen rockets from the back of a van 
parked on the street. They planned to carry out the attack while people were 
inside. “We knew people would die,” Noble said. “But the war against the 
government meant nothing if people didn’t die.” They abandoned the plan 
when a rocket misfired, exploding in Yates’s hand and burning him. “El-
lison interpreted this as a sign from God that it wasn’t what we [were] sup-
posed to do,” said Noble. Instead, the group attempted to assassinate Knox 
and others in 1983, but failed after a car accident delayed them. Charges 
around the attempted assassination became part of the 1988 sedition trial.43

In the months leading up to the 1995 bombing, the government received 
specific warnings about Elohim City. Undercover informant Carol Howe re-
ported “dangerous, apocalyptic statements” from Millar, Ellison, and 
others. Although the government dismissed this information—the ATF and 
FBI said Howe was “deactivated” as an informant in March 1995—Howe 
said she warned the agencies that something big was coming, and her warning 
was substantial and specific. She heard the leaders saying that “a ‘cataclysm’ 
was pending in the spring of 1995 and that federal buildings in Oklahoma 
City or Texas were being targeted for a bomb that would signal a ‘racial holy 
war’ in the United States.” It would coincide, Howe later said, with the 
second anniversary of the Waco inferno on April 19, 1995. The flock at 
Elohim City was preoccupied with the Waco raid, and residents held daily 
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meetings about bombing a building in late 1994 and early 1995. Howe’s 
former boyfriend was Dennis Mahon, a former National Guardsman who 
had belonged to White Aryan Resistance and the White Knights of the Ku 
Klux Klan and was by then living in Elohim City. Howe said Mahon had 
blown up a truck with a 500-pound ammonium nitrate and fuel oil bomb in 
1989 or 1990 in Michigan, where he was in contact with longtime racist leader 
Robert Miles. Mahon and Strassmeir, she reported, were talking about 
bombing federal buildings in Tulsa and Oklahoma City. Howe also said that 
while she was never formally introduced to McVeigh—and may never have 
seen him—she believed he was in Elohim City prior to the bombing.44

Howe would later claim that the government had attempted to suppress 
this information, and that if she had been “deactivated,” no one had ever told 
her so. The government said that her information was not specific enough to 
prevent the Oklahoma City bombing or to justify a potentially disastrous raid 
of Elohim City. Howe was acquitted of subsequent conspiracy charges related 
to an alleged bomb threat, which many saw as government retaliation for 
inconvenient testimony.45 Because of this residual doubt about her credibility, 
the jury in McVeigh’s trial never heard about Howe or what she witnessed in 
Elohim City. Stephen Jones, McVeigh’s attorney, told the Tulsa World that

throughout Howe’s tenure as an AFT informant in 1994–1995, she filed 70 
reports and frequently was polygraphed. . . . ​“They . . . ​found her to be a re-
liable, credible informant,” Jones said. “The documents further show a 
group of people associated with Elohim City were planning, actively, to en-
gage in assassinations, mass murder and bombings directed against the federal 
government. . . . ​She reported it. She watched while smaller bombs exploded, 
and reported it.” 46

Between Howe’s information, which gave the nature, date, and origin of the 
threat—and even went so far as to specify the details of a truck bomb and a 
federal building in Tulsa or Oklahoma City—and the descriptive example 
of the bombing given in The Turner Diaries, state agencies did have substan-
tial and historical information about what was about to happen. McVeigh 
was carrying out a planned and logical act, one that drew directly on the 
resources and strategies of the white power movement and targeted a building 
that had been at the forefront of the movement’s collective conscience for 
more than a decade. He was motivated by the same events that drove the 
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movement at large. After the passage of the Violent Crime Control and 
Law Enforcement Act in August 1994, which outlawed nineteen types of 
semiautomatic weapons, McVeigh wrote to Michael Fortier in exaspera-
tion: “What will it take,” he asked, to foment the revolution, to spur the war 
on the government promised by the movement and The Turner Diaries? 
Within weeks, their plan to bomb Oklahoma City was under way.47

McVeigh would even carry the messages of the white power movement on 
his body during the attack. He bombed the Murrah Building wearing a 
T-shirt that depicted the tree of liberty with the slogan “The tree of liberty 
must be refreshed from time to time with the blood of patriots and tyrants.” It 
was nearly the exact phrase Beam had used to rally the movement after Ruby 
Ridge, at the 1992 Estes Park summit of white power leaders and activists.48

Later, guards would say that McVeigh told them about his plans for the 
bombing while in prison awaiting trial. He said he had considered federal 
buildings and other sites in Denver, Kansas City, Texas, Little Rock, and 
South Dakota as potential targets. In the end, he chose Oklahoma City for 
the Murrah Building’s architectural vulnerability. It had nine floors with 
large glass windows, and had no courtyard or plaza that separated it from 
the street. A truck could park almost directly under its expansive glass fa-
çade. His aim was to damage not just the ATF—although that agency had 
offices in the Murrah Building—but as many federal agencies as possible. 
The building also faced an open park, meaning that the blast damage would 
be largely confined to people in the federal building, whom McVeigh saw as 
complicit with the New World Order.49

McVeigh, Nichols, and Fortier worked as a cell, amassing the supplies and 
funds needed to carry out the bombing. They used the moralized robberies of 
the Order as their model of operations. In September 1994, McVeigh and 
Nichols stole blasting caps, dynamite, and fuse cords from a quarry in 
Marion, Kansas, not far from Terry Nichols’s home. In November 1994, they 
carried out an Order-style robbery to support the costs of the bombing, 
Nichols taking some $60,000 worth of goods including guns, cash, silver bars, 
and gold coins from the home of gun dealer Roger Moore, who lived in a rural 
area near Hot Springs, Arkansas. McVeigh had stayed at Moore’s home prior 
to the robbery, and Moore immediately suspected his involvement. Some of 
the stolen guns were later found in the search of Nichols’s house.50

In the weeks before the bombing, McVeigh wrote a letter to a female 
friend that hinted he was going underground. The Turner Diaries called for 
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a separation of legal and paramilitary wings of the movement, stating “it 
would be a breach of Organization discipline for a member of an under-
ground unit to engage in any direct recruiting activity, however minimal. 
That function has been relegated to the ‘legal’ units.”51 In other words, 
operatives in the guerilla war were to leave the distribution of pamphlets to 
“legal” units while they worked on assassinations and bombings. In the letter, 
McVeigh told his friend he would no longer do leafleting or recruiting because 
he had “certain other ‘militant’ talents that are in short supply and greatly 
demanded.” He encouraged her to continue leafleting in his stead.52 McVeigh 
also wrote to his sister Jennifer, telling her that he had become a member of 
a “Special Forces Group involved in criminal activity.”53

The Turner Diaries gave a very specific example of a truck bombing of 
the sort McVeigh was planning. In the novel, Turner and his cell unit 
bomb the FBI headquarters in Washington, D.C. They use a truck bomb 
with around 5,000 pounds of ammonium nitrate fertilizer with blasting 
gelatin and dynamite, and they drill holes so that the driver can light the 
fuse from the cab of the truck. They plan to drive the truck into the freight 
area, set the fuse, and walk away. They are fully aware that their action will 
hurt or kill the people who work in the building. In the novel, the bomb 
detonates at 9:15 a.m., catching people at the beginning of their workday 
and killing more than 850. Turner worries about one pretty twenty-year-old 
white girl trapped under a steel door.

When I stooped to stop the girl’s bleeding, I became aware for the first time 
of the moans and screams of dozens of other injured persons in the court-
yard. Not twenty feet away another woman lay motionless, her face covered 
with blood and a gaping wound in the side of her head—a horrible sight 
which I can still see vividly every time I close my eyes. . . . ​All day yesterday 
and most of today we watched the TV coverage of rescue crews bringing the 
dead and injured out of the building. It is a heavy burden of responsibility 
for us to bear. . . . ​But there is no way we can destroy the System without 
hurting many thousands of innocent people—no way. It is a cancer too deeply 
rooted in our flesh. And if we don’t destroy the System before it destroys us—
if we don’t cut this cancer out of our living flesh—the whole race will die.54

Even as Turner stops to help the iconic injured white woman, he insists that 
innocent civilians—including white women and children—must die in order 
to “cut the cancer” of the federal government out of the “living flesh” of white 
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society. While Turner considers the deaths of civilians a “heavy burden of 
responsibility,” he still sees the “pawns” killed in the bombing as unavoid-
able collateral damage in the cause of race war and in preventing the apoca-
lypse of racial extinction. McVeigh would describe the civilians he killed in 
much the same way.

Drawing on the Turner Diaries, then, McVeigh drove his 1977 yellow Mer-
cury Marquis to Oklahoma City, where he parked in a downtown garage near 
the Murrah Building. He called Nichols to come pick him up, and they drove 
north to Junction City, Kansas—the nearest city to Fort Riley, where McVeigh 
had long held a storage unit—and rented a Ryder truck using his 10 percent 
military discount. Just afterward, on April 5, McVeigh placed a two-minute 
phone call to Elohim City. He was trying to reach Strassmeir, who had lived 
there off and on since 1991 and had become head of security. This position 
indicated Strassmeir’s involvement with the compound’s paramilitary side; 
watchdogs have pointed out that after Waco, he was instrumental in up-
grading the compound’s arsenal to include assault rifles. By the time of 
McVeigh’s phone call, however, Strassmeir had already left the compound 
for good because he did not approve of the imminent arrival of Ellison, who 
would marry Millar’s granddaughter weeks after the bombing.55

In another connection, one that the archive does not fully explain, 
McVeigh also called Lyons’s law office a few days before the bombing.56 Per-
haps McVeigh wished to coordinate a defense. Perhaps he was prepared to 
be a scapegoat after the bombing. Perhaps the cell was prepared for any man 
caught to take the fall for the others and go to jail. After all, McVeigh—who 
after the bombing was caught on a routine traffic stop—later claimed credit 
for the attack even as Lyons spirited Strassmeir out of the country before he 
could be thoroughly investigated.57

In the days before the bombing, McVeigh stayed on task. When Nichols 
and Fortier expressed doubt or reluctance, McVeigh circulated Armed and 
Dangerous: The Rise of the Survivalist Right, a book by journalist James Coates 
who had covered the emergence of the Order in the 1980s. A copy of Armed 
and Dangerous from Kingman, Arizona’s Mohave County Library turned up 
in the FBI search of Terry Nichols’s house in Kansas. The book included a 
chapter on the Order, many references to Louis Beam, material on the CSA, 
and a comprehensive description of the movement as a whole. Having read it 
and required its reading by his compatriots, McVeigh could not have been ig-
norant of the white power movement in which he now planned to participate. 
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And what would arrest matter to a soldier in that kind of war? “We are the 
legions of the damned,” read a passage by Order leader Bob Mathews in the 
book’s epigraph. “The army of the already dead.”58

As they marshaled the will to carry out the attack, McVeigh and his co-
conspirators continued to gather the supplies they would need. On April 17 
or 18, a witness reported seeing five men with a Ryder truck parked near 
Geary State Lake. The site was less than a half hour’s drive on the route from 
Junction City, Kansas—where McVeigh had rented the Ryder truck—to 
Oklahoma City, via US-77, a back road that passed through Herington, 
Kansas, where Terry Nichols lived. The witness said he saw a Ryder truck 
loaded down with ammonium nitrate fertilizer parked on the side of the 
road. Thinking the truck was stuck, he stopped to help, but he changed his 
mind after a menacing look from one of the men. Descriptions of the men 
matched those of militiamen and white power figures active in the area—and 
indicated that at least three other people besides McVeigh and Nichols were 
present. The other vehicles parked near the Ryder truck were a pickup, a large 
stakebed truck, and a brown car. McVeigh had already parked his 1977 
yellow Mercury in a downtown garage in Oklahoma City, ready for the get-
away, and had removed its Arizona license plate. Nichols drove a pickup. 
Federal agents never followed the lead about the other two vehicles, nor did 
they locate and interview these other suspects. After assembling the bomb 
at Geary State Lake with unknown accomplices, McVeigh drove the Ryder 
truck from Kansas to Oklahoma City on 250 miles of back roads, in order to 
avoid being pulled over.59

The night before the bombing, McVeigh slept in the Ryder truck with 
the 7,000-pound fertilizer bomb. The morning of April 19, he drove into 
Oklahoma City, inserted earplugs, lit a five-minute fuse and then a two-
minute one as he approached the target, parked the truck in the delivery 
pull-off in front of the Murrah Building, checked that the fuses were burning, 
got out of the truck, and walked away. He made it about 150 yards before 
the explosion lifted him off the ground.60

The bomb killed 167 people, and a nurse died on the scene when she was 
hit by falling debris, bringing the death toll to 168. More than 500 were 
injured. Nineteen children died in the blast. The number of deaths in Okla-
homa City exceeded the 148 Americans who had died in combat during the 
Gulf War. One Vietnam veteran on the scene compared the blast to war, 
but said that the bombing was worse. “In the war, you knew the enemy was 
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coming after you. You were prepared. You could defend yourself. . . . ​We had 
no warning for this.” 61

Many of the victims, and most of the children, were disfigured, burned, 
or maimed. Parents used birthmarks to identify their dead children. “I 
couldn’t see anything in his face at all. It was all puffed up, all bloody with 
scratches and stitches and black eyes,” said Jim Denny, father of Brandon 
Denny, three, who had a strawberry birthmark on his thigh. “But his legs, 
his little legs. His legs were so clean.” McVeigh and Fortier would both claim 
later that they didn’t know about the day care center on the second floor of 
the building, directly over the place where the Ryder truck had exploded. 
Rescue workers lined up the small bodies in a playground.62

The structural instability of what remained of the Murrah Building com-
plicated the rescue effort; falling pieces of debris and swinging electrical 
lines threatened rescue workers. It rained on and off during the days that 
followed the bombing, and crews frequently had to abandon the crane they 
were using because of concerns about lightning. One victim, pinioned under 
fallen steel, had to have her right leg amputated on the scene because moving 
the debris might have caused the building to collapse. An assistant fire chief 
spoke of the people still stuck in the wreckage. “There are places we have to 
crawl over bodies to get to other people,” he said. “People are crying out to 
us. There are areas where we can reach through and try to touch their hands. 
There are some areas we can’t get to at all.” As the days passed, the presence 
of putrefying bodies further hampered the rescue effort, with workers slowed 
by the sheer volume of blood and bodily fluids.63

In the chaos after the blast, McVeigh got in the parked getaway car and 
drove slowly away from Oklahoma City, heading north. He would later say 
that he forgot to put a license plate on the car, and this oversight led to his 
arrest when he crossed a double yellow line in Perry, Oklahoma, seventy-
five minutes after the bomb went off. The timing indicates that he carefully 
drove at or under the speed limit from Oklahoma City to Perry, on a route 
that would have led him back to Fort Riley. McVeigh, who owned a radar 
detector and frequently drove recklessly, far above the speed limit, was exer-
cising unusual caution.64

When he was arrested, McVeigh had no money with him.65 He did have a 
semiautomatic handgun loaded with a Black Talon “cop killer” bullet.66 The 
standard protocol for white power operatives being pursued was to shoot the 
police officer and flee. Snell had done so, as had Order member David 
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Tate.67 McVeigh, however, was polite to the arresting officer, perhaps because 
the policeman quickly drew his weapon. McVeigh told the officer he had a 
gun, and then surrendered peaceably.68 He was arrested with Strassmeir’s 
card in his wallet.69 It was a strange oversight, and this—along with 
McVeigh’s unusually strict observance of the speed limit in his getaway—
indicated that he did not set out to be arrested. Perhaps he thought, when 
he surrendered, that he could not be linked to the bombing and would be 
quickly released. Indeed, only through a lucky and rapid John Doe descrip-
tion issued to the Perry jail was McVeigh held for anything other than the 
routine traffic violation and a concealed weapon charge.70 McVeigh never 
attempted violent evasion or jailbreak and was consistently cooperative with 
his jailers.

Also in the car at the time of his arrest was a thick packet of extremist 
literature, quotes from Patrick Henry and Winston Churchill, and writings 
on Waco and on Samuel Adams. The envelope that held them was sealed; 
perhaps McVeigh carried them in case he was apprehended and unable to 
tell his story for himself. One of the items in the packet was a quote from 
The Turner Diaries:

More important, though, is what we taught the politicians and the bureau-
crats. They learned this afternoon that not one of them is beyond our reach. 
They can huddle behind barbed wire and tanks in the city, and they can hide 
behind the concrete walls of their country estates, but we can still find them 
and kill them.71

McVeigh wanted the bombing to send a message to the New World Order: 
that white American men could still wage war on the state.

As McVeigh sat in one lockup, perhaps wondering if authorities would 
release him on the traffic violation or discover his connection to the bombing, 
Snell awaited execution in another. There he received Robert Millar, who 
had come from Elohim City to counsel him as his death approached. An FBI 
review of the prison log would later report that Snell spent the hours before 
his execution lying on his bunk and watching television coverage of the 
Oklahoma City bombing, “smiling and chuckling.” As guards prepared to 
administer the lethal injection that night, Snell’s final words were of race 
war and a warning for the Arkansas governor. “Look over your shoulder, jus-
tice is on the way,” Snell foretold. “I wouldn’t trade places with you or any 
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of your political cronies. Hail His victory. I am at peace.” After the lethal 
injection at 9:10 p.m., men from Elohim City collected his body. He was 
buried at the compound, with a funeral officiated by Millar that revealed, 
again, the close ties between that community and Snell’s CSA.72

In the days that followed, more and more links between the bombing 
and the white power movement emerged. Authorities transferred McVeigh 
to prison to await trial. They identified and located Terry Nichols after 
he turned himself in to the state police in Herington; a search of his 
house produced some thirty weapons, including a replica Uzi machine 
gun. In the home and car of McVeigh, officials found writings and letters 
about his belief in a right to carry firearms without government restraint. 
He also had a book, Sinister Twilight, and a video, Day 51—both about 
Waco.73

Meanwhile, doubts arose that one truck bomb could have inflicted so 
much damage. Two anonymous Pentagon experts said the damage was con-
sistent with five separate bombs, but the ruins were demolished before an 
independent forensic team could investigate. The government cited health 
concerns as the reason for expediting the demolition. This part of the story 
generated complicated conspiracy theories, as did witness reports of a “John 
Doe 2,” never located, described as an olive-skinned, dark-haired man.74

Regardless of the specifics of the explosion, McVeigh could not have acted 
alone. Regardless of whether only the Ryder truck bomb or an additional 
series of smaller explosions caused the damage, Nichols and Fortier were very 
likely joined by the Geary State Lake accomplices in helping McVeigh with 
the bombing. When McVeigh wrote that he had become a member of a “Spe-
cial Forces Group involved in criminal activity,” it signaled membership. 
Such groups, the paramilitary elite of the white power movement, were 
not newly wrought by the militiamen: they had led mercenary expeditions 
in Central America, conducted vigilante border watches, confronted Viet
namese refugees on the Texas coast, and robbed and killed in the Order and 
in affiliated local groups. McVeigh’s membership in such a cell during these 
years positioned him as a soldier of the white power movement. It also 
pointed to the continued power of violence in binding white power actors 
together. McVeigh, who wanted more than anything to be a member of the 
U.S. Army Special Forces, instead found the equivalent position in the 
paramilitary war on the state, a campaign that had always been modeled 
on the Vietnam War story.75
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The image of McVeigh as a working soldier was emphasized by his trial, 
which began on the tenth anniversary of the Fort Smith sedition trial, and 
that of Terry Nichols. Further links between the white power movement and 
the bombing emerged while McVeigh and Nichols were in jail. After authori-
ties decided Strassmeir was a person of interest, movement lawyer Lyons 
helped him flee the country before the investigation could produce any more 
information to tie him to the bombing. And because McVeigh refused to 
acknowledge his role in the bombing until after his conviction, McVeigh’s 
defense team went so far as to issue a false confession in hopes of baiting 
white power leaders into giving affidavits. The Rocky Mountain News later 
reported that the confession was meant to make Beam think McVeigh was 
acting as the perfect operative by accepting blame for the bombing. The de-
fense team thought Beam was a possible suspect in the bombing but was 
unable to get him on record in a useful way. Beam, purportedly plagued with 
ongoing personal crises, including custody battles and health problems he 
attributed to Agent Orange exposure in Vietnam, had begun to quietly with-
draw from the movement. During the investigation, Beam said through an 
intermediary that he could not be held responsible for how others might 
misuse his ideas.76

Unable to prove that McVeigh was carrying out Beam’s strategy of lead-
erless resistance, the defense team argued that there had been a conspiracy. 
It was based, they said, in Elohim City, where resident “members of the 
Aryan Nations, the Posse Comitatus and former Kansas City Ku Klux Klan 
leader Dennis Mahon” assisted McVeigh. Jones argued that in the weeks 
before the bombing, Elohim City was “populated by individuals who previ-
ously had engaged in armed confrontation with the federal government 
including neo-Nazis with training manuals on how to make ammonium 
nitrate bombs.”77 Jones relied on the testimony of Carol Howe, allowed as a 
witness in Nichols’s trial, who maintained that Mahon and Strassmeir cased 
the Murrah Building three times just before the bombing. Jones also referred 
to an Order-style spree of bank robberies in the area carried out by the Aryan 
Republican Army. That group certainly followed the directives of the Or-
der’s war on the state: it carried out a chain of bank robberies from 1994 to 
1996, eventually robbing nineteen banks in eight states. Of six suspects in 
those robberies, four had lived at Elohim City or had close ties there. One 
was wanted for the triple murder of a gun dealer and his family. ARA mem-
bers included Michael Brescia and Mark Thomas. Some suspected Brescia 
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of being involved in the Oklahoma City bombing as John Doe 2, although 
such suspicions were never investigated or confirmed. Dennis Mahon—of 
Tom Metzger’s White Aryan Resistance in California, and Carol Howe’s 
former boyfriend—was close friends with Brescia and Thomas. Thomas was 
also the leader of the Pennsylvania branch of Aryan Nations. These connec-
tions pointed persuasively to Elohim City as a refuge and staging ground of 
a continued war on the state waged by the unified white power movement. 
“If the bombing or anything like that was planned here, it was certainly not 
to my knowledge,” said Millar in an uncharacteristically weak denial. A local 
witness claimed to have seen McVeigh with one of the accused ARA bank 
robbers.78

The conspiracy defense did not succeed: McVeigh was found guilty and 
sentenced to death by lethal injection. Perhaps Jones lost the case, commen-
tators ventured, because McVeigh refused to offer sufficient information to 
sustain the defense. Wrote author Gore Vidal, who undertook a lengthy cor-
respondence with McVeigh after his conviction, “Jones’s case led some re-
porters to speculate that McVeigh himself was limiting his own defense in 
order to prevent evidence that might implicate others in the bombing from 
entering the record.”79 Later, in Terry Nichols’s trial, Vidal pointed out that 
the jury forewoman, after reporting a hung jury, told the press, “Decisions 
were probably made very early on that McVeigh and Nichols were who they 
were looking for, and the same sort of resources were not used to try to find 
out who else might be involved. . . . ​The government really dropped the ball.” 
The forewoman received bomb threats soon after saying so. Some jurors, 
Vidal wrote, believed that other conspirators were still at large.80

Vidal also wrote, “I unearthed evidence that the FBI did not follow up 
on solid leads, or, if they did, failed to turn those over to the defense. I un-
covered information provided to the FBI by Kansas law enforcement, and 
by very reliable eyewitnesses who were apparently disregarded,” including 
the story of the five men at Geary State Lake. He also “found evidence that 
the FBI may have withheld certain information from the defense teams 
during discovery, potentially tainting the verdicts against both McVeigh and 
Nichols.”81 Indeed, the FBI deliberately withheld such evidence in its stra-
tegic pursuit of a single perpetrator. Attorney General John Ashcroft would 
delay McVeigh’s execution by a month, at the end, to allow the defense to 
review materials not disclosed during the trial. The FBI turned over thou-
sands of pages of documents that the agency had not revealed even under a 
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direct order from the judge.82 Nevertheless, McVeigh’s execution in June 2001 
cemented the popular perception that he had acted alone.

Meanwhile, most reactions to the bombing within the white power 
movement fell into two categories: those who condemned the act and be-
lieved McVeigh was an innocent scapegoat, and those who approved of the 
bombing as violence necessary in the war on the state. Militia of Montana 
leader David Trochmann said federal government operatives had carried 
out the bombing in order to discredit militias.83 Incarcerated Order member 
David Lane published a lengthy open letter to McVeigh in his newsletter. 
Angry that Richard Matsch, the same judge who had sentenced him and 
his fellow Order members, was presiding over McVeigh’s trial, Lane wrote 
that McVeigh had surely been set up.

Timothy, you are dealing with a government that over the last two centuries 
has traveled from Dixie, to Cuba, to Mexico, to Panama to Grenada, to a 
dozen Latin American countries, from the halls of Montezuma, to the shores 
of Tripoli, to Italy, to Germany twice, to Japan, to Korea, to Vietnam, to Iraq, 
to Waco, to Whidbey Island, to Ruby Ridge and dozens of lesser known 
wars,  occupations and assassinations, in pursuit of their . . . ​New World 
Order. In the process they have killed and maimed many tens of millions of 
very real people.84

Lane placed the battles of the white power movement—the standoff between 
Mathews and the FBI at Whidbey Island, the siege at Ruby Ridge and the 
fire at Waco—in a history of brutal U.S. interventions all over the world. 
Under the power of such a superstate, a man set up to take a fall could not 
expect justice. The Jubilee, following this line, called the bombing a tragedy, 
but also defended McVeigh from what it saw as unjust federal prosecution.85

Meanwhile, Turner Diaries author and National Alliance leader William 
Pierce lauded the bombing and promised more violence to come. “Terrorism 
is a nasty business. Most of its victims are innocent people,” Pierce said. “But 
terrorism is a form of warfare, and in war most of the victims are noncom-
batants.”86 Other movement figures recognized the violence as part of their 
war on the state. The National Socialist Workers’ Party said it had no con-
nection to the bombing, but that members of the movement were probably 
involved. In an ethnographic interview, one white separatist woman said 
people in her group “were happy about what happened in Oklahoma. There’s 
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a lot of anger out there. The people, some felt sorry for the children but the 
rest of them got what they deserved, the government deserved. The govern-
ment provoked this.”87

Beam offered a call to action. In a long “historical analysis” of the bombing 
in the Jubilee, he decried the “horrendous explosion and senseless loss of life 
in Oklahoma City” and wrote that the bombing would fuel the police state, 
which would crack down on the militias and on gun ownership. Then, Beam 
asked the reader to put aside assumptions of conspiracy: what if the govern-
ment had not set up the Oklahoma City bombing? What if McVeigh and 
Nichols were not government agents, but ordinary men? “What then would 
produce the amount of frustration necessary to motivate decorated Gulf War 
veterans to carry out such an act independent of any government collusion?” 
he asked. “Two things come to mind: Failure of government to punish those 
who killed Mrs. Weaver and her son at Ruby Ridge, and failure of govern-
ment to punish those in law enforcement who murdered innocent men, 
women, and children at Waco.” From this invocation of martyrs, Beam 
moved fluidly into a new call to arms.

When the law breaks down, the vigilante is called forth. . . . ​To control this 
disease of the American spirit we must go straight for the command and con-
trol center in Washington. We still have the power to take back America so 
long as free elections are held. Between now and the next national election 
we must all arm ourselves with a voter registration slip and use it like a .308 
sniper weapon to “take out” the infectious bought whores of the new world 
government who are now proposing to rule us all with an Orwellian iron 
fist—forever beating us into submission, while claiming to protect us.88

Likening a voter registration slip to a sniper rifle was a strangely unwieldy 
metaphor for Beam. Perhaps it is better read as a coded message to move-
ment followers and to underground resistance cells. The .308 was the weapon 
proposed in the Order’s plan for six-member cells to avoid police pursuit by 
killing policemen and disabling their cars. And the target, clearly embedded 
in the message, was “the command and control center in Washington.” Beam 
was calling for soldiers to follow McVeigh’s lead in acting against the federal 
government.

Indeed, the bombing launched an almost immediate and widespread wave 
of violence as the militia movement, and the broader white power movement, 
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took action around the country. Four militiamen were arrested in Oklahoma, 
where they were allegedly planning to bomb several buildings. Federal doc-
uments said that they had planned to practice at Elohim City; while Millar 
admitted that he knew one of the men, he said he knew nothing about their 
plan.89 Three members of the Georgia Republic Militia were convicted of 
stockpiling bombs. Militia members from West Virginia, Ohio, and Penn-
sylvania were accused of planning to blow up the FBI’s national fingerprint 
center, another idea taken directly from The Turner Diaries. A federal mine 
inspector and his wife were injured in a copycat bombing in Vacaville, 
California. There was an Oklahoma-based conspiracy to blow up the Anti-
Defamation League offices in Houston.90 Bombings, bomb threats, mur-
ders, and armed protests plagued gay bars in the South and abortion clinics 
there and in the Midwest. Confederate Hammer Skins—skinheads armed 
with assault weapons—chased law enforcement officers away from a “White 
Man’s Weekend” in Dawsonville, Georgia.91 In 1995, seven Militia of Mon-
tana members stormed the sheriff’s department to demand the return of con-
fiscated property; five—including leader John Trochmann—were arrested 
on concealed weapons charges, and authorities suspected they had planned 
to kidnap and hang a district court judge. The New York Times reported on 
several other fugitives holed up in Idaho and Montana, each man waiting 
for, and perhaps even hoping for, his standoff with the feds.92

Several familiar white power activists reemerged after the bombing. In 
1997, a jury convicted navy veteran Veren Jay Merrell of domestic terrorism 
bombings and bank robberies in eastern Washington, including bombing a 
Planned Parenthood clinic, a U.S. Bank branch, and a suburban bureau of 
the Spokane-based Spokesman-Review. Merrell, who had written for the Ju-
bilee, was a member of the Arizona Patriots not convicted after the 1986 bust. 
The group had relocated to Idaho (possibly following Bob Mathews), had 
reorganized, and had continued to wage war on the state. Merrell, who prac-
ticed severation, was a nuclear expert from his time in the navy and easily 
translated this skill set to bomb-making.93 Ex-mercenary and Civilian Mil-
itary Assistance head Tom Posey also turned up again after the Oklahoma 
City bombing, and was convicted of conspiracy to sell night-vision goggles—
nearly a quarter of a million dollars’ worth—stolen from the army post at 
Fort Hood, Texas.94 In 1999, Buford Furrow—who had married Debbie 
Mathews, the widow of Bob Mathews—opened fire on a Jewish community 
center and killed a Filipino postal worker in Los Angeles, California. 
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Furrow, who was using an Uzi, also wounded three children, a teenager, and 
an old woman. In his van, police found 2,000 rounds of ammunition and 
an Army Ranger handbook; he was also armed with other weapons, in-
cluding hand grenades. Furrow may have been attempting to get into the 
Phineas Priesthood, a Christian Identity group that required its soldiers to 
wage acts of race war in order to gain membership. Furrow was a longtime 
Aryan Nations member with a history of violent activity. In an earlier court 
appearance for assault, he had said he fantasized about committing a mass 
killing: even so, he was able to obtain an Uzi and carry out further crimes.95

On July 27, 1996, Eric Rudolph bombed Atlanta’s Centennial Park in the 
middle of the Olympics. Because the bomb had shifted, orienting its explo-
sion vertically rather than horizontally, its shrapnel wounded only 111 people 
and killed two; the bomb had been intended for a much higher death toll. 
Rudolph, escaping arrest, followed with three more bombs in 1996 and 1997, 
targeting two abortion clinics and a gay bar. Those blasts injured another 
six people and killed two more. All four bombs, the FBI would later con-
firm, were “powerful antipersonnel devices, containing nails, that were de-
signed to kill and maim,” with secondary blasts or advance warning phone 
calls calculated to target rescue workers.96 Rudolph, who signed his letters 
“Army of God” in reference to a violent anti-abortion crusade, had grown 
up around white separatism. As a freshman in high school, he wrote a paper 
denying the Holocaust, a common intellectual exercise for white power 
movement members and their children. His family lived in the North Car-
olina wilderness; Rudolph was anti-abortion, anti-gay, and dedicated to war 
on the state.97

Rudolph, an experienced woodsman, disappeared into the mountains of 
western North Carolina, where he remained on the run—and on the FBI’s 
Ten Most Wanted list, with a reward of $1 million—for five years. He chose 
a region, reported the New York Times, where white separatist organizations 
were known to take refuge. And indeed, the locals did little to help authori-
ties catch Rudolph. FBI director Louis Freeh and Attorney General Janet 
Reno made impassioned pleas, describing the horrific details of the Olympic 
Park bombing, to attempt to generate help finding Rudolph. When Rudolph 
was apprehended near Murphy, North Carolina, he had buried four caches 
of dynamite around the town, including a twenty-five-pound bomb across 
the road from the Army National Guard armory that served as the base for 
the FBI manhunt. This revealed a continued engagement with the Order’s 
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attempts to target law enforcement officers, the White Patriot Party’s theft of 
military weapons from North Carolina armories, or both.98 Meanwhile, a 
string of less publicized incidents showed a white power movement still active 
and violent. The Arizona Patriots plotted to blow up abortion clinics in the 
mid-1990s. In 1999, Benjamin Smith, linked with the white power World 
Church of the Creator, went on a shooting spree in Illinois and Indiana, 
wounding six Jews and killing two people of color before killing himself.99

The Oklahoma City bombing, as Beam foretold, resulted in a federal 
crackdown that dampened the white power movement somewhat in the late 
1990s and early 2000s. Thom Robb’s Klan in Zinc, Arkansas, disbanded 
under the pressure of the bombing investigation. In March 1996, the FBI 
attempted to round up the Montana Freemen at Justus Township, provoking 
a long siege, but one that ended peacefully and avoided creating a member-
ship surge like the one that had followed Ruby Ridge and Waco. Lyons 
turned up at Justus Township to help with hostage negotiations. The Jubilee 
called the raid the culmination of three years of government harassment, 
political persecution, and judicial suppression. McVeigh said his bombing 
had curbed state violence. Perhaps he was right: after all, there had been no 
fiery end to the siege at Justus Township.100

Until his execution in 2001, McVeigh maintained that he had acted alone, 
with coerced help from Fortier and Nichols, in carrying out the bombing. 
He said that his attorney was wrong about the conspiracy idea, that he had 
never met Mahon, and that he had encountered Strassmeir only once, at a 
gun show. He said he had made calls to Elohim City and the National Al-
liance only to secure a place to hide after the bombing.101 The evidence, how-
ever, from McVeigh’s life history, to his associations, to the ideas that shaped 
his life and actions, points to his long participation in the white power move-
ment and as a soldier of its cell-style underground. It didn’t matter that 
McVeigh had no demonstrable contact with white power leaders. He could 
be no greater an acolyte had he gone into battle under direct command. 
McVeigh referred to the bombing as a “military action,” and the bombing 
was indeed the culmination of decades of white power organization, bringing 
to bear years and years of paramilitarism. The successful strategy of leader-
less resistance meant that movement leaders could never be linked to the 
bombing—and that even the white power movement itself could become 
invisible, its coordinated violence misunderstood as disconnected acts car-
ried out by lone terrorists.



TH E BO M B I N O KLAH O MA C ITY left an eight-foot crater in the street and a mas-
sive hollow in the edifice of the federal building. Survivors spoke of the ma-
terial void they encountered in the immediate aftermath of the blast: the 
empty space where that part of the building should have been. “It was like 
the end of the world when the blast hit, this tremendous noise and pressure 
against you, and I could see everything disintegrating,” said Wanda Web-
ster, a sixty-five-year-old employee of the Office of Native American Pro-
grams. “When I finally did remove the rubble and stand up, there was 
nothing there.”1

Such descriptions of absence serve as an apt metaphor for the way the 
bombing distorted, or even destroyed, what had been a popular awareness 

Epilogue

A police car decorated with the slogan “We Will Never Forget” sits before the 
wreckage of the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building in Oklahoma City, April 1995. 
(Rick Bowmer, Associated Press Photo)
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of white power activity. From Klan paramilitary camps to the Greensboro 
shooting, from the Order to the Fort Smith sedition trial, white power ac-
tions made the news. Although the connections between such episodes were 
not always made clear, they nevertheless appeared in mainstream news
papers, on morning newsmagazine and afternoon talk shows, in movies and 
television miniseries, and even on the late-night comedy show Saturday Night 
Live.2 But Timothy McVeigh’s execution cemented a perception of the 
bombing as unconnected to the events that came before, as an inexplicable 
act of violence carried out by one or a few actors. This idea threatened to 
occlude the white power movement altogether. Leaderless resistance had tri-
umphed as a strategy to hide the broader movement in the bombing inves-
tigation and prosecution, and in the journalistic and scholarly accounts as 
well. They have portrayed white power movement violence as isolated, rather 
than a series of coordinated acts, and its activists as madmen rather than as 
part of a movement.

The Oklahoma City bombing stands as the fulfillment of the revolu-
tionary violence waged by white power activists. Gulf War veteran Timothy 
McVeigh carried out the bombing in connection with other activists; read 
and distributed the novel that had structured the violence of the Order; chose 
a building that white power activists had targeted since 1983, the year they 
declared war on the state; talked about stealing weapons from a military 
post; and saw civilians as “collateral damage” in a war upon the federal 
government.3 His action was the work of a post–Vietnam War paramili-
tary white power movement that was still structuring militia violence and 
supposedly “lone” acts of terrorism in 1995.

That the Oklahoma City bombing, which stood as a singular event of 
mass-casualty terrorism on American soil—deliberate violence at a scale un-
surpassed, at that time, since the bombing of Pearl Harbor—did not so-
lidify a public understanding of the white power movement and its capacity 
for violence is remarkable.4 Smaller-scale violent events earlier in the twen-
tieth century, such as the 1963 bombing of the Sixteenth Street Baptist 
Church in Birmingham, Alabama, had played a role in galvanizing public 
opinion against the Klan and in favor of the civil rights movement.5 Cer-
tainly such events helped tip the scale of public opinion away from overt 
racism and the outright support of racial violence, such that in their after-
math, even politicians who pursued policies with racial implications increas-
ingly framed these in coded terms.6
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What was left unfinished, unexplained, and unconfronted about white 
power meant that it could resurge in the years following 1995. White power 
should have been legible as a coherent social movement but was instead 
largely narrated and prosecuted as scattered actions and inexplicable lone 
wolf attacks motivated not by ideology but by madness or personal animus. 
It might have been treated as a wide-reaching social network with the 
capacity to inflict mass casualties, but was too often brushed off as back-
wardness or ineptitude. It should have been acknowledged as producing, 
supporting, and deploying a coherent worldview that posed radical chal-
lenges to a liberal consensus around racial and gender equality and support 
of institutions including the vote, courts, the rule of law, and federal legisla-
tive bodies. Instead, the disappearance of the movement in the years after 
Oklahoma City—engineered by white power activists but permitted and 
furthered by government actors, prosecutorial strategies, scholars, and jour-
nalists alike—left open the possibility of new waves of action. Even as pro-
longed wars in Iraq and Afghanistan shaped a new generation of white 
power activism, this new activity would largely continue to evade public 
understanding, despite the warnings of watchdog groups, until it broke 
into mainstream politics in the 2016 presidential campaign and election.

Although militias and copycat crimes briefly surged following the Okla-
homa City bombing, white power activism underwent an inescapable 
shift after 1995. In the late 1990s, the movement largely relocated into the 
online spaces it had begun to build more than a decade earlier.7 Con-
tinued movement activity unfolded mostly out of public view. While a few 
scholars joined the watchdogs in monitoring and studying websites such as 
Stormfront, white power was generally regarded as a fringe and untenable 
ideology.

While the Vietnam War story as lived experience and cultural force re-
ceded with time, the war remained relevant. New generations of activists 
participated in a movement with direct genealogical through-lines to the 
post-Vietnam white power unification, sharing organizational strategies, 
ideologies, resources, and personnel with the 1979–1995 groundswell. Storm-
front, for instance, was founded in 1995 by Dominica mercenary Don 
Black; much of the contemporary “alt-right” posture was modeled on ear-
lier political campaigns by David Duke; the acquittal of militants at Mal-
heur Wildlife Reserve in Oregon at their 2016 trial echoed the 1988 Fort 
Smith sedition trial, and the action of those militants may have been an 
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attempt to provoke federal violence reminiscent of Ruby Ridge. Consciously 
or not, all of these actions referenced decades of white power movement his-
tory, and several continued to employ movement networks.

The symbolic universe of the post-Vietnam movement endured in white 
power action. In his 2015 shooting of nine black worshippers at a Bible study 
in Charleston, South Carolina, Dylann Roof undertook an action that fol-
lowed the movement’s teachings in an attempt to foment race war.8 He also 
used symbols that derived from the 1979–1995 period of white power ac-
tivism. In photos he posted online, he wore a Rhodesian flag patch, which 
symbolized a white minority-rule government that had never existed during 
his lifetime and referenced a cause framed by Louis Beam at the 1983 Aryan 
Nations World Congress, to take one example of its invocation. Roof used 
88, a code for “Heil Hitler” popularized in the 1980s by the movement at 
large. And he used the Confederate flag, which at the turn of the millen-
nium increasingly symbolized a cultural stance that conflated white su-
premacy with opposition to a multicultural liberal consensus. Because of 
the Internet, Roof never had to meet another activist to be radicalized by 
the white power movement, nor to count himself among its foot soldiers.9

A brief public contestation with white power ideology and symbols fol-
lowed the Charleston shooting. One activist climbed a flagpole to remove 
the Confederate battle flag from the South Carolina state capitol.10 Others, 
including politicians on both sides of the aisle, activists, and citizens, en-
gaged in a renewed debate about the flag, and some attempted to remove it 
from the places where it still flew: on college campuses, over government 
and legal buildings, and beyond.11 But this attention provoked a substantial 
backlash and may have further galvanized and emboldened a segment of the 
electorate that identified more closely with white power ideologies around 
such symbols, and around white supremacy, revanchist notions of gender 
roles, belief in the inherent corruption of the federal government, and an 
apocalyptic future. The rise of the self-proclaimed “alt-right” from the web-
sites and forums founded by white power activists and the explosion of such 
views into mainstream politics during the presidential campaign and elec-
tion of Donald Trump show that—in a sense—Dylann Roof did participate 
in a chain of events that measurably decreased opportunity for and unleashed 
violence against people of color in myriad ways. Hate crimes proliferated in 
the wake of the election. Roof wrote in a manifesto that he wanted to pro-
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voke race war; in the most abstract sense, he might have gotten what he was 
looking for.12

There is, of course, insufficient historical distance or archival material to 
offer large-scale interpretations of the present moment. What is inescapably 
clear from the history of the white power movement, however, is that the 
lack of public understanding, effective prosecution, and state action left an 
opening for continued white power activism. The state and public opinion 
have failed to sufficiently halt white power violence or refute white power 
belief systems, and failed to present a vision of the future that might address 
some of the concerns that lie behind its more diffuse, coded, and mainstream 
manifestations.

Understanding white power as a social movement is a project both of 
historical relevance and of vital public importance. Knowledge of the 
history of white power activism is integral to preventing future acts of 
violence and to providing vital context to current political developments. 
Indeed, to perceive the movement as a legitimate social force, and its ideolo-
gies as comprising a coherent worldview of white supremacy and imminent 
apocalypse—one with continued recruiting power—is to understand that 
colorblindness, multicultural consensus, and a postracial society were never 
achieved. Violent, outright racism and antisemitism were live currents in 
these decades, waiting for the opportunity to resurface in overt form. This 
story renders legible the many ways that racial ideology and incessant war-
fare have underwritten political issues that extend well beyond the fringe. It 
powerfully reveals how white power rhetoric and activism, time and again, 
have influenced mainstream U.S. politics, and most especially in the after-
math of war.
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